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PREFACE.

ParLiaMENTARY Government has been reviled on the
ground of its introducing an element of uncertainty and
vacillation into the uction of the Hxecutive. T am inclined
to think that this is one of its great merits. [ have a
profound dishelief in the administrative infallibility of
individuals or of parties. Too long a tenure of office
Cinoculates statesmen with the constitutional defects of
the permancnt Civil Service.

The favourable change that has undoubtedly come over
the aspect of Indian aftuivs since the present Ministry
came into power, is not to be attributed to Conservative
principles, but simply to the healthy and vigorous action
of fresher and younger minds.  All honour is due to Lord
Cranborne and Siv Stafford Northeote for having checked
the revival of annexation, and saved the Native State of
Mysore ; but no special credit is due to their party. The
same may be said of Sir Stafford Northcote’s recent de-
spatches and promised legislation, recognising the eligibility
of Natives to a morc imnportant, dignified and lucrative
sphere of employment in the public service of India.

These measures, and the general policy on which they
arc based, have been from time to time advocated by
Members on both sides of the House of Commons, by
Liberal as well as by Conscrvative Peers.  Since the
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defeat of Fox’s Indian Bill in 1783,—and that was more
of a Court intrigue than a party struggle,-—India may be
said to have been always an open question.  Whether this
state of affairs has been beneficial or not,~—whether it has
betokened impartiality or indifference, may be considered
doubtful.

If the extreme crisis, so often predicted and dreaded,
were to arrive, and India were to become the battle-field
of the two great Parliamentary parties, I am not of
opinion that any very awful consequences would ensue.
It would at least put an end to the impatience and apathy
with which Indian affuirs are now usually treated, and
would make them a subject of universal attention and
discussion.

This volume is not written to flatter the pride or pro-
mote the personal objects of any individual or set of men,
in place, or in opposition, at home or in India. I address
myself to the people of Great Britain, by whose awakened
convictions, and not by such concessions as can be expected
from official sources, harmonious relations can be csta-
blished between the Imperial Power and the people of
India, and the progress of civilisation be made compatible
with the equality of races before the Law and in the
Government, and with the corporate rights of the allied
and protected States.

The high mission of Great Britain in the East can
never be fulfilled by an uninstructed nation and an offi-
cially instructed Government. The real wants of India,
the dangers, failings and temptations of Great Britain,
can be move clearly perceived and more fairly appreciated
by an independent observer in these cooler regions, than
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by a professional functionary or a mercantile adventurer
in the atmosphere of Calcutta. The lesson of Indian
politics involves no transcendent mystery; it is casily
learned by Englishmen, and the necessity for their learning
it becomes more pressing every day.

T regret very much to have been compelled to differ
widely from a nobleman whose sympathics, opinions and
active exertions, from the outset ot his publi: carveer, have
generally been found on the side of freedom and Tanan-
ity. The Duke of Avgyll. so far us I can recollect, has
invariably maintained in every depariment of politics,
home, foreign and colonial,—India excepted,-—the broadest
and most liberal views. We owe him a debt of gratitude,
zi0t, perhaps, to be as yet fully estimated, for the strenuous
efforts, to a great extent unseen, by which he helped to
save this country from complicity and concert with the
revolt of the slavcholders in the United States. While T
have endeavoured to perform the duty of showing that
the Imperial policy towards India, which he has defended,
is not only unjust in the abstract, but narrow and retro-
gressive in its practical results, T am convineed that the
Duke has been betrayed by a conscientions desive to pro-
mote the good of the people.  He believes that it would
lead to the elevation and enlightenment of the vast popu-
Iation subject to our supremacy, if they were all placed
under the dircet rule and tutelage of highly educated and
selected Englishmen.  Unfortunately for this benevolent
iheory, the facts of human nature are against it. Neither
the ideal Hindoo nor the ideal Briton cxists. Ncither the
average Hindoo nor the average Briton is a being of pure
intellect.  The Natives of Tndia, of every caste and creed,
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are men of like powers and passions with ourselves ; and
in obedience to the universal law,—as true in social science
as in physiology,—the healthy development of their civi-
lisation cannot proceed without space and range for the
exercise of all their facultics. Too much constraint, too
much assistance,—however benevolently intended—will
but distort the phenomena of progress, disturb its steady
course, and drive the stream into dangerous channels.
Although so many of these pages arc occupied with dis-
putation, I trust the struggle has not been one for a merely
barren victory. If old discussions are revived, and new
points of difference raised, I still believe that we shall
have lost no time by the way. [ venture to hope that
this book will assist, in however small o degree, in making

an end of controversy and a beginning of construction.
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RETROSPECTS AND PROSPECTS OF
INDIAN POLICY.

CHAPTER L
THE RIGHT AND DUTY OF REJOINDER.

Tne most painful incident, in political eriticism is when
we are compelle 1 to refuse to the, memory of some deceased
statesman that meed of farue and honour which his friends
and followers demand.  But it admiring coadjutors and
disciples propose the canonisation of a false saint, the apo-
t.hcosis of a false hero, it surely becomes one of the highest
religious or social duties to deny the pretended achieve-
ments, and to protest against the posthumous honours.

We believe the British Empire to be threatened by cer-
tain difficulties and dangers arising from a certain false
policy in India. The defence of that policy in the past,
persistence in all its existing results, and its occasional re-
vival in future contingencics, de;icnd on the maintenance
of a certain false reputation. The policy of annexation
and the fame of Lord Dalhousic are indissolubly combined,
and must stand or fall together.  The false policy cannot
be attacked or defended, without attacking or defending
the false reputation.

It may be alleged that there is no possibility of that
policy of annexation being revived which statesmen of all
parties have agreed in abjuring. But any such hopeful
presumption is decidedly premature. Within two years,
a distinguished Peer, while occupying a seat in the Cabinet,
has distinctly approved every tenet and every deed of
Lerd Dalhousie’s administration ; he has reiterated the
retrograde notion of personal sovereignty, instead of re-
cognising the corporate nature of a State; he has declared
the allied and protected Principalities of India to be inca~

B



2 CHAPTER I

pable of improvement; and he, consequently, advises that
whenever the Ruler of one of them is found to be “in-
competent,” the separate State should be destroyed, and
the territory annexed to the British dominions. He thus
renews his assent to the doctrine and procedure by which
the Kingdom of Oude was extinguished, and promises, so
far as his power and influence can go, an indefinite series
of similar confiscations.

Open, thorough-going adhesion to the principles and
practice of Lord Dulhousie’s viceroyalty has indeed ceased.
His warmest partisans are somewliat vague and reticent,
when they come to speak of the future.  With the excep-
tien of the Duke of Argyll, no public inan of any eminence,
Liberal or Conservative, has ever said, in or out of Par-
liament, since 1857, one word in favour of Lord Dal-
housic’s conduct, beyond the most commonplace generali-
ties, such as were demanded by the decencics of office, or
the exigencies of common responsibility. Itisa well-known
and easily ascertained fact that even in the occasional ar;
ticles or allusions of anonymous periodicals, the measures
and fame of Lord Dalhousie are upheld at the present
day, either by his personal friends, or by those who par-
ticipated in his work, and are jointly answerable for its
evil results.

Until those evil results are tully understood and generally
acknowledged, until the doctrines and the processes by
which Oude, Nagpore, Jhansi and Sattara were annexed
have been publicly and authoritatively reprobated and re-
Jjected, there can be no absolute security that they may not
again be called into play, either in the pride of our own ad-
ministrative success, in indignation at some disgraceful
scandal, or in the specious temptation of a lucrative “lapse.”

The prevalent indifference to Indian politics disappeared
in the alarm and agony of the Rebellion; and attention
was kept up for a few years by the process of transferring
the government from the Company to the Crown, by the
conflicting interests of military and judicial amalgamations,
and by several appeals for redress from Native Princes,
brought before Parliament, during the brief period of con-
ciliatory and restorative measures, when the Home Govern-
ment seemed going on too fast and too much in earnest
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even for Lord Canning.* So long as public observation
was directed towards India, so long as controversy was
likely to arise and to be listened to, so long the friends
and partisans of Lord Dalhousie remained silent. When,
in the words of the Duke of Argyll himself, “the violent
reactions of feeling and opinion which arose out of the
Great Indian Mutiny were beginning to subside,”t—the
vindicators and eulogists commenced their operations.

By the ties of family, early association and service, Lord
Dalhousie was closely allied with both the great ruling
parties, and had given cause of offence to neither of them;
after his long tenure of the most splendid and lucrative
office in the world, it would have been strange if he had not
left behind him powerful friends and obliged adhercnts.
Their deficiency in numbers was amply compensated by
their advantages of position, giving them access to the
most conspicuous strongholds of the press, and securing
them a well-disposed audience. When the time was fa-
~yourable they chose their own ground for the display.

It never has been anything but a display. No close
fighting has ever been attempted.

The Duke of Argyll, in the first of his two essays
from the Edinburgh Review of January and April 1863,
reprinted with additions under his own name in 1865, ex-
plains that “during the two years, or more, when every
fifth-rate writer and speaker thought it necessary to have
his say against something which he called ‘ Lord Dal-
housie’s policy,” Lord Dalhousie himself maintained a
silence which must have been painful, but which was sup-

* Lord Canning protested vehemently against the increased grant to Tippoo
Sultan’s family ; he objected to the restoration of the Dhar territorics and the
‘Tanjore treasures; and when the Tanjore Rajah's property was at last rcturned
to his widows, he never scems to have thought of making restitution of the
Nagpore Rajah’s moveable property, though the circumstances of its sequestra-
tion were identical with those of the Tanjore case. The ancestral estates were,
indeed, given up to Janojee Bhonsla, the grand-nephew and heir of the Rajah
of Nagpore, and he was recognised as the head of the family by Lord Canning,
but those measures had been already suggested by Lord Stanley. In fact all
these tardy acts of justice originated with the Secretaries of State at home,
contrary to the counsels of Calcutta, as likewise quite recently in the cases of
the installation of the Dhar Rajah as ruler of his Principality, the imperfect
recognition of Prince Azeem Jah of the Carnatic, and the prospective resto-
ration of Mysore to a native Sovereign.

t India Under Dalhousie and Canning, (Preface) Longman, 1865.

B



4 CHAPTER T

poried by a proud sense of what was due both to others
and to lumself.”*  The same silence, supported no doubt
by the same “ proud sense,” was maintained up to 1863
by the Duke of Argyll

[t was natural and not unbecoming that the Duke of
Argyll shonld come forward to defend Lord Dalhousic’s
policy and reputation. Lord Dalhousie was his friend and
colleague. The Duke as a Cabinet Minister had approved
of the annexations of Nagpore and Jhansi, had insisted
upon the annexation of Oude, and, when these £dinburgh
Review articles appeaved, was doing his best to promote
the prospective annexation of Mysore, which Lord Dal-
housie had been the first to proposc.t  In vindicating the
acts and upholding the credit of his deceased friend, he
was in fact vindicating the acts and upholding the credit
of himself and his own party. lle had a perfect right
to undertake that task.  Whether he had a perfect right
to pursuc that undertaking by the exact course he has
chosen, is a very different thing. Whether it was natural,
and becoming for the Lord Privy Seal, onc of Her Majesty’s
Ministers, to avow the most alarming principles under the
most ambiguous and undefined conditions, is another ques-
tion altogether. “ Noblesse oblige.””  Heavy responsibili-
ties attach to high oftice.

If in January 1863, or in June 1865, the Duke of
Argyll bad risen in the House of Lords, and had stated that
our supposed Treaties with the Native Sovereigns of India
were hardly worthy of the name; that it would be much
better always to write and print the word derisively be-
tween inverted commas, to show that they were nothing
but so-called Treaties, for really they “expressed nothing
but the will of a Superior imposing on his Vassal so muc{;
as for the time it was thought expedient to require;’} if he
had reiterated his approval of «ll Lord Dalhousic’s annexa-
tions, both as to their general policy and as to, the several
pleadings and procedure; if he ﬁad declared that “the vices
of Native Governments were systematic and their virtues
casual,” and that “the dependent position to which they

* India wnder Dalkowsie and Canning, (Longman, 1865), p. 68.
t The Mysore Reversion, (2nd Edition) p. 41.
t India under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 11.
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are reduced by our power in India did not contribute to
make them better,”* if he had announced his unaltered
opinion that the “ only security for good government” lay
in the absorption of every mismanaged Native State,t he
must either have spoken with the consent of the Cabinet,
or he would have exposed himself to be disavowed by his
associates and answered by his opponents. He would then
have been speaking in his right place and under the right
conditions. Instead of doing so, he preserved silence for
five years at least, and then published two anonymous
articles on the subject in the Kdinburgh Review, thus
withdrawing at once from Parliamentary discussion and
from official acconntability. The authorship of these arti-
cles having bheen from the fst no secret, they were as-
sumed to convey the sentiments of a section, if not a
majority, of the Liberal Ministry ; while none of the
opposite party were able to challenge, noune of his col-
leagues were able to contradict that mischievous notion. In
India the eflect was most alarming.} After the lapse of
two years these articles were republished in a separate
form with the author’s name. The cffect of this publicity
was even more alarming in India than that of the original
articles, and has by no means subsided yet.

Not even on the platform which he has chosen for him-
self,—neither in the anonymous form of 1863, nor in the
enlarged republication of 1865,—does the noble apologist
deign to meet the arguments or to traverse the indictments
of the assailants of Lord Dalhousie’s policy. He contemp-
tuously dismisses them in the last page of his article as
“fifth-rate writers” quite unworthy of notice. If he had
ventured to mention any names, perhaps some of his
readers might have been tempted to inquire for one or
two of these fifth-rate productions, to form a judg-
ment for themselves. The Duke will not help them i
the scarch.- He sticks to the printed official records, and
insists, as the only sound principle of political criticism,
* ¥ India under Dallowsie and Canning, p. 30.

t Ibid. p. 38, 121 and 122.

T o this I can testify from my own personal observations. I at once re-
plied in the Bombay Times of India to the reassertion of the right of forbidding

the adoption of heirs, v. Limpre in Inda, p. 154, Sce also 2 ke Mysore Rever-
swon, Appendix I
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that Lord Dalhousie’s reasoning must be accepted as con-
clusive, and his statements of fact regarded as irrefragable.
Such at least is the only interpretation I can put upon his
complaints of the ““ignorant injustice” with which certain
measures have becn assailed. “ All the facts,” he says,
“have been accessible to the public for years. Blue Books
may not be light reading ; but those at least who under-
take to pass judgment on the conduct of public men are
bound to know something of the authentic documents in
which that conduct, with the reasons which determined
it, are recorded. In the case of the Indian Government
this duty is the more easy, and the neglect of it the less
excusable, since it is the custom of that Government to
record its decisions, with the dissents of every individual
member, in elaborate Minutes, often very able, and always
exhausting every fuct and every argument on cither side.”
In short, after a discussion in the Caleutta Council, there
can be nothing more to be said! “ The following pages,”
continues the Duke, “have been written, so far as regards
the narrative of political transactions, mainly from those
materials.”*

If every narrative of political transactions is to be
compiled exclusively from the papers carefully sifted and
selected for publication by the accountable persons them-
selves, national and historical judgments will be lenient
truly ! If the Minutes of a close and secret conclave are
to be humbly accepted as an exhaustive discussion; if
plenary inspiration is claimed for Blue Books, and pro-
phetic infallibility for the decrees of a Council of five,
there will be small scope for political criticism.

Again, in his remarks on Mr. Edwin Arnold’s work,
Dalhousie’s Administration of British India, the Duke
urges, “ If Historians of any class are specially bound to
an impartial treatment of their subject, it is that class
whose works partake largely of the character of Biography.
At least it may be cxpecte(ly of them, that they will stute the
Sacts in the hight in which they were seen by those whose
conduct they have undertaken to record, and whose memory
is for a time in their keeping.”t It is not easy to compre-

* India under Dalkousie and Canning, Preface, p. vi,
t Lbid., Preface, p. vii. The italics are mine.



THE RIGHT AND DUTY OF REJOINDER. 7

hend how a writer can be expected to state the facts in
the light in which Lord Dalhousie viewed them, when his
great object in writing is to put those facts in a very
different light, and to show that Lord Dalhousie mis-
stated, misrepresented, or misunderstood them.

We will, however, reduce the Duke’s claims to the
most moderate proportions, and entertain his last com-
plaint against “the omission of any adequate attempt
even to set forth Lord Dalhousie’s reasoning.”*  This
charge is expressly aimed against Mr. Arnold, while
to Mr. Kaye, as the author of The Sepoy War,t
“ preconceived theories,” and ‘“narratives woven so as
to bring out a certain pattern,” are imputed.f Were I
concerned or warranted to undertake the defence of these
two authors, I should be at a loss to deal with such loose
declamation. If the Duke had exposed and refuted one
specimen in each case of the faults he professes to detect,
we could better appreciate the justice of his complaint.
+Neither of these gentlemen is, in my opinion, chargeable
with any exaggeration or suppression. 1If they are unjust,
they are certainly not ignorant. Mr. Kaye's work espe-
cially proves his research not only into the Blue Books,
but into a vast mass of less accessible materials; and
affords ample means to its readers to judge in Lord Dal-
housic’s own words the grounds on which he based his
principal annexations.

It 15 a sufficiently remarkable circumstance, that these
two historical works should be singled out for notice.
Elaborate arguments and long quotations from official
documents are not to be expected in a narrative, which,
indeed, they would only confuse and encumber. The
Duke of Argyll, republishing with additions his two arti-
cles from a critical and controversial Review, with the
avowed object of vindicating Lord Dalhousie’s measures,
carefully avoids all the critical and controversial works in
which those measures are assailed, while he complains of
a want of argumentative matter in two purely historical
works. If the Duke had really wished to deal with argu-

» India under Dalkousie and Canning, Preface, p. vii.
1 Vol. i, published by W, H. Allen, 1865.
1 India under Dalhousie and Canning, Preface, p. viii.
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mentative matter, he knew very well where to find it.
Indignantly conscious of a host of « fifth-rate writers” who
had attacked Lord Dalhousie, he cannot have been igno-
rant of the existence of the pamphlets by the late Mr. John
Sullivan,* of such works as The Rebellion in India, and
Topics for Indian Stateswen, by Mr. J. B. Norton;t
British India, its Races and its Iistory,t or Thoughts
on the Policy of the Crown towards India, by Mr.
J. M. Ludlow,§ or even my own work, The Impire
in India| This was published more than a year be-
fore the Duke’s veprint; and although the sixtcen
interpolated pages in his first Essay cannot be called
a reply to my Chapters on Sattara, Jhansi and Nag-
pore, for they never travel out of the Blue Books, the
time and circumstances of the republication make them
look very like a retort.

In the Preface to the republication of 1865, two volumes
by Mr. J. W. Kaye and Mr. Edwin Arnold, published in
that year, are, as I have mentioned, honoured with a,
few words of censure. The titles of some Blue Books
were alone prefixed to the second article as it originally
appeared in the Kdinburgh Review of April, 1863. Besides
some Parliamentary Papers, the Essays of Sir Henry Law-
rence served as a heading to the first article in the Review
for January of the same year. The plan of thus contemp-
tuously evading his antagonists, denouncing them collec-
tively as remarkable only for “ignorance and injustice,”
and doggedly reiterating the fallacies they have assailed,—
giving full play to his great advantages not only as an oc-
casional Edinburgh Reviewer, but as a Peer and occasional
Cabinet Minister,—was probably the best for the Duke’s
immediate purpose. The Duke can be accused of no un-
fair design in thus declining to mect his adversaries,—
his “proud sense” of what is due to himself was doubtless
insurmountable,—but the result is decidedly unfair, His

* Formerly a member of Council at Madras.

t The first was published in 1857, the other in 1858, by Richardson Brothers,
Cornhill.  Mr, Norton is now Advocate General and amember of the Legisla~
tive Council at Madras.

1 Macmillan and Co., 1858,

a Ridgway, 1859.

‘Irubner, 1864.
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readers are virtually told that no argument worth noticing
has ever been urged against Lord Dalhousie’s policy ; and
that a complete and conclusive answer to the empty cavils
that have gone forth, is to be found in those official docu-
ments which his enemies have never taken the trouble to
examine,

1 have said that the Duke of Argyll, declining to notice
any statements or arguments except those contained in
the Blue Books, has reiterated the fallacies which his an-
tagonists have assailed. I must bring the same charge
against another personal friend of Lord Dalhousie, Sir
Charles Jackson, whose Vindication® appeared in June
1865, within a few days of the Duke’s pamphlet. Sir
Charles Jackson deserves the fullest eredit for disinterested
generosity in having volunteered for the defence, but
his advocacy is not more cogent than that of the Cabinet
Minister. As a practised lawyer and judge he cannot but be
fullyaware that a precedent must beproduced and identified
before it can be accepted as a principle of law, and made
the groundwork for a series of decisions.  Yet in common
with the Duke of Argyll, in justification of the annexa-
tions of Sattara, Nagpore, and Jhansi, he parades the
usurped prerogative of forbidding successions by adoption
as “ the settled public law of Tndie,”t and talks of “ these
lapses having occurred by operation of law,"t as if it had
never been proved by Mr. Norton,§ by Mr. Ludlow,| and
by myself, 4] that no such law had ever been asserted in
India, until the confiscation of Sattara by Lord Dalhousie
in 1848, and that the pretended array of precedents for
the enforcement of such a law was perfectly imaginary.

* A Vindication of the Marquis of Dalhousie's Indian Administration,(Smith
and Elder), 1865. Sir Charles Jackson was successively Advocate General and
a Judge ot the Supreme Court at Caleutta, and for some time a Vice-President
of the Legislative Council, during Lord Dalhousic's government.

t A Vindication, p. 9.~ India under Dallousic and Canning, p. 27.

1 A Vindicctign, p. 16 and 42.

§ The Rebellion, p. 67, 72.

4 British India its Races and its History, vol. i, p. 259.

The Empire in India, p. 132 to 152, and 165 to 172.



CHAPTER IL
SHAM PRECEDENT AND PREROGATIVE.

1x all the Minutes and despatches penned in 1848 to jus-
tify the annexation of Sattara, no one ever professed to
refer by name or date to a single old precedent, either
of our own or of any previous Government, for forbidding
the adoption of a successor by a Hindoo Prince ; but the
existence of such precedents was presumed and pronounced
with an audacious confidence that is quite surprising. Two
very recent cases, however, brought forward at that
time as precedents, are now offered for acceptance by
the Duke of Argyll* and Sir Charles Jackson,t those of
Colaba, and Mandavee, both of which, singularly alike in
circumstances, were finally decided in 1844,

The Rajah of Mandavee was a petty tributary with
whom no Treaty had ever been made.f The last Chief,
a posthumous child not two years old, died in 1839. The
widow of this child’s father wished to adopt a successor.

The last Rajah of Colaba, a posthumous child, died in
1841 at the age of fifteen months. The widow of his pre-
decessor wished to adopt one of her husband’s illegitimate
sons. A Treaty had been concluded in 1822 with Raghojee
Angria, Rajah of Colaba, promising “ protection” to him,
“ his heirs and successors,” while *“ the entire supremacy,”
and “the right of conferring investiture on any vacancy,”
were reserved to the British Government.§

In 1844 it was finally decided to treat these two
States as having lapsed to the British Government,
mainly on the grounds of there being no -one entitled
to inheritance by legitimate relationship, and of permission
being required to enable an adopted heir to succeed.|| .

* India under Da’housie and Canning, p. 28.
t A Vindication, p. 11, 12.

1 Collection of Treaties, Caloutta, 1864, (Longman and Co.) vol. vi, p. 254.
§ 26id., vol. vi, p. 183. .

|| Papers as to Succession by Adoption, 1850, p. 214.
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Both of these cases appear to me to have been decided
erroneously and unjustly. That of Colaba was the
worse, because the Principality was guaranteed by a
Treaty ; and the right of conferring investiture is not in
India, any more than in Europe, the right of divesting a
family on the failure of lineal male heirs,* But bad as
they were, these cases cannot be compared with that
of Sattara. The infancy of the deceased Princes; the
consequent recwrrence to the questionable adoption by
their widowed mothers ; the absence of any Treaty in
the one instance, and the position of a protected inferior
imposed on the other; all these incidents would nullify
them as precedents for rejecting the adopted son of a
Sovereign with whom we were allied by a Treaty of “per-
petual friendship,” securing the Principality to his “heirs
and successors” n ““perpetual soverergnty,” and containing
no restriction whatever on the regular operation of the
Hindoo law of inheritance. The cases of Mandavee and
Colaba were bad indeed; they were ominous and critical
cases, and marked, as Mr. St. George Tucker and others
foresaw, the commencement of an era of acquisitive en-
croachments; but even viewed as imperfect precedents,
they were in 1848 quite new and of our own creation ;
whereas the advocates for annexation then, as now, alleged
“the universal and immemorial custom of India,” ““the
undoubted prerogutive cxercised by the Imperial House of
Delhi)t the ordinary and invaricble practice,” the power
acquired by the British Government as successors to the
Emperor and the Peishwa,} and “the »ight wuniversally
exercised by all paramount authorities throughout Indie.”§
Incredible as it may seem, all these allegations were totally
unfounded. Not a particle, not a vestige of documentary
evidence of such a prerogative having ever been exercised,
or asserted, by the Emperor, or by the Peishwa, not a

* The Governor of Bombay and one Councillor were in favour of permitting
the adoption, but were over-ruled by the Governor-General and the Home
jovernment. Mr. Henry St. George Tucker recorded an admirable Protest in
the Court of Directors against the confiscation of Colaba. (Selections from the
Papers of H. S8t. George Tucker, p. 27 and 100.)

1 Mr. Willoughby, Suttara Papers, 1849, p. 67, 71.

1 Lord Dalhousie, Sattara Papers, 1849, p. 81, 82,

§ Mr. R. D. Mangles, Suttara Papers, 1819, p. 147,
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historical fact bearing upon it, not a single precedent
for annulling an adoption, has ever been or can be ad-
duced from the records of any of the Governments that
preceded us.

The British Government has never possessed the right
of disallowing adoptions for its own purposes ; even where
it has retained from its predecessors, or asserted in a treaty
or grant, the prerogative of investiture over minor Princi-
palitics, it has no more right to forbid the succession of an
adopted son than of a lincal male descendant.  The pre-
rogative of investiture gives jurisdiction in disputed suc-
cessions, asserts supremacy, and enforces subordination,
but does not justify the refusal of investiture to a lawful
heir.  In the case of a Hindoo Prince, with whomn a treat,
of perpetual friendship and alliance has been contracted,
not even the prerogative of investiture exists. Nothing
but the moral duty of protection and pacification autho-
rises any intervention to control and regulate the cowse
of inheritance. !

Next to the supposititious precedents, of which more will
be said shortly, adiissions, perverted or illusory, attributed
to the doomed Princes or their advocates, formed the
favourite process of proof throughout the annexing mania.
The apologists of the present day avail themselves largely
of the same method. T[hc dying request of the Rajah of Sat-
tara that his adopted son might be recognised as his suc-
cessor, was cagerly snatched at as a full admission that the
British Government had a right to forbid the succession.*
Of course it proved nothing but his consciousness of our
overwhelming power, and a suspicion, too well-founded,
of our sinister intentions. The Duke of Argyll, however,
thinks it worth his while to urge that the Rajah asked
“for this consent as one which he knew to be requisite for
his own purpose.”t  We also know by the result that this
consent was requisite, but we no more admit the right of
withholding it from a duly adopted successor than the
Rajah did.

Perhaps the most singular instances on record of what

* See Mr. Willoughby's Minute, para. 20; Lord Falkland’s, para. 5, and

Lord Dalhousic's, para. 135 Sattara Lapers, 1849, p. 71, 78 and 81.
t India wwder Dalhousie and Canning, p 26.
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can be twisted into admissions, are claimed by the Duke of
Argyll and Sir Charles Jackson from one of the greatest
living authorities on such subjects, Sir George Clerk, \\:ho
during a long and distinguished career has ever consist~
ently opposed the violation of treaties, and the destructmp
of friendly Principalities, The Duke first states 'tha.t Sir
George Clerk, in his Minute on the Sattara succession, ““not
only admitted, but specially dwelt upon the distinction”
between the right of adoption as conveying Sovereignty
to an heir, and as conveying private property only, and
that after declaring the regularity of the deceased Rajal’s
adoption according to Hindoo usage, he added:—“The
question, however, remains whether he” the adopted son,
‘“is entitled to the Sovereignty of the Suttara Rajahs.”
Sir George Clerk knew this distinetion had been drawn
by others, and that the question had been raised and
remained. He gave no assent to the distinction ; and he
answered the question in the Rajal’s favour.

. Now comes the most valuable admission of all. <80
far from aflirming,” says the Duke, ¢ that the refusal to
acknowledge this title would be any violation of an cstab-
lished rule, or the beginning of a new policy, Sir George
Clerk admitted that no such rule had been established,
and that ¢ our views of practice in India in vegard to adop-
tions to Chiefships had been inconsistent and capricious,”*
Sir George Clerk “admitted,” that our views and practice
had been inconsistent and capricious! The Duke is wel-
come to make the most of that admission, and to reconcile
it, if he can, with that theory of a “ settled law and custom
of India” in which he professes to believe. Lord Canning,
in his Adoption Despatch of 1860, quoted even stronger
language from one of Sir George Clerk’s letters, declaring
it to be his opinion ““that it is the inconsistency, caprice,
and mutability of our opinions regarding all great princi-
ples that is the bane of our supremacy in India.” To this
the Viceroy adds the following brief comment ;— I fear
that as regards the matter now under consideration, this
is too true.” The matter under consideration being that
of successions by adoption, Lord Dalhousie’s defenders may
perhaps find solace in this “ admission” also.

* India under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 25.
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Sir Charles Jackson most inaccurately cites me twice in
support of the fictitious prerogative of annulling adop-
tions, without venturing to quote my words. He says:
“ Major Bell in his work admits that such permission,” to
adopt an heir, “ was sometimes refused by the Native
Governments in the case of Jaghires.”* In the passage
to which he refers I admitted, that in the sole case of * ser-
vice Jaghires,” assigned for the payment of troops, and
held, according to the terms of the grant, at the Sove-
reign’s pleasure, a resumption “could be effected during
the lifetime of a Jaghiredar, but, more often, as might be
expected, after his demise.” These are the Jaghiredars of
whom Sir John Malcolm thus wrote : “ Adoptions which
are universally recognised as legal among Hindoos are not
a strict right (any more than dvrect hewrs) where grants
of land are for servicet  And, I added, “ undoubtedly
an irregular or unauthorised adoption did from time to
time afford a just occasion, or a convenient pretext, for
resuming a service Jaghive.”f T made what Sir Charles
Jackson calls this “ admission,” expressly to show that the
resumption of lands assigned for a certain service, when-
ever the service was no longer required, far from consti-
tuting a precedent or an analogy for the extinction of a
State allied to us by a Treaty, was not even applicable to
petty Chiefships and hereditary landed estates.

Sir Charles Jackson accepts the statement of this coun-
terfeit law, as he says himself, “in an unqualified way.”§
Lord Dalhousie, according to him, had very little to do
with the doctrine of lapse. “Ile merely happened to be
the Governor of a country in which these lapses occurred
by operation of law.”| “If Lord Dalhousie is open to
censure, it cannot be for lapses of territory which were
effected by operation of law, but it must be because he did
not waive the rights which the law gave him.”q[ It is
strange, indeed, that his legal practice and experience
did not enable Sir Charles Jackson to detect what has

* A Vindication, p. 13, and at p.9 he puts me as an authority in a foot- note.

t Life and Correspondence of Sir Jokn Malcolm, November 14th, 1829,
quoted by Lord Canning in the Adoption Despatch.

t Empire in India, p. 147. A Vindication, p. 13.

|| Ditto, p. 16. Ditto, p. 17. .
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been effectually exposed by the authors already men-
tioned, and by myself, in a book which he quotes if he
has not read, that the mere semblance of law and custom
was fabricated only by confounding sinecure offices,*
hereditary pensions,t military holdings,} and landed es-
tates,§ with Sovereignties ; by boldly turning treaties of
“perpetual friendship and defensive alliance” into “ grants
from a Sovereign to a subject,” or  agreements” between
a King and a stipendiary,|| and then by assuming as the
ordinary and regular course of law some rare vindictive
act of a despotic Prince. Even in the case of private landed
estates, no right of escheat in default of lineal male heirs
was ever made out. The ruling sanction, in its applica-
tion to the descent of landed property, never, until Lord
Dalhousie’s time, extended to the right of appropriation. €]

Sir Charles Jackson cites Steele’s Swnmary of Ilindoo
Laws and Customs (p. 185), without quoting 1t, in sup-
port of the position that “ Enamdars and Wuttundars,”—
3.e. freeholders, not allied Sovereigns,—should have the
consent of the Government for adoption.** But he omits
to tell us what is expounded in the pages following, that
“an adoption concluded agreeably to the Shdstras is not
annullable,” and that the so-called consent being required
simply to secure regularity and good order, is not essen-
tial to the validity of an adoption, especially when the
adopted heir is of the same gotra or clan. Nor has he
quoted from p. 58 or 235 the declaration that  the Go-
vernment cannot succeed while any relations, or persons
connected by gotra with the deceased, can be found.”t+t
It is difficult to suppose Sir Charles Jackson to have been
ignorant of the decision in the important case of Bhasker
Buchajee v. Naroo Rugonath, (Bombay Select Reports, 24,

* Called in the Mahratta Provinces and other parts of Central and Western
India, nemnooks, sce Empire in India, p. 172.

t Wurshasun or yoomiah.

1 Surinjam fouj or tunkwah jagheer, see Empire in India, p. 147 and 261.

§ Called Jnams, surinjam zatee, khass jagheer, wuttun, ete., according to the
tenure and locality. Sometimes these holdings, as well as those mentioned in
the preceding note, conferred a customary jurisdiction over the tenants, but
they were always distinguishable from S ignti

%1‘?"7”'." in India, p. 182 to 173,

Empire in India, p. 144 to 149, See also the Inam Commission Un-

masked, by Robert Knight, (Effingham Wilson) 1859.
** A Vindication, p. 9. tt Inam Commission Unmasked, p. 26.
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approved in Perry’s Oriental Cases, 151,) “that want of
the permission of the ruling authorities, is an insufficient
ground for setting aside an adoption once made with the
proper ceremonies,” or of the following passage from a great
zmt}nority, Sir Thomas Strange, who, after detailing the
various forms and ceremonies required to constitute a valid
adoption, appends the following remark :—* Most of these
rules are general : they are not all imperative. The notice
to the King may be dispensed with.”*

In conscquence of the mass of misvepresentation that
has been thrown over the whole subject, the right of adop-
tion is too often treated as if it were the extraordinary
privilege of introducing a stranger into the family to pre-
vent its extinction ; and the Duke of Argyll, employing
the very words used on several occasions by Lord Dal-
housie, speaks of an adoption taking place on “ the failure
of heirs natural”t  The truth is that the refusal to re-
cognise adoptions in o Hindoo family, amounts to pro-
hibiting the succession of any one but a son or a grandson
in the male line, entirely excluding uncles, brothers, ne-
phews and cousins,—though these are “natural heirs” all
the world over,—and all descendants through females,
however near in blood. By Hindoo law no collateral can
be the heir, until by an adoption he has become the
son of his predecessor. It is manifest at once how brief
would be the existence of a dynasty and a State, if it
were dependent upon strictly lineal male descent.  On this
point the words of Mr. (now Sir Bartle) Frere,} who in
1848, said and did everything that was compatible with
his subordinate position as Resident at Sattara to prevent
the annexation, may be usefully quoted :—

T much doubt if a single Mahratta family of any consequence
could be found in which the succession has continued for a century
and a half without having recourse to adoption. Indeed, a mo-
ment’s consideration will show that there is a natural impossibility
in such uninterrupted succession, so long as the custom remains
as at present. Direct male succession, without once passing from
an elder to a younger brother, or to a paternal uncle, nephew, or

* Elements of Iindu Law, vol. ii, p. 64.
t India under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 28.

c b Lx_t]be Governor of Bombay, and recently appointed to a scat in the Indian
ouncil,
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cousin, is obviously impossible for many generations together, in
any country ; and among the Mahrattas whenever a man of pro-
perty feels his end approaching, he endeavours to adopt a son,
sometimes the child of a younger brother, or other near relation
who would naturally be his heir ; sometimes, where there has been
a family quarrel, a far distant rclation.”*

Tt is not now open to the apologists of annexation to
say that they acknowledge ‘ the ruling sanction,” with re-
ference to hereditary landed estates, to have been pro-
tective and regulative, not acquisitive, but that no ana-
logy can be drawn between an estate and a State, and that
an adoption, though good for conveying property, may
not be good for transmitting a Sovereignty. They have
shut themselves out from that line of defence ; but if it
were open to them, their position would not he improved.
It is true there is no analogy between an estate and
a State, but they endeavourcd to make out their case
by setting up such an analogy. They argued that where
private landed estates were concerned, the Paramount
Power had the prerogative of preventing successions
by adoption, and thus barring all but lineal male de-
scendants ; and then they endeavoured by an illicit and
stealthy process to include dependent Principalities, con-
stituted or contirmed by Treaties, in the same category
with private estates held by grants. Even if their major
premiss were right, their conclusion would be wrong,
because their minor premiss is false. States are not
estates. But the major premiss is false also. Estates
do not lapse for want of lineal male heirs. No Para-
mount Power in India has ever possessed the right
to exclude, even from a private heritable estate, any
heir entitled under Hindoo law; @ fortiori the law-
ful heir cannot be excluded from succession to a dependent
Principality. If the Imperial Power cannot limit or muti-
late for its own benefit the Hindoo law of inheritance in
the case of & subject, still less can it do so in the case of
an ally.

Both the Duke of Argyll and Sir Charles Jackson re-
present Sir George Clerk as “compelled to admit that
the sanction of the Paramount Power is by custom required

* Sattara Papers, 1849, p. 111
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to render an adoption to a Principality valid.”* He does
indeed admit that custom requires the sanction of the
Puramount Power, but he explains that “we require the
observance of this sanction for the purpose of averting the
dissensiors and bloodshed that would otherwise ensue
from the vindication of rival pretensions ;” and he does not
admit that we can ““exercise that right of sanction to the
extent of prohibiting adoption”.t

The Duke of Argyll, who is no lawyer, may be par-
doned for not duly appreciating this distinction. No
such allowance can be made for Sir Charles Jackson. He
says “the fuct that permission must be obtained Implies
that it may be refused ; otherwise the permission s un-
necessary and a furce”f  This enormous fallacy was dis-
pelled by me in the book which Sir Charles Jackson cites.
In the very page to which Sir Charles Jackson refers for
my supposed admission, it was urged that even the right of
investiture and supremacy, when clearly reserved by treaty,
“simply entitled the British Government, as Suzerain, to
exercise supervision and control over each succession,
whether by natural descent or by adoption, until satis-
fied that everything had been done conformably with
law, with local custom, and with an equitable regard to
the general interests of the family, and to the indi-
vidual rights of each of its members. This alone is the
meaning and scope of the ruling sanction.”§ This alone
was the doctrine of Sir George Clerk and Sir Henry
Lawrence.  The latest expression of these views by the
former will be found in the following extract :—

“The confirmation has never been refused. Hence it is that
I never found an instance on the old records at Delhi, and that I
never knew one occurring within my experience of our own times,
of any Chiefship, either Raj or Surdarreo, great or small, being
held to have escheated, excepting for felony, to the Paramount
State. At length the Calcutta Government led off with that
flagrant instance of the barcfaced appropriation of Sattara.”’||

The Duke and the Judge may very justly object

* 4 Vindication, p 10. [India under Dalkousie and Canning, p. 24, 25.

t Sattara Papers, 1849, p. 62. t 4 Vindication, p. 13, 14.

§rE zz;%zr;e in India, p. 117.  Ludlow’s British India and its Races, vol. ii,
25 B

0
p- 258, 259 || Mysore Papers, 1866, p. 71, 72.
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that this paper, printed in 1866, was not known to
them when their respective works were published.
They may both decline to be bound by Sir George
Clerk’s opinions, notoriously adverse to those of Lord
Dalhousie. Sir Charles Jackson may claim the right
of picking any bit of bad rhetoric or apparent ad-
mission out of my book that he can find, while repudia-
ting any obligation to read it, or to deal with its ar-
guments. The Duke of Argyll may discard me altogether
from his consideration. But they cannot so casily get rid
of Lord Canning’s celebrated Adoption Despatch of April
30th, 1860, published in the same year, which contains
(paragraphs 17, 19) the following passages.

““ We have not shown, so fur as [ can find, a single instance in
which adoption by a Sovereign Prince has been invalidated by a
refusal of assent from the Paramount Power. 1 venture to think
that no such instance can bo adduced, and that the practice which
has provailed is truly described by Sir Henry Lawrence, where he
spys :—* The confirmation of the Suzerain is necessary in all cases.
He is the arbitrator of all contested adoptions ; he can set asido
one or other for informality, irregularity, or for misconduct ; but
it does not appear, by the rules or practices of any of the Sovercign-
tics, or by our own practice with the Istumrardars of Ajmere, that
the Paramount State can refuse confirmation to one or other
claimant, and confiscate the estate, however small.” 1 believe that
there is no example of any Hindoo State, whether in Rajpootana
or clsewhere, lapsing to the Paramount Power, by reason of that
Power withholding 1ts assent to an adoption. It has been argued
that the right to grant sanction implies the right to withhold it.
This, however sound logically, is neither sound nor safe practi-
cally. The histories of feudal Governments furnish abundant ex-
amples of long-cstablished privileges habitually renewed as acts
of grace from the Paramount Powers, but which those Powers
have never thought of refusing for purposes of their own, or upon
their own judgment alone.”

Thus to make a plausible show of defence for Lord
Dalhousie’s doctrine of ““ lapse,” his vindicators proceed to
reoccupy all those false positions which Lord Canning ad-
visedly and deliberately abandoned as untenable.

In order to transform the novel claim of forbidding
successions by adoption into “the settled public law
of India,” a series of precedents was required. Lord
Dalhousie asserted that there was such a series. Lord
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Canning, after a careful search, reluctantly acknowledged
in 1860 that no such precedents could be found. His
two defenders persist in 1865 that the imaginary prece-
dents are intact; they are quite silent as to Lord Can-
ning’s all important admissions,

The Duke of Argyll complains of * ignorant injustice,”
of “a policy misrepresented and misunderstood.”™ I
would rather attribute ignorance and misunderstanding to
the advocates for the defence, than charge them with in-
Jjustice and misrepresentation. But it is difficult to sup-
pose them ignorant of the acknowledgment which has just
been quoted from the Adoption Despatch, or of its efftect,
upsetting entirely, as it does, the pretended prerogative
for which they still ostensibly contend.

The Duke of Argyll also complaing of “ special circum-
stances having been carefully concealed by the opponents of
Lord Dalhousic.”t Some special circumstances fmvc been
concealed by Lord Dalhousie’s friends, and the actual posi-
tion of the controversy has thus been completely hidden. 1t
is in a peculiar sense, perhaps, that the Duke and Sir Charles
Jackson interpret the text that “Charity covereth a multi-
tude of sins.” Their object is charitable ; ours is malignant.
In them, therefore, inaccuracy is venial ; in us it is crimi-
nal. It may be so: their venial offences, however, shall,
as in this first instance, be proved. It remains for them
to justify their vague accusations.

* India under Dalkousie and Canning, Preface, p. 1 and p. 68.
t 1bd., p. 38.
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A REJOINDER AS TO JHANSL

Havixe explained how on the general question of
adoptions, Lord Dalhousic’s defenders have suppressed
not only all adversc arguments, but the conclusive
acknowledgments of their own side, we may proceed
to a particulur question, that of the Jhansi succession,
in which the same tactics are pursued in a still more re-
markable manner.

The Jhanst case was very fully discussed in Zhe
Lmpire in Indie, which Sir Charles Jackson quotes,
«and which has not, perhaps, entirely escaped the Duke
of Argyll's observation. In the FEdinburgh Review
article of 1863 the annexation of Jhansi is dismissed
in two lines. In the reprint of 1865, my book having
been published in the interval, these two lines are ex-
panded into two pages. In these newly interpolated
comments on this very bad case, the Duke of Argyll,
while engaged in concealing its worst points, charges  the
opponents of Lord Dalhousie” with « carefully concealing
some special circumstances affecting it.”*

The first concealment of which the Duke of Argyll
complains is of the alleged circumstance that “ Jhansi iad
been erected into a Principality by ourselves, and was not
one of the old Independent States of India.”+ Nobody ever
said it was an old Independent State. It wasa dependent
and protected State ; it stood in a relation to us which
made its destruction especially disgraceful ; but it was
not ““ erected into a Principality by ourselves. Far from
concealing what had been said on this point, I fully ex-
posed Lord Dalhousie’s unfounded assertion that Jhansi
“was held by a Chief under a very recent grant from the

* India under Dallousie and Canning, p. 31. t 7bid., p. 81,
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British Government as Sovereign,” and ““under a grant
such as is issued from a Sovereign to a subject.”* I did
not conceal what had been said. I showed that it was
not true. I showed that Jhansi was not held by a grant, but
by the Treaty of 1817, renewing and confirming a Treaty of
“defensive alliance” made in 1804, when the Soobadar
was still under the nominal supremacy of the Peishwa.
The supremacy being tru.nsferrc(f to the British Govern-
ment in 1817, was to be made real and definite. By the
new Treaty the possessions of the Soobadar are secured
“in perpetuity”to him, “his heirs and successors;” no
article or expression in it pretends to make a gift or a
grant to the actual ruler, the third of his family, who had
succeeded his grandfather in 1815, three years before the
new Treaty was proposed.

The Duke of Argyll adds that the Chief of Jhansi “was
not recognised as having a hereditary right before 1817.”
This also is a mistake. He was the actual ruler of his
territories ; the Treaty made thirteen years before with
his predecessor was in full foree ; no one had ever doubted
or disputed the hereditary nature of that power and dig-
nity which we had neither bestowed upon him nor upon
his ancestor, but which we acknowledged and confirmed
in the new Treaty. Perhaps the Marquis of Hastings, by
whomn the Treaty of 1817 was negotiated, may be heard
on this subject.

I remained in the same camp, and reccived the young Sooba-
dar of Jhansi.  As the title implies, the Chiefs of that territory
were only officers entrusted by the Peishwas with the temporary
command of the district ; but one of them, who was a man of
head as well as of courage, suceceded in making the Soobadurship
hereditary in his family, maintaining in other respects towards the
Peishwa relations of fealty with some pecuniary payments. The
Soobadar is now our feudatory.”’+

* Jhansi Blue Book, p. 20, and 22 ; Empire in India, p. 205, 209. Lord
Dalhousie most unwarrantably took these words from a Mmute by Lord Met-
calfe, who would have been the first to protest against such a gross misapplica-
tion of them,

+ Lord IHastings' Private Journal, vol ii, p. 235. This passage is quoted
by Mr. J. M. Ludlow, (Zkoughts on the Policy of the Crown towards India, p.
125) who has fully refuted all the sophisms repeated by the Duke of Argyﬂ.
I suppose Mr. Ludlow is one of those ** fifth-rate writers” whom his Grace has
never consulted  One would like to know the names of those * fifth-rate
writers” whose works the Duke A«s read,
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The special circumstances recapitulated by the Duke
of Argyll, are the identical quibbles demolished by me
in detail. Mine was a deed of exposure not of conceal-
ment. All my information was derived from those Blue
Books upon which the Duke of Argyll professes to rely.
I certainly did not “state the facts,” as the Duke re-
commends, “in the light in which they appeared” to
Lord Dalhousie, because I believed him to have viewed
them in a false light.

We now come to what the Duke of Argyll evidently
considers the worst of these acts of concealment. I agree
with him as to the offence, but I differ with him as to the
guilty party.

The Duke of Argyll asserts that in the dealings of the
British Government with Jhansi, “the right of adoption
had been set aside in practice ;” that in 1835, “ the day
betore Lie died, the Rajah adopted a son; but the boy was
not recognised as his successor, being set aside in favour

,of an uncle.” He quotes, as a truc description of the
events of 1835, Lord Dalhousie’s words that ¢ the previous
Rajah did adopt a boy, but the British Government did
not acknowledge the boy as successor, and it nomi-
nated another person to be Rajah.”* He complains that
these important circumstances are carefully concealed by
the opponents of Lord Dalhousie. If they were true they
certainly would be important.

Sir Charles Jackson makes the same statement in equally
positive terms.

“In 1835, Rao Ram Chund, the dependent Rajah of Jhansi,
died, leaving two uncles, and a boy adopted the day before his
death, without the permission of the British Government. The
Government of India, without inquiry into the fact of adoption,
and treating it as an immaterial circumstance, appointed the clder
of the two uncles Rajah.”’+

Following Lord Dalhousie, but not following the nar-
rative of facts contained in the Parliamentary Papers,
the two vindicators assume that in 1835 the Raja% of
Jhansi did undoubtedly adopt a son, and that on this
occasion the British Government refused to recognise the

* India under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 31-2.
1 A Vindication, p. 11
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adoption, and nominated another member of the family as
Rajah. The facts ave really very different.

We have seen how eagerly Lord Dalhousie accepted an
imaginary chain of precedents offered to him for general
use. Sattara and Nagpore were annexed on the strength
of those precedents.  To aid in the particular destruction
of the petty State of Jhansi he tried to extract a direct
precedent from its own annals.  There was no such prece-
dent; and he could only create the phantom by a perver-
sion of the facts before him.  Even the Blue Book, which
the Duke of Argyll exhorts us to study, contains full
proof of that perversion ; and an ample demonstration of
it was given in my book, which, if he has not read, Sir
Charles Jackson quotes and censures.

After refuting the alleged constitution of the Principal-
ity under “a grant” from our Government, I remarked on
another part of Lord Dalhousie’s Minute.

“The second error is of very much greater importance, and is
four times repeated :—in the last sentence of paragraph 7 it is
said,—¢ In 1835 Rao Rawmchund died.  Althongh ke had adopted
« boy as his successor the duy before Lis death, the adoption was
not recognised ; and his uncle, Ragonath Rao, was declaved
Rajah P*—again in paragraph 11, ¢ There is no need of and no
room for argument on this head.  'The historical facts on record
negativo the Ranee’s assertion conclusively ; for Rao Ramchund
did adopt a boy, but the British Gocernment did not achnowledye
the Doy as siccessor, and ivnominated another person to be Rajah.”f
In paragraph 12 it is stated that ¢ previous adoption by a Lujal
whom the British Government constituted hereditary Chiet of
Jhansi, was not acknowledyed by the British Gocernment.”  And
in the last sentence of the same paragraph ¢ the eristence of @ pre-
cedent’ for refusing to sanction adoption, is asserted.”’t

Even if this representation were perfectly accurate, there
would be a precedent for preventing the succession of an
adopted son to the exclusion of collateral heirs, but
none for rejecting an adopted son to the exclusion of «ll
Leirs, and with the object of fabricating a lapse. There
would be a precedent for protection and regulation, not
for appropriation.

Really there was no precedent in the succession of
1835 for any action or interference whatever. It was

* Jhansi Blue Book, 1855, t Ib., p. 22,
t Empire in India, p. 211.
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a precedent of inaction and non-interference.  No adop-
tion was rejected, no nomination was made by our Govern-
ment. What occurred was as follows :—

«Thero was a disputed succession in 1835 ; there were four
claimants.  The fact of the adoptionwas denied by the adverse par-
tics. In the Note on Jhansi by the Scerctary to Government,
tho decision in 1835 is thus described.* ¢ On this occasion the
lawful heir by blood, descended of the body of Sheo Ram Bhow,
was recognised as successor to the Raj, to the disallowance of a
boy alleged to have been adopted, or nominated as successor by the
late Rajah the day before his death, who, if* adopted, would have
been unquestionably the heir to any property of his adoptive
father to the exclusion of the uncle; and this was done without
inquiry into the fact of adeption or nomination (which was doubt-
Jul) as though it was an immaterial circumstance.”

It is to be observed, therefore, that in 1835 the adoption or
nomination was doubtful ; in 1853 the adoption was not doubtful,
or in the slightest degree irregular or suspicious, but was effected
in strict accordance with Iindoo law, and in the presence of
British officers, and was officially reported to Government in
writing by the dying Rajah.  There is no parallel here ; no pre-
cedent can be founded on the decision of 1835.”7+
Whatever were the merits of that decision, our Govern-
ment had no right to boast of it,or to profit by it in any way.

“ The fact is, that the settlement of 1835 was not a decision of
our Government at all, but that of a certain party in the Jhansi
Durbar.  The only decision at which our Government arvived was
the decision of not deciding, interposing, or oven advising in the
dispute.  The Political Agent was authorised to recognise Rago-
nath Rao, the deceased Rajah’s uncle, who was in actual posses-
ston, but no opinion was given as to his right : and these qualifying
expressions were added,—¢ 1t being presumed that Ae @s able fo
eslablish his authority, and that his succession will be acknow-
ledged by disinterested parties at Jhansi.”}

I then pointed out that the successions to Jhansi in 1833,
and in the family of Holkar to the Indore State in 1834
—both of them under Lord William Bentinck’s adminis-
tration—were sad instances of the neglect of our moral
duty as the de fucto great protecting and pacificating
Power, and proved the truth of Sir George Clerk’s reproach
that “ the inconsistency, caprice, and mutability of our
opinions regarding all great principles, is the bane of our

* Jhansi Blue Book, p. 18, + Empire in India, p. 212,
1 Jhansi Blue Book, p. 17. Empire in India, p21g "
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supremacy in India.”* Our refusal to interfere in the
Holkar succession, which Lord William Bentinck declared
must be settled by “* the general wish,” and “ the voice of
the country,” led to scenes of bloodshed and disorder that
at last compelled our armed intervention, but only for the
support of the party which had the upper hand for the
moment, and was in possession of the capital and Palace.t

There was another disputed succession at Jhansi in 1838,
briefly mentioned in Lord Dalhousie’s Minute, which ap-
peared to me to call for no special notice when I was dis-
cussing the subject. The Duke of Argyll does not refer to
it.  Sir Charles Jackson brings it forward as another ex-
ample of the “ruling sanction” negatively enforced to ex-
clude an adopted son. He says :—“On his” (Rajah Rago-
nath Rao’s) “ death without issue, in 1838, they” (the
British Government) “placed the younger uncle on the
throne, although the adopted son was still living, and as-
serted his claim.”}

Here at last we have an intervention, but it does not
help Sir Charles Jackson in the least. Warned in all
probability by the evil effects of its passive attitude to-
wards the struggle for succession in the Holkar family
at Indore in 1834, the British Government took upon it-
self to settle the second disputed inheritance at Jhansi in
1838,— -when there were again four claimants,—after o
Jjudicial inquiry conducted by a Commission. This settle-
ment was a legitimate assertion of the British preroga-
tive as the Paramount Power over its feudatory. The
same functions might most properly have been exercised
at Indore in 1834, and ought to be exercised on any
future occasion by the Imperial Power of India, where the
right of succession is doubtful or disputed, even though
the State concerned may not stand towards the British
Government in the position of a feudal dependent or tribu-
tary. Such an intervention is regulative and protective,
but involves no right or claim of confiscation.

The non-intervention of 1835 was a neglect of protective
power ; the intervention of 1838 was the rightful exer-
cise of protective power ; the intervention of 1853 was a
gross and greedy abuse of protective power.

* Empire in India, p. 217,
t Papers, Succession by Adoption, 1850, . 70,71, 75. § A Vindication,p.11.



CHAPTER IV.
A REJOINDER AS TO NAGPORE.

THE annexation of Nagpore was treated very fully by me
in the Empire in India.  Neither of the two vindicators
venture to mecet or to mention any of my arguments.
Yet Sir Charles Jackson professes to have seen my book,
and cites it more than ence.  In the original Edinburgh
Review article of 1863 the subject of N:Lgpore was dis-
missed in ten lines, as “« case which involved no disputed
question.”* Tn the republication of 1865,—my book having
appeared carly in the previous year,—these words are
omitted, and the brief paragraph is expanded into six
pages.  How did the Duke of Argyll ascertain between
January 1863 and June 1865, that his first impression was
a mistaken one, and that the Nagpore question was open
to dispute after all?  Whose disputations induced these
after-thoughts ¢ Surely not mine,—for the Duke calmly
reiterates the fictions and fallacies, blindly imbibed from
the Blue-Books, which I endeavoured to explode.

Lord Dalhousie, pursuing, if he did not originate, the
unworthy and unstatesmanlike practice of depreciating our
own method and our own settlement, and turning British
protection into a precarious toleration, tried to degrade
the Nagpore State by representing it as the mere creature
of our free will and pleasure. He said that the Marquis
of Hastings, who was Governor General in 1818, had “ set
up @ boy whom he selected tv be Rujah;” that the British
Government had  bestowed the soverelgnty upon the per-
son whom it thought best;” and that “the simple question
of determination was whether the sovereignty of Nagpore,
which was bestowed as a gift on a Goojur tn 1818, shall
now be conferrved upon somebody else, as « gift a second
time;” and he objected to “the gratuitous alienation a

* Edinburgh Review, January 1863, p. 17.
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second time of the State of Nugpore.* I showed that the
late Rajah was the nearest of kin, when he was placed
on the throne in 1818 ; that it was a doubtful question
whether he was not the rightful heir in 1816, instead of
Appa Sahib, whose party we supported but whom we
afterwards deposed ; and it was therefore inaccurate to
speak lightly of him as “a boy selected to be Rajah,” or
as “a person” upon whom ‘ the sovercignty was bestowed..”

T quoted the words of Lord Hastings himself, who in a
letter addressed to the Court of Directors briefly describes
Appa Sahib’s treachery and deposition, and observes that
the disturbed state of the country *“made it expedient for
us to lose no time in establishing a new Government.
The members of the reigning tamily, and the principal
persons of the State, were consulted.  They unanimously
recommended the nearest of blood m the Bhonsla (the
Rajaly’s) family, for the succession, and he was raised to
the musnud in the room of Appa Sahib.”+ T pointed out
that this was a great contrast to Lovd Dalhousie’s con-
temptuous assertions that Lovd Hastings “set wp « boy
whom he sclected)” and that he “ conferred the gift under
the influence of no consideration whatever but his own fiee
will and pleasure.’}

I also proved that whatever phrases as to the rights of
conquest—acquired undoubtedly in Nagpore, but which
we chose, from motives of policy, to waive,—and as to
“conferring” the territory on the young Rajah, might
have been used in despatches from and to the Governor
General in 1818, no process of gift, or transfer, was gone
through ; nor were any such terms introduced into the
Treaty of 1826, in the Preamble of which, on the contrary,
after referring to his predecessor’s hostility and deposition,
the Rajah is declared to have “succeeded to the throne by
the favour of the British Government,” and is required,
under Article V, to confirm former cessions, which of
course could not have been required or permitted had he
received the Principality as a gift or new grant from the

* Papers, Rajak of Berar, 1854, p. 23, 30,

Y Report of Select Commiltee of House of Commons on the East India Com-
pany, 1833, Appendix, pp. 104,

1 Dapers, Ragak of Lerar, p. 28 ; Empire in Indic, . 188,
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conquerors. Sir Richard Jenkins, who was Resident during
the late Rajah’s minority, quoting the Marquis of Hast-
ings’ own words, had spoken of “the restoration of the
State of Nagpore to its rank as one of the substantive
Powers of India.” I proved, in short, from all the records
of the time, that the State of Nagpore was not conferred
as a grant or gift on the late Rajah, that no new Princi-
pality was created in his favour by the British Govern-
ment, but that by its forbearance and favour he succeeded
to the throne of his ancestors.

Yet the Duke of Argyll feels himself justified in repeat-
ing that the British Government in 1818 “selected an
infunt boy who was son of « daughter of the second Rajah;”
and quotes with approval Lord Dalhousie’s protest against
“the gratuitous alienation of the State of Nagpore, for
the second time.”*

Sir Charles Jackson also quotes the assertion that “ the
soverelynty of Nagpore was bestowed as « gift upon a
Goojur by the British Government in 1818.”t

Lord Dalhousie thus describes the Nagpore annexation,
in his Farewell Minute of 1856, reviewing his own admi-
nistration :—

“The Kingdom of Nagpore became British territory by simple
lapse, in the absence of all legal heirs. The Kingdom which had
been granted to the reigning Rajah by the British Government,
when 1t had become forfeited by the treachery of Appah Sahib,
was left without a claimant when the Rajah died. No son had
been born to his Highness ; none was adopted by him ; none, «s
they have themselres admitted, was adopted at the Rajah’s death,
by the Ranecs his widows.”}

In the ten lines allotted to this case in the Review ar-
ticle of 1863, the Duke of Argyll quotes this passage,
omitting, however, the important words which I have
placed in italics. It would have been well if they had
been omitted from the original document. The passage
disappears altogether from the enlarged and revised pugi)-
lication of 1865. It was well discarded.

“ The Kingdom of Nagpore,” it is said, “ was left with-

* India under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 34 and 87,

t A Vindication, p. 17,

Ny &?i?ﬁ g"lsl‘;\‘ute by the Marquis of Dalhousie, dated February 28th, 1856,
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out a claimant” When these words were penned by
Lord Dalhousie, a very little reflection and research would
have reminded him that Mr. Mansel, the Resident at
Nagpore, in a despatch dated 14th December, 1853, three
days after the Rajah’s death, gave his opinion upon the
respective standing and qualifications of each one of the
late Sovereign’s family who might be considered as “«
pretender to the throne”* 1 cannot see much difference
between a “ pretender” and a ““claimant.” The Rajah’s
nearest male relatives, according to Mr. Mansel’s report,
were two grand nephews, one grand nephew of his prede-
cessor, Raghojee the Second—descendants in the female
line, but all eligible for adoption, according to Hindoo law
and family custom—and a nephew, sister’s son, who was
married, and therefore incapable of being adopted.  From
among these Mr. Mansel recommended the elder of the
deceased Rajah’s own grand nephews, as ““the most favour-
able selection” for the throne, describing him as well edu-
cated in the Mahratta style, “amiable in disposition, and
sensible, not apparently possessing brilliant talent, but
tractable.” T

Yet Lord Dalhousie did not hesitate to say that the
Kingdom of Nagpore was left without a claimant ”; and,
in spite of the evident contradictions to it contained in
those Blue Books which the Duke of Argyll professes to
have studied, his Grace did not hesitate to repeat that
statement in the Kdinburgh Review. Having pointedly
referred to the principal claimant in his revised reprint of
1865, the Duke could hardly retain in the text this abso-
lute denial of his existence, and the whole passage is there-
fore judiciously left out.

Lord Dalhousie’s apologists may now say on his behalf,
that though, strictly speaking, it may have been a slight
overstatement to declare that there was no claimant of the
throne, there actually was no person entitled to the throne,
until duly adopted ; and that no adoption was effected or
even proposed. This, in fact, was asserted by Lord Dal-
housie in the passage from his Farewell Minute now under
consideration. “No son,” he says, “had been born to his

* Paragraphs 83, 34, 86 of the despatch; Papers, Rajah of Berar, 1864, p. 20.
t Ibid., 1854, p. 20,
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Highness ; none was adopted by him ; none, as they Lave
themselves admitted, was adopted at the Rajah’s death by
the Ranees, his widows.” These words—“as they have
themselves admitted”’-—seem to have been a little too
strong for the Duke’s digestion, even in 1863, for they are
expunged from the extract as given in the Edinburyh Re-
wiew. The statement is, indeed, alinost unparalleled for
heedless inaccuracy.

Instead of the Ranees having “admitted” that.no adop-
tion had taken place, they never ceased, up to the hour of
Lord Dalhousic’s departure from Caleutta, to urge upon
the British authorities, so far as they dared, and to the
best of their means and ability, the claims of their adopted
son.

In his demi-official letter, written a few howrs after the
Rajah’s death, on the 11th December, 1853, Mr. Mansel,
the Resident, wrote, “The immediate people of the Court,
and officials of Government, of course desire adoption, but
[ have given no special encouragement to the wish.”*

In his formal despatch of three days later, while de-
scribing the several « pretenders to the throne,” as quoted
above, he said that ¢ Yeshwunt Rao Aher Rao, the son of
Nana Aher Rao, and grandson of the late Rajah’s sister,
would decidedly be preferred by the mass of the courtiers
to any other youth for the Musnud, whether given to him
by adoption, or by grant from the Company.”t I may
here mention that this grandnephew of the late Rajah,
Yeshwunt Rao, then more usually called Appa Sahib, is
the same Janojec Bhonsla, so named by virtue of his
adoption, who 1s now recognised by our Government as
the head of the family, to whom the ancestral landed
property was restored, with the titles of Rajah and Baha-
door, by Lord Canning in 1860, “in recognition of the
loyal conduct of the family during the rebellion, and of
the faithful attachment of the late Banka Baee to the
British Government.”

In a subsequent letter, dated the 14th April, 1854, Mr.
Mansel explained that “the family of the late Rajah would
* Papers, Rajoh of Berar, 1854, p. 56.

+ Ibid., p. 1854, p. 20.
1 Caleutta Gazette, April 14th, 1860.
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prefer to retain the actual musnud in the hands of some
heir selected by adoption.”*

The Duke of Argyll expresses some surprise that ““since,
as a matter of fact, not even the plea of adoption could be
urged in this case, Lord Dalhousie entered into « long
and perhaps needless argument on the petition of the
widows.”t

That long argnment, to which he frequently reverted,
was needless indeed and utterly futile—as the Duke him-
self perceives—if the Rances had no right to adopt. Why
did the Governor General, in the face of Mr. Mansel’s
assurances that all the Court desired an adoption, and his
indication of the exact person they would prefer, resort to
unfounded surmises as to jealousies among the Rances
disinclining them to adopt a suceessor to the throne?  Of
what consequence were these imaginary jealousies, except
for the purpose of silencing Lord Dalhousie’s own misgiv-
ings? It is as plain as possible that Lord Dalhousic was
very doubtful of his right to prevent the succession of an
adopted heir, and therefore tried very hard to persuade
bimself that the Ranees were so blind to their own inte-
rests as not to wish to maintain the sovereignty.

It is unnecessary,” he says, *“to enter into any discus-
sion,” whether the widow is authorised to adopt.  “ There
is no ground for any such discussion. The widow has made
no attempt nor any proposal to adopt.”{ And then he
proceeds to build up his theory as to the widows’ jealousies
and aversion to adopt an heir.

No reasons whatever can be gathered from the Blue
Books, or from any other sources, to lead us to suppose
that there ever was the slightest difference of opinion
or jealousy among the Ranees; that therc ever was
the least doubt or question among them as to their right
to adopt, as to the advisability of adoption, or as to
the person to be adopted. Their only doubt was whether
the Rajah’s elder grandnephew, whom they considered best
entitled to the throne, would be the candidate most accept-
able to the British Government, with whose overwhelming

* Further Papers, Berar, 1856, p. 5.

t India under Dalhonsie and Canning, p. 87.
1 Papers, Rajah of Berar, 1854, p. 24.
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power they were well acquainted, and whose protecting
and regulating prerogative they cheerfully acknowledged.
They expected some communication to be made to them
by the Governor-General. Fully aware of all the details
of recent claims to succession, the Bhonsla family knew
that in 1838 an adopted son had been sct aside at Jhansi
in favour of an elder relative; they knew that at Indore
in 1844 one adopted son had been rejected in favour of
another. They determined therefore not to endanger the
succession of the rightful heir by any precipitate step.
This appears clearly «nongh trom Mr. Mansel’s despatches.
In that one written three days after the Rajuh’s death,
dated 14th Decemnber, 1333, he rcpoits having paid a visit
of condolence to the Ranees, when the senior lady, the
Banka Baee, let fall “oceasional expressions of hope that
the interests of the Bhonsli family would continue to be
interwoven with the Berar Kingdom.”*

In the letter of the 14th April, 1854, containing his
remarks on the several *“pretenders to the throne,” Mr.
Mansel writes as follow:

“In my communications with the latc Durbar Vakeel, I was
led to suppose at first that I should receive a formal representa-
tion from the Banka Bace and the cldest widow of the late Rajah,
Anpoorna Baee, on the subject of their claims to adopt an heir to the
musnud, they and their immediate advisers treating it as hard that
their case should be finally disposed of without further formal
communication with them. ~Partly, I apprehend, from their own
helplessness, and partly from the disinelination of the most intelli-
gent parties ubout the Court to engage in a course that might be
decmed hostile or held offensive to the Dritish representative, the
ladies and other near relatives of the late Rajah havoe not taken,
s0 far as I can lcarn, any cffective step to appeal in Calcutta or
England agamst the orders executed by me, nor has any formal
representation on paper been submitted to myself.”+

Helpless they were indeed! The Resident, we may be
sure, did not overestimate their dread of evincing hostility
and giving offence. Colonel Low (now General Sir John
Low, K.C.B.), the only Member of the Supreme Council
who at that time had any experience of characters and
customs at Native Courts, and who firmly opposed the
annexation, with singular accuracy divined and described

* Papers, Rajah of Berar, 1854, p. 14. Further Papers. Berar, 1856, p 5.
D
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the state of affairs and of fecling at Nagpore on the sub-
ject of adoption. The Rances and their advisers, having
signified their wishes to the British Resident, waited
patiently for some inquiry or veference from the Supreme
Government.

“They were naturally deterred,” wrote Sir John Low,
“from making any attempt of the kind "—openly adopt-
ing a son—* when they saw the British Resident at once
take possession of the Government, and order the British
troops to be in readiness for any emergency that might
oceur.”* At the same time, while these measures, taken
by the Resident, in pursuance of strict orders from Cal-
cutta, overawed the ladies at the very time when prompt
action was all important, his kind, considerate, and con-
solatory manner and expressions, and his evident desire to
maintain their dignity, to preserve their wealth, and to
secure them a splendid ineome,—“perfectly well surmised
by the Bhonsla family,” as Lord Dalhousic complained,t—
still more tended to confirmn the Ranees as to the prudence
and propriety of trusting to his good offices, and to the
friendship of the Honowrable Company.

Not wntil Mr. Mansel was removed from Nagpore,
notoriously in consequence of his representations in their
favour, did the Ranees suddenly awake to the exigen-
cies of their position, and enter upon a course of appeal
and remonstrance.

Almost driven to despair, they began to suspect that
Mr. Mansel had betrayed them into the loss of so much
valuable time. In the first memorial directly addressed
to the Governor-General, the Banka Baee states that on
the Rajah’s death she had made many “communications
both in person and by agents to Mr. Mansel, the Resident,
with respect to the treaties of friendship and alliance,
whereupon that officer gave us, according to the powers
vested in him by the Honourable Company, every assu-
rance of the realisation of our wish.” She cxplains that
she had remonstrated against the letter from Government,
read to the Ranees by the Resident on March 14th, 1854,
declaring that “as there was no heir to succeed to the

* Papers, Rajak of Berar, 1854, p. 48. + Further Papers, Berar, 1856, p. 9.
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guddee,” (throne) “ Government had annexed the State to
the British territories.” Upon this, she proceeds, * with
reference to the powers vested in the Resident by your
Lordship, I communicated to him a second time through
my officers, all my sentiments, whereupon he set my mind
at ease by assuring me that he would in the course of
three months, procure me favourable orders from your
Lordship.” Instead of any favourable orders, on July
15th, 1854, two days before this memorial was written,
the Resident’s Assistant had come to the Palace and in-
formed the Rances that they were to be pensioned, and
that, with the exception of *“a small portion of the gems
and other articles,” all the family property would be “seized
on behalf of ((overnment.”  Apamnst these proceedings the
aged Ranee protests, especially against “a departure from
treaties,” and concludes by begging the Governor-General,
“with refercnce to the tics of friendship subsisting from
of old between the two Governments, to continue the
guddee of this State in this family.”*

Lord Dalhousie, in his Minute on this first direct com-
munication from the Ranees, exults over “the marked
absence of any allegation that an heir was appointed to
the guddee of Nagpore.” ¢ She does not,” he adds, “ so
much as attempt to name, or even to affirm the existence
of any heir to the guddee.”t

This exultation was not very well founded, considering
that the letter in question contains a protest against the
decree “that there was no heir to succeed to the guddee,”
appeals to the treaties, and requests that the guddee may
be continued “in the frnily.” Still it is true that the heir
is not named, but obviously from the same motives that
had actuated the Bhonsla family from the first. She wishes
some inquiry or proposal to be made by the Governor-
General. Had the Ranees been amenable to the advice
and influence of any person of strong character and courage,
—and great courage would have Peen required to brave
the British representative,—they would have publicly in-
stalled their adopted son at a very early Period, and then
have applied for the sanction and recognition of the Gover-

* Further Papers, Berar, 1856, p. 14. t 7b/d., 1856, p. 15.
D2
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nor-Gleneral.  But they were ignorant and timid women ;
there was more than one pretender; and any contumacious
conduct on their part might, according to their apprehen-
sions, destroy the chance of their candidate, perhaps ensure
his banishment.  Timediately on Mr. Mansel’s departure
from Nagpore, however, they had concluded their plans
for delegating agents, hoth to Caleutta and to London, to
appeal against the extinction of the family and Princi-
pality ; and within two or three days of Lord Dalhousic’s
unfuvourable reply to this fivst nemorial being despatched,
after nearly four months’ delay, he must have received
another, from ITunwunt Rao, the aceredited agent of the
Ranees, dated 16th September, 1854, declaring that “there
are vightful helrs to the guddee and territory of Nagpore”
that “there «are rightful heirs of the late Maharaja, and
successors to the Raj or Kingdom, entitled to succeed
thereto, both according to the customs of the fuandly and
the Ilindoo luw,” and that “the Muharanee has alivays
been and expressed herself to be willing ad prepared ty
take into wdoption cuwu one of such helvs and suceessors as
mety be agreeable to ler, on such just and reasonable terms
and stipulations as she may be adeised to do by your Lord-
ship.” The agent concluded by stating that he was /-
wished with full (nformation regarding the affairs that
have been transacted, and the events that have transpired
subsequent to the demise of the late Maharaja,” and that
he was prepaved “to submit such information, either per-
sonally or by letter,” as might be directed.*

The Governor-General wanted no further information.
He had satisfied himself, in spite of Mr. Mansel’s letters,
that there was not even a “claimant” of the throne, and
that the Ranees were absolutely averse to an adoption.
He refused to receive any appeal from an agent, and in a
letter dated 29th September, 1854, referred the Rances to
the Commissioner, “ to whom they can address themselves,
and personally communicate with him at all times.”t But
on the 6th October the Comnissioner, after reporting the
departure of several agents deputed by the Ranees to in-
tercede on their behalf, declares that he has refused to be

* Further Papers, Berar, 1856, p. 17. t Ibid., 1856, p. 22.
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“the medium of communication on the subject,” and that
he has “distinctly explained on every occasion that no
officer in the service of the British Government could pre-
sume to address the Governor-General on a matter which
had been finally disposed of after the most mature con-
sideration,”*

Another agent having been sent to Caleutta to complain
of this total denial of a hearing, the Commissioner was de-
sived on the 8th December, 1854, to forward any petitions
the Ranees might wish to address to Government.t  This
gives a glimpse behind the scenes into the system of ob-
struction and intimidation by which the Ranees’ natural
disabilitics and apprehensions were enhanced, and the full
statement of heir case kept back from the Government
for an entire ycar.

Unfortunately Mr. Mansel, though well-disposed  to-
wards Native States in genceral, so far succumbed to the
political heresy of the day, recently enforced at Sattara,
as to disparage the rights of an adopted heir; he recom-
mended that the State of’ Nagpore should for the present
be “preserved in feudal chieftainship” under the Banka
Baee, the grandmotlier of the deceased Rajah, (who had
been Regent during her grandson’s minority, and who for
upwards of fifty years had exercised a dommant influence
both in domestic and public affairs), and that Yeshwunt
Rao Aher Rao, now Janojee Bhonsla, should be “trained
up to succeed her.”f And he scems to have been at first
animated with some confidence that this middle course
would be cordially accepted at Calcutta. Thus fixing his
mind on what he called “a new form to be given to native
power,”—“an experiment for reconciling the interests of
the people, the claims of the Bhonsla tamily, and the duties
of Great Britain,”—he lost sight of the inherent right of
Janojee Bhonsla to be adopted.” His right was not absolute
against all other claimants eligible for adoption, but it was
absolute against the claim of “lapse” in default of all heirs,
set up by Lord Dalhousie ; it was infinitely stronger than
that of any other relative of the deceased Rajah; and

* Further Pupers, Berar, 1856, p.27. t Ibid., 1856, p. 24.
1 Papers, Rayak o}'lx’erar‘, 1854: !; 20. ’ ¥
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the adoption of some one of those relatives was obligatory
on the widow, both by Hindoo law and family custom.

Sir Charles Jackson says:—*The Rajah of Nagpore lett
no heir in the male line, and no other heir could mherit;”
and in a note to this passage refers us to “Sir Richard
Jenkins' Report on Nagpore, in which he states the prin-
ciples regulating the succession to the throne. He says,
‘It is hereditary in the entire male line from the common
ancestor or first founder of the dynasty, to the exclusion
of females or their issue.””*

Sir Charles Jackson is quite right in his quotation so
far as he goes. Why does he not go a little farther and
quote a little more? Sir Richard Jenkins gives the
above ag “the fundamental inaxim,” but he adds, “ Another
maxim generally acknowledged is, that on the death of a
Rajuh leaving no male heir, it is the privilege of his prin-
cipal widow to adopt « child from the relations of her hus-
band to sueceed him, and herself to govern in his name.”t
Wherever Sir Charles Juckson found the words whiclt
form his garbled quotation he could have found the re-
maining words, and [ can imagine no excuse for their sup-
pression.  Lord Dalhousie gave the whole passage fairly
enough,f but then his argument was, as we have seen,
that the widow was averse to an adoption.

The most remarkable part of Sir Richard Jenkins’ tes-
timony is that after laying down these fundamental
maxims he proceeds to declare the rule that had been ob-
served in seating the Rajah, then a minor, on the throne,
and that should be observed in choosing his successor from
the female line, in case he should die without leaving « son.
That rule was “to choose the nearest male descendant of
the last Rajah who had any.”§ According to that rule the
late Rajal’s grand-nephew, the great-grandson of Rughojee
the Second’s daughter, and that Rajah’s “nearest male de-
scendant,” was actually adopted as a son, on the death of
his grand-uncle.

Partly owing to the Rances’ overstrained submission,
partly to Mr. Mansel’s imperfect appreciation of his natural

* A Vindication, p. 15. t During the winority only.
I Papers, Rajah of Berar, 1854, p. 23, § Report on Nagpore, 1827, p. 116.
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and acquired rights by birth and expectations, no serious
diseussion of Janojee Bhonsla’s claim took place in the
Supreme Council before the annexation. In order fully
to supply deficiencies, we must now for the first tirpe in this
critical inquiry travel out of the Blue Books, which, how-
ever, contain ample information on this subject, already
quoted, to prove to the Duke of Argyll, who professes to
have studied themn, that the Rajah’s elder grand-nephew,
the principal “pretender to the throne,” was not ade-
quately or ingenuously deseribed by Lord Dalhousie as
“a Malratta youth,” or as “a stranger.”  The facts re-
lated in the following extract were not derived from any
oceult source, nor from unpublished oflicial records, but
are such as wight have been gathered by any one in ordi-
nary conversation from well-anformed people at Nagpore ;
and their truth can still be confirmed by hundreds of living
persons, including many English ofticers.

“ According to a family custom, applicable only to the lincal des-
&endants of the Rajahs, his” (Janojee Bhonsla’s) ““mother, Myna
Buace, the late Rajul’s nicee, and great-granddaughter of Raghojeo
the 2nd, camd to reside in the Palace a short time before her con-
finement,and was theve delivered of a son on August 14th,183 . On
his birth being announced, a salute of twenty-one guns was fired in
the public square of the Palace, and a fen de juic was fired by tho
Rajal’s Artallery and Infantry. And on the 25th of the same month
the principal Chiefs and Mmisters of the Court visited the Resident
on the part of the Rajah, for the purpose of distributing sugar on
tho occagion* At the birth of no other person now living in
Nagpore were such honours paid, or such a communication made
to the British Resident. Tlus boy was brought up entirely as a
child of the Palace, in which he much more usually resided than
in his own father’s house.  'Wherever he went, ten or twelve of
the Mahratta and Mussulman Maunkurrees (hereditary officers of
rank and family) were appointed to attend upon him; spearmen
and other servants, horses and elephants from the Rajah’s estab-
lishment, were detailed for his service and retinue. Directions
regarding his education and companions were always given by the
Rajah hunself,  As ho grew older, he accompanied the Rajah on
all his progresses through the conntry, and sat by his side on pub-
lic occasions in durbar and on his visits to the Resident. The

* Sugar is sent to relatives and intimate friends by a lindoo father when a
son is born in his house. On_this occasion it clearly signified the birth of an
heir-presumptive to the Rajah, whose health was frequently very delicate at
this period, and who had been married for three years without issue,
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Rajah would not permit his marrage to tako place, a ceremony
which among the Nagpore Mahrattas is usually celebrated at a
very early age, but the conclusion of which precludes subsequent
adoption. In a few words, as year by year the prospects of the
Rajah having legitimate offspring appearved to diminish, all the
faunly and followers of the Court became accustomed to look
upon Appa Sahib as the destined successor to the musnud.”’*

The real circumstances that followed the death of the
late Maharajah were thus described by me :—

“ Appa Salmb was at once summoned by the Banka Bace and
by Anpoorna Bace, the senmor widow ; and at the request of both
these Rances, his father Nana Aher Rao, and his mother Myna
Bace, formally, and in presence of all the assembled relatives,
cousented to resign him to Anpoorna Baee. 'The Banka Bace
proposed that until the orders of the Supreme Government were
received, the public ceremony of giving a new name to the young
Rajah, and the usual procession and installation, should not take
place 5 and while this question was being debated in the family
circle, the mformation that the Resident had ordered scals to bo
put on the Treasury and Jewel Office, and had otherwise taken
measures for exereming all authority in his own person, decided
it in favour of the Banka Bace’s consistently submissive pohey.
The Baeco said at that time, and on many subsequent occasions,
that she had already seen the affaivs of the Nagpore State scttled
several times by orders from Caleutta, and that she had no doubt
they would be scttled once more on the old terms.”+

““The ceremonies of adoption were then duly performed in the
Palace, and the funeral rites were celebrated by Appa Sahib, who
subsequently received the name of Janojee Bhonsla.”t

The name of the person who had officiated as a son at
the Rajah’s cremation, and at the solemn filial obsequics
called kriye karm, was of conurse known to the Resident,
as it was to all Nagpore; but he considered it suthicient
to report in his first demi-official letter to the Governor-
General that “the funeral pile was to be fired by the
ordinary relations of the deccased.”§ Even this not very
explicit account is absent from the subsequent formal
despatches.  We have already seen why the Ranees them-
selves made no direct notification.

But, it may be asked, if the Bhonsla family really wished
and expected instructions to be sent by the British

» Emjn're in India, p, 176, 178. t Ibid., p. 178.
t thd., po 175, § Papers, Rajak of Berar, 1854, p. 56.
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Government as to the vacant throne, why did they take
the irrevocable step of adopting their own candidate ?
The adoption was effected on the grounds of religion and
custom, though no doubt it was supposed to strengthen
the claim of the heir whom all preferred, and whom
the Rajal was known to have chosen. It would be the
greatest mistake to imagine,—I have always disputed the
notion,—that, cither in the Hindoo or the Mussulman
States of India, a rigorous, well-defined rule of succession
has ever been so clearly laid down, and so universally
accepted that there never was any ground for doubt or
contention.  There are no teal precedents for the lapse or
escheat of a Hindoo sovereigniy, but there are many
precedents for every variety of rregular succession, even
for that of females.  Adopted sons had been recently set
aside, and, ax we have seen, apparently with the approval
of the British Government, at Jhansi and Indore.  For
all that the Ranees and their advisers knew, the Governor-
(feneral might prefer on this occasion to enthrone the
Rajal’s nephew, on the ground of his consanguinity and
mature age ; or the plan might be carried out, which they
knew had been recommended by the Resident,*-—whose
influence always seemed to them unbounded—of entrust-
ing the government for some years to the venerable Banka
Bace, whom all regarded as the good genius of the family
and State.

And although when the Minute of the 28th January,
1854, was recorded, the adoption of Janojee Bhonsla was
still a private aftair, Lord Dalhousie knew at that time
from Mr. Mansel’s despatches that an adoption was desired
by the famnily, and that the Rajaly’s elder grand-nephew was
a “ pretender to the throne,” and would be * decidedly pre-
ferred” for the musnud. Notwithstanding all this, his
Lordship devotes two lengthy paragraphs, occupying two
Blue Book folio pages, to an wray of contradictory infer-
ences and unfounded surmises proving that the Raneces
must be averse to adoption ; repeatedly declares that the
Rajah has left “no heir whatever;”+ and in his second

* A seerct of this sort, if it was intended to be a secret, is never kept from
those interested. t Papers, Rujuh of Derar, 1854, p. 22, 23, 26.
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Minute, in reply to Colonel Low, asserts that there is
“no natural heir.”*  And three times in the same words
he objects to “the gratuitous alienation of the State of
Nagpore in favour of « Mahratta youth.t

But when in his Farewell Minute of 28th February, 1856,
Lord Dalhousie improved upoen these phrases of studied
disparagement, and tried to force down Janojee Bhonsla
into deeper oblivion, by saying that the throne was “left
without « claimant,” and that “the British (Government
refused to bestow the territory in free gift upon astranger,”t
I am afraid he knew all about Janojee Bhonsla’s claim,
and his alleged position by birth and adoption. He had
then received from the Ranees, and had answered, at
least one letter in which Appa Sahib was named as their
adopted son and lawtul heir of the deceased Rajah.  One
small point of verbal exculpation may be reserved in his
favour.  He may, perhaps, have doubted whether Appa
Sahib was adopted on the very dey of the Rajah’s death.
But with this minute exception,—scareely rising above h
quibble,—I can see no possible excuse for those rash and
extravagant assertions that there was “no cladmant,” and
that “no son, «s they huve themselves admitted, was
adopted at the Rajah’s death by the Ranees his widows.”§
Far from having admitted that negative proposition, they
were, that very moment, pressing its contradictory aftirm-
ative upon the attention of Government by all the means
in their power. Many months before Lord Dalhousie’s
departure, the Rances had gained courage from despair ;
and when that Farewell Minute of the 28th February,
1856, was written, their agents in London had been

* Ibid , p. 55, Tn the same way, referring to the C'arnatic suecession,—
where, the fannly bemng Mahomedan, no adoption was necessary—he says,
¢“the Nawab left no male heir,” (Minute of February 28th, 1856, para. 43, p.
11) when all that ought to have been said was that he left 1o lineal male de-
scendant ; for he left a paternal uncle, (the son and brother of successive reign-
ing Princes,) a male heir both according to Mahomedan and Enghsh law, Mr.
J M. Ludlow has well shown how in the Sattara and Jhansi cases also, Lord
Dalhousie fell into this blunder, turning ** heirs and successors” into * lineal
heirs,” or ¢ heirs of the hody,” treating the words ¢ successors” as surplusage,
and construing * heirs” as “issue.”  (ZThoughts on the Lolicy of the Crown, p.
120, 140, to 144.)

t Pupers, ltujah of Berar, 1854, p. 23, 26, 30.

1 Minute of the Marquis of Dalhousie, 1856, p. 7.

§ 1bid., 1856, pura. 14 p. 7,
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engaged for nearly a year in addressing petitions to the
Court of Directors and the Board of Control.*  Copies of
these petitions must of course have been immediately
furnished to the Governor-General for his information.
The agents also write to the Ranees on the 10th October,
1855, that being desired by the home authorities to
transmit what they have to say through the proper
channel, they have already forwarded three petitions
through the Commissioner of Nagpore to Lord Dalhousie. t
What the contents of these petitions were we learn from
Mr. Ludlow, who had seen them at the oftice of the India
Reform Society. [In the first of these, dated the 18th
April, 1855, it is asserted that “ the late Prince had long
intended to adopt one of his near kinsmen, by name
Yeshwunt Rao Aher Rao,” -otherwise called Appa Sahib,
and now Junojee Bhonsla. Tt is asserted that “imme-
diately on the Maharajah’s decease the Maharanees made
known their lord’s wishes to Mr, Mansel, the Resident,
ahd that gentleman assured the Maharanees that he would
make known their wishes to the Governor-General for the
aforefaid Yeshwunt Rao being placed on the throne.”
And, as we lave seen, this is exactly what Mr. Mansel
did.f Tt is said that the ladies, satisfied with this assu-
rance, “were content to postpone the completion of such
ceremony,” and *“with the concurrence of the Resident
allowed Yeshwunt Rao Aher Rao to perform the necessary
funeral solemnities.”§

Sir Charles Jackson expresses his belief that the Ranees
did not adopt Appa Sahib until “after the decision of
Government in favour of annexation,” and that they then
“ antedated Lis adoption.”| If it were so, Janojee Bhionsla’s
right to the succession under the Treaty, as the “ heir
and successor” of the Rajah would nof be weakened.
Neither Hindoo law, nor the customs and precedents of
the Bhonsla family, prescribe any limited number of days,
after which an_adoption would not be valid or effective.
If it were as Sir Cﬁarles Jackson believes, all that could
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be said would be that the Ranees having waited a reason-
able time, under the instructions of the British Resident,
for the initiative to be taken by the Protecting Power,
adopted the Rajah’s natural and intended heir, when
the bad intentions of the Protecting Power could be no
longer mistaken.

In the book which Sir Charles Jackson has quoted, 1
related the story of the Bhonsla’s ancestral estates,~—situ-
ated beyond the limits of the Nagpore territory,—their
hasty sequestration on the Rajah’s ﬁoath, their subsequent
restoration to the widow, and their ultimate assignment
to the adopted son.

““The estates vemained in the widow’s possession until 1860,
when Lord Canning having, as a partial and very imperfect re-
paration to the Bhonslas, recognised Janojee Bhonsla as the head
of the farmly, the lands were transferred to ham, with the rem-
nants of the private moveable property that had escaped Lord
Dalhousie’s auctions.”’*

Sir Charles Jackson, alluding obseurely to this trans-
action, says = The rveport of the Resident, who was in
communication with the Ranees after the Rajal’s death,
and a petition of the Banka Baee’s, were conclusive, «url
Lord Canning refused to acknowledye Appa Salib as the
adopted son of the Rajaht  This point was met and
fully treated by me, but Sir Charles Jackson makes no
reference to the following remarks.

“In the notification of his title of Rajah Bahadur of Deoor, in
the Culentte Gazette, Liord Canning, certainly with no intention
of insult, described the grandnephew and adopted son of our
fuithful Ally as © the adopted son of the widow of the late Ruler
of Nagpore,” an nnpossible relationship according to the Hindoo
law, a solecism in legal phrascology, and colloquially in India o
contemptuous and oftensive designation.f  Of course the object
was to avoid the appearance of acknowledging Janojee Bhonsla’s
divect heirship to the late Rajuh.  But the evasion is as ineffectual
as the mode of expression was ungracious. The Government

* Empire in India,p. 244, t_4 Vindication, p. 23 (note.)

1 The notification runs as follows -— No, 1115 : Camp Hoshiarpoor, March
30th, 1860:—1hs Kxcellency the Viceroy and Governor-General has been
pleased to confer on Janojee Bhonsla, the adopted son of the widow of the late
Ruler of Nagpore, the title of ¢ Raja Bahadur of Deoor,” in the district of Sat-
tara, in v tion of the loyal conduct of the family during the rebellion, and
of the faithful attachment of the late Banka Bace to the British Government,”
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having recogniscd this young Prince as the head of the Bhonsla
family, and having at last permitted him to succeed to the ancient
estates, it was uscless to call him “the widow’s son’ with no os-
tensible father. If be be correctly described as ¢ the adopted son
of the widow of the late Ruler of Nagpore,” then he is the son of
the late Ruler also, unless we are to assail the honour of this lady,
and that without any great refinement or subtlety of allusion. By
the Hindoo law the ceremony of adoption severs the relationship
between Janojee and his ‘ natural father,” the widow’s late hus-
band taking tho place of the latter. An unmarried woman can-
not adopt a son, nor can any woman but a widow ; and the child
is not adopted to remove the reproach of barrenness from her, but
its spiritual evils from her deceased husband.  Vasishtha says:—
¢ A son given is the child not of hi< adoptive mother, but of his
adoptive father” (Colebrooke’s Digest, vol. i, p. 254.) The
adopted son of the Rajal’s widow 1s, by Hindoo law, either the
Rajah’s son and hiew, ov else he represents the most degrading
species of illegitimacy, which would completely disquahfy him
from succeeding to the famly estates, and which most certainly
Lord Canning never mtended to impute to Rajah Janojee Bhonsla.
There stands the dilemma, quite unassailable by any weapon n
the Calcutta Foreign Offico, or n any store-housc of 1lindoo law ;
and there it will remain—a moral, legal and political paradox—
until, as I hope, obliterated for ever by a royal restitution.*

* Empire in India, p. 225, 226,



CHAPTER V.
OUDE.

Tur Duke of Argyll, “having been a member of the
Cabinet which decided on the Annexation of Oude, and
decided, too, not only on the doing of it, but substantially
on the manner in which it shall be done,” expresses
astonishment at “the ignorant injustice with which, on
account of this transaction, the mewmory of Lord Dalhousie
has been assailed.”*  He complains of that ** popular im-
pression which ascribes the annexation of Oude to the
special policy of Lord Dalhousie,” who, according to him,
“not only deprecated anmexation, but deprecated even
the direct or forcible assumption of the Government of
Oude.”t

Sir Charles Jackson in the same manner declares that
“Lord Dalhousie’s advice with respect to Oude was not
followed ;” that “he is not, in fact, responsible for the
annexation of that Province;”f that “he was, in fact,
opposed to the annexation of Oude;” and “that his part
in the transaction was the last sacrifice which he made on
the altar of duty.”§

So lately as the 28th of December, 1867, an article in
the Spectator, on **the Lucknow Durbar,” written, if [
am not much mistaken, by a former Editor of the Calcutta
Friend of India, asserts that the Cabinet of which Lord
Canning was a member, “decided on overriding Lord
Dalhousie’s proposal to sequestrate Oude, and carrying
out the annexation;” and that ¢ Lord Canning was the
statesman really responsible for the annexation of Oude.”

And Mxr. J. C. Marshman, another former Editor of the
Friend of Indi, in his recently published Ilistory, speaks
of “the Court of Directors, the Board of Control, and the

* Indin under Dalhonsie and Canning, Preface. t Ibid., p. 15.
1 4 Vindication, p. 117, § 1bid.,p. 157,
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Cabinet, having come to the unanimous determination to
overrule the advice of Lord Dalhousie.”*

Lord Dalhousie is represented as acting in this instance
under orders which he loyally and submissively carried
out, against his own expressed opinion. This is a very
inadequate and inaccurate representation of what really
occurred. The Cabinet and the Court of Directors, who
were certainly not “unanimous,” did not “overrule Lord
Dalhousie’s advice,” nor “override his proposal.”  He was
left at full liberty to carry out his own project, if he chose.
Lord Dalhousie’s repugnance to the absolute annexation
of Oude, and to the immediate and torcible assumption of
its Government,-—a repugnance which he managed to
overcome,—was directed merely against certain forms and
phrases, and cannot relieve him of the least responsibility
for a measurc which he prompted and brought to pass,
and which is justly ascribed to his “special policy.”

The difference of opinion between Lord Dalhousie and
his Councillors can be very briefly described. Down to
the despatch from the Governor-General to the Court of
Directors, dated the 22nd August, 1855, the only plan
for the reform of Oude which had been recommended in
India and approved by the Home authorities, was that of
temporary management, with a view to the ultimate re-
storation of purely native rule. Dwring Lord Dalhousie’s
tenure of oftice the ideas of the Supreme Council under-
went a complete change. In 1855,—Sattara, Jhansi, and
Nagpore having been annexed, the mediatised Principalities
of Tanjore and the Carnatic having been extinguished,—
the Governor-General and his advisers unanimously agreed
that the evils of Oude were incurable by any other means
than the permanent assumption by the British Govern-
ment of the entire administration of that country. They
differed only as to the ostensible process for attaining
that necessary consummation.}

The Members of Council,—Mr. Dorin, Mr. Grant,§
General Low, and Mr. Peacock,||—all suggested, with

* History of India, (Longman and Co.) vol. iii, p. 427.

1 See paragraph 29 of Mr, Grant's Minute, Qude P’apers, 1856, p. 210, and

P. 191 and 283, 1 Oude Papers, 1856, p. 233,
§ Now Sir J. P. Grant, K C.B., Governor of Jamaica.
|| Now Sir Barnes Peacock, Chief Justice of the High Court of Bengal.
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slight variance in their pleadings and in the details of the
settlement proposed, that a new treaty should be sub-
mitted for the King of Oude’s acceptance, vesting all
administrative powers in the hands of the British Govern-
ment, reserving a certain income for the royal family ; and
that in the event of the King’s refusal to consent to these
terms, the former Treaties should be declared at an end,
and the territories of Oude at once forcibly incorporated
with the dominions of the Honourable Company.

The Governor-General desived to take a less direct
course, one that would be “more in conformity to inter-
national law,” —as he understood it,~—and < therefore, less
liable to criticism or cavil, and less open to the attack of
those who might be expected to condemn and oppose the
measure.”*  He recommended that a Treaty such as was
proposed by his colleagues, should be placed before the
King ; that if he rejected it, no coercive steps should be
taken, but all relations with the Court of Oude should be
brokenoff; the Resident and troopsbe withdrawn from Luck-
now, the Treaties proclaimed to be null and void and British
protection to have ceased. IHe believed that the King
would shrink from the consequences of being left face to
face with his turbulent vassals and subjects; but that if
he resolved on braving them, the capital would be pillaged
within a month, and the King, ¢ to save himself, would be
glad to agree to whatever engagements might be offered
him by the British Government.”t

Lord Dalhousie, in advising the withdrawal of British
protection, had his eye on another possible solution of the
problem.  Although the King might choose to trust to
his own resources, and might even succeed in maintaining
his personal safety amid scenes®of anarchy and confusion,
“the security of British territories and the (nterests of
their inhabitants might be put in danger by the state of
the neighbouring Province of Oude.” In that case the
British Government would be compelled to ““ interpose in
Iis Majesty’s affairs,” and, of course, entitled to exact
and enforce its own inevitable conditions.} In the Duke
of Argyll's words, “It was by our troops that the Native

* Qude Papers, 1856, p. 299. t Jbid., p. 300.
T Thid., 1856, p. 188, and p, 221, 222,
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Government was maintained. Experience had proved
that it could not stand without them. If the troops were
withdrawn the Government would fall, or would be com-
pelled to seck for our help again, in which case we could
impose our own terms,”*

The Duke pronounces also that “the veriest formalist
must admit owr right to do what Lord Dalhousie recom-
mended, — which was simply to withdraw our troops,
declaring the treaty of 1801 to be at an end. He was
induced to recommend this, because he thought the result
would be the same.”t

From Lord Dalhousie’s language it might be sup-
posed that the principles of action for which he and
Mr. J. P. Grant respectively contended, were perfectly
irreconcileable.  “So entively,” he writes, “did I dissent
from the view taken by my honourable colleague, and so
erroneons did it seem to me, that if unfortunately it had
found favour with the Honourable Court, I must have
declined to take part in the establishment or enforcement
of any policy which might have been founded upon it.”}
Yet after a few paragraphs he adds:—“I have never
affected to conceal my conviction that this measure”—his
own plan of withdrawing our protection,—* would lead to
precisely the same result as the more peremptory course
adeised by others, but with some intervening delay.”§

Thus the formal moderation of the procedure designed
by Lord Dalhousic, and contrasted by him with “the un-
necessarily harsh” measures of the Councillors,|| amounted
to nothing more than the polite invitation addressed by
the landlord to the bamm-door fowls, when he asked them
whether they would prefer being boiled or roasted. The
only dispute between thé®Governor-General and his col-
leagues was as to the particular sauce with which the fat
capon of Oude was to be cooked. And after a little more
unmeaning prudery, the Governor-General ended by using
the very sauce compounded by his colleagues, against
which he had expressed such insuperable objections. He
thus concludes ﬂ!l&t part of his Minute of 13th February,
1856 :—* Having regard, therefore, to the several opinions

* India under Dalhousie and Canning, t Ibid., p. 19.

., p. 19.
T Oude Papers, 1856, p. 298, 209, § Thid., p. 200. | Thid.. b 208,
E



50 CHAPTER V.

and circumstances which have just been mentimled., I
resolved to forego my own preferences, and in de:xll.ng
with Oude, to adopt the more percmptory comse which
had been advocated by my colleagues, and which was
manifestly more acceptable to the ILonowrable Court.”*

The Duke of Argyll's comment on this passage is remark-
ably just :—* Without prolonging controversy on points
of principle, but protesting against the doctrine laid down
byI])VIr. Grant, he yet agreed to a cowrse which was logically
defensible on no other principle than that which Mr. (frant
maintained.”t

The Duke of Argyll says:—“It is a curious fact that
Lord Dalhousie alone had seruples even in vespect to any
forcible seizure of the Government.”} The result shows
what those scruples were worth. Ilis own words prove
that his real anxicty was to avert “eriticisin and cavil,”
and ““ the attacks of those who might be expected to con-
demn and oppose the measure.”§  He objected to ““a line
of political action which was likely to create a kecner
opposition, and to call forth severer comment.”| All he
wanted was a plausible pretext for ©* the forcible seizure”
of Oude. In order to obtain such a plausible pretext as
he thought would suffice, he did not seruple to advise
the withdrawal of that protection which was promised to
the Kings of Oude by a series of treatics, and for which
they had “paid such a price,” as General Low said, “as
no other native ruler ever did.”q] T may be more be-
nighted than the ““ veriest formalist” despised by the Duke
of Argyll, but this policy scems to me to have been detest-
able.  Lord Dalhousie did not seruple to recommend a
course which, according to hig own expectations, would
have led to an immediate in&u‘rection, would have en-
dangered the King’s life, and would have given up the
great city of Lucknow to pillage.** Then, when the anti-
cipated rebellion and anarchy had either induced the
King to beg for our armed intervention, or had  threat-
ened the peace of our own provinces,” he would no longer

* Qude Papers, 1856, p. 300. t India under Dallousie and Canning, p. 21.
India under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 19. § Ante, p.
li Oude Papers, 1856, p. 299, 4 Tnid, 1858, p. 19.
**Jbid., 1856, p. 299, 300. .
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have any objection to the forcible scizure of the country,
to “a very prompt and summary scttlement of the Oude
question.”™ " Such were Lord Dalhousie’s scruples!

That Lord Dalhousie had scruples and misgivings as to
the annexation of Oude, and as to several other annex-
ations, cannot be doubted. That he so easily overcame
those scruples, and smothered those misgivings, is his
great opprobrium as a statesman. Sir Charles Jackson
says :— He always entertained a great distaste for the
subject. I remember a conversation with him in 1852,
in which he stated he had been pressed to take the
country (by whom he did not say), and that he felt averse
to su(l:?i a measure. I caunot trust my memory to state
the precise nature of his objections at that time.”t

Sir Charles Jackson erroncously states,—and the same
strange mistake is made by the other apologists,—that
Lord Dalhousie’s scheme of withdrawal from Qude, was
< disallowed,”} and that he was “ obliged to abandon”§ it,
by the Court of Directors’ despatch of the 21st November,
1855. It was not so. Inthis despatch,—characterised by
Sir Charles Jackson as ““a specimen of the art of writing
important instructions so as to avoid responsibility,”|| and
by the Duke as “nominally from the Court of Directors,
really from the Ministers of the Crown,”€[—some appre-
hension was indicated that the scheme might fail, but the
Directors declined to “express any opinion on the prin-
ciples laid down by the several Members of Council,” and
authorised the Governor-General to “carry out his first
suggestion,” if he “should feel warranted in doing so.”
They were decided as to the necessity of assuming the
%overnmont of Oude; Rut they left “all questions of
detail to the wisdom of the Governor-General,” abstaining
“from fettering his Lordship’s discretion by any further
instructions,”—*“ whichever mode of attaining the indis-
pensable result may be resolved on.”** )

Lord Dalhousie was left completely at liberty to adhere
to_ his original plan, if he thought it likely to be success-
ful. The Directors themselves considered the Governor-

* Oude Papers, 300. + A Vindication, p. 130, note. I Ibid., p. 153.

§ Ibid., p. 150. | Ibid., p. 144. o India under Dalhousie and
Canning, p. 21. ** Qude Papers, 1856, p. 235, 236.
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General’s plan to have “an advantage over the others,”
inasmuch as it “included the King as a consenting party
to the measure,” and was © intended to show more tender-
uess to the feelings of a family, who, whatever may have
been their offences towards their own subjects, have not
been unfaithful to the British Government.”*

After the exposition already given of the true nature and
object of this measure, I need hardly say that I can sce no
traces of any such tenderncss. Indeed, since under the
more “harsh” and “ peremptory” course that was actually
pursued, the King was offered the option of signing a
Treaty, if he chose, and thus becoming “a consenting
party,” there was really no distinction between the two
measures.

Lord Dalhousic’s so-called seruples,—-really more un-
scrupulous than the open violence ultimately adopted,—
receive the severest condemmation from the Duke of
Argyll, in spite of himself, when he terms the plan of
withdrawal “an indirect measure of compulsion;”f and
when he says that ““Lord Dallousic probably overstated
his own opinion,” in saying that “ it wonld not be right to
endeavour to extract” the King’s ““consent by means of
menace or compulsion.”§ Lord Dalhousie certainly over-
stated his own opinion ; his whole plan of action was based
on menace and compulsion under the flimsiest disguise ;
even this disguise was to be thrown off, if he could pro-
voke anything like a plausible pretext for forcible inter-
position ; and it was thrown oft as soon as he had secured
the support of the Cabinet and the Board of Directors.
These scruples never operated beyond the walls of the
Council chamber; produced nothing but a few incon-
sistent and contradictory paragraphs ; and avowedly aimed
at nothing but disarming hostile criticism.  Yet on the
strength of these ephemeral seruples, Sir Charles Jackson
denies Lord Dalhousic’s responsibility ; and the Duke of
Argyll charges with “ignorant injustice” all those who
ascribe the annexation of Oude to the Governor-General
who compassed it, who planned it, and who carried it out.

* Qude Papers, 1856, p. 235,
t Indva under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 21. T id., p. 20.
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That Lord Dalhousie from the first compassed and
planned the annexation of Oude as his special policy,
“though with some intervening delay,”* is manifest from
two main expedients in the process originally designed by
him, to both of which he adhered throughout. The first
of these was the imposition of a new Treaty, restricting
the inheritance to the lineal male descendants of the
velgning King, “ born in lawful wedlock,”t—a restriction
hitherto unheard of, and unwarranted by Mahomedan
law.  This novel restriction was deliberately introduced
by Lord Dalhousie. “1t will be seen,” he writes, “ that
the succession was limited to the children born in lawful
wedlock, and was not extended to collateral heirs.”t By
thus excluding collateral heivs, many living persons and
their offspring,-~the King’s brother and all descendants
of former Sovercigns,—were cut out of the line of succes-
sion, and the probabilities of what would be called “a,
lapse,” when merely the title and a stipend were left,
multiplicd enormously.

The second expedient was the repudiation of the Treat
of 1837,—ua Treaty Tegulurly concluded and mtiﬁe({
brought into operation, never called in question before
Lord Dalhousie’s time, and actually quoted as a valid
Treaty in 1847 by his immediate predecessor, Lord Har-
dinge, who threatened the King of Oude that its provi-
sions should be enforced.

Full powers of management and reform were given by
the Treaty of 1837. But when the assumption of the
Government of Oude began to be a practical and urgent
question in 1854, it was perceived by the Governor-
General that two Articles (VII and VIII) in this Treaty,
providing for the ultimate restoration of native rule, and
for the intermediate payment of all surplus receipts into
the King’s Treasury, would deprive the British manage-
ment of a permanent and profitable character. Therefore
Lord Dalhousie (of course without alluding to these strong
inducements), proposed that this Treaty, although officially
publishpd as o vaﬁd cengagement, should be declared null
and void by the perverte interpretation of a secret letter
from the Court of Directors in 1838.

* Ante, p 49, 1 Oude Papers, 1858, P. 252, 1 1bid., 1856, 302,
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The Duke of Argyll says:—“It is not true that we
derived advantage from the non-ratification of the Treaty
of 1837. On the contrary, Lord Dalhousic would have
been delighted to proceed under it, if it had been in force.
It gave Lim all he wanted,—a right to seize the govern-
ment.  The King, however, was offered a better position
than that Treaty would have secured to him,”*  All this
is very crroneous. The Treaty of 1837 did not give Lord
Dalhousie ““all he wanted.” It did not give him the sur-
plus revenues of Qude, to be disposed of, as he pleased,
for Tmperial purposes, but compelled him to account for
them to the State of Oude. It did, indecd, give him “a
right to seize the government,” but only for a temporary
object, and bound him “to maintain the native institu-
tions and forms of administration, so as to facilitate the
restoration of those territories to the Sovereign of Oude.”t
Lord Dalhousie would certainly uot “have heen delighted
to proceed” under those conditions.

The King was not “ offered a better position than that
Treaty would have secured to him.” He was offered a
fixed stipend, and an empty title, hampered as an inherit-
ance by novel restrictions, with no prospect for him or his
descendants, of reinstatement in the functions of royalty.

Lovd Dalhousic’s plea for not assuming the management
under the Treaty of 1837, was that the Treaty had been
¢ cancelled” by the Home Authorities. The fact is, that
the Secret Committee of the Court of Directors disapproved
of the increased burden of providing an Auxiliary Force,
imposed upon Qude by the new Treaty, and desired that
the King should be ““exonerated from these obligations.”
But they added in their despatch to Lord Auckland,—
“ Although we thus convey to you our directions for the
abrogation of the Treaty, we leave it discretional with
your Lovdship to adapt your measures to the state of cir-
cumstances as may be found to cxist when you receive this
letter ?” and they recommend that the communication to
the King should be made, “as an act of grace from your
Lordship in Council, rather than as the consequence of
the receipt of a public and unconditional instruction from

* India under Dalkousie and Canning, p. 110 (foot-note.)
t Oollection of Treaties, 1864, Caleutta, vol, i, p. 177,
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England.” They continue thus :— Your Lordship in
Council, therefore, is authorised to exercise the larqgest
discretion as to the mode of carrying owr wishes into effect
in respect to the Treaty; but”—here is the impoxfc:.mt
point,— the order of the Court of Directors is positive,
and strictly to be enforced, to discontinue the prepurations
which may have been mude for the organisation of the
Auvwiliary Force.”*  Their only positive objection, their
only strict order, was directed against the new Force im-
posed as a burden on the Finances of Oude. But they
used the word “ abrogation;” and Lord Dalhousie fastened
upon that.

Lord Auckland, with the advice of his Councillors,
General Moriison and Mr. Robertson, decided on merely
signifying to the King of Oude that he was relicved from
the military expenses imposed by the Treaty of 1837 ; and
they came to this decision on the express grounds of the
difficulty under the Treaty of 1801 ““of enforcing its con-
ditions,” of the “solemn, recorded, and effectual warning
contained” in the new Treaty of 1837, and of the power
obtained by it to ““assume the administration as a remedy
for gross mistule.”t  The last words of Lord Auckland’s
Minute of the 2nd of May, 1839, the last that he penned
before addressing the King on the subject, contain an
expression of his entire agreement in the opinion of his
colleague Mr. Robertson, that “if the independence of
Oude endure much longer, it will be mainly in consequence
of this very provision,”—for the assumption of the adminis-
tration in case of misrule.”f The Government of India
in 1839, did not consider or intend the new Treaty to be
annulled, but simply, as they told the King, that the
Articles imposing a pecuniary charge upon him would not
be any longer cnforced, that he would have to pay no
more for the military force which, in Lord Auckland’s
words, had been “ purtly vaised under that Treaty,” and
that the British Government would “ defray the expense
of the portion of it already organised.”§

* Qude Papers, 1858, p. 87, 38,

t Minutes by Lord Auckland, Colonel Morrison, and Mr, Robertson : Qude
Dapers, 1858, p. 38, 43, 5.

¥ Oude Papers, 1858, p, 59, § 2bid , 1858, p. 60,
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Lord Dalhousie, in laying the train for the meditated
annexation of Oude, said that “pledges upon the non-
ratification of the Treaty were given to Parﬁament,”* I
know not to what Lord Dalhousie, or Lord Auckland,
whom he is quoting, can allude, except to the conversa-
tion that took place in the House of Lords on the 6th of
August, 1838, in the course of which

“Lord Ellenborough said that to assert that thero was no
Treaty in existence because it had not been ratified at home, was
not a correct representation of the fact, The Treaty was ratified
by the Governor-tGeneral, and certainly might bo acted on.”

“The Marquis of Lansdowne said that ho had now distinctly
to state that not only did his noble fiiend at the head of the
Government of India, immediately on being informed of this
"I'reaty, oxpress his disapprobation of the manner in which the
promise had been drawn from the Sovereign of Oude, but he also
caused it to be intimated m the most explicit manner to that
Prince, that he was in no degree bound by the promise to sign
such a Treaty, and entirely relieved from any stipulations or con-
ditions it imposed.”+

Whether Lovd Lansdowne’s statement constituted a
“pledge” or not, matters very little; for it was founded
on an error. No such intimation had then been made, or
was ever made, to the Sovereign of Oude, ag Lord Lans-
downe supposed. The noble Lord at the head of the
Government of India, Lord Auckland, did indeed express
some slight disapprobation of the “ superfluous” promise
extracted from the King,3 but he did not disapprove of
the Treaty; it was entirely his own idea and his own work;
he framed its conditions himself'; he persistently argued
with the Court of Dircctors for the maintenance of every
item.  The King was not told “in the most explicit man-
ner,” or in any manner, that he wag “entirely relicved
from its conditions,” but merely that he was relieved from
the additional Subsidy for troops. Lord Auckland attri-
buted no efficacy to the so-called Parlismentary pledge ;
lie spoke of it as an awkward difficulty, but still pursued
his own course ; and his letter to the King of Oude, speak-
ing of the Treaty as still in existence, was written a year
later than Lord Lansdowne’s speech.

* Oude Papers, 1858, pp. 65 & 51. 1 Hansard, 3rd series, vol. xliv, p. 1006.
3+ Oude Papers, 1858, pp. 7, 8 9, 12, 13, 22, 23,
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Lord Ellenborough was, of course, perfectly correct in
his view of the situation. The Treaty concluded in 1837
was not, and could not be cancelled by a “secret letter”
in 1838, or by any amount of conversation in the House
of Lords.

The Treaty of 1837 was officially published in a volume
of Treaties, by authority of the Court of Directors in 1845,
and reprinted as a return to the House of Lords in 1853.

There is a note appended to the Treaty of 1837 in this
printed Volume, which tells us what was thought of this
Treaty at the India House so late as the 24th June 1853.
It is as follows :—

“ Tho Home Government disapproved of that part of the Treaty
which imposcd on the Oude State the expensc of the Auxiliary
Yorce, and on July 8th, 1839, the King was informed that he was
relieved from the cost of maintaining the Auxiliary Force, which
the British Government had taken upon itself.”*

Mr. Kaye, in the first volume of his excellent Ilistory
of the Sepoy War, puts forth, once more, the official version
of these transactions, and calls the Treaty of 1837 “an
abortion.” He also mentions that the following Return
was made to Parliament under the signature of the Secre-
tary to the Board of Control :—

“There has been no Treaty concluded with the present King
of Oude which has been ratified by the Court of Directors, with
the approbation of the Commissioners for the affairs of India.”

« India Board, July 3rd, 1838.  (Signed) R. Gorpon.”

It must have been on the strength of this document,
fortified by some overstated verbal information, that the
Marquis of Lansdowne made his erroncous statement.
The literal purport of the Return—true, so far as it goes,
—by no means amounts to a declaration that the Treaty,
which it does not name, is null and void ; nor, had it con-
tained such a declaration, could it have had the effect of
annulling the Treaty, any more than the “secret letter” of
the Court of Directors, or the erroneous “pledge” given by
Lord Lansdowne, neither of which was communicated to
the King of Oude. The King was expressly informed in
Lord Auckland’s letter of the 8th of July, 1839,—just a

* Return to the House of Lords, No, 251, 1853, p. 94.
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year after the Retwn to Parliament on which Mr. Kaye
velies,—that “the Court of Directors” in consideration of
the “embarrassments which might be occasioned to the
State of Oude by the annual payment of sixteen lakhs of
rupees to the support of the military foree,” had empowered
the Governor-General “to relieve the State of Oude from

all that is onerous in the conditions respecting this force.”™

This notification, that the King was relieved by the Court

of Directors from some of the conditions, is equivalent to

a confirmation by the Court of Directors, of the remaining

conditions, had any such confirmation been required. But

immemorial custom, and innumerable precedents, and the

terms of this particular Treaty, do not give a hint or show

a trace of the necessity for such confirmation. The Gover-

nor-General had at least the powers of a Plenipotentiary.

He had full power to conclude Treatics, and the final ex-

change of ratified copies made the Treaty binding upon

both parties.

Sir Charles Jackson says :—The Court of Directors re-
fused to ratify this Treaty.”t They were never asked or
expected to do so. They have never ratified any Treaties.
In the six Volumes of Treaties published by authority
at Caleutta in 1864, there is not one Treaty bearing
the ratification of the Court of Directors. This Treaty of
1837 is attested in exactly the same style as all the pre-
ceding Treaties with the Government of Oude :

““ Ratified by the Governor General of India in Council, at Fort
‘William in Bengal, this eighteenth day of September, One Thou-
sand, Bight Hundred and Thirty Seven.

(Signed) W. 1. MACNAGHTEN,
Secrctary to the Government of India.”’{

Even in the case, which clearly did not occur, of a timely
and open rejection of this Treaty by the Cowrt of Directors,
such a Treaty, concluded with every formality between the
Governor-General of India and the Sovereign of Oude—
si%“ned, and sealed, and ratified,—could not have been can-
celled by the Home Authorities without the knowledge
and consent of the Sovereign of Oude ; without, in fact, a
fresh negotiation with that express object.

* Qude Papers, 1858, p. 60. t A Vindication, p. 124.
T Collection of T'reaties, 1864, vol. ii, p. 177,



OUDE, 59

Such a fresh negotiation could have been opened with-
out any difficulty or embarrassment by the Governor-
General, if the Home Authorities had insisted on their or-
ders being fully curied out.  But there is nothing in the
Puapers of 1858 to show that they adhered to their original
resolution after Lord Auckland’s last remonstrance. The
latest paper in that part of the collection is the Governor-
General's letter to the Sceret Committee dated July 15th,
1839, in which he forwards copies of his letter, of the 8th
idem, to the King of Oude, apprising him simply of his
being relieved from the military charges recently imposed. *

Lord Dalhousie’s Minute of the 14th August, 1854, con-
taining a précis of the correspondence in this matter, is so
unfortunately arranged that no one could gather from it
that Lord Auckland’s letter of the 15th July, 1839, for-
warding a copy of his letter to the King, was later in dute
than any of the other documents quoted, and « yewr later
than the supposed “pledge” in the House of Lords. He
Las thrown it back, without any dute, to a place in his
narrative immediately after the Secret Committec’s first
letter of disapproval, dated April 10th, 1838. Then, on
the top of these, he piles extracts from the despatches of
the Secret Committee down to 11th July, 1839, in order
to prove that they ““did not recede from these sentiments,”
—thus conveying an impression that they had repeatedly
disapproved of the letter to the King of Oude, which they
had not seen when those dispatches were written, and
which was never disapproved at all.

Lord Dalhousic vainly endeavours also to show that
Lord Auckland knew the treaty was null and void.

“In pursnance of the discretion thus left to him, the Governor
General in Council intimated to the King of Oude the abandon-
ment of only a part of the I'reaty, but in his recorded Minute e
recognised the full abrogation of the entire instrument. He said,
‘the Court has disapproved the Treaty. We arc ordered to ex-
oncrate the King of Oude from its obligations.” And in the same
Minute the Governor General stated that the disallowance of the
Treaty had been made known to Parliament. He said, ‘I find the
view taken by the Cowrt to be publicly declared. I find pledges
upon the non-ratification of Treaty given to Parliament.’”t

* Oude Papers, 1858, p. 60, 1 Oude Papers, 1858, p. 66.
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There is nothing in these words to show that Lord
Auckland “ recognised the full abrogation” of the Treaty.
He mentions the Court’s disapproval, and the public decla-
ation in Parliament, as constituting “a situation of much
difficulty,” but fur from considering the Directors’ orders
as final and irrevocable, he determines again to bring this
“question of such extended and vital interest, in all its
bearings, wnder the deliberate review of the Ilome Antho-
2ities.”*  His Council coincided with him.  Mr. Robert-
son, in a Minute dated 9th January, 1839, is “ disposed
to hope that by « relaration of the terms of the exvsting
Treaty with Oude, the authorities in Fngland wmay be
reconciled to « measure which cannot now be cancelled
awithout the most serious inconvenience.”t General Morri-
son, on the 28th January, 1839, writes :—* Notwithstand-
ing the public avowal made in England of dissatisfaction
with the Treaty of September 1837, I would yet mnain-
tain its provisions, in the hope that the orders for abandon-
ing the Lreaiy may be vevoked”

How then could Lord Dalhousie persuade himself that
the Governor-General in Council at this time “recognised
the full abrogation of the entire document”? Ile was
exerting himself to the utmost to uphold it; and four
months later, although another adverse dispatch had
arrived in the interval, Lord Auckland professes ¢ his un-
altered adherence to the principles on which the Treaty
of September 1837 was originally negotiated,” and again
“leaves the case for the further divections of the Iome
Gocernment.”§

After that Minute had been sent off, but before it could
have been considered at home, another letter arrived from
the Court of Directors, dated 15th April, 1839, repeating
their “ disallowance of the Treaty,” and desiring “the
restoration of our relations with the State of Oude to the
footing on which they previously stood.” At the same
time all their specific objections were aimed against the
Auxiliary Force being made a charge upon the revenues
of Oude ; and they permit their decision to be announced

* Qude Papers, 1858, p. 51, 52. t Zbid., 1858, p. 53.
1 lbid,, 1858, p. 56. § 1bid., 1858, p. 58, 59.
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to the King, “in such manner as the Governor-General
may think fit.”*

As it was now impossible any longer to delay informing
the Oude Government that it was relieved from the new
pecuniary burden, Lord Auckland immediately wrote his
letter of the 8th July, 1839, to the King of Oude. This
letter was carcfully worded so as to avoid suggesting to
the King of Oude that he might hope to escape from that
liability to the direct management of his country, for
which the new Treaty provided. It was written entirely
in the spirit of that part of Lord Auckland’s last Minute
on the subject, dated 2nd My, 1839~ - to which no reply
had then been vececved from the Conrt of Directors,—in
which he refers to the unaninmous support of the Members
of Council “in reyard to the second branch of the Treaty,
that which procides for the assumption of the administra-
tion as « remedy for grogs misrule.’t

How Lord Auckland’s letter and enclosure of the 15th
July, 1839, were treated by the Home Authorities, we
have no means of learning from the printed Papers. It
their comments were quite condemnatory, I think we
should have found them among the Papers of 1858. No
condemmnation behind the scenes, however, could, as al-
ready shown, have cancelled the Treaty. If, on the other
hand, the receipt of the despatch and the copy of the
Ietter to the King, was acknowledged with a simple ex-
pression of approval, or was silently passed over with no
renewal of their adverse orders, then the proceedings of
the Government of India were,—expressly or tacitly,—
approved and confirmed.

From no mention being made in any of Lord Dalhousie’s
Minutes or despatches of any reply by the Court of Direc-
tors, to Lord Auckland’s last letter, we have the right to
presume that no fault was found with it. In such a case,
according to common sense as well as official custom,
silence gives consent. His proceedings were allowed to
stand.

Thus, while it is quite clear and certain that the Home
Authorities did not openly reject the Treaty of 1837, it is

* Oude Papers, 1858, p. 57. t JTbid., 1858, p. H9.
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almost equally clear and certain that, after the relaxation
of certain conditions, they finally accepted and approved
it. Whether they did or did not, the motion of the
Treaty having been annulled or made of no effect, by
virtue of their confidential strictures, is utterly vain and
totally inadmissible.

Lord Broughton, who as Sir John Cam Hobhouse had
been President of the Board of Control when the Treaty
of 1837 was concluded, when the supposed pledges were
given in the House of Lords, and when the Retun cited
by Mr. Kaye was made to Parliament,® gives his testi-
mony in the following words :—“My impression certainly
is that the Treaty of 1837 was ratificd by Government at
home, after the disallowance referred to: the whole Treaty
was not disallowed, but only one portion of it.”+

No one in India, at Lucknow, or at Culeutta, cver
doubted the validity and binding force of this Treaty,
until Lord Dalhousie found that it stood in the way of
his scheme of appropriating all the revenues of Oude,

Sir Henry Lawrence, writing in the Cllentte Review in
1845, describes the conclusion of the Treaty of 1837,
observes that the Court of Directors “very properly dis-
approved” of the measure by which the King was to have
been saddled with the expense of an Auxiliary Foree, and
that, in reliance on his Majesty’s good intentions, “Govern-
ment overlooked the glaring mismanagement still existing
in parts of Oude, and did wot act on the permission given
by the new Treaty.”t And he adds subsequently - —“No
one can deny that we are now authorised by Treaty to as-
sume the management.’§

General Sir William Sleeman, who was for six years Re-
sident at Lucknow, alludes, in two letters written in 1852
and 1854, to the “ample authority” conferred by “the
Treaty of 1837.” The Blue Book of 18536 contains an ex-
tract from one of Sir William Sleeman’s despatches, quoted
in onc of Lord Dalhousie’s Minutes, in which he givesit as
his opinion that “our Government cannot any longer for-

* Ante, p. 7.

t Beveridge's [Tistory of India, (Blackic, 1866) vol. iii, p. 548.
1 FEssays, (published by Allen) 1859, p. § Zbid., p. 181,
| Steeman’s Journey through Qude, vol. ii, p. 377, and 419,
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bear to exercise to the fullest extent the powers which the
Treaty of 1837 confers upon it.” *

And in a long Memorandum of adviee and remonstrance
addressed by Lord Hardinge to the King of Oude in 1847,
his Lordship distinctly threatens to enforce the stipulations
of the Treaty of 1837.1

Lord Dalhousie, in the 1st, 18th, and 71st paragraphs
of his principal Minute on the Oude question, refers to
the solemn warning offered to the King by his immediate
predecessor, Lord Hardinge, in 1847,—that if’ the abuses
of his Majesty’s administration were not reformed “he
would force the British Government to interfere by asswin-
ing the government of Oude,”f but he nowhere gives the
slightest hint that this warning and this threat were based
upon the Treaty of 1837.

Even in his later Minute of January 15th, 1856, although
he anticipated the probability of great “cmbarrassment,”
if the King should appeal to the Treaty of 1837, and de-
sived the Resident to “meet it full in the face” by declaring
that Treaty null and void, he does not seem to have con-
templated the greatest possible embarrassment of all, that
of the King producing Lord Hardinge’s recognition of that
Treaty.§ The Duke of Argyll, adhering to his avowed
principles of political criticisim,—following Lord Dalhousic,
and viewing the facts in the light in which his friend stated
them,|—relates Lord Hardinge’s warning, but knows
nothing of his threat to enforce the Treaty of 1837.4] Sir
Charles Jackson says that Lord Hardinge “cited the Treaty
of 1837 as if it were still in force,”** but seems to consider
this quite an insignificant circumstance, deserving no com-
ment and calling for no explanation.

Yet Lord Hardinge’s citation was full and his intention
not open to doubt. He quotes the whole of Article vii of
the Treaty, providing for the assumption of the manage-
ment of Oude in the event of “gross and systematic mis-
rule,” and he adds :—

I allude to tho Treaty of 1837 as confirming tho original Treaty
of 1801, and not only giving the British Government the right to

* Oude Papers, 1856, p, 166. t 1kid., 1858, p. 62.
T lbid., 1850, p. 148, 156, and 187,  § Ibid., 1856, p. 239. || Aate, p. 0.
4 India under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 13. ** A Vindication, p. 126,
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interfere, but declaring it to be the intention of the Government
to interfere, if neccssary, for the purpose of sccuring good govern-
ment in Oude.”’*

Lord Hardinge’s plan was precisely that recommended
by Sir Widiam Slecman and Sir Henry Lawrence, which
the Duke of Argyll has entirely misunderstood. Tt was
the same plan that Lord William Bentinck proposed, and
was authorised by the Court of Directors to undertake,—
that of temporary management, with a view to effectual
reform of the native institutions and the ultimate resto-
ration of a purely native government.

Lord William Bentinek, in his Report of 11th July, 1831,
says i—

T thonght it right to declare to his Majesty, that the opinion
I should offer to the Home Authorities would be that, unless a de-
cided reform in the administration should take place, there would
be no remedy left except in the direct assumption of the manage-
ment of the Oude territories by the British Gevernment.”

“It may be asked of mo,—~and when you have assumed the
management, how is it to be conducted, and how long retained ?
T should answer, that acting in the character of guardian and
trustee, we ought to frame an administration entirely native,—an
administration so composed as to individuals, and so established
upon the best principles, revenue and judicial, as should best serve
for immediate improvement, and as a model for future imitation :
the only Kuropean part of it should be the functionary by whom
it should be superintended, and it should only be retained till a
complete reform might be brought about, and a guarantee for its
continuance obtained, either in the improved character of tho
reigning Prince, or, if incorrigible, in the substitution of his im-
mediate heir, or in default of such substitute from nonage or in-
capacity, by the nomination of one of the family as Regent, the
whole of the revenne being paid into the Oude treasury.”t

Lord Hardinge, in his Memorandum of 1847, reminds
the King of Lord William Bentinck’s conferences with his
Majesty’s predecessor, and informs him that in the year
1834 the Cowrt of Directors had sanctioned the adminis-
tration of Oude being assumed by Lord William Bentinck.
He exhorts the King to procrastinate no longer in com-

* Sleeman's Journey through Oude, vol. ii, p. 202 ; Oude Papers, 1856, p.
62, The version of Lord Hardinge’s Memorandum in the Blue Book is not so
intelligible as that given by Sir William Sleeman, and contains some manifest
inaccuracies. I quote, therefore, from the latter,

+ Sir Ienry Lawrence’s Essays, p. 123 see also Oude Papers, 1856, p. 155.



OUDE. 65

mencing decisive reforms, so as to avoid the necessity of
direct and open interference. He declares that the British
Government desires to “perform its obligations to the
people without setting the sovereign authority aside, or
changing the native institutions of the State.”*  And as
an example of what had been done, and a pledge of our
disinterested objects, he adduces the precedent of Nagpore.

“The Nagpore State, after having been restored to order by a
British admmistration of the land revenue, is now carricd on
under native management, with due regard to the rights of the
Prince, and the contentment of the people.”

“If Buropcan ageney should be requived, in the first instanco
in assisting your Majesty’s officers in making a just scttlement,
and in the next for sccuring the conditions made, by frequent
visits throughout the districts to check abuscs by personal in-
quirics, such assistance will bo afforded by the British Govern-
ment, with your Majesty’s concurrence.”

During the first six years of the vice-royalty of Lord
Hardinge’s successor, Lord Dalhousie, the two successive
Residents at Lucknow, Colonel Richmond and Colonel
(afterwards General Sir William) Sleeman, looked in vain
to Caleutta for guidance and support in carrying out pro-
Jjects of reform.

Whatever may be said in the published Papers as to
“admonitions” and * remonstrances,” it is a positive fact
that no plan for improving the administration of Oude
was ever countenanced. Some extensive reforms proposed
in concert by the native Minister and the British Resident
at Lucknow, Colonel Richmond, and approved by Mr.
Thomason, Lieutenant-Governor of Agra, whose advice
was asked in 1848, were absolutely discouraged and de-
feated by the Calcutta Foreign Office§ The Bengal
Civilians did not want to give assistance, they wanted to
take possession ; they conscientiously disbelieved in the
eflicacy of native eftorts, and looked wupon partial inno-
vations as mere waste of time, delaying the harvest of

atronage and deteriorating the crop. @Qude, therefore,
Eaving been spared and neglected for twenty years, was
at last absorbed by Lord Dalhousie, on the pretext of dis-
orders in its government, which were all removable, and

* Qude Papers, 1858,p. 63. t Ibid, 1858, pp. 63, 6+, 1 Ibid., 1858, p. G4,
§ Dacoitee vn Iixcelsis (Taylor, 54 Chancery Lane, 1856), p. 102 to 108
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which might Lave been easily remedied without annex-
ation, if there had been any wish to preserve the separate
existence of that friendly and faithtul Statc. But there
was no such wish.

Sir William Slecman incessantly urged decisive action,
at first recommending that all the authority and influence
of the British Government should be used to promote the
formation of a strong native administration; and latterly
advising that the Treaty of 1837 should be openly enforced.
During the year 1849, just as the two years of probation
allowed by Lord Hardinge were expired, he forwarded
to the Governor-General his plan for a Board of Regency,
undertook to direct and superintend their operations with
one additional Assistant and three clerks, and pledged his
great reputation for the success of the experiment.

“Things would go on like marriage bells. ¥ The judicial courts
would be well conducted while the presiding officers felt seenre m
their tenure of office.”—* The police would soon become cfficient
under the supervision and control of respectable revenue officers.”
“Oude ought to be, and would be under such a system a garden ;
the soil is the finest in Indw, so ave the men; «ud there (s no
want of an educated class for cloil office : on the contrary, they
abound almost as much as the class of soldiers.”+—“T'he Board,
composed of the first members of the Lucknow aristocracy, would
be, I think, both popular and efficient ; and with the aid of @ few
of the ablest of the native judicial and recenne officers of onr own
districts, invited to Oude by the prospect of higher pay and secu-
rity in the tenure of office, would soon have at work a machinery
capable of securing to all their rights, and enforcing from all their
duties, in every part of this at present distracted country. We
should soon have good roads througheut the Kingdom ; and both
they and the rivers would soon be as secure as m our own pro-
vinces. I think, too, that 1 might venture to promise that all
would be cffected without violence or disturbance ; all would see
that everything was done for the bencfit of an oppressed peoplo,
and in good faith towards the reigning family.”—1 think the
King will consent without much difficulty or reluctance to dele-
gate his powers to a Regency, but 1 am somewhat afraid that he
will object to its @eing composed of members of his own family.
I shall, I davesay, be able to get over this difficulty ; and it will
be desirable to employ the best members of the family in order to
show tho people of Oude, and of India generally, that the object

* Sleeman’s Oude, vol. i, p. lviii, t 1&¢d., vol. i, p. Ixiv.
t Ibud,, vol. i., p. Ixxvi,
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of our Government is an honest and benevolent one.”*—T have
mentioned in my private letter to Sir H. M. Klliot, three persons
of high character for the Regency. Two of them are brothers of
the King’s father. The third, and best, may be considered as in
all respects the first man in Qude. Mohsin-ood-Dowlah is the
grandson of King Ghazee-ood-Deen ; his wife is the sister of the
King’s father ; and his only son has been lately united in marriage
to the present King’s daughter. Ho and his wife have largo
hereditary incomes, under the guaranty of our Government, and
his character for good sense, prudence and integrity, stands
higher, I believe, than that of any other man in Oude.”t

“The members of such a Board as I propose, invested with full
powers, and secured in office under our guaranty during good con-
duct, would go fearlessly to work.”f

““ 1 should persuade the members to draw from the élite of their
own creed in our servico to aid in forming and carrying out the
new system in their several departments. We can give them ca-
cellent men in the vecenue and judicial branches.§—The whole
family are most anxious that the King should resign the reins
into abler hands, and would, I feel assured, hail the arrangement
I have proposed as a blessing to them and the country.  All seems
ripe for the change, and I hope the Governor-General will consent
to its being proposed soon.” ||

Before September and October 1849, when these letters
were written to the Governor-General and the Foreign
Secretary, the Punjaub had been annexed ; all were busily
engaged in organising the new Province. Sattayp, the first
taste of blood in the previous year, only whetted the pro-
fessional appetite; it had now become insatiable. The
last idea likely to find favour at Calcutta was the recon-
struction of a Native State. Nothing, therefore, was
done, or authorised to be done, in consequence of General
Sleeman’s repcated applications, continued up to 1854.
His correspondence proves that he latterly began to doubt
the upright intentions of those who ruled the hour. At
last he wrote as follows in a private letter to a friend :—

“ Lord Dalhousie and I have different views, I fear. If he wishes
anything that I do not think right and honest&resign, and leave
it to be done by others. I desire a strict adrence to solemn
engagements, whether made with white faces or black. We have
no right to annex or confiscate Oude ; we have a right under the
Treaty of 1887, to take the management of it, but not to appro-

* Sleeman’s Qude, vol. i, p. Ixxvi. t Iéid., vol. i. p. Ixvii. .
t 1bud., vol. i, pp. Ixi, Ixii. § Ibid., p. Ixxv. || Ibid, p. Ixxiv.
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priate its revenues to ourselves. We can do this with honour to
our Government and benefit to the people. To confiscate wounld
be dishonest and dishonourable.  "T'o annex would be to give the
people a Government almost as bad as thew own, if we put our
serew upon them,””*

There is a touch of respectful yet reproachful irony in
the following passage from what scems to have been his
last letter to Lord Dalhousie,—-it is dated 11th September,
1854,—gravely reminding him that when now about to
leave the Residency, after representing the Government of
India at Lucknow for six years, he was still unfurnished
with instructions, still unacquainted with the Governor-
General’s plans or wishes.

“ Proofs enough of bad government and neglected duties were
given in my Diarvy. 'The duty of remedymg the cvils, and carry-
mg out your Lordship’s views in Oude, whalecer they may be,
must now devolve on another.”{

Thus up to the period of Lovd Dalliousie’s arrival in
India, no scheme had been proposed for the reform of
Oude except that of temporary management.  Lovd Dal-
housie’s immediate predecessor 1epeated that same pro-
posal, and held out, «as «n ewtreme measire, the enforee-
ment of the Treaty of 1837, under which all surplus
revenues were to be paid into the local treasury, existing
institutiohs maintained, and the restoration of native
government facilitated, with such modifications and im-
provements as might be considered advisable.

Lord Dalhousie protested against temporary manage-
ment ; insisted on appropriating the surplus revenues for
British purposes; in order to secure these two points, re-
pudiated the Treaty of 1837, so vecently invoked by his
predecessor; and deliberately planned to bring about a
scene of inswrrection and pillage as a pretext for sweeping
away every vestige of native government. The Duke of
Argyll, however, declaims against “the ignorant injustice”
of those who gscribe the annexation of Oude to “the
special policy of Lord Dalhousie.”

It was in every point of view his special policy. It was
in the pursuance of a systematic and settled object,—in

* Sleeman’s Oude, vol. i, pp. xxi, xxii. t Jbid, vol. ii, p. 428.
1 Articles vii and viii of the I'reaty, Oude Papers, 1858, p. 33.
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obedience to a principle, such as it was,—that Lord Dal-
housie avoided the temporary management of Oude. That
principle was that it the British Government undertook
“the responsibility, the labour, and the risk,” of recon-
structing and reforming a native State, it onght, “after
providing for the pensioned dynasty, for the administra-
tion ot the Provinee, and for its progressive improvement,”
to be allowed to appropriate the surplns revenue to Impe-
vial purposes.®*  The double delnsion, --false morally, and
practically falsitied,— chat the British Government was
not bound to interteve tor the reform of a protected State,
unless the interference conld he made fnanciadly profitable
to itselt’; and that the conyersion of protected States into
British Provinces would be financially profitable,- —runs
through all the arguments for the suceessive annexations,
from Sattara to Oude.

No doubt Lord Daihousie had persuaded himself that
the temporary management of Oude was not attainable,
and, if attainable, would not be effectual for permanent
veform.  With the fixed purpose of absolute acquisition
before him, he was very easily persuaded, and attacked
the plan of temporary management by arguments and
lustrations of transparent futility.  He adduced the two
experiments of Hyderabad, under Siv Charles Metealfe,
and of Nagpore, under Siv Richard Jenkins, as instances of
the total failure of temporary management ;T wheveas, if
properly examined, they are scen to be instances of marked
success, checked only by the sudden relaxation and sub-
sequent neglect, for which our Government was solely
responsible. After detailing the good results of the re-
forming measuves in the Hyderabad country, he says
“But the arrangement was temporary : its fruits, there-
fove, were transitory and disappointing.  No sooner had
the present Sovereign asswned the reins of government,
than he set aside the system introduced by Sir Charles
Metealfe, and cansed everything to revert to its former
course.”f Did then Lord Dalhousie, who had so recently
put forth the vast influence of the British Government, to
coerce the Nizam of Hyderabad into consigning his most
fertile Provinces, yielding a quarter of his revenue, to

* Oude Papers, 1856, p. 190. t Ibid., pp. 186, 187. 1 bid., 1856, p. 186.
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British management, really think that the same vast in-
fluence would have been uselessly or unjustly put forth,
to maintain British management, and pursue the incom-
plete reforms, at the commencement of the sume Prince’s
reign?  The promptitude with which the Government of
India in 1829 acceded to the request of the Nizam that
the Lnglish Superintendents should be withdrawn from
his districts, is, as T observed in a previous publication,
“ but one instance of the utter indifference of the Calcutta
officials to the internal and independent reforms of a
Native Principality.”*

Another objection to temporary management seemed,
in Lord Dalhousie’s eyes, to be final and fatal. It was
provided in the Treaty of 1801 that the King’s adminis-
tration should be “ carried on by his own oflicers.”t  Lord
Dalhousie professed to see in this provision of the Treaty
““an insurmountable barrier to the cmployment of British
officers,”} without whose aid a thorough reformation was
impracticable.

This barrier to the employment of British officers, was
never, before Lord Dalhousie’s time, felt or supposed to
be insurmountable, or anything more than a difficulty to
be overcome. Lord William Bentinck in 1831 was pre-
pared to enter on the task of reforming Oude, under the
Treaty of 1801, and the Court of Directors sanctioned its
commencement.§

Colonel Low, the Resident at Lucknow, writes as fol-
lows to the Foreign Secrctary at Culeutta, while the
Treaty of 1837 was under consideration :—* In the whole
of the correspondence, both from the Home authorities
and in this country, all parties seemed formerly to have
agreed that not one rupee of the revenues of Oude ought
to be appropriated by the British Government beyond the
expenses of managing the territory, if we should conceive
it necessary tapundertake its management by British
officers.”||

Lord Auckland, in a letter to the Court of Directors of
the 9th February, 1839, refers to “the strong orders

* The Mysore Reversion, (20d Edition) p. 219, and see also pp. 232, 233.
+ Article vi, Collection of Treaties, 1864, vol. ii, p 125,
1 Oude Papers, 1854, p. 183. § Ibid., 1856, p. 165. | Ibid., 1858, p. 18,
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already received from the Honourable Court, and still un-
executed, which would have warranted « temporary occu-
pution of the country by British officers, for correction of
the crying abuses that existed.”*

Lord Hardinge in 1847, exhorting the King to initiate
an improved system, without delay, so as to save himself
from the penalties of the Treaty of 1837 at the end of
two years of probation, offered, as we have scen, to lend
him the services of Eunglish officers to superintend the
good work.t

Above all, at the very time when Lord Dalhousie was
professing to see in the Treaty ol 1501 “an insurmount-
able barrier” to the employment o British officers in the
administration of Oude, servial British officers were actu-
ally so employed,~—appointed by the Governor-(General
himself, and directed by the Resident, though paid by the
Oude Government.  ** After such a lunentable picture of
the internal Police of Oude,” writes Colonel Outram, the
Resident, to Lord Dalhousie, “it is satistactory to turn
to the Frontier Police, the only efficient public establish-
ment maintained under the Oude Government ; but that
it is so efficiently maintained is to be attributed to its
being placed under British officers independent of the
Durbar, and under the immediate control of the Resident.
The Oude Frontier Police was originally established in
January, 1845, to the extent of 500 Sepoys and 100
horsemen, which force was subsequently augmented by
his present Majesty to the total strength of 750 Sepoys
and 150 horsemen.” He adds, “it has been most efficient
and successtul.”$

The samne means would have made all the other publie
establishments equally efficient. If there had been any
difliculty in the terms of the Treaty of 1801, the King’s
consent would have removed it ; and Lord Dalhousie, who
had already seen that difficulty overcome in the case of
the Frontier Police, and who hoped to &btain the King's
consent to a Treaty of mediatisation, could hardly have
doubted that his Majesty’s consent would be more easily
procured to the employment of a few more English officers.

* Oude Papers, 1858, p. 42, t Ante, p. 65, T Oude Papers, 1856, pp. 31, 32,
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But this was one of Lord Dalhousie’s “scruples”; this
was one of his “misgivings”; this was one of his tender
mercies. He could not “compel the fulfilment of the
Treaty of 1801 by force of arms,” on account of ““its pecu-
liar provisions.”*  But he had no objection to declare the
Treaty null and void,—that is to say, to violate it him-
self by withdrawing the troops stationed in Oude in
accordance with that Treaty,—to abandon the country to
anarchy and the capital to pillage, and to re-enter with a
large army, to dethrone the King and annex his dominions,

Nor is it so difficnlt as might be supposed, to account for
these inconsistencies and contradictions.  Lord Dalhiousie
did ot wish to reforne Oude; it was his special policy to
annex it.  Reform, whether enforced by the Treaty of
1801 or that of 1837, whether carried out by the Resident
and his Assistants with a native agency, or by a larger
number of British officers, would have spoiled every chance
of ammexing Oude. Therefore the Treaty of 1837 was
repudiated; therefore Sir William Sleeman’s proposals were
coldly and silently received.

It was in obedience, as I said before, to a sort of prin-
ciple that Lord Dalhousie objected to projects of reform,
and aimed steadily at annexation.  This principle was
made applicable by him not only to the case of Oude, but
to every case of a Native State that scemed to provoke
interference, ov to lie at his mercy. One of his avowed
reasons for deciding to annex the Punjaub, after the re-
bellion of 1849, instead of continuing to give the promised
“aid and assistance in the administration of the Lahore
State during the minority of the Maharajah Dhuleep
Sing,”t was that “we should have all the labour, all the
anxiety, all the responsibility, which would attach to the
territories if they were actually made our own ; while we
should not reap the corvesponding bencfits of increase of
revénue, and acknowledged possession.”}

In the same manner he recommended the annexation
of the Rajpoot State of Kerowlee by refusing to recognise
an adoption, because we should otherwise “ for many years
to come have to bear the labour of governing this State,

* Oude Papers, 1856, pp. 183, and 299, } Collection of Treaties, Calcutta,
1864, vol. ii. p. 267, 1 Punjaub Papers, 1849, p. 663.
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employing, always at inconvenience, a British officer for
the purpose,” and at the end of the young Prinee’s minor-
ity have to “hand over the country with its revenue of
four lacks of rupees.”*

And when in 1851 he was urged by General J. S. Fraser,
the able and accomplished Resident at Hyderabad, with
all the weight of many years’ experience in that important
post, to undertake effectnal measures for reforming the
administration of the Nizan’s Dominions, Lord Dalhousie
positively declined.  The Resident had suguested this
policy “on many recent oceasions,”- for the first time, as
we learn from another sowrce, in February 1850,1 a year
before the Governor-General took any notice of it. General
TFraser pointed out that the assignment of several Provinces
for the payment of the Contingent Force, demanded at
that time by our Government, would augment the Nizan’s
tinancial difficulties, and was a measure * providing for our
own interests only, not for those of the country at large,
cither as regards its Sovereign or its inhabitants.”$ Lord
Dalhousie recorded his entive disapproval of the Resident’s
policy. I he said, “ provision be made for carrying it
actively and practically into operation, «ll the tol of «
laborions tusk, and all its real vesponsibility, must ever full
on the British agent, by whom the native ministry is con-
trolled.  The ayent, on his part, while he reaps no ad-
vantage from his labours for his own State, must feel
Limself to be without undivided authority.” §

It is true that Lord Dalhousie, on this oceasion, pro-
nowneed a gencral reprobation upon suggestions suc{: as
those made by General Fraser, declaring them to procecd,
“in too many instances, not from sentients of enlarged
benevolence, but from the promptings of ambitious greed.”

““ Quis tulerit Gracchos de seditione querentes 1

He advanced as his first and main objection to the
proposal, that it was unauthoiised by Treaty, that the
Nizam’s “ consent would never be voluntarily given, and
that, if obtained at all, it would be extorted only by the
open exercise of a power which he feels he could not resist,

* Papers, Kerouwlee, 1855, p. 9.+ Our Faithful Ally, the Nizam, by Cap-

tain Hastings Fraser, (Smith and Elder, 1865,) p. 268.
1 Papers, the Nizam, 1854, p. 16, § Zhud., 1854, p. 38.
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or by the fear that we should proceed to some such
extreme.”*

‘What respect can we pay to these scruples, these
tender mercies, when at this very time the Governor-
General was engaged in extorting from the Nizam by the
fear of the military power which he felt he could not
resist, the surrender of his fairest Provinces to British
management ¢ In the very Minute containing these pre-
cious misgivings, the Resident is instructed to demand
the transter of the Provinces, and “*to meet any remon-
strances or solicitations which his Highness may make for
another reference,” by declaring that the Governor-Gene-
ral’s ““determination is fixed nrevocably.” If his High-
ness “should refuse compliance, or should fail to complete
the arrangements which are requisite,” the Resident will
then state * whether he will require any troops, in addi-
tion to the Subsidiary and Contingent Forces, for the
purpose of enforcing the determination that has been an-
nounced.”

Thus Lord Dathousie’s scrupulosity prevented him from
using the enormous influence of the British Government
to introduce improvements into the Nizam'’s administra-
tion, becanse what he called “a system of subversive
interference” was © unwelecome alike to people and to
Prince,” and because the Treaty declared his Highness to
be “absolute.”} But at this very time he was endeavouring
to introduce, and eventually carried out, by menace and
coercion, ““a system of subversive interference” over one
quarter of that Prince’s dominions. He would not employ
Jjudicious pressure for the benefit of the State and people
of Hyderabad ; but he would use any amount of pressure
to extort payment and sccurity for a most questionable
balance of debt.§ He would not take effectual steps for
correcting the administrative abuses of Oude, out of regard
for the “peculiar provisions” of a Treaty; but he was

* Papers, the Nizam, 1854, p. 38 t Ibid., 1854, pp. 84, 35.

1 Ibud., 1854, pp. 38 and 36.

§ Colonel Davidson, Resident at Hyderabad in 1860, writes to the Govern-
ment of India :—¢ Ilad the pecuniary demands of the two Governments been
impartially dealt with, we had no just claim against the Nizam.”—¢In 1853

we had little or no pecuniary claim against the Nizam,”  Papers, the Deccan,
338 of 1867, p. 27,
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prepared to annul all Treaties, and to make a general
clearance of all ties and obligations by the withdrawal of
our troops and Resident, with the certainty, as he helieved,
of insurrection and anarchy, and the consequently acquired
right of invasion and conquest.

It is true that in the Oude case he would have been
satisfied for the present with the exclusive administration
and entire possession of the revenues, after paying the
King’s stipend, with the prospect of an early annexation
by “lapse,” under the nwew Treaty restricting the succes-
sion to the lineal male descendants of the Prince actually
on the throne.*  But he cvidently preferred his own plan,
and worked himself into the styange notion that it was
more in accordance with * established law and custom,”
and less open to hostile criticism, than * the more peremp-
tory course,” as he called it, tuvoured by his colleagues, to
which he had, nevertheless, consented.  Kven in his last
Minute, written after possession had been taken, he recurs
with regret to his original scheme, and ** finds no weight
in the objections” made to it.t

In dealing with the alleged debt and disorganisation
of the Nizamn’s Government, Lord Dalhousie’s aim and
object can be shewn to be identical with those which he
set before himself in the case of Oude. When repelling
General Fraser’s suggestions that he should interpose as
Guide, Teacher, and Protector, he evidently looked for-
ward to some future opportunity of interposing as Dictator
and Master. He fixed his eyes on that same delightful
vision of disorder, bloodshed and anarchy in the dependent
State, inviting its total absorption, a vision which, equally
in both cases, would be dispelled for ever by “ unwelcome”
measures of reform. The following passages from Lord
Dallousie’s Minute on Hyderabad aftairs, dated May 27th,
1851, in which he repudiates General Fraser’s policy, will
show his own intentions and wishes with sufficient clear-
ness.

““ Whatever may be the tenor of his Highness’s administration,
it cannot be said as yet to have materially affected the security of
any portion of British territory, or to huve damaged the interests
of British subjects.”

* Ante, p. 53. t Oude Papers, 1856, pp. 299, 300,
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“ So long as the alleged evils of his Highness’s Government
are confined within his own limits, and affect only his own subjects,
the Government of India must observe religiously the obligations
of 1ts own good faith.”*

< [f, mdeed, the cffect of his Highness’s misgovernment should
DLe felt beyond his own bounds ; if the safety of our territory should
be placed m doubt, or the interests of our subjeets in jeopardy
.« oo oaf recent insults to British subjects and soldiers within lus
IHighness’s territory should occur with increasing frequency, I
shall not be satisfied, as on some past oceasions, with the pumsh-
ment of individual offenders ; I shall probably feel myself called
upon in such case to require the adoption of such stronger mea-
sures as shall effectunlly put a stop to outrages which, unless they
are repressed, cannot fail to lower the estimation in which our
power is held by Native States, and in some degree to tarnish
the honour of onr name.”

“ It may be that cvery cffort we can make will be insuplicient to
avert the erash which the vecklessness and apathy and obstinary of
the Nizam are all tending to produce ; 1t may be that the Govern-
mcent of India may, after all, be compelled to that divect interference
in his 1highness’s aftaivs which 1t still most carnestly desives to
avoid. It ever that time should come, the officer who may then
be entrusted with the charge of the Indian Empire, will doubtless
be prepared to act as the circumstances of the times, and as s
duty to his country may scem to him to require. But he will
then be enabled to act with confidence, strengthened by the con-
sciousness that the Goverument of India has long laboured to the
utmost, though in cain, to avert from the Nizam the fute which will
then have overtaken i’ +

There can be little doubt as to what that fate was in-
tended to be, and would have been, if anything like the
expected “ erash” had occurred while Lord Dalhousie pre-
sided over India. Nor can any one fail to see that Lord
Dalhousie’s special policy towards the Nizam-—in spite of
all the intolerable verbiage with which, as usual, he wrapped
it up,—was simply that of his giving his Highness “ rope
enough.” Just us he declared the “ consent” of the King
of Oude to be “indispensable to the transfer of any part
of his sovereign authority,f and that he was entitled to
carry on his administration by “his own officers,” the
« peculiar provisions” of the Treaty of 1801 forming “an in

* This is an unfortunate specimen of Lord Dallousie’s style. The ¢ obliga-
tions of good faith” are, apparently, not to be obscrved when the evils of the
Nizam's misgovernment pass beyond his own limits.

t Papers, the Nezam,1854,pp 38-40. 1 Para. 70,p 187, Oude Papers, 1856.
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surmountable barrier” to the introduction of an improved
system,*—so,ﬂ)r the nonce, the Nizamn was exalted into* an
independent Power,”t ““ absolute,” and exempt by Treaty
from ““ interference in his internal affiirs.”f  And these
seruples arose, with regard to Hyderabad, while he was en-
deavouring to deprive the Nizam of a large portion of his
dominions. It is quite clear that he would foree no “un-
welcome measure of reform” upon either of those States,
when such measures were suggested by Sir William Slee-
man and General Fraser, because he did not wish for their
veform, but rather for some catastrophe that might lead to
their fall or sereen their extivpation.

The Duke of Argyll complotely misconeeives the policy
of those who, like Lord William Bentinck, Lord Hardinge,
Sir Henry Lawrence, and Siv Willian Sleeman, were op-
posed to annexation but bent upon reform.  He endeavours
to show that their doctrines were quite as arbitvary as
those approved by him, less consistent and less efficacions
—amounting, in his words, to “annexation without the
avowal of the name.”§ The acquisitive process of his school
requiring, as we have seen, that all Treaties should, by
hook or by erook—inverted commas or fabricated Japse
be annihilated, he completely overlooks the vast power of
interference and supervision placed in our hands by these
Treatics, which, it firmly exercised in good time, could
have prevented or cured all misgovernment without des-
troying the Native State. Lord Dalhousie, in order to
shake off the obligations of guidance and protection, dearly
bought by the dependent Principality of Oude, declared
the Treaty of 1837 to be an abortion, and the Treaty of
1801 to K:we been violated and made null and void by
the King’s misrule. Sir Henry Lawrence and Sir William
Sleeman upheld both those Treaties, and censured the
neglect of our Government in not enforcing them for the
good of the people of Oude.

The Duke of Argyll believes that the best authorities
on International Law, would give “somec name harsher
than annexation” to the course in respect to Oude favoured

* Aate, p. 70. + Para. 34, p 37, Papers, the Nizam, 1854
1 Para. 27 and 36, p. 36 and 38, Papers, the Nizom, 1854
§ India under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 18.



78 CHAPTER V.

by Sir Henry Lawrence. “The notion,” says the Duke,
“that the Rulers of Oude had any sovereign rights, on ac-
count of which we were bound not to inteifere with their
authority, is sconted by Sir Henry Lawrence with indig-
nation.”* Of course that notion was scouted by Sir Henry
Lawrence, who rccognised the Treaty of 1837, and
wished to sce it brought into operation. Even under the
Treaty of 1801 we were entitled to interfere with the
King's authority, since he was bound by Article VI, “al-
ways to advise with and act in conformuty to the counsel of
the Ionourable Company’s officers.™  This was quite suffi-
cient warrant, for the effectual reformation of Oude, if we
had determined to undertake it. Sir Henry Lawrencc’s
indignation was directed against our neglect and delay in
fulfilling our bounden duty. He certainly recognised the
sovereign rights of the Rulers of Oude, but not as rights
of irresponsible and uncontrollable despotism. On the con-
trary, he saw that the sovereignty and authovity of the
King were most effectually and bencficially controlled and
limited by the Treaties, 1t we only chose to apply them
properly.

Sir Henry Lawrence recommended that if' the personal
reformation of a Prince were rendered hopeless by a “career
of vice and contumacy,” he should “be set aside and re-
placed by the nearest of kin who gives better promise.”
This passage seems to shock the Duke terribly : it implies,
according to him, “ that the British Government has abso-
lute power, not only over the administration, but over the
succession to the throne of Native States.”f And who
doubts that absolute power ? Does the Duke of Argyll
doubt it? Certainly I do not. ¢ The consciousness of our
own responsibility for the maladministration maintained by
our bayonets,” of which the Duke speaks in another part
of his Essay,§ has undoubtedly weighed more orless upon
all Englishmen engaged in the government of India, as it
has upon his Grace. He is quite right so far. We cannot
get rid of that responsibility. Having undertaken by our
system of military protection, paid for by subsidies or ces-

* India_under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 16. + Collection of Treaties,
1864, vol. ii, p. 125. } India under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 11.
§ Ibd., p. 12.
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sions, to forbid rivalry and to suppress rebellion, despotism
in India is no longer “tempered by assassination.” Not
even a palace revolution is allowed without our concur-
rence. Time and circumstances have, in fact, reserved for
us the revolutionary power as an Imperial prerogative,
and we must not hesitate to use it on an emergency. The
often recurring problem,—never, I believe, insoluble,
is how to use 1t with discretion and impartiality, whether
we interfere to settle a disputed or doubtful inheritance, or
to depose a contumacious or incompetent Prince. No ques-
tion of this sort should ever be decided, no irrevocable
step taken, without consulting those most conversant with
local affairs, those most nearly interested in the welfare of
the reigning family, and the stability of the commonwealth.

There is no reason why anyone holding the opinions of
Sir Henry Lawrence or Sir Willinm Sleeman, should shrink
from altering a succession, or deposing a reigning Sove-
reign.  The deposition of a King, however rare an inci-
dent, is not always to be stigmatised as revolutionary, or
even as rregular. A Sovereign’s abdication is seldom the
result of his own free will. ~ But there is nothing in it re-
pugnant to the constitutional law of any country. Indeed
the voluntary or forced abdication of a reigning Prince, the
renunciation or exclusion of an heir nl)pni'ellt, have been,
and obviously must be sometimes, essential conditions of
prosperity and success under a monarchical form of govern-
ment. And such a necessity is more likely to arise, the
more the nature of the Government approaches a despotism,
the more it depends for its working on the personal cha-
racter and abilities of the Sovereign.

The misrule of Oude was so flagrant as to call for our
intervention. General Sleeman thought the King should
be removed from the throne on account of mental incapacity.

“ His Majesty is hypochondriac, and frequently under the in-
fluence of the absurd delusions common to such persons; but he
is quite sane during long intervals, and on all subjects not con-
nected with such delusions.”* ¢ The King cannot be considered
to be in a sound state of mind.”+

“The members of the family, who have its interests most at
heart, are becoming anxious for some change”’t

* Sleeman's Oude,vol. i, p. liv. ¥ Ibid., vol. i, p. Ixix. 1 Ibid., vol. i, p. Ixxii.
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“ No part of the people of Oudo are more anxions for the inter-
position of our Government than the members of the royal family.
* % * The King is a crazy imbeeile.”*

Sir Henry Lawrence had arrived at the same opinion.
There was a crying necessity for the King’s removal.  In
consequence of our military protection and acknowledged
supremacy, this could only be performed by our hands.

It is at this point that the views ot Lord Dalhousie and
the Duke of Argyll on the one hand, and those of Sir Wil-
liam Sleeman and Sir Henry Lawrence on the other, com-
pletely diverge. All are agreed that an incompetent Prince
13 the great obstacle to good government. — All are agreed
that his removal is necessary. They differ as to the ob-
jeet and effect of his removal.  The school of annexation
would sweep away with the King the whole fabric of local
self-government, dismiss the whole tribe of native digni-
taries and superior officials, and veplace them by English
gentlemen.  The reforming school would maintain all ex-
1sting arrangements as far as possible intact ; would intro-
duce very few English ofticers; and even if the King's
exccutive power were to be entirely suspended for a time,
would uphold his sovercignty as the best pledge and safe-
guard for the separate integrity of the State and the ulti-
mate reconstruction of a purely native administration.

The Treaty of 1837, under which Sir Henry Lawvence
and Sir William Sleeman proposed to act, expressly pro-
mised “to maiutain, with such improvements as they may
admit of, the native institutions and forms of administra-
tion within the assumed territories, so as to facilitate the
restoration of those territories to the Sovereign of Oude,
when the proper period for such restoration shall arvive.”t

Lord William Bentinck in 1831 proposed to form “an
administration entirely native, the only European part of
which should be the functionary by whom it should be
superintended.”}

In 1847 Lord Hardinge assured the King that the
British Government desired “to perform its obligations to
the people without setting the sovereign authority aside,
or changing the native institutions of the State.”§

* Sieeman’s Qude, vol. i, p. 369,
t Collection of T'reaties, Calcutta, 1864, vol. ii, p. 177.
1 Ante, p 64 § Ante, p. 65,
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Sir Henry Lawrence attributes the miszovernment of
Oude in a great measure to that crying evil, “the want of
any recognised system of policy in our negotiations with
the Lucknow Court,” so that everything was “merc guess-
work and experiment,” and there was no possibility of
harmony between the King, the Minister, and the Resi-
dent.  “Our great error,” he says, “has been our inter-
ference in tritles, while we stood aloof when important
questions were at issue.”* “This interference has been move
in favour of men than of measures.”t

“Tf an able Minister was appomted or ncouraged by the
British Government, he was, as a matter of course, suspected and
thwarted by his mastcer ; if the King d:d happen to employ an
honest servant, the powcr of the latter was null unless he had the
Resident’s support.”t

“ Among her Ministers have been as able individuals as are
usnally to be found in the Bast.”§

“The result is before our eyes; the remedy is also in our
hands. Let the management be assumed under some such rules
as those which were laid down by Lord W. Bentinck. Let the
administration of the country, as far as possible, be native. Let
not a rupee come into the Company’s coffers.”

In the explanation of his plan he provided for only five
English Superintendents, under the Resident “as Minister,
not only in fact but in name.”q|

““Our plan involves the employment of every present Oude offi-
cial, willing to remain, and able to perform tho duties that would
bo required of him.”

“It would be desirable to retain the services of one or two
respectable men, to assist the Resident, and form with him a Court
of Appeal from the Superintendent’s decrees.”’*%

Nor did he ever deviate from these opinions. Five years
after the annexation of the Punjaub, in June, 1854, he
wrote as follows, in a private letter to Mr. Kaye :—

““ Our remedy for gross misgovernment was given in my article
on Oude in the Calcutta Review nine years ago, to take the man-
agement temporarily or permanently. We have no right to rob
a man because he spends his money badly, or even because he ill-
treats his peasantry. Wo may proteet and help the latter without
putting the rents into our own pockets.” 4

* Essays, p. 129. t 7bid., p. 63. t Jbid., p. 129. § Ibid., p. 128,
ll Ibid., pp. 181, 182. 9 lbid., 132. ** Ibid., p. 135.
t Kaye's Lives of Indian Officers, vol. ii, p. 810.
G
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Above all it is worthy of remark that Sir Henry Law-
rence,—nomeretheorist, butoneof theablest administrators
in India, who would willingly have undertaken the task
he was then sketching out,—proposed that the assessment
of the land-tax should be fixed for the whole country, and
distributed among the five districts, “as far as possible
by the people themselves,”—in a great assembly of the
people.”*

Sir William Sleeman declared that in Oude there was
“no want of an educated class for civil office; on the con-
trary they abound almost as much as the class of soldiers.t
By their means, “ with the aid of a few of the ablest of
the native judicial and revenue officers of our own districts,
invited to Oude by the prospect of higher pay,”} he in-
tended to carry out his projects of reform, if Lord Dal-
housie would have sanctioned and supported them.

The administrative abuses of Oude and the demoralisa-
tion of all its establishments weve greatly aggravated
during the six years of Lord Dalhousie’s masterly neglect,
which, following immediately on Lord Hardinge’s two
years of probation, seemed to hold out a prolonged lease
of power to the vile advisers of an imbecile King. Before
Sir William Sleeman left Lucknow, he had become con-
vinced that the correction of abuses and inauguration of
a new system were no longer within the capacity of a
Board of Regency, and that stronger measures must be
taken. “ Our Government,” he wrote on the 5th March,
1854, to Colonel Low,§ who as Resident had negotiated
the Treaty of 1837, “would be fully authorised at any
time to enforce the penalty prescribed in your Treaty of
1837, and it incurs great odium and obloquy for not en-
forcing it.”|| He found that he would require the aid of
some English officers. He wrote to Lord Dalhousie, “1
shall not propose any native gentlemen for the higher
offices,”—meaning, no doubt, those originally intended for
the Board of Regency,—but it will be necessary to have
a great many in the subordinate ones, to show that your
Lordship wishes to open employment in all branches of
the new administration to educated native gentlemen.”

* Essays, pp. 132,133, + Ante, p.66. § Ante, p 66. § Now General Sir John
Low, K.C.B. || Sleeman's Onde, vol. v, p. 419. § Ibid., vol. ii, p. 355,
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He recommended that “all establishments, military,
civil, and fiscal, be kept entirely separate from those of
our own Government, that there may be no mistake as to
the disinterestedness of our intentions towards Oude.”*
He declared that “ by adopting a simple system of admi-
nistration, to meet the wishes of a simple people, we should
secure the goodwill of all classes of society.”t And in
his last letter to Lord Dalhousie, he said, “There are
many honest men at Lucknow. But no honest man can
obtain or retain office nnder Government with the present
Minister and heads of departments.”}

Yet the Duke of Argyll declares that Sir William Slee-
man’s plan was “annexation without the avowal of the
name”;§ and that to Sir Hemy Lawrence’s plan ““some
name harsher than annexation,” ought to be applied.||

On another point the Duke completely misunderstands,
and consequently misrepresents, Sir William Sleeman and
Sir Henry Lawrence. He says, “they had a strange
theory that though the King had no indefeasible title to
any part of the Kingly power, he had an indefeasible title
to the whole of the Kingly revenues,—that the whole
revenue over and above the costs of administration was
absolutely due to the King of Oude: that is to say, it
was legitimate to scize the Government in the interests
of the people, but it was not legitimate to administer for
the benefit of the people the revenues of the State.”q]
And he complains that, according to their doctrine, *‘ the
whole surplus was to go where it had gone before,—to be
spent on the pageants and buffooneries and dancing-girls
of Lucknow !"**

This is a very great mistake. Neither Sir Henry Law-
rence nor Sir William Sleeman ever proposed that the
surplus revenue should be paid to the King. Both of
them intended that the King should receive an annual
income fixed at the discretion of the British trustee.

In order to prove that in Sir Henry Lawrence’s opinion
““it was not legitimate to administer for the benefit of the
people the revenues of the State,” and that all the surplus,

* Sleeman’s Oude, vol. 1i, p. 380. t Ibid., vol.ii, p. 881, § [bid., vol. ii, p. 423,

India under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 18, \\ Ibid., p. 16.

Ihid., p. 18. ** Ibid., p. 19.
“
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after defraying the actual costs of administration, should
be handed over to the King, the Duke quotes a sentence
from Sir Henry Lawrence’s Essay on Oude :—* Let not a
rupee come into the Company'’s coffers.”*  Sir Henry
Lawrence’s real meaning will be easily understood when
the sentence is restored to its place between two other short
sentences not quoted by the Duke of Argyll.  The whole
passage will then stand as follows ¢ Let the administra-
tion of the country, us fur as possible, be native. Let not
a rupee come into the Company’s coffers. Let Oude be
at last governed, not for onc man,—the King,—but for
him and his people,”t-—that is to say, for the State of
Oude. In another place he says, “We have not been
guiltless : in repenting of the past, let us look honestly
to the future.  For once let us remember the people, the
gentles, the nobles, the royul fumily; and not legislate
merely for the King.”$

It 1s strange that the Duke of Argyll should have also
completely misunderstood Sir William Sleeman.  “We
have a right,” the latter said, *“under the Treaty of 1837,
to take the management of Oude, but not to appropriate
tts revenues to owrsclves.”§  As late as September, 1852,
he tried, but in vain, to sound Lord Dalhousie on this
very point.

“I believe that it is your Lordship’s wish that the whole of the
revenues of Oude should be expended for the benefit of the royal
family «nd people of Oude, and that the Bmtish Government
should disclaim any wish to dervive any pecuniary advantages from
assuming to itsclt the administration.” |

“Were we to take advantage of the occasion to annew or con-
fiscate Oude, or any part of it, our good name in India would in-
cvitably suffer ; and that good name is more valuablo to us than
a dozen of Oudes.”

““ Anhexation or confiscation is not compatible with our relations
with this little dependent State.  'Weo must show ourselves high-
minded, and above taking advantage of its prostrate weakness, by
appropriating its revenues exclusively to the benefit of the people
and royal family of Oude.”q

When Lord William Bentinck said that ““the whole of
the revenue should be paid into the Oude Treasury,”** he

* India under Dalhousie and Canning, p.19. t Sir Henry Lawrence's

Essays, p. 132, + Ibid., p. 136, § Ante, p.” | Sleeman’s Oude, vol. ii, p. 372.
9 Ibud., vol. ii, pp. 378, 379. ** Ante, p. 64
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did not say that it should be paid inte the King's Privy
Purse. Nor can “the King’s Treasury,” mentioned in
Article VIII of the Treaty of 1837, be held to signify the
King’s Privy Purse. The distinction between the two
Treasuries is quite well understood all over India; and
wherever it has been imperfectly obscrved in practice,
could be established by our influence in any Native State
on the first convenient opportunity. Far from wishing to
give all the surplus to the King, or to provide him with
the means of unlimited extravagance, Sir William Slec-
man suggested an annual sum for the Royal Household
of fifteen lakhs of rupees (€150,000),* three lakhs less
than that offered to the King by Lord Dalliousie,—eighteen
lakhs (£180,000), besides one lukh (£10,000) to the Queen
Mother,—on condition of his signing the draft treaty
of 1856.%

Sir Henry Lawrence, indeed, proposed to give the King
a larger income.  “Twenty, thirty, or even fifty lakhs
per annum might, as the revenues increased, be allowed.
He should be furnished to his heart’s content with silver
sticks,”t and so forth. The magnitude of the highest
sum here mentioned,~-fifty lakhs, £500,000, more than a
third of the gross revenue,—is suflicient to show that it
is not to be taken literally, but only to express forcibly
his opinion that if matters could be smoothed and simpl-
fied by a liberal allowance to the King, the exact sum
ought to form no difliculty in the scttlement. ~ Sir Henry
Lawrence was merely writing an article in the Culeutte
Review, with no official responsibility to give precision to
his language. Had he been Resident at Lucknow he
would certainly not have recommended a larger income
for the King than Sir Williamn Sleeman did.

These two distingnished officers had no weak tenderness
for the King’s “ pageants and buffooneries.” They com-
plained that in consequence of our neglect the country
was governed too much “for one man, the King,” and iu-
sisted that for the future it should be governed “for the

* Sleeman’s Qude, vol. ii, p. 381, + Oude Papers, 1856, pp. 242, 291.
Lord Dalhousie observed that, according to Sir William Sleeman, about twelve
lakhs, (£120,000) was all that the King *¢ was usually able to obtain” for his
own Household.—Qude Papers, p. 302." t Essays, p. 136.
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people, the nobles, the gentles, and the royal family, and
not merely for the King.”* The Duke of Argyll says
they considered it “ not legitimate to administer the reve-
nues of the State for the benefit of the people.”t That
would have been “a strange theory” indeed; but the
Duke alone is responsible for its conception. Nothing of
the sort can be found in the writings of' Sir William Slee-
man or Sir Hemry Lawrence. They evinced no reluctance
to expend the revenues of Oude for the benefit of the
people.  They sketched out schemes of roads and other
public works that would have transformed the face of the
country. Sir Henry Lawrence proposed to commence
operations with a Joan of a million sterling, to be paid oft
in ten or fifteen years,} so that there would have been
little or no suwrplus for anyone during that period.

But the Duke of Argyll may still object that although
these two eminent men did not, perhaps, exactly intend
to throw all the surplus revenues into the King’s hands,—
“t0 be spent on the pageants, buffooneries, and dancing-
girls of Lucknow,”—they certainly intended that all the
revenues of Oude should be spent within its limits, that
the surplus should not belong to the British Government
of India. If his Grace had restrained his rhetoric within
those bounds, his statement would have been perfectly
accurate, and several pages of my rejoinder might have
been spared.  When Sir Henry Lawrence and Sir William
Sleeman said that “the administration should, as far as
possible, be native”; that “not a rupee” should “come
mto the Company’s coffers”; that we had no right “to
appropriate its revenues to ourselves,” and that they
“‘should be expended for the benefit of the royal family
and people of Oude,” they undoubtedly intended to ex-
clude our Government from any claim upon the surplus
revenues, and to restrain the nepotism of Calcutta within
moderate bounds. Until the growing mania for territorial
extension arrived at its climax under the fostering care
and encouragement of Lord Dalhousie, it was generally
acknowledged that the resources of Oude had already
been sufliciently drained by monstrous subsidies, extorted

* Ante, p. 8t t date, p. 83, 1 Essays, p. 135,
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cessions, and forced loans,* and that no further demands
for Imperial purposes ought to be made upon its Treasury.
When the Treaty of 1837 was under consideration, the
Articles imposing an annual burden of sixteen lakhs of
rupees upon Oude for a new Auxiliary Force, were opposed
upon these grounds by two members of the Supreme
Council, Mr. Ross and Mr. Shakespear. Both of them
observed that in return for the great cession of territory
in 1801, we had declared in the 1st Article of the Treaty
of that year that the Nawab was “relieved from the obli-
gation of defraying the expenses of any additional troops
which at any time may be required for the protection of
Oude.”  And Mr. Shakespear added that before exacting
any new subsidy, it would be nccessary “to cancel the
5th Article” of the Treaty of 1801, ““which engages that
no demand whatever shall he made upon the territory of
his Excelleney, on account of expenses which the Honowr-
able Company may incur for the suppression of disorders
within his territories.”t+ This was the main objection of
the Court of Directors to the Treaty of 1837. This was
the objection of Sir Henry Lawrence and Sir William
Sleeman to the surplus revenues of Oude being appropri-
ated by the Honourable Company. On a mere debtor
and creditor account, as well as by innumerable and un-
remitting friendly services, the State of Oude had paid
in advance for all the protection, guidance, and instruction
we could give. Against Oude we had no pecuniary claim.
Even Lord Auckland, when pressing his plan for a new
Auxiliary Force, felt himself compelled in common decency
to urge that it would be “a measure of real economy” for
Oude.f All our efforts for “the tranquillity and good
government” of Oude, should be, he said, “ without the
taint which schemes of acquisition in money or land might
give them.”  Any such scheme he declared to be “as re-
pugnant to my own designs and feelings as they have
ever been disavowed by the Honourable Court, and by

* With regard to some of these Sir Henry Lawrence says:—* The fricnds of
Lord Ilastings have asserted that these loans were voluntary, but, Colonel Bail-
Lie has shewn the transaction in a very different light. The money was extorted
from the Nawab by the importunity of the Resident, who acted on repeated

and urgent instructions from the Governor-General.”—Essays, p. 118.
t Qude Papers, 1858, p. 28, t Itid., p. 50.
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each successive Governor-General, in discussing the grave
question of the position in which events have placed us,
both towards the Oude ruler and people.”*

Sir Barnes Peacock,t who was Legal Member of Council
when the annexation of Oude was discussed, “could not
recommend that any part of the revenues of Oude should
be applied to the payment of the military administration
of the Province.” =~ After referring to the cessions and pro-
mises of 1801, he says :— For the same reason I would
not place the residue of the revenue at the disposal of the
East India Company, but would leave it to be disposed
of entirely for the benefit of the people of the Province.”
“TIf the Honourable Court of Directors should resolve to
adopt that measure, I think that no pecuniary benefit
should be derived by the East India Company.”§

So that Sir Barnes Peacock, one of Lord Dalhousie’s
colleagues, an acute and clear-headed lawyer, propounded
that same theory which scems to the Duke of Argyll a
strange delusion when it comes from Sir Henry Lawrence
and Sir William Sleeman.  Yet Sir Barnes Peacock had
no great sympathy for the King of Oude. He speaks on
belalf of “the people of that Stute.”]|

The sowrce of the Duke of Argyll's ervor is evident
enough. He can think of no “people” but the people of
all India. He can think ofno “ State” but that which is
centralised at Calcutta. Like Lord Dalhousie and his
best contemporary interpreter, Mr. George Campbell, he
looks upon the revenue of a native Principality as a very
inconvenient alienation from the Imperial assets, to be
called into the common stock as soon as may be.q He
cannot understand how Oude could have any right to be
a State at all.  The school of annexation has always

* Oude Papers, 1858, p. 8. + Now Chief Justice of the Iligh Col‘u‘t at
Caleutta. I Oude Papers, 1856, p. 232, § Lbid., 1856, p. 231.

|| Zb2d., 1856, p. 232, 4 It is indeed only in this way"—by rejecting
adopted heirs—¢ that we can hope gradually to extinguish the native States,
which consume so lurge a portion of the revenues of the country, and so prevent
us from lightening the burdens and inproving the condition of the mass of the
people.”—(Campbhell's Modern India, p. 169.) ‘This book was published
1852, just in the nick of time, as if to serve asan exponentand defence of Lord
Dalhousie's policy. Lt represcuts very fairly the ordinary views held by the
Bengal Civil Sexvice, of which Mr. Campbell, late a Judge of the High Court

of Calcutta, now Chief Commissioner of the Central Provinces, is a very able
and distingwished member.
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ignored entirely the corporate rights of the Native State.
They seem to argue and to act upon an incoherent and
inconsistent doctrine, oscillating between Oriental despot-
ism and revolutionary violence,-—by which the reigning
Prince, for the time being, is made the sole representative
and personal embodiment of the State. So long as he
remains on the throne, his absolute power must not be
limited, "or he would have “virtually no sovereignty at
all ;”* he would be “in leading strings,” ““a mere puppet,”
and “a sham Sovereign.”t He alone is responsible for
any disorder or misrule in his dominions, whether injurious
ouly to his own subjects, or affecting his relations with
the British Government.  Whether he be a criminal or
an.imbecile, he is fully empowered to transfer by his sig-
nature all his possessions, and way justly und legally be
territied or coerced into doing so.  But with or without
his extorted consent, the removal of the reigning Prince
extinguishes the rights of his family, annuls all treatics,
and terminates the separate existence of the Principality,
which naturally and necessarily merges in the Paramount
Empire as an ovdinary Province.

The Duke of Argyll, in common with the school of an-
nexation which he admires and defends, persists in sceing
nothing but the King’s person between the British Govern-
ment and the desived acquisiti®h of territory. Sir William
Sleeman and Sir Henry Lawrence saw a great deal more.
With them the King was not the State. They knew
that Oude had, since the cessions of 1801, paid for our
military protection over and over again, not only by con-
tributions and advances in the hour of our financial nced,
not only by supplies and means of transport in several
campaigns, but by the inestimable aid of her friendly
countenance and faithful influence in days of great mili-
tary and political emergency. They knew that these ser-
vices had not been rendered by the King alone; that we
had been indebted as much or more, in proportion to their
respective importance and ability, to the ministers, the
officials, to some of the great landholders, to many of “the
nobles, gentles, and people,” whom Sir Henry Lawrence

* India under Dalhouste and Canning, lpp‘ 34 and 37.
t Mysore Papers, 1866, pp. 84, 85, 86,
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cxhorted our Government to “remember.” They knew
that many persons belonging to these classes had been the
greatest sufferers from our neglect, our exclusive attention
to our own immediate interests, and, when those were
secured, our uniform support of the King’s personal autho-
rity throughout his own dominions.* = They knew that
these classes,—the most sensitive, the most reflective, the
best informed, the most influential, and the most improv-
able members of the community,—although anxious for
our corrective intervention, would see their own inevitable
ruin and degradation in the extinction of the Kingdom.
Hear Sir William Sleeman in 1853.

“In 1801, when the Oude territory was divided, and half taken
by us and half left to Oude, the landed aristocracy of each was
about equal. Now, hardly a family of this class remains in our
half, while in Oude it remains unimpaired. Everybody in Oude
Dbelieves those families to have been systematically erushed.”+

“The members of the landed aristocracy of Oude always speak
with respect of the administration in our territories, but generally
cud with remarking on the cost and uncertainty of the law in
civil cases, and the gradual decay, under its operation, of all the
ancient familics. A less and less proportion of the annual produce
of their lands is left to them m our periodical settlewments of the
Jand revenue.”

There was not in Oude even such a semblance of a party
in favour of British approp@ation, as there was in Mexico
in favour of the unfortunate Emperor Maximilian. Every
one supposed—whether rightly or wrongly it matters not,
~—that after absorption within the Honourable Company’s
territories, all avenues to promotion and distinction would
be closed, that the manufacture and import of many
articles of ornament and luxury would be very much
diminished, that all encouragement to native art and
learning would cease, and that the wealth of the country
would be drained away to Calcutta and London. Even
the ‘““pageants and buffooneries of Lucknow,” did not
excite much horror in the minds of this ignorant popula-
tion. Such sights are run after by the simple inhabitants
of India almost as eagerly as the more serious and intel-
lectual attractions of a review, a royal procession, or a

* Sir Henry Lawrence's Essays, pp. 75, 109, 131,
t Sleeman’s Qude, vol. 1, p. 415, I 1hd., vol. i, p. 168.
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Lord Mayor’s Show, are in enlightened England. The
people are well aware of their Prince’s lavish expenditure,
but they are rather proud of it than otherwise. The
money is spent among themselves, and they all benefit by
it, more or less, if’ only by a little occasional entertain-
ment and excitement. As General Sir John Low re-
marked, when discussing the question of the stipend to
be allotted to the Ex-King of Oude, ““these Princes” do
not “hoard up their money in large sums, and bury it,”
nor do they “dispose of tﬁeir lakhs, as most European
gentlemen do with their thousands, that is to say, save
more than they expend, and send their savings off to a
distant country.”*

Nor was the aversion to lose all their local privileges
and customs amid the cold uniformity of British rule, con-
fined to the great landlords, the courtiers and the higher
officials, the traders and artisans of the capital and large
towns. There was literally no class in the country that
desired the downfall of the native State.

“ It might have been expected,” said Lord Canning, in
his despatch of the 17th June, 1858,  that when insur-
rection first arose in Oude, and before it had grown to a
formidable head, the village occupants who had been so
highly favoured by the British Government, and in justice
to whom it had initiated a plicy distasteful to the most
powerful class in the province, would have come forward
m support of the Govermment.  Such, however, was not
the case.  So far as I am as yet informed, not an indivi-
dual dared to be loyal to the Government which had be-
friended him. The village occupants, as a body, relapsed
into their former subjection to the Talookdar,” or great
landlord, ““owned and obeyed his authority as if he had
been their lawful Suzerain, and joined the ranks of those
who rose up in arms against the British Government.
The endeavour to neutralize the usurped and largely
abused power of the Talookdars by recognising the sup-
posed proprietary rights of the people, and thus arousing
their feelings of self-interest and evoking their gratitude,
had failed utterly.” * * * » * «Tlhoge whom we

* Oude Papers, 1856, p. 224,
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had desired to benefit, and had to our thinking benefited,
did not value the rights which we had restored to them,
and far from standing up in defence of those rights, and
in support of the Government which had been the mcans
of reviving them, they had acted in complete subordina-
tion to the Talookdars, and had been no less forward than
these latter in their efforts to subvert the authority of
that Government and expel its officers.”*

The village occupants knew much more of the British
revenue system than Lord Canning imagined. They per-
fectly understood that the *supposed proprictary right”
enjoyed by the villagers of our adjacent districts, was
nothing more than the right to pay their quota directly
to the Government instead of to the Talookdar. They
knew quite well that any intermediate profit-rent which
was lost by the Talookdar would be no gain to them, but
would fall into the coffers of Government; while they
would Jose the protection and countenance of their here-
ditary Chief, and would be transferred to the covenanted
and uncovenanted mercies of a Collector and his under-
lings. They knew that in the neighbouring British dis-
tricts the assessment of the land tax had been systema-
tically and progressively enhanced, and that the ryots, for
want of substantial and influential landlords, were exposed
to the illicit exactions of subordinate ofticials,

The alleged prevalence of oppression and extortion in
Oude is utterly irreconcileable with the fact that the
population showed no inclination to emigrate into the con-
tiguous territories of the Company, open to them on three
sides.t The mal-administration of Oude did not drive
the people to rebellion, nor even to remonstrance.  The
King was utterly incompetent, but not eruel.  The great
fanlt of his Government was not tyranny but weakness.

Whatever may have been the errors of the last reigning
King of Oude, however much he may have neglected and
mismanaged the internal affairs of his Kingdom, he was
neither a crucl tyrant nor a faithless Ally. “ Tn all those
measures,” said General Low, in 1855, “ which relate ex-
clusively to the intercst of the Paramount State, such as

* Papers, Owde Proclamation, 1859. pp. 5, 6.+ Oude Papers, 1856,pp. 52, 57.
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searching for and giving up criminals who have escaped
into Oude from our provinees, supplying our troops when
marching through Oude, protecting our mails, cte., ete.,
the Government of Oude has always been, and is up to
this day, unusually attentive and efficient. I can further
truly remark that the Kings of Oude have co-operated
most actively and efficiently with us in capturing Thugs
and Dacoits.”

“TIn rogard to their external relations with us, their conduct
has been remarkably irreproachable.”*

1t is not only that the Kings of Oude have never been hostilo
to us in their proceedings, and never intrigned against us in any
way ; they havo abstained from every kind of communication
with other nativo potentates, except openly, and through the
medium of the British Resident; and during our wars against
our enemies, they have constuntly proved to be really uctive and
most useful allicst to us; they have, agam and again, forwarded
large supplics of grain and cattle, cte., to our armics, with an
alacrity that could not be excceded by our own British Chiefs of
Provinces ; and during our wars against the Nepaulese and Bur-
mese, the King of Oude lent us very largo sums of moncy,—no
less than three crores of rupees” (three millions sterling) ¢ when
wo were extremely in want of it, and could not procure it else-
where ; and cven so late as 1842, the grandfather of the present
King supplied us with fourteen lakhs of rupees,” (£110,000)
“and his son, the father of the present King, supplied us with
thirty-two lakhs of rupees,” (£320,000) “which were of very
great uso indeed to Lord Ellenborongh’s Government, in enabling
him to push on and equip General Pollock’s army, to retrieve our
disasters in Affghanistan.”

“During the Nepaul war, the King of Oude lent us, freo of all
cost, nearly 300 clephants.  The aid thus obtained for conveying
our artillery and ammunition, and tents, etc., in our mountain
warfare, was of immenso value to us, and of a kind which it was
totally out of our power to obtain in any other manner, or from
any other quarter.”}

In every respect, and at all times, the State of Oude
fulfilled the duties of a good neighbour, and in time of
war surpassed them. There were, unquestionably, dis-
orders in the King’s Government, but neither the Honour-
able Company nor its subjects were offended or injured
by them. Our frontiers were not disturbed ; our com-

* Qude Papers, 1856, p. 226. + Ttalics in the original.
1 Oude Papers, 1856, pp. 225, 226,
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munications and commerce were not interrupted or im-
peded. The State of Oude paid its way, and had con-
tracted no debt.  There was no desperate disease ; it was
simply a case of irregular functions, which the protecting
Power could have cured at any time. The weakness and
looseness of the Oude administration, were due in a great
measure to our own derclictions and neglect.

Far from its being true that the Oude Government was
enabled to be oppressive with impunity in consequence of
British military support, Sir William Sleeman declares
that its inability to control the more powerful feudatories
arose from that support not being given to which the
Government was justly entitled.  From time to time, he
tells us, Regiments had been withdrawn from several points,
which “to do our duty honestly by Oude,” we ought
to restore.*

““'I'he British force in Oude is much less than it was when the
Treaty of the 11th Scptembor, 1837, was made, and assuredly
less than it should be with a due regard to our engagements and
the Oude requirements. Our Government, instead of taking
upon itself the additional burden of sixteen lakhs of rupees a year
to render the Oude Government more cfficient, has relieved itself
of a good deal of that which 1t bore before the new l'reaty” of
1837 “ was entered into; and this is certainly not what the Court
of Directors contemplated, or the Oude Government expected.”

“Our exigencies beeame great with tho Atfghan war, and have
continued to be so from those wars which grew out of it with
Gwalior, Scinde, and the Punjaub ; but they have all now passed
away, and those of our humble Ally should be no longer forgotten
or disregarded. Though we seldom give him the use of troops
in the support of the authority of his local officers, still the
prestige of having them at hand, in support of a just causo, is
unquestionably of great advantage to hum and to his people, and
this advantage we cannot withhold from him with a due regard to
the obligations of solemn troatics.”+

Notwithstanding all these difficulties and discourage-
ments, the weak Mussulman Government of Oude suc-
ceeded, a few months before the annexation, in putting
down effectually a determined religious conflict between
the Hindoo priests and votaries of a shrine called the
Hanooman Gﬁurree, near Fyzabad, and a formidable band

* Sleeman’s Oude, vol. i, p. 186, See also vol. i, p. Ixiv., Ixv.
t 14id., vol. ii, p. 200,
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of Mussulman fanatics, under a popular saint named Ameer
Alee. The Mahomedan aggressors were attacked and dis-
persed, and many of them killed, including their leader,
by the King’s troops, without any assistance from the
British Force at Lucknow. Lord Dalhousie plainly inti-
mates that the failure of the Oude Govermment in sup-
pressing this dangerous outburst of Moslem bigotry would
have led to “a very prompt and swnmary settlement of
the Oude question by the hands of the Governor-General.”*
The unexpected success of the Oude Government, how-
ever, was not allowed to delay that prompt and swmnmary
settlement very long, and, strangely enough, seems to be
adduced by Lord Dalhousie as an additional reason for
harrying it on.

The Treaty of 1801 imposed upon the British Govern-
ment, in return for inmense advantages, the obligations of
guiding the State of Oude by its authoritative counsels,
and preserving good order and subordination throughout
the country by its military support. 1t neglected the first
duty ; the latter duty, as Sir William tells us, was not
performed effectually or  honestly.”  And then the pro-
tecting Power denounced the evil results of its own negli-
gence, as if they were insults and infidelities perpetrated
by its friend and pupil. Lord Dalhousie complained of
“ the systematic and continuous violation of the Treaty,”t
by the misrule of Oude. That misrule arose much more
from our default than from that of the Princes and Minis-
ters of Oude. We were always negligent ; they were never
contumacious. If any provisions of the Treaty were unful-
filled, we had the full right and ample means of enforcing
them. But our counsels were indefinite and intermittent,
and we never tried to enforce them. At last Lord Dal-
housie took advantage of our own wrong, and founded his
claim to confiscate Oude upon that very weakness and
looseness of administration which the British Government,
more especially during his vice-royalty, had deliberately
refrained from correcting.

‘With all their shortcomings and self-seekings the British
authorities, both at home and in India, had never failed,

* Qude DPapers, 1856, p. 300, t Oude Papers, 1866, pp 190, 255,
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until Lord Dalhousie’s advent to power, to recognise their
obligations to the State of Oude, the integrity and sepa-
rate existence of which they were bound in honour to
maintain. Those who advocated the reform and depreca-
ted the annexation of Oude, cared less for the Prince than
for the Principality. They looked upon a Native State
as a social and political aggregation of divers individuali-
ties and complicated interests, which would be thrown
into confusion, and doomed to rapid decay, on the intro-
duction of our ordinary system of government. They con-
sidered the higher classes of Oude to be undeserving of
this doom. Aud although they entertained no exaggera-
ted notions of the King’s divine right to power, still less,
as the Duke of Argyll most erroncously imagines, of his
divine right to the revenues,-—they considered a Monarchy,
however limited and restricted, as the only practicable
form of native government ; they looked upon the Royal
title and the hereditary throne as the only effectual pre-
servative for the framework of a Native Principality. They
looked upon the Prince as the chief Ruler, but not as the
master or owner of the State and its inhabitants. They
considered that Treatics were made and maintained by a
reigning Prince as the representative for life of a dynasty
and a State, which are established institutions with a per-
petual succession.

Of course u State is not absolutely inviolable and sacred ;
its territorial limits and independence may be justly modi-
fied or even nullified, as a consequence of war or utter
disorganisation ; but so long as friendly relations subsist,
the State is a definite political community, not to be broken
up or destroyed for the faults or deficiencies of its chief
Ruler, or for any remediable defects in its constitution.
The incompetence, misconduct or contumacy of a reigning
Prince, though it may justify or necessitate his deposition,
does not annul a Treaty, or annibilate the State. A re-
volutionary crisis may justly be made an occasion for re-
form, but not, as Lord Dalhousie planned it, a pretext for
rapacity. The reign of a bad Prince may aﬂz())rd a fair
opportunity for improving, but not for appropriating a
friendly State.



CHAPTER VI
THE PUNJAUB.

TaE Duke of Argyll says of the annexation of the Punjaul)
that “there is no need to defend it in point of right, and
as little need now to support it in respect to policy.”* Sir
Charles Jackson considers that acquisition to be so com-
pletely removed from the sphere of controversy, that at
the outset of the Vindication he declares his intention of
“ passing it over in silence.”t

Mr. J. C. Marshman, formerly Editor of the Friend of
India,} in his rccently published History, declares, that
“to offer any vindication of a measure which even the
most prejudiced of Lord Dalhousie’s opponents have not
ventured to impugn, would be altogether redundant,”§
Those “ fifth-rate writers” are more “ prejudiced” than Mr.
Marshman supposes ; and he is not so well acquainted
with them as the Duke of Argyll. The annexation of the
Punjaub was promptly impugned by Mr. John Sullivan,
who had been a Member of Council at Madras, in a
pamphlet, entitled “ The Koh-i-Noor, to whom does it
belong ?”|| to which T am indebted for several suggestions ;
and by Mr. J. M. Ludlow, in his “ British India, 1ts Reaces
and its Ilistory.”{[ But, while I, also, must dispute both
the right and the policy of that so-called conquest, I freely
admit that,—mainly because it looked like a conquest,—
it has never excited the same disgust as the annexations
of Nagpore, Jhansi, and Oude. The iniquity of the trans-
action was shrouded by the smoke of battle; and its im-
policy, gradually becoming apparent, was hidden once
more, for a time, when the Punjaub poured forth to our

* India under Dalkousie and Canning, p. 4. t A Vindication, p. 3.
I A weekly paper, published at Serampore near Calcutta, and conducted
with great ability, which steadily supported all Lord Dalhousie’s measures,
§ History of India, by John Clark Marshman, (Longmans, 1867,) vol. iii, p.
349 || Loudon, 1850, 9 Vol. ii, pp. 166, 167.
H
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assistance, in the crisis of the rebellion, the troops that
we had previously poured into it.

The same may be said of a still more iniguitous affair,
the conquest of Scinde. Therce was a fight forit. Although
the Ameers were goaded to resistance by a series of -
creasing demands, itolerable f)rovocations, and a menacing
advance upon their capital, the meve fact of their resist-
ance made their violent expulsion from Scinde less inju-
rious to our fame than the quict spoliation of a friendly
family. Public opinion in India, even in royal palaces, is
not educated to the pitch of examining into the diplomatic
details of a rupture, unless the scene of action be very
close at hand. The sword was drawn ; blood was shed ;
no further justification was required.

The impolicy of Lord Dalhousie’s peaceful annexations
consisted, in a great measuve, in the moral aspect which
they presented to the world of India. The moral objec-
tions to annexing the Punjaub were, doubtless, inuch less
manifest. The impolicy was, therefore, less obvious. And
T can well understand that Lord Dalhousie himself, when
he decided on converting the Punjaub into a British Pro-
vinee, may have had few or none of those compunctious
visitings, those “doubts and scruples,” by which he was
disturbed, according to che Duke of Argyll and Sir Charles
Jackson, during the process of annexing Oude.*

In a despatch to the Secret Committee of the Court of
Directors,—dated the 7th April, 1849,—he endeavoured
to prove that we could justly take advantage of our mili-
tary force to make the Punjaub ““a profitable possession”t
for owrselves ; but the endeavour seems to me to be all in
vain. No justification is made out at all

Dhuleep Sing was the Ward of the British Government.
Of this there can be no question. By the Articles of
Agreement of the 16th December, 1846, the British Go-
vernment undertook “the maintenance of an administra-
tion, and the protection of the Maharajah Dhuleep Sing
during the minority of his Highness.”} This engagement
was to “cease and terminate on his Highness attaining

* Ante, p. 51, and India under Dalkousie and Canning, p. 69.

1 Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 665.
t Papers, Articles of Agreement with the Lahore Durbar, 1847, p. 49.
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the full age of sixteen years, or on the 4th September,
1854.”* The Governor-General, Lord Hardinge, wished
that ““the new terms of agreement entered into for pro-
tecting the Maharajah during his minority, should be made
as public as possible. It has therefore,” he wrote to the
Secrett Committee, “been determined, in communication
with the Sirdars, that his Highness shall come to my camp
on this side of the Beas on the 26th instant ; and I pro-
pose afterwards, when the Agreement will he formally
ratified, to pay his Highness a friendly return visit at
Lahore.”t 1In the General Proclamation of the 20th Au-
gust, 1847, the Governor-General announced that he felt
“the interest of a father in the education and guardian-
ship of the young Prince,” and that ** he had at heart the
peace and security of this country,” the Punjaub, “the
firm establishment of the State, and the honour of the
Maharajah and his Ministers.”}

In order “ to maintain the administration of the Lahore
State during the minority of the Maharajah,” the Governor-
General was armed with supreme and plenary power, and
was “at liberty to occupy with British soldiers such posi-
tions as he may think fit, for the security of the capital,
for the protection of the Maharajah, and the preservation
of the peace of the country.” The British Resident was
placed at the head of the administration, with ¢ full autho-
rity to direct and control all matters in every depart-
ment of the State.”§ Subject to the instructions of the
Governor-General, “unlitnited powers” were given to the
Resident.||

Lord Dalhousie declares that the British Government
“maintained the Government of the State in the Council
of Regency.”{] That Council was merely one part of the
machinery instituted by the Governor-General, and kept
in Eerfect subordination to British authority.

ord Hardinge thus describes the new arrangement in
a despatch to the Secret Committee of the 21st December,
1846.

* Papers, Articles of Agreement with the Lakore Durbar, 1847, p. 51.
+ 1bid., 1847, p. 25. Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. b3.
Papers, Articles of Agreement with the Lahore Durbar, 1847, p. 50.
Papers, Punjaub, 1849, pp. 85 and 48. 9 Ibwd., 1849, p. 659.
H2
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¢« A Council of Regeney, composed of leading Chicfs, will act
under the control and guidanco of the British Resident.”

“The power of the Resident extends over every department,
ard to any extent.”

«Thoso terms give the British Resident unlimited authority in
all matters of internal administration, and external relations,
during the Maharajal’s minority.””*

And in a letter dated the 3rd July, 1847, the Governor-
General reminds the Resident that the Articles of Agree-
ment
“ give to the Government of India, represented at Lahore by its
Resident, full power to direct and control all matters in every de-
partment of the State.”

¢ It is politic that the Resident should carry the native Council
with lim, the members of which are however entirely under his
control and guidance ; he can change them and appoint others,
and in military affairs his power is as unlimited as in the civil ad-
ministration ; he can withdraw Sikh garrisons, replacing them by
British troops, in any and every part of the Punjab.”+

The Resident himself, a month later, thus describes the
working of the machine.

“On the whole, tho Durbar” (the Council of Regency) “ give
mo as much support as T can reasonably expeet ; there has been
a quiet struggle for mastery, but as, thongh I am polite to all, T
allow nothing that appears to me wrong to pass unnoticed, the
members of the Council are gradually falling into the proper train,
and refer most questions to me, and m words at least allow, moro
fully even than I wish, that they arc only exccutive ofticers,—to
do as they are bid.”’}

Thus the Council of Regency never was “the Govern-
ment of the State,” as Lord Dalhousie calls it,§ without
the British Resident at its head, to whom its members
were strictly subordinate.

One important count in the indictment brought by
Lord Dalhousie against ““ the Sikhs,” is that whereas they
had bound themselves to submit to the full authority of
the British Resident directing and controlling all matters
in every department of the State,—the Government of
Lahore, in reply to the orders of the Resident, neither
Eunishcd” the rebel Moolraj, when two British officers

ad been murdered at Mooltan, “ nor gave reparation for

* DPapers, Articles of Agreement with the Lakore Durbar, 1847, p. 24.
t Papers. Punjaub, 1849, p. 18, t Zbid., 1849, p. 32, § Ante, p. 99.
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the offence, but declared that their troops were not to be
depended upon.”*  This attempt to separate the Resident
from the Government of Lahore, and to use the latter
term as synonymous with “the Sikhs,” is quite unwarrant-
able. The Resident was at the head of the Government
of Lahore; and the Councillors of Regency were, as we
have seen, merely executive officers, “to do as they were
bid,” “under his control and guidance.”+ “The Sikhs,”
however rebellious, were subjects, not responsible rulers.
The Resident’s “power” was “unlimited in militury affairs.”
He could “ withdraw Sikh garrisons, replacing them by
British troops, in any and every part of the Punjaub.”t
And when the military emergeney avose, he pursued his
own course by the tenor and spirtt of these instructions,
ordering the troops backwards and forwards, occasionally
consulting the Durbar or informing them of his determi-
nations, but never allowing them to act independently, or
to adopt their own plans for restoring the peace of the
country. The Resident was the Government of Lahore.
When the news arrived of the outbreak at Mooltan, the
Resident transferred none of his authority to the Council-
lors; he gave all the orders himself. “I have put in
motion upon Mooltan,” he reports on the 22nd, “from
different points, seven Battalions of Intantry, two of Regu-
lar Cavalry, three troops and batteries of Artillery, and
twelve hundred Trregular Horse.”§

The first intelligence from Mooltan left the fate of the
two British officers uncertain, and gave no particulars of
what had passed. The Resident had decided on the 24th
of April, 1848, to support the Maharajal’s force with a
brigade of British troops. But when assured of the bar-
barous murder of the English officers, and the defection
of their Sikh escort, the Resident countermanded the
march of our brigade, because the Durbar troops might
prove faithless.| ~After several false starts, and much
vacillation, the British troops did not arrive before Mooltan
until the 18th of August.4]

During the continuance of this dangerous delay, several
oceurrences took place, eminently calculated to terrify,

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 660, + Ante, p, 100. I Ante, p. 100.
§ Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 133, | Ibid., 1849, p. 139, § Zbid., 1819, p. 291.
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provoke, and exasperate the Sikh chieftains and army,
and to drive them headlong into the rebellion of Dewan
Moolraj, just when the splendid exploits of Lieutenant
Edwardes (now Colonel Sir Herbert Edwardes, K.C.B.)
had made it appear almost hopeless. By the middle of
July, Edwardes, with the Maharajal’s troops, supported
by the army of the Nawab of Bhawulpore, had defeated
Moolraj in two pitched battles, and had forced the rebel
leader to take refuge in his fortress. He had no army in
the field ; he was “hemmed in, disheartened by defeats,
and weakened by desertions.” The news was spread
throughout the Punjaub that a British force, with heavy
guns, was on its way to destroy the great stronghold of
revolt. The Resident was expecting to hear of Moolraj
doing some “act of desperation” that would “close the
rebellion,”t when a fresh insurrection broke out, headed by
Sirdar Chuttur Sing, the Nazim, or Governor, of the Hazara
Province. On the 14th of September, Sirdar Chuttur
Sing’s son, Rajah Shere Sing, who was in command of a
body of Durbar troops, co-operating with General Whish
in the siege of Mooltan, yiclded at last to “his father’s
awful maledictions,”} and the general disaffection of his
Sikh ofticers and soldiers, and moved over to the enemy
with his whole camp.  Beiug much distrusted by the Dewan
Moolraj, Shere Sing soon left Mooltan, and became the
leader in a new rebellion, which assumed the most formid-
able dimensions. How can we account for this strange
infatuation, reviving fanaticism in the breasts of those
most interested in the preservation of peace and good
order, and inciting them to revolt at the most inopportune
moment, when their chance of suecess was desperate ¢
Three incidents mainly contributed to stimulate the
second Sikh war,—the exile of the Maharanee, the refusal
to fix a day for the Maharajah’s marriage, and the treat-
ment of Sirdar Chuttur Sing. The equity and expediency
of all these measures may have been very defensible at
the time, and may even now be fairly cntertained by those
* Papers, Punjaub, p. 243, 250. 1+ Ibid., 1849, p. 258, « My expectation
is that the rebel will cither destroy himself or be destroyed by his troops, be-
fm;:2 5he next mail goes out.” (June 22nd, 1848.) Punjaub Papers, 1849,
p.t A Year on the Punjaud Frontier, by Major Edwardes, C.B., vol. ii, p. 446.
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who took a part in them; but the question we have to
consider is not so much whether each or all of these mea-
sures were wise and justifiable, as whether they were the
work of the British Government, acting, under Treaty, as
the Guardian and Trustee of the infant Sovereign. If
the rebellion was aggravated and extended by the policy
of British officers, approved and confirmed by the Gover-
nor-Gieneral, opposed and deprecated by the Council of
Regency, the pretence of separating the Resident fromn
the Government of Lahore, and throwing oft’ all respon-
sibility from the autocratic head upon the consultative
members, can no longer be maintained.

Of the Maharanee’s bad intentions and incessantintrigues
against the Council of Regeney, there can be no doubt.
But in her compulsory retirement at the country palace
of Sheikhopoor, her evil influence was almost extinguished ;
and in May, 1848, one of the most mischievous plots
carried on in her name having been exposed and defeated,
and the chief conspirators publicly exccuted, she would
have been powerless, if left to her own devices. Two
years after the annexation, Major Edwardes, who played
such a brilliant part in these events, and had the best
means of becoming acquainted with the facts, and with
the weightiest opinions bearing upon them, writes that
*the Ranee Jhunda, who had more wit and daring than
any man of her nation, was weary of scattering ‘ambiguous
voices,” and of writing incendiary epistles from Sheikho-
poora to quondam naweais sujets, who treated them as if
they came from Joseph Ady. Her memery survived, for
she was not a woman to be forgotten; but her influence
had followed her power, and there was no longer a man
found in the Punjaub who would shoulder a musket at
her bidding.”*

It is perfectly clear that the strong measure of sending
the Maharanee into banishment,—in fact imprisonment
in exile,—was taken by the Resident, on his own judg-
ment and authority, supported by the previously commu-
nicated permission of tﬁe Governor-General, but contrary
to the advice of the Council of Regency. The Resident,

* A Year on the Punjaul Frontier, vol. i, p. 412,
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in a despatch dated the 16th May, 1848, reports what had
taken place on the preceding day.

“ Maharaneo Jhunda Khore, the mother of Maharajah Dhuleep
Sing, was removed from tho fort of Sheikhopoor, by my orders,
yesterday afternoon ; and is now on her way, under charge of an
escort, to Ferozepore.”

“Her summary banishment from the Punjaub, and residenco
at Benares, under the surveillanco of the (Governor-General’s
Agent, subject to such custody as will prevent all intrigue and
correspondence for the future, secimns to me the best course which
we could adopt.”*

There is not a word in the despatch to lead us to suppose
that this step was approved by the Cabinet of Regency, or
that they did anything more than act as “executiveofficers,”
and “do as they were bid.”f When relating any decision
of importance, the Resident generally states that the
Council “unanimously” agreed with him, or that they
“yielded”; but in this case there is a significant silence
on the subject of any discussion in Council.

We know that in August, 1847, the Chiefs werce “ de-
cidedly averse to incur what they considered the odium
of participating in effecting the banishinent of the Maha-
ranee,” and in consequence of their objections to sending
her out of the country, her new residence was fixed at
Sheikhopoor, only twenty miles from Lahore.}

The order for the Maharanee’s removal and banishment
is signed by only three of the Council of Regency, and of
these only one, Rajah Tej Sing, the Ranee’s bitter personal
encmy, is a Sikh.  The signature of Golab Sing, a mere
youth, is also attached,.on behalf of his absent brother,
Rajah Shere Sing, as if no means could be spared to fortify
this document with the apparent concurrence of the Durbar.

And although it is signed by three members of the
Council, and by the brother of a fourth, it only purports
to be issued, “according to the advice of Sir Frederick
Currie, Bart., and Fakeer Noor-ood-deen,” a Mussulman
Councillor, who, accompanied by two English officers,
personally saw to the order being carried out.§

The Resident himself seems to have had some notion of
the dangerous excitement that might be caused by this

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 168 t Ante, p. 100.
t Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 35 and 51. § Ibid., 1849, p. 228,
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strong and severe measnre. “A formal trial,” he writes,
“of Maharajah Runjeet Sing’s widow would be most un-
popular and hurtful to the feelings of the people.”*  Can
he have really supposed that *“ the summary banishment”
of Runjeet Sing’s widow from her son’s dominions, would
be less unpopular? But was there no alternative but a
formal trial?  Why should the Rance not have been put
on her defence, as she repeatedly demanded, in a private
investigation ? There may have been another reason for
avoiding a formal or informal trial. The Resident says
there is no doubt in his mind that the Maharanee was
“deeply implicated” in *“ conspiracics for tampering with
the sepoys, and making revolt and inswrrection.”  But he
adds :—** Legal proof of’ the delinquency of the Maharanee
would not, perhaps, be obtainable.”t  She might have
been acquitted.

The Resident, however. declares that < this is not a time
for us to hesitate about doing what may appear necessary
to punish state offenders, whatever may be their rank and
station, and to vindicate the honour and position of the
British Government.”

“But,” he continues, “ while doing what we deem an
act of justice and policy, it is not necessary or desirable
to do it in a way to exasperate the feelings of the soldiery,
and the Chiefs or people.  We must bear in mind that
the Maharanee is the mother of their Sovereign, and the
widow of our Ally, Maharajah Runject Sing : and we must
respect the feelings which they entertain regarding the
violation of the seclusion of females of high rank.”

“I propose, therefore,f that the Maharanee be sent to
Benares under a strong quard ; that she be allowed to take
with her her jewels, and such of her property as she may
immediately require, and her domestic servants ; and that
she be accompanied by the venerable Fakeer Noor-ood-
deen,” a Mahomedan, “the personal friend and adviser of
the late Maharajah Runjeet Sing?r, and a person greatly
respected by the Sikhs generally.”

“ At Benares,” the Resident suggests, “she should be
subject to such surveillance and custody,” as will * pre-

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 168. + Ibid., 1849, p. 168. 1 Therefore!
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vent her having intercourse with parties beyond her own
domestic establishment, and holding correspondence with
any person, except through” the Governor-General’s agent,
Major Macgregor.*

Not a hint was given to the Maharanee or her attend-
ants, either in the Resident’s note to her, or in the order
from the Durbar, as to her destination. The deputation
were expressly forbidden to “use any deceit” to induce
her to come away quietly, but they were “to tell the
Maharanee no more than was entered in the purwanna,”
or order.t In obedience to these-instructions, Licutenant
Lumsden refused to satisfy her request for information as
to “whither she was to be escorted.”}

« Happily,” reports the Resident, “ there was not the
slightest opposition ; all was acquiescence and civility, from
the Maharance downwards, very probably somewhat in-
duced by the executions which took place « few days ago.”§

In a subsequent letter, the Resident observes that he
had anticipated  she wonld probably think she was doomed
to the swme fute as her confidential vakeel Moonshee (unga
Ram,—who had been hanged a few days before.  There-
fore, by the Resident’s permission, Lieutenant Lumsden
assured her Highness, “as the pavty left the fort,” that
“she would be subjected to no injury or indignity.” ||

Thus was the mother of the Sovereign, and widow of
our Ally, hurried away into exile, under imminent terror
of immediate exceution, in charge of two English officers
and a Mahomedan Chief, escorted by a strong guard.
This was the plan adopted by the British authorities to
avoid exasperating the feelings of the Sikh soldiery and
people, or oftending the feelings which they entertain as
to the violation of the seclusion of females of high rank !

By the 10th Article of the Treaty of 16th December,
1846, the Maharanee was to receive an allowance of a lakh
and a half of rupees (£15,000) per annum. On her first
removal from Lahore to Sheikhopoor, in August, 1847,
this stipend was reduced to forty-eight thousand rupees
(£4,800), and after her deportation to Benares to twelve
thousand rupees (£1,200) a year. This second reduction

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 169. t Ibid., 1849, p. 229,
1 1bid., 1849, p. 229. § 1bid., 1849, p. 169, | Ibid., 1849, p. 229.
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was made in consideration of the fuct that the Rance was
“taking with her a very large amount of private property
and jewels.™*

She was not allowed to remain in possession of her
jewels and other property very long. On the 30th June,
1848, before her arrival at Benares, the Resident writes
that a seizure has been made of important correspondence
which, “if genuine, and it seems impossible it should be
otherwise,” proves, “ beyond a shadow of doubt,” the com-
plicity of the Maharanee Jhunda Khore “in the late con-
spiracy, and in other intsigues and machinations.” Among
the important correspondence seized at Lahore were © some
original letters intended for the Maharanee, which were
not delivered, owing to her sudden removal,”-—very con-
clusive evidence !—-and also “ some copies of letters ad-
dressed to her,——still move conclusive!  In order “to get
hold of the originals of those last described,” the Resident
requests that < the greatest care may be taken to secure
all her property and papers ;” and that “ the Mcharance
should even be subjected to have her person, and those of
her confidential slave women, searched by respectable
females, appointed for that purpose by the Governor-
General’s agent.”t

The news of these little amenities, so eminently caleu-
lated to soothe the exasperated feelings of the Sikh Chief-
tains and soldiery, so congenial to their uncivilised notions
of the respect due to the seclusion of ladies of high rank,
may possibly have created somewhat of a sensation when
spread through the Punjaub.

The Resident further suggested that « the confinement
of the Maharanee, on reaching Benares, should be much
more stringent than was at first intended,” and that “as
a state prisoner, she should not be allowed to have the
command of wealth, of which she has, hitherto, not
scrupled to make use to accomplish purposes the most
treasonable, and to procure open violence and murder,
and sceret assassination.”}

The Resident’s suggestions were carried out; the Ranee’s
papers were all secured, but nothing treasonable, or of any

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, pp. 179 and 577. t 2%id., 1849, p. 235,
t 1bid., 1849, pp. 235, 236.
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importance, was found.* She was also deprived of all her
Jjewels and valuables.t

The effect of the Maharance’s deportation upon the
Sikh soldiery was instantaneous. The Resident himself
writes as follows to the Governor-General on the 25th
May, 1848.

“The reports from Rajah Shere Sing’s camp are, that tho
Khalsa soldicry, on hearing of the removal of the Maharance,
were much disturbed ; they said that she was tho mother of the
Khalsa, and that, as she was gone, and tho young Dhuleep Sing
in our hands, they had no longer any,one to fight for or uphold;
that they had no inducement to oppose Moolra) : and if he came
to attack them, would scize the Sirdars and their officers, and go
over to him.”’{

A prominent place is given to this cause of general dis-
gust and indignation in Shere Sing’s Manifesto.

¢ It is well known to all the inhabitants of the Punjaab, to the
whole of the Sikhs, and in fact to the world at large, with what
oppression, tyranny and unduc violence, the Feringees have treated
the widow of the great Maharajah Runjeet Sing, now in bhss.”

“They have broken the Treaty by imprisoning, and sending
away to Hindostan, the Maharance, the mother of her people.”§

Dost Mahomed, the Ruler of Cabool, in his letter to
Captain Abbott, alleges this grievance as the chief’ cause
of disaftection in the Punjaub.

“There can be no doubt that the Sikhs are daily becoming
more and more discontented. Some have been dismissed from
service, while others have been banished to Hindostan, in parti-
cular the mother of Maharajah Dhuleep Sing, who has been im-
prisoned and ill-treated.  Such treatment is considered objection-
ablo by all creeds, and both high and low prefor death.” ||

There can be little doubt as to the Maharanee’s inces-
sant and malicious intrigues after her first removal to
Sheikhpoor, and the reduction of the income guaranteed
to her by the Treaty. That she would have had no seruple
in getting her great cnemy Rajah Tej Sing’s throat cut
if she could, and in damaging or disgracing one or two
other members of the Regency, may well be believed. It
was only to be expected that every one who engaged in

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, pp. 263, 266. t Ibid., 1849, pp. 263, 575.
1 1bid., 1849, p. 179, § Lbed., 18149, p. 362, || Lbid., 1849, p. 512,
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rebellion or conspiracy, should make a free use of her
name, and profess to act on her behalf, and with her sanc-
tion.  But she is represented on all hands as a remarkably
clever woman, and it appears highly improbable that she
should have been so blind to BritisK power, so forgetful of
recent lessons, so regardless of her son’s interests, upon
which her own future position entirely depended, as to
provoke, with a divided country and diminished resources,
another struggle between the Khalsa and the Company.
It is utterly incredible. Not only is there no “legal
proof,” as the Resident admits, but there is nothing to be
found in the Blue Book which amounts to substantial evi-
dence, or affords any moral grounds for concluding that she
ever compassed or countenanced such a renewed struggle,
before her removal to Benares.  Inexileand degradation,
stripped of her jewels, cash and other property, deprived
of her papers, forbidden to have an interview with any one,
even with an English attorney, except in the presence of
the Governor-General's Agent,* she may very probably
have plunged into desperate plots of revenge, and opened
a secret communication with the leading insurgents.

The deportation and imprisonment of the Maharance,
declared by Lord Dalhousie to have been intended not
only as a “ precaution,” but as a “ punishment,”t appears
to me to have been a measure as inexpedient and impolitic
as it was unjudicial. Whatever that lady’s crimes and
conspiracies may have been,—and we have nothing to

rove them but a mass of vituperative assertions,—it might

}mve been forescen, and, doubtless, was foreseen and pre-
dicted by the Council of Regency, that her persecution
would be ten times more provocative to the Sikhs, and
more injurious to British honour and authority, than her
continued intrigues could possibly have been.

The Ranee’s banishment was looked upon by all who
were attached to Runjeet Sing’s Kingdom, at once as a
national insult, and as a preliminary step to the dethrone-
ment of her son, and the destruction of the State.

Rajah Shere Sing was one of those “Chiefs of the greatest
note,” whom, having first despatched towards Mooltan with

* DPapers, Punjaud, 1849, p. 575. t I6id., 1849, pp. 575, 578.
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all the disposable troops of the Sikh Army, the Resident
recalled to receive the ominous injunction and warning that
they must “put down the rebellion by their own means,
as the only hope of saving their Government.”* It was in
his camp, as we have just seen, that the alarm and ex-
citement first arose, when the Maharanec’s deportation
from the Punjaub became known.t

But Shere Sing had not only the disaffection of his own
troops to contend with. A storm was brewing in another
quarter. His father, Sirdar Chuttur Sing, the Nazim or
Governor of the Hazara Province, began to be involved,
in the month of July, in certain personal difficulties, to be
described hereafter, which led him to fear that his own
ruin, and that of Runjeet Sing’s Kingdom, were objects pre-
determined by the British authorities. The old Sirdar
kept up a regular correspondence with his son, Rajah
Shere Sing, in the camp at Mooltan, and with his younger
son, Golab Sing, at Lalore. He was probably, in common
with the Sikhs in general, somewhat alarmed and disgusted
by the Maharanee’s exile, and other menacing incidents
and rumours ; and when his anxieties were redoubled by
the dangers impending over himself, he thought of apply-
ing a test to the sccret intentions of the British Govern-
ment, to ascertain whether the Treaty was to be broken,--
whether the outrages and rebellion of Mooltan were to be
visited on the innocent Dhuleep Sing.  The youthful Ma-
harajah was betrothed to Sirdar Chuttur Sing’s daughter,
—Rajah Shere Sing’s sister. The Resident should be
asked to fix a day for the marriage to take place. If he
consented, it would be a sign of continued friendship and
good faith : if there were any evasion or hesitation, it
would be a proof of some sinister purpose. Major Edwardes
writes as follows to the Resident on the 28th July, 1848 :—

“Yesterday evening Rajah Shere Sing Attarcewalla begged me
to grant him a private interview, at which he laid before me the
wishes of his father, Sirdar Chuttur Sing.

“If it is not your intention that the nuptials of tho Maharajah
should be celebrated some time within the next twelve months,
the Sirdar would wish to be allowed to lay aside the duties of his
Hazara Government, and proceed on pilgrimage for two years ; if,

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, pp. 137, 140. t Ante, p. 108.
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on the contrary, the marriage is to take place this year, the Sir-
dar would suggest that, with your sanction, the Durbar should
appoint astrologers, on tho part of the Maharajah, to fix an
auspicious month and day, in conjunction with other astrologers
on the part of the bride.

“The above is the substance of the Rajah’s conversation ; and
he earnestly requested me to procure him an answer from $ou
within ten days. The request scems strange at the present
moment. The secret motives of men are diflicult to divine; but
there can be no question that an opinion has gone very prevalently
abroad, and been carcfully disseminated by the evil disposed, that
the British meditate declaring the Punjaub forfeited by the recent
troubles and misconduct of the troops ; and whether the Attarce-
walla family have any doubts, or not, upon this pont themselves,
it would, I think, be a wise and timely measnre to give such
public assurance of British good faith, and intention to adhere to
the T'reaty, as would be involved in authoritative preparations
for providing the young Maharajah with a Queen. 1t would, no
doubt, settle men’s minds greatly.”’*

The Resident returned a very stiff official reply to this
application, carefully avoiding any such “ assurance,” public
or private, as Rajah Shere Sing wished to elicit, though
endeavouring to satisfy him with common-place courtesies.
He observes that ““all the ceremonies for afliancing being
complete, it would, in common usage, rest with the family
of the bride to determine the time when the actual cere-
mony of marriage should take place ;” but that « of course,
with reference to the position of the Maharajah, nothing
can be done in this case without the concurrence and
approbation of the Resident” He will “consult, con-
fidentially, the members of the Durbar now at Lahore on
the subject of the time at which the marriage should be
celebrated,” and Rajah Shere Sing may be assured that
the British Government will only interfere “to secure
that all is done which may be best calculated to promote
the honour and lmppiness of the Maharajah, and of the
bride and her family.”

And then come these portentous words:—“I do not
see how the proceeding with the ceremonies for the Maha-
rajah’s nuptials can be considered as indicative of any line
of policy which the Government may consider 1t right to
pursue now, or at any future time, in respect to the

* Dapers, Punjaud, 1849, pp. 270, 271,



112 CHAPTER VI

administration of the Punjaub, and it is, on that account,
that I see no objection to the marriage being celebrated
at such time, and in such manner, as may be most satis-
factory to the parties themselves, and the Durbar.”*

Major Edwardes can now have had no doubt as to the
views in favour at Head-quarters; and, however cautiously
he may have communicated to Shere Sing the substance
of the Resident’s answer, the Rajah and his father must
have felt henceforth but little hope that the Sovercignty
of Dhulecp Sing would be allowed to survive the suppres-
sion of the actual revolt. The less Major Edwardes said
on the subject, the more they must have been alarmed.

Major Edwardes says: “Unhappily the full meaning of
the application did not appear.”t It must have appeared
clearly enough to the Resident by the light of Major
Edwardes’s own lucid explanation, which we have just
quoted. The cold and studied reply indicates that the
guestion was fully understood. And by the aid of their
other informants at Lahore, where Rajah Shere Sing’s
brother, Golab Sing, had access to the Resident, we may
be sure that the full meaning of the reply to their urgent
application was understood Dby the two Sikh Chicftains.
The Resident would not admit that the Maharajah’s mar-
riage was a matter of political significance, or public con-
sequence ; and he would not promise to take any immne-
diate steps to have a day fixed for its celebration. «Of
course, nothing can be done without the concurrence and
approbation of the Resident,” but “he will consult the
Durbar confidentially.”

Just at the time when Sirdar Chuttur Sing must have
received the news from his sons of the negative result of
his test, he was himself falling into great straits.

Sirdar Chuttur Sing was the Nazim, or Governor, of
the Hazara Province, inhabited by an armed Mahomedan
population,—* warlike and difficult of control,”f—who
entertained a bitter and bigoted hostility of all who bore
the name of Sikh. TUnder Runjeet Sing’s Government
the Province had never been effectually settled, and the
revenues were only occasionally collected by a military

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, pp. 272, 273. + A Year on the Punjaub Frontier,
vol ii, p. 448, 1 Popers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 18.
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expedition.  Captain James Abbott, one of the Resident’s
Assistants,* was appointed to aid and advise the Sikh
Governor, in the exceution of his duties.  Very soon after
the outbreak under Dewan Moolraj at Mooltan, Captain
Abbott became impressed with the belief that Chuttur
Sing was “at the head of a conspiracy for the expulsion
of the English from the Punjaub, and was about to head
a crusade against the British forces at Lahore.”t From
that time Captain Abbott took up his abode at a place
thirty-five miles distant from Chuttur Sing’s residence,t
and “shut himselt” out from all personal ecommunication”
with his colleague.§ “The constont suspicion,” writes
the Resident, “with which Captain Abbott regarded Sirdar
Chuttur Sing, scems to have, not unnaturally, estranged
that Chief from him.”

“This state of fecling scems to have been taken advan-
tage of, by persons interested in widening the breach be-
tween the two; till Captain Abbott looks upon Sirdar
Chuttur Sing as a sort of incarnation of treason, and the
Sirdar has been led to believe that Captain Abbott is bent
upon the annihilation of himselt and the Khalsa army in
Hazara, on the first opportunity.”||

The Blue Book affords ample materials for balancing
the antecedent probubilities in this case.  Nearly a year
before his differences with Chuttur Sing commenced, the
Resident, Sir Henry Lawrence, had written of Captain
Abbott to the Governor-General in these terms :— Cap-
tain Abbott is an cxcellent officer ; but he is too apt to
take gloomy views of questions. I think he has unwit-
tingly done Dewan Jowala Sahaee injustice.” Of this
Dewan Jowala Sahace Sir Henry Lawrence adds, “I only
know one better native. According to the light he has
enjoyed, the times he has lived in, and the school in which
he has been brought up, he is a respectable, as he is
assuredly an able, man.”q|

On a later occasion, the succeeding Resident, Sir Fred-
erick Currie, shows us Captain Abbott falling into the

* Distinguished before that period for his enterprising journey to Khiva,
well described by his own pen.
t Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p 279. 1 1bid., 1849, p. 279.
§ Ibid., 1849, p. 285. || Ibid., 1849, p, 279. 9 léud., 1849, p. 80.
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same hasty and unfounded suspicions of another Sikh
Chief, Jhunda Sing.

¢ Soon after the defection of a portion of the Churrunjeet Regi-
ment of Horse, which formed a part of Sirdar Jhunda Sing’s
Brigade, (on which occasion the Sirdar’s conduct was open to no
sort of suspicion,) Captain Abbott wrote of Jhunda Sing as one
connected with the extensive band of conspirators whom he con-
sidered as leagued to aid tho Mooltan rebellion.

¢« Upon that occasion I explained to Captain Abbott, that if
his opmion of Sirdar Jhunda Sing’s disatfection rested on the
facts he had mentioned, it was without due foundation ; for that
the Sirdar had closely and scrupulously obeyed my orders in every
step he had taken.”’*

Besides these two particular instances of Captain
Abbott’s special infirmity, we find in the Blue Book the
Resident’s judgment on that ofticer’s general capacity as a
political ~detective, professing to observe the obscure
symptoms of a nascent insurrcction.

““His Lordship will have observed a very ready disposition on
the part of Captain Abbott to believe the reports that are brought
to him of conspiracies, treasons, and plots, suspicion of everybody,
far and near, even of his own servants, and a conviction of the m-
fallibility of his own conclusions, which 13 not shaken by finding
time after timoe that they are not verified.”

Who, on the other hand, was Sivdar Chuttwr Sing, so
unfortunately associated with this perverse coadjutor ¢
The Resident tells us that he was “an old and infirm man,
the father-in-law of the Maharajah, with more at stake
than almost any man in the Punjaub.”f

“Sirdar Chuttur Sing is a wily old Chief of Runject Sing’s
time, who has been concerned in his day in many treacherous pro-
ceedings, and is tho confidential friend of Maharajah Golab Sing ;
but he 1s now infirm and in ill health, and has obtained much
wealth, and an honourable position in the present administration,
while is danghter is the betrothed wife of the young Maharajah
of Liahore.”’§

¢ Mr. John Lawrence, in a private letter received yesterday,
writing of him, says, 1 cannot, in any way, account for Chuttur
Sing’s conduct ; I always looked on him as a harmless old fool.
He is, morcover, now very infirm, and suflers much from chronic
disease.” ||

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 328. t Ibid., p. 285,
T Ibid., p. 279, § lbad., 1849, p. 286. | 26id., p. 334,
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In another despatch he observes —“Sirdar Chuttur
Sing and his sons were raised to their present position by
the arrangements of Lieutenant-Colonel Lawrence, with
the approbation of the British Government. The family
is unpopular with the Chiefs, and the old adherents of
Runjeet Sing, as being upstarts, and the creatures of the
British Government. They are unpopular with the army,
* * * and they have no weight with the people.”*

In the midst of the agitation caused throughout the
Punjaub by the delay and uncertainty following the first
successes of Major Edwardes against the Dewan Moolraj,
Captain Abbott received intelligence. upon which he placed
reliance, that the Brigade of Durbar troops stationed at
Pukli, near the residence of Sirdar Chuttur Sing, had
determined on marching cither to Mooltan or to Lahore,
to join in the insurrection.  So far as can be gathered from
the Blue Book, his information showed that a portion of
the force was in an excited and disaffected state; but
Captain Abbott himself reports that the officers “did
not countenance the men in the move,” that they “made
a show of putting down the mutiny,” and that they fired
“two successive salutes,” in honour of the “two victories’
of Lieutenant Edwardes.” He also states that the Golun-
dauz or Artillerymen, and the Zumboorchees, or camel-
gunners, were “ disinclined to the move.”t  Thus the dis-
affection, by his own account, was by no means general or
decided. Nothing whatever appears to prove that Sirdar
Chuttur Sing promoted or approved the misconduct of the
evil-disposed among the Sikh troops.

Captain Abbott, however, had satisfied himself that
Chuttur Sing was at the head of a vast conspiracy, and
was about to march upon Lahore at the head of all the
Durbar troops in Hazara. During the first week of August,
1848, without any warning, without any communication
with the Governor of the Province, Sirdar Chuttur Sing,
Captain Abbott roused the armed Mahomedan peasantry,
over whom he had obtained great influence, and closed
the passes by which the Brigade stationed at Pukli could
descend into the plains. On the 6th of August ““the

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 380. t Ibid., p. 310.
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mountaineers assembled in great numbers, and surrounded
the town of Hurripore,” where Sirdar Chuttur Sing was
residing. The Sirdar was induced, as a natural movement
of self-defence, to order the detachment of troops, which
was stationed for the protection of the town, to encamp
on the esplanade wnder the guns of the fort.*  Colonel
Canora, an American, who had been for some years in the
Sikh service, refused to move out of the city to the new
position with the battery of Artillery under his command,
unless by Captain Abbott’s permission.  Sivdar Chuttur
Sing “repeated his ovders, saying that Captain Abbott
could not know the peril they were in from the threatened
attack of the armed population, who could casily seize the
guns where they were.”t Canora not only vefused to
obey these orders, but loaded two of his guns with double
charges of grape, and “standing between them with a
lighted portfive in his hand, said he would fire upon the
first wan who came near.”§  Sivdar Chuttur Sing sent
two companics of Sikh Infantry to take possession of the
guns.  Colonel Canora first cut down one of his own
Havildars, or Sergeants, who had refused to fire upon the
Infantry, and then applied the match himself to one of
the guns, which missed five, At that moment he was
struck down by musket shots from two of the Infantry
soldiers. ~ After his full, and before he expired, he is said
to have killed two Sikh ofticers with his double barrelled
pistol.§

Captain Abbott calls this most justifiable and wnavoid-
able homicide, “an atrocious deed,” ““a cold-blooded murder,
as base and cowardly as that of Peshora Sing,”|| and talks
about Chuttur Sing f:uving “determined upon the murder”
of Colonel Canora.

The Resident, in several letters to Captain Abbott, having

* Pupers, Punjanb, 1849, p, 279, t Zbid., p. 280,
1 Tbud., pp. 287 and 303,
1bid., pp 280, 301, 303,
[ 26ed., p. 302." Peshora Sing, onc of several pretenders to the throne of
the Punjaub, was in open rebellion against the Lahore Government in March
1845, when he was captured by the troops under Chuttur Sing, and put to
death in prison by order of the Mimster, Jowahir Sing, the Maharanec's
‘brother, Chuttur Sing does not seem to have been to blame.—T'rotter's
History of India from 1844 to 1862, vol. i, p. 42,
T Idem, p. 311. .
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received both his account of the affair and that of Sirdar
Chuttur Sing, makes the following sound and sensible
observations :—

“The death of Commedan Canora is stated, both by the Sirdar
and yourself, to have been occasioned in consequence of his dis-
obedience of the reiterated orders of the Nazim, and his having
offered violent opposition to those whom the Governor, after many
remonstrances with the Commedan, sent to enforce his orders.

T cannot at all agree with you as to the character you assign
to this transgetion. Sirdar Chuttur Sing was the Governor of
the province, military and civil, and the officers of the Sikh army
were bound to obey him, the responsibility for his orders resting
with him. Taking the worst possible view of the case, I know
not how yon can characterise it as € a cold-blooded murder, as base
and cowardly as that of Peshora Sing.”*

“Your statement of the disturbance in Hazara, does not materi-
ally differ from that received {rom other quarters ; nor does it dif-
fer in facts, making allowance for different statements of motives
and intentions, from that given by Surdar Chuttur Sing, in his
representations to the Durbar, and letters to me.

Tt is clear that whatever may have been the intention of tho
Pukli Brigade, no overt act of rvebellion was committed by them
till the imtiative was taken by you, by calling ont the armed
peasantry and surrounding the Brigade in its cantomment. It
seems, also, that the armed peasants were threatening Hurripore,
before the Nazin onl@r ed the guns out of the town, to the open
spaco between the fort and the city.

“The Sivdar states that this was mercly a precautionary mea-
sure, in consequence of the vising of the population, the cause of
which he did not know ; while you state that it was for the pur-
pose of bringing oft the Pukli Brigade, which was swrrounded and
hemmed 1 by yourorders ; of which orders the Governor had had
no notice.t

I havo given you no authority to raise levies, and organise
paid bands of soldiers, to meet an emergency, of tho occurrence
of which I have always been somewhat sceptical.

“I cannot approve of your having abstained from communica-
tion with the Nazim on the state of his administration, for tho pur-
pose of making his silence or otherwise on the subject, a test
whereby his guilt or innocence was to bo determined by you.
You had already withdrawn your office from the seat of Govern-
ment, and had ceased all personal communication with the Nazim,
and had told the Nazim’s Vakeel that you had no confidence in
his master. It is not to be wondered at that, under such circum-
stances, a weak, proud Chief should feel offended, and become

* Papers, Punjand, 1849, p. 313, + Ibid., p. M3
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sullen, and be silent as to the disaffected state of the troops under
his Government,—if he was really aware of the fact.

Tt i3 much, I think, to be lamented that you have kept the
Nazim at a distance from you ; have resisted his offers and sug-
gestions to be allowed himself to reside near you, or to have his
son, Ootar Sing, to represent him at Shirwan ; and that you have
Jjudged of the purposcs, and feclings and fidelity of the Nazim
and the troops, from the reports of spies and informers, very pro-
Dbably interested in misrepresenting the real state of affairs.

“None of the accounts that have yet been made, justifies you
in calling the death of Commedan Canora a murder, for in assert-
ing that it was premeditated by Sirdar Chuttur Sing. That mat-
ter has yet to be investigated.”*

Chuttur Sing was eventually goaded into open rebellion.

Captain Abbott having predicted his treason, took, with
pertect good faith, the best measures to prove his predie-
tion true.  Having played an aggressive part, and forced
Chuttur Sing “to take his line,”t Captam Abbott acted
with consummate ability and encrgy ; and though he
could not accomplish the task he had assigned himself,
that of destroying the Sikh troops by means of the
Mahomedan mountaineers, he maintained a position in
Hazara till the end of the war.  When Chuttur Sing had
committed himself beyond retreat by a series of acts of
contumacy and hostility, and when Captain Abbott was
proving himself fully equal to the occasion, that officer’s
provocative policy was glossed over and consigned to
oblivion. But there is nothing whatever in the Blue
Book to show that the Resident ever saw reason to with-
draw or modify his opinion that “ the initiative was taken”
by Captain Abbott. The insurrection in Hazara was, in
fact, originally an inswrrection of the Mahomedan peasantry,
with the object of exterminating the Sikh troops and
Governor, instigated and promoted by a British officer.:

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 316. t Ihid,, p. 323,

1 It is worthy of note that, at the end of the campaigu, ¢ Abbott alone, who
had held his lonely post at Nara from first to last, was unfairly stinted of the
honours duc to his acknowledged worth,” when Edwardes, Lake, Taylor and
Herbert were decorated and promoted.—7hotter’s {listory of India from 1844
to 1862, vol. i, p. 212, “The gallant Abbott, who had defended the fortress
of Nara against fearful odds, down to the close of the campaign, was invidi-
ously refused the honour due to his distingwished cfforts and success,”— Marsh-
man's Wistory of India, (Longmans, 1867) vol. iii, p. 350, Somebody appreci-
ated his services justly, if Lord Dalhousie did not.
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It is interesting to observe the spirit in which Captain
Abbott devised and prosccuted his offensive operations.
It goes very far to explain the powerful influence which
he obtained over the fanatical Mahomedans of the Hazara
Hills. Besides money, he gave them what they most
coveted, an opportunity of revenge and trivmnph over the
idolatrous Sikhs, the obstinate persccutors of the Mussul-
man faith. T gnote from Captain Abbott’s own despatches.

[ assembled the Chiefs of Hazara ; explimed what had hap-
penc«], and called upon them by the memory of their murdered
parents, friends and relatives, to rise, and aid me m destroying
the Sikh forces m detwl L issued puroannas to this effeet
throughout the land, and marched th a v oag position.”*

1 have placed a force in the Margulls Pass to destroy Pertanb
Sing’s Regiment, should 1t refuse to furn back at my reiterated
orders.”’t

“ I have ordered out the armed peasantry, and will do my best
to destroy the Sikh army.”’{

“The Sirdar sent me no intelligence of this cold-blooded
murder, as base and cowardly as his murder of Peshora Sing ; but
on.finding it confirmed by eyc-witnesses, and that the Sirdar had
thus identified himself with the mutineers in Pukli, T ordered all
the Chuefs of Llazara to vise, and, in cvery way, harass and molest
those who should support hun.”’§

Tt must be remembered that there were no “ mutineers
in Pukli”; Captain Abbott had no information of anything
like a mutiny ; he was acting merely on the rumours of a
secret conspiracy, brought or written to him, from a dis-
tance of thirty-five miles, by spies and informers. No
overt act had been committed before his own hostile move-
ments. His own letters prove that before the unfortunate
Canora’s death, there was nothing apparent or even alleged
against Sirdar Chuttur Sing, that required investigation.
He presses matters on to a climax.

I left Shirwan for a position nearer the new theatre of opera-
tions, the foot of the Gundgurk mountains,—terrible to the Sikhs
for three most bloody and disastrous defeats, from numbers not
one-fourth of their own. It is within sight of Hurripore, and may
be called the throne of Hazara, as here I have at my back the
bravest and most loyal of the population, and my orders are better
obeyed than from any other locality.”’||

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 311. t Ibid., p. 306.
T Zbud., p. 301. § Lbid., v. 302, I £b2d., ». 303.
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From this “throne,” he sent to Hurripore, and summoned
ChutterSing to give up“the murderers,”ashecalled them, of
Colonel Canora, and to comply with “a schedule of demands.”

I have given him until to-morrow morning for decision. If
he then refuse the terms, I shall be satisfied that it is not mere
alarm about himself from the population of Hazara, but a sense
of detected guilt, and consequent desperation, which has led to
this rcbellious conduct. If he comply, the country need not be
ravaged, nor the army destroyed, and his conduct may bo made the
subject of legal investigation.

“The Pukli Brigade is still in limbo. It is unfortunate that
the Pukli Brigade got intelligence of my possession of that pass
in time, as, in all probability it would have been destroyed.  Asit
never actnally marched, Tan reluctant to order it to be destroyed,
until in motion.””*

Here is another distinet admission, out of his own mouth,
that no overt act had been comnmitted. It was, in his
opinion, “unfortunate,” that these obstinate Sikhs would
not mutiny, or march to Lahore, in time. He was “ve-
Iuctant” to have them “destroyed” in - their quarters,
because they had not moved.  Yet he had alveady ordered
the armed peasantry to ““ destroy the Sikh army,” and “to
harass and molest, in every way,” those who supported
the Governor of the Province.

In another place Captain Abbott declaves that the
“murder” of Canora ““ formed the break in the ice of deep
and silent treachery, so long corvied on with « smiling
Siwee,"t—acknowledging, in fact, that, before that unhappy
event, he had nothing to bring against Chuttur Sing ex-
cept rumowrs of a conspiracy gathered from spies and in-
formers.  As the Resident wrote to hiin :—“There is no
proof of misconduet before the raising of the armed popu-
Iation, and his plea is, that all that he has done since, has
becn of a defensive character.”f

More than once Captain Abbott betrays his conscious-
ness that he had given Chuttur Sing good cause for alarm, .
and for the precautionary measures which were bringing
them into collision. “1 wrote to the Sirdar,” he says,
“insisting upon the instant surrender of the murderers of
this loyal and gallant ofticer, and the return of the troops

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p 303. + Ikid., p. 311,
t Ibz':;., p. 813, P
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to their cantonments, promising, upon these conditions, ¢o
settle all disturbances in the country.”*

“He” (Chuttur Sing) ““ says that Canora was engaged to join
the peasants in plundering Hurripore. He”—ovidently Canora—
“ knew nothing whatever of what was passing amongst the people
of the country, «nd more than once expressed anricty lest the town
shouwld be plundrered.t

“1f the murdercrs of Colonel Canora are surrendercd to me
for judgment, and the troops sent back to their several canton-
ments, 1 will, instantly, reduce the country to its former profound
tranquillity.”’t

There is an occasional inconsistency, amounting almost
to incoherence, running through Captain Abbott’s reports,
in spite of his bold and contident doings.  For instance,
after declaring his intention of **destroying the Sikh army
i detail,” and “ harassing and molesting” everyone who
should support the Governor, he complains of that person-
age having expressed alarm at the rising of the armed
peasantry, and having written in “a tone of virtuous
indignation,” under a © pretence of extreme peril from a
people whoue two of my chuprassees” (messengers) “ would
settle i three days”§  As it it were very likely that
cither the Mahomedan population on the one side, roused
by appeals to their “murdered parents,” and to the “bloody
defeats” they had formerly intlicted on the Sikhs ;|| or the
Sikh Governor and troops, on the other, alarmed by the
sudden insurrection, would interpret Captain Abbott’s ex-
terminating orders and proclamations with all that moder-
ation and reluctance, and all those conditions and quali-
tications, with which he professes to have tempered them !

The Resident had too much good sense and experience
to look upon the calling up of these funatical mountaineers
as a mere demonstration, which Captain Abbott could
easily keep in hand, and settle at any moment with two
of his chuprassees. He very properly calls it *“a momentous
business,” and tells the Governor-General, “I have pointed
out to him how much easier it is to raise, than to allay a
power thus brought into action, and impelled by religious
antipathies, and feelings of long cherished hatred.”

- Papm, Punjaub, 1849, p. 302, + Ibid., p. 503,
I Zbid., p. 304, § Thid., p. 304, || dnte, p. 119.
9 Papers, Lunjaub, p 279,
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The Resident writes to Captain Abbott that both of
Sirdar Chuttur Sing’s sons, Rajah Shere Sing, at Mooltan,
and Golab Sing, at Lahore, complain that their father has
been “ betrayed into misconduct by mistrust, engendered
by your withdrawal of your confidence from him, and
declared suspicions of his fidelity, and by fear at the
Mahomedan population having been raised, as he believed,
for his destruction and that of the Sikh army.”*

What Chuttur Sing believed, was the exact truth.
Captain Abbott himself tells us so repeatedly. He speaks
of “arousing a high-spirited people to the work of destruc-
tion.”t  The Mahomedan population was raised by him
“to destroy the Sikh army,” and to “harass and molest”
everyone who should support the Sikh Governor.

The Resident on the 19th August, 1848, writes to
Captain Nicholson, who, under his instructions, was en-
deavouring to arrange matters, and bring all parties to
their bearmgs, as follows —

““We must bear in mind that, whatever may have been supposed
to have been the purpose of the Pukli Brigade and the Sirdar, no
over tact was committed by esther, until the Brigade was sur-
rounded in Gahundia, and Hurripore was threatened by the
Mahomedan tribes, of whose purpose no notice had been given
by Captain Abbott to Sirdar Chuttur Sing, the Governor of the
Province. The initiative was clearly taken by Captain Abbott,—
I do not say unnccessarily, but it was so taken ; and the Nazim
now pleads that he was acting for the protection of himself and
the troops commtted to him, and also of the country under his
government, in calling the Regiments from Hassan Abdal and the
other cantonments.”{ .

Captain Nicholson writes to much the same effect :—

“From all that 1 can learn, Sirdar Chuttur Sing’s conduct, at
the commencement, was owing as much to nervousness and sus-
picion as any other feeling, and but for the murder of the unfor-
tunate Commandant of Artillery, 1 should have had hopes of an
amicable adjustment. As it is, tho dislike to surrender the
perpetrators would alone, I believe, prove an insurmountable
obstacle.”’§

“I1 have alrcady mentioned, that I attribute Sirdar Chuttur
Sing’s behaviour, in the first instance, to his distrust of Captain
Abbott’s intentions, which was cxcited by the assemblage, by that

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 296, + 1%id., p. 309.
1 Zbud., p. 312, § 1bid., p. 283,
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officer, of a body of Moolkias,” (the armed mountainecrs,) ““ to
overawe the Sikh troops in Pukli, who, he had reason to believe,
meditated marching on Lahore. This distrust was further, un-
fortunately, increased by the reports of designing parties on both
sides, who, for the furtherance of their own terests, endeavoured
to create disunion between Captain Abbott and the Sirdar, who
has since, I fear, committed himself past forgiveness.

““That he will never accede to any terms in which a free pardon
for all this is not included, I feel certain.

“I would beg to solicit that instructions be, at once, sent to
Mr. Cocks, who, I suppose, will be here in the interim, as to
whether he is authorised to promise a full pardon to the Sirdar
for all that has occurred. If he be, there is no difficulty what-
ever.”*

At this time, and even on previous dates, Captain Ab-
bott’s inflammatory langnage exaggerates and misrepre-
sents what he calls the “crimes” of Chuttur Sing.  He
writes to the Resident, on the 13th August, that Chuttur
Sing is “exciting to mutiny the bulk of the Sikh army,
and calling upon the Jummoo Prince” (the Rajah of Cash-
mere) “ to invade the country.” « Last night I intercepted
letters from Sirdar Chuttur Sing to Maharajah Golab
Sing,” (of Cashmere) “ the Rajahs Jowahir Sing and Run-
beer Sing,” (Golab Sing’s nephew and son,) “and others,
entreating the aid of four Jummoo Regiments.”t

What he calls “exciting the Sikh army to mutiny,”
was sending for the Regiments from the neighbowring
antonments for the protection of himself and the troops
from the insurgent Mahomedans.  As for the intercepted
letters, they are, in fact, the best evidence of the Sirdar’s
innocence at that period, for, containing no treasonable
matter, or Captain Abbott would have been sure to men-
tion it, and being couched, as he says, “in a tone of
virtuous indignation,” they, also, were simply appeals for
aid, written under the influence, as Captain Nicholson
said, of ““terror and anxiety.”t

When the news of Chuttur Sing’s movements first
reached Mooltan, his son, Rajah Shere Sing “discussed
the matter with me,” said Major Edwardes, to whom Shere
Sing showed the letters received from his father, “with

* Papers, Punjaud, 1849, pp. 308, 309. t Iéid, p. 804,
t foid., p. 308, P
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great good sense, and put it to me, whether all that his
father had done to oppose the Moolkias” (the insurgent
peasantry) ““was not perfectly natural and excusable, on
the supposition that he was innocent of the plots suspected
by Captain Abbott. “No man,” he said, ‘ will allow him-
self to be killed without a struggle.””*

The insurmountable obstacle, as Captain Nicholson at
once perceived, was the death of Colonel Canora, and the
requisition for the men who shot him.  Chuttur Sing had
rewarded these men on the spot, a very natural proceeding
in his position and with his notions, but which, he felt,
fixed wpon him the stigma of the murder, if such it was to
be considered by the English authoritics. « He has identi-
fied himseif with the murderers in paying them for their
bloody work,” wrote Captain Abbott to the Resident.t
It is perfectly obvious that if Chuttwr Sing had taken a
step towards giving up those men to what they and their
comrades would have supposed to be certain death, he
would not merely have sacrificed his own honour use-
Jessly,—for there was no secret about his having rewarded
them,—but it would in all probubility have brought on an
immediate mutiny, to which he would himself have fallen
the first vietim.

The Resident scems to have had a general idea that the
principal difliculty of the case was concentrated on this
point.  ““After the death of Canora,” he writes to the
Government, “the Sirdar thought himself compromised
irretrievably, it would appear, with us.”f

Major George Lawrence, also, writes :— He” (Chuttur
Sing) *“ is anxious to come to terms, but fears he has com-
mitted himself too far to admit of his obtaining them.”§

We are not surprised to find that he could obtain no
terms from Captain Abbott. That officer refused to see
Chuttur Sing, who offered to wait upon him, if assured of
a free pardon.  “T declined this ; thought it quite impos-
sible that we should meet amicably, until I knew the sen-
timents of Government upon his conduct.”||

“T gave him yesterday,” writes Captain Abbott to the
Resident, ““a statement of my demands, viz., the surrender

* Papers, P#njaub, 1849, p. 294, t Ibid., p. 311.
1 Tbid., p. 289, § Zhid., p. 201 | 16id., p. 311,
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of the murderers for judgment, and an order to the several
1{emmcnts to return to their duty

But from the Resident we might have expected a more
even-handed procedure, and a more impartial arbitrament.
Satistied that the death of Canora, even according to Cap-
tain Abbott’s version, was not a murder, he might surely
have denlt more judiciously with that “Insurmountable
obstacle,” the peremptory demand for the surrender of
“tho murderers” into Captain Abbott’s hands.  Perceiving

“ clearly” that “ the initintive” had been taken by Captain
Abbott, he might surely have oftered Sirdar Chuttur Sing
a full pardon, umdltwn.ll on his proving the plea that he
had resorted to none but defensive measures, and had acted
only““ for the protection of himself and the troops,” when
they were hemmed in by the inswrgent mountaineers.

No such offer was made to Chuttwr Sing.  No such
offer was proposed or sanctioned by the Resident. No
one told the Sikh Governor that the Resident had by no
means decided hastily, like Captain Abbott, that Canora
had been foully murdered.  No hLint was given that any
question or dispute between him and  Captain - Abbott
could pusxlhly be open to investigation.  No prowmise was
made to Chuttur Sing but that of his life ; no terms were
offered- him but those of implicit submission to Captain
Abbott, against whose aggression he wmpldincd, and with
these terms was couplul “the intimation that he was dis-
missed from his Government, and that his landed property
would be confiscated !

Captain Nicholson declared that Sirdar Chuttur Sing’s
conduct was the result of “terror and anxiety,”t and he
never deviated from that opinion.  He told the Resident*
that the demand for the men who killed the unfortunate
Commandant of Artillery would prove “an insurmountable
obstacle,” and that Chuttur Sing would ““ never accede to
any terms” but “a free pmdon." Yet on receiving over-
tures from Chuttur Sing, he “insisted, as a preliminary,
on the Artillery Commandant’s murderers being given
up.”t And on the 20th August he wrote to the Resident
as follows :—

* Papers, 1’1m]¢m6, 1849, p. 306. t Ibid., 808.
§ Ihd., p. 2
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 Considering how extremely desirable it is that matters should,
if possible, be peaceably arranged, believing, also, that the Sirdar’s
conduct, of late, though heinous in many respects, had its origin
i fear, I have taken upon mysclf the responsibility of offering
him the following terms, which, whether he accept (as Jhunda
Sing seems to think he will) or not, I hope will meet your
approval, viz—That if the Sirdar, immediately, come in to me,
and send back the troops to their posts, I guarantee his life and
izzut” (honour) “being spared ; but I neither guarantee his Nazim-
ship nor his Jagheer, which, indeed, I have intimated to him he
cannot expeet to be allowed to retain.

« All things considered, I trust you will agree with me, that the
loss of the Nizamut and of his Jaghecr will be a sufficient punish-
ment, and that I have acted rightly in offering these terms.”*

This severe sentence, without trial and without judg-
ment, was instantly, by return of post, ““entirely approved,
confirmed and ratitied” by the Resident, in a letter dated
the 23rd August, to Captain Nicholson.t

Yet on the very day, the 23rd August, on which the
Resident “confirmed and ratificd” the degradation of
Chuttur Sing and the resumption of his estates, he wrote
as follows to Major Edwardes :- — Lientenant Nicholson
and Major Lawrence, with the best opportunitics of judg-
ing, entirely concur with me that the Sirdar’s conducet is
owing more to his distrust and fear of Captain Abbott’s
feelings and intentions towards himself and the troops,
than to any other cause.”f He had previously remarked
m a letter to the Commander in Chief :— Lieutenant
Nicholson does not seem to know the manner of Comman-
dant Canora’s death ; he calls it @ murder, and says that
he understands Sirdar Chuttur Sing headed the party that
killed him.”§ And on the 24th August, the day after he
had approved and confirmed the hard terms proposed by
Captain Nicholson, the Resident wrote to Captain Abbott,
disapproving of much of his conduct, pronouncing it to
have been “far from judicious,” and that he was not jus-
tified “in calling the death of Commedan Canora a
murder.”||

On the 5th September the Resident writes to Govern-
ment :—*“T have promised him” (Chuttur Sing) “merely

* Papers, Plinjaud, 1849, g. 295. + bid., p. 297.
t Ibid., p. 297. Tbid., p. 286. | Zéid., p. 316.
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life, and an honourable investigation into his conduct.”*
How could that be “an honourable investigation,” which
was preceded by the infliction of heavy penalties? The
Sirdar was not even told that, if he succeeded in clearing
himself, these penalties would be remitted.

When Chuttur Sing found that his appeal to the Resi-
dent and the Durbar was fruitless; that Captain Abbott’s
proceedings were not disavowed, or, to his knowledge, dis-
approved ; and that no terms were offered to him but bare
life, what could he think but that he had been marked
down as the first victim in the general ruin of the Punjaub
State ?  Already alarmed and disgusted by the Mahara-
nee’s removal and ill-treatment, and by the evasive answer
as to the Maharajal’s marriage, his head may probably
have been full of plots and projects, and he mayhave been in-
tently watching the course of events, when Captain Abbott’s
initiative threw him into an equivocal position. When that
officer was permitted to pursue what he himself called
“the work of destruction,” unreproved, so far as Chuttur
Sing knew,—when the plan of sctting up the Mahomedans
against Sikhs, and reviving old blood feuds, was adopted
and sanctioned by the highest British authorities, the old
Sirdar’s disaffection was confirmed. He was driven to des-
peration ; he no longer resisted the importunities of the
fanatic Sikhs among his followers and the troops. He
phinged into open rebellion, and devoted himself to one
last struggle for his religion and the Khalsa Raj.

And from the manner in which Chuttur Sing with the
Sikh troops, and Captain Abbott with his Mahomedan
peasants, were left by the Resident to fight it out by
themselves, the Sikhs at other stations were soon persuaded
that such was the settled plan of the British Government.
Major George Lawrence writes from Peshawur on the 5th
of September :—* Colonel Ootar Sing declared that men
from different Regiments had called on all to march on my
quarters, as it was my intention to destroy all the Sikhs,
by raising the Mahomedan population.”* ~ He adds :—*1
keep all the Mahomedans as much out of sight as possible,
and will do everything in my power to preserve the peace,

L]
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but it is utterly impossible to suppose that this state of
things can last.”*

When Sirdar Chuttur Sing was fully committed beyond
all possibility of retreat or redemption,—when redress was
refused, and he was sentenced without judgment,—his
sons, of course, threw in their lot with tfwh‘ father, and
the second Sikh war began.  Until they took that step, the
Mooltan rebellion was isolated,—contined, indeed, within
the walls of the fortress ; although its importance was en-
hanced and the dangers attending it were aggravated by
the Muharanee’s removal, by owr military vacillation and
delay, and by the rumowrs of impending annexation.  Up
to the middle of September, 1848, no Chief of note or
distinction had joined in the insurrection. Captain Abbott’s
notion of a general conspiracy throughout the Punjaub,
in which all the members of the Durbar and Maharajah
Golab Sing of Cashmere were implicated, as well as his
charge against Chuttur Sing, of having been accessory be-
fore the fact to the Mooltan outbreak, are conclusively dis-
proved by the dates and incidents of cach suceessive con-
vulsion.  “As yet,” writes the Resident, on the 8th Sep-
tember, “no Chief has, openly, joined Sirdar Chuttur
Sing.”  “ Neither the army beyond Hazara, nor the Chiefs
generally, appear to have been prepared for this move of
Sirdar Chuttur Sing.”

“If Rajah Shere Sing should not join his father, sup-
posing the rebellion to gain head, it will be very sur-
prising; and it is equally surpising that the Sirdar should
have taken his decided line, without having secured the
concurrence of his son.”t

Two facts, in particular, show that Chuttur Sing had
not secured the concurrence of his son, and that neither
of them had any complicity with Dewan Moolraj of Mool-
tan,—firstly, the good conduct of Rajah Shere Sing until
the middle of September, and, secondly, the surprise and
mistrust of the Dewan Moolraj at Shere Sing’s tardy de-
fection.

Major Edwardes tells us, on the 4th September, that
“gince the Rajah’s” (Shere Sing’s) ““arrival before Mooltan,

* Papers, Punjaubd, 1849, p. 340. t Ibud., p. 333.
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he has omitted neither persuasion, threats, nor punigh-
ments, to keep his troops to their duty.”*

Major Edwardes, who had the best opportunities of
judging, believes that Rajah Shere Sing undertook his
share in the task of suppressing the rebellion of Dewan
Moolraj, with the best intentions. A large proportion of
his Sikh troops were unquestionably disatfected ; but on
the march from Lahore “the Rajah made severe examples
of one or two soldicrs in his camp who gave licence to
their tongues.”t  So determined (1i(1 Rajah Shere Sing
appear, up to the end of August, 1843, to check the dis-
loyalty of his men, that he was reviled as o Mussuliman,—
the greatest reproach that can be cast upon a Sikh,§-—and
a conspiracy was detected to put him to death by poison.
When this erime was fully brought home to the ringleader,
Shoojan Sing, “a Sikh jagheerdar horseman of some con-
sideration and still greater notoricty,” the Rujah ¢ carried
the extreme sentence of the law into effect, and caused
the traitor to be blown from one of his own guns,” in his
own camp. “The act,” Major Edwardes adds, “was ex-
tremely unpopular in the Rajal’s force, and I rather think
that he himself expected resistance.”§

As Major Edwardes remarks, this was “a sufficient
proof, that up to the end of August, Rajah Shere Sing
was still loyal, and determined to go any lengths to check
the disloyalty of his men.”||

Reviewing all these transactions two years later, Major
Edwardes says:—The question with which T am con-
cerned in this event is,  When did Shere Sing resolve to
join his father 7 I have no hesitation whatever in stating
that it is now as certain as anything in this world can be,
that it was on the 12th or 13th of September,—certainly
within forty-eight hours of the fatal step being taken.”q|

Moolraj was quite unprepared for the desertion of
Rajah Shere Sing. He had done his best to corrupt the
Sikh soldiers in Shere Sing’s camp, but the Rajah himself
had rejected all his overtures. The consequence was that

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 329.
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“Noolraj could not believe that Shere Sing had come
over in good faith,’—“withdrew all his own soldiers
within the walls of Mooltan,” and made the Rajal’s army
“take their places in the British front,” under the walls of
the Fort.* In a few days Shere Sing was disgusted with
Moolraj’s suspicions, and went off to join his father.

The Resident writes to Government on the 23rd of
September :—* Rajah Shere Sing’s conduct has been very
extraordinary, and is almost inexplicable.”t It was indeed
inexplicable, except upon the very obvious presumption
that he had decided to come forward, at all hazavds, to
the assistance of his injured father, and for the independ-
ence of the Sikh sovercignty, which he began 1o sce was
doomed.  Still, but for his father’s wrongs, he would
rather have trusted to the good faith and generosity of
what he knew to be the stronger side. On or about
the 10th of Scptember, Shere Sing received letters from
his father,} in which the old Chief, without doubt, in-
formed him of the heavy penalties to which he had been
sentenced ; aud on the 14th, in a ““fit of desperation and
confusion,”§ the son consented to espouse the cause of his
father, and to make it the cause of the nation.  And in
the private and seerct letter to his brother, Golab Sing,
at Lahore, Rajah Shere Sing expressly declares that he
has taken this step in consequence of Captain Abbott’s
conduct to his father. ** The Sing Sahib” (Sirdar Chuttur
Sing) “has several times written to me, stating that he
constantly obeyed Captain Abbott’s directions, but that
officer, acting according to the suggestions of the people
of Hazara,” (the Mahomedans) “ has treated him most un-
\ius‘dy, and caused him much grief and trouble ; and that

1e has also exerted himself to destroy and disperse the
Khalsa troops.” He adds, “1 resolved, therefore, yester-
day, to join the Sing Sahib, and devote myself to the cause
of our religion.”|

All idea, therefore, of a decp conspiracy on the part of
either Rajah Shere Sing or Sirdar Chuttur Sing, is com-
pletely negatived. The general insurrection of 1848 was

* A Year on the Punjaub Frontier, vol. ii, p. 515,
t Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 360. 1 Ibid., p. 343 § 7bid., p. 858.
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unpremeditated. Chuttur Sing was goaded into hostilities
by Captain Abbott’s aggression, and his son was driven
to join him in what they both felt to be a desperate rebel-
lion, by the refusal of redress, and the multiplied rumours
and symptoms of the Raj having been doomed to de-
struction.

But everything tends to prove that the original out-
break at Mooltan was cqually unpremeditated. The Dewan
Moolraj was rich, in infirm health and without children,
timid, unpopular with the army and people; and the
Resident reports that immediately hefore the catastrophe
he had “only five or six ficld guns,”* and * had discharged
almost all us regular troops, prepiuatory to resigning his
government.”t  From all the accounts, 1t appears certain
that Moolraj, though disaffected at the changes which had
compelled him to resign, and at the prospect, as he feared,
of having to account for the revenue collections of past
years, was involved in rebellion against his will.  The
attack on the two British officers sent to relieve him of
his post, was caused by a sudden impulse of discontent
and fanaticism, in the results of which, after a vain attempt
to quell it, Moolraj felt himself irretrievably compromised.
With hope of scant mercy from the British Government,
and certain of death from the mutinous soldiery, if' he
trusted to that mercy, he yielded to circumstances, and
accepted the lot that fate had cast before him.¥

Before the murderous outbreak at Mooltan, the Dewan,
as we have just remarked, had discharged almost all his
regular troops. That had been the order of the day for
more than a year all over the Punjaub. Between 10,000
and 20,000 soldicrs had been disbanded before April,
1847;§ and towards the close of that month the Resident
speaks of gradually reducing the Infantry ¢ from 20,000
to 15,000 men, and the Sowars” (Cavalry) ¢ from 12,000
to 10,000.”| The reports from every province describe
the same process of reduction. Mr. Agnew, who was sent

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 133. Lord Dalhousie's final opinion is that
‘‘the first outbreak was unpremeditated, and. in a manner, accidental."—
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in company with a Sikh Governor to take over charge from
Dewan Moolraj, is instructed to give his “ early attention”
to “reducing all unnecessary Irvegulars”; the best men
from the Regular Regiments serving at Mooltan arc to be
picked out and sent to Lahore ; “* the remaining men may
be paid up and discharged.”*  Thus the military class at
Mooltan,~—not, be it observed, conseripts, but soldiers by
hereditary profession,—mnot ouly knew what was in store
for them under the new administration, but actually had
a foretaste of it before the British oflicers arrived.  Moolraj,
not well pleased with his forced retirement, must have
felt a malicious satisfaction, when dismissing his troops,
in explaining to them the cause of that unpopular measure.
We cannot, therefore, be surprised to learn that the man
who led the attack on the British officers, as they passed
over the drawbridge of Mooltan, was a soldier, ¢ rooding,
perchance,” as Major Edwardes wrote, ““over his own long
services and probable dismissal,”t nor that the subsequent
acts, by which Moolraj was effectually involved in rebel
Jion, and “the crowning crime of assassination,” were per-
petrated by the Sikh troops.:

For some yecars before the Sutlej) campaign, all the
power of the Punjaub State had been wiclded by the Sikh
soldiery, through their Punchayuts, or elected committees.
They had raised and deposed a succession of Princes and
ministers ; in every political conjuncture their favour had
to be propitiated by largesses and augmented pay.  The
Sikh army claimed the privilege of representing, as a
corporate body, the Khalsa,—the elect and holy race of
true believers. Lord Hardinge, writing to the Court of
Directors on the 30th September, 1845, says that “the
most influential and leading Chiefs” feel « their personal
interests” to be ““ endangered by the democratic revolution
so successfully accomplished by the Sikh arnny.”§ Even
the Maharanee saw her own brother, Jowahir Sing, shot
down before her own eyes, by the sentence of this armed
Inquisition,

Sir Henry Lawrence, in an article published in 1847,

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 126,
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in the Celcutta Review, when he was Resident at Lahore,
thus describes what took place after the murder of the
Maharanee’s brother :-—

“No man dared to scize the helm. Rajah Lal Sing was not
wanting in courage ; and Maharajah Golab Sing has abundance ;
but neither coveted the Viziership, which involved responsibility
to a thousand exacting masters. Intoxicated with success at
home, where no man’s honour was safe from their violence, where
they had emptied the coffers of the State, and plundered those of
Jummi, the unsated soldiery now sought to help themselves from
the Bazars .and treasuries of Delhi. ‘This madness of the Sikh
army was the true cause of invasion, and not either the acts of
the British Government, or its agents.*

“'The majority of voices was for an immediate march. The
Ranf and her advisers, who felt that all authority was lost, urged
them to be gone at once; but this very impatience roused the
suspicions of the soldiers. Thus doubtful did matters remain for
more than twenty days: the whole Sikh army, it is truc, at last
left Lahore, but, as on former occasions, they still hesitated to
‘cross the Rubicon,” and finally commit themsclves. The great
delay, however, was in persuading the Sirdars.,  They had pro-
perty to lose. The rabble had only property to gain. Sirdar
"I'ej Sing, who ultimately was Commander-in-Cluef of the invading
force, consented only when openly and loudly taxed with cowardice,
and even threatened with death.”’+

In the Duke of Argyll's own words:—“It was the
Khalsa army, not the Lahore Government, which began
the Sikh war.  The great foree which Runjeet had brought
together, and had disciplined with admirable efficiency
for the purposes of war, was an army whose fierce fanati-
cism, intlamed by concentration and by the sense of power,
had become incapable of control.”f

The victories of Lord Gough, and the occupation of
Lahore, put an end to this Prwotorian Parliament. The
Punchayuts were no longer recognised or allowed to as-
semble.  Discipline was restored and enforced. Military
license was restrained. The political influence of the arny
was annihilated.

The Sirdars, who for years had trembled under the
thraldom of the Sikh Punchayuts, rejoiced at their sub-
jugation. But the unruly fanatics who had organised and

* Sir Henry Lawrence’s Essays, p. 264, t Zbid., pp. 277, 278,
1 India under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 55.
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guided those short-lived democratic institutions, were, of
course, furious at their downfall, and, though somewhat
dejected and discouraged by the recent crushing disaster,
only waited for an opportunity to claim their representa-
tive functions, and to regain their former ascendency.

One of the Resident’s ablest Assistants, Lieutenant
Reynell Taylor, writes to him to that effect on the 15th
of July, 1848 :—“1It is the recollection of the past glories
of the Khalsa, and of the honoured and lucrative position
of a soldier in those days, and in those of anarchy and con-
fusion that followed them, mixed with a good deal of
military pride and confidence in their union and strength
in the field, that makes, and will make the Sikh soldiery
disposed to sedition and rebellion.” 1In the same letter
he says T believe that a large proportion of the Sikhs
would be well pleased to see the matter” (Moolraj’s rebel-
lion) “settled i tavour of Government.”*

In every scene throughout the insurrectionary crisis
the same incidents repeat themselves.  The Sikh soldiers
try to force on a rebellion, opposed and resisted by the
nobles and landholders, and even by their regimental
officers. It was so, even by Captain Abbott’s account,
with the Sikh Brigade which he suspected and surrounded
in Hazara. “The officers,” he writes, “received his”
(Chuttur Sing’s) “ orders with distrust, demurred, delayed,
but were tinally borne along by the men.”t  According
to him, Sirdar Chuttur Sing « ordered them” (the troops)
to destroy an inmocent and loyal man, and to mutiny
against my authority, and that of their officers.”$

Captain Nicholson writes to the Resident :—“If the
Sikh troops in Hazara were under the control of their
officers, there would be no difficulty ; but, as usual in the
Sikh army, few or none of the officers have any influence
with the men.”§

Major Lawrence writes from Peshawur :—“I really
believe that most of the officers are very desirous to keep
their troops to their allegiance; but, with a people so
easily worked on by designing men, their task is most
ditficult.”)|

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 257, 1 Zéid., p. 803.
1 Ibd., p. 311 § Ibid., p. 307. || Zéid., p. 340.
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The Resident, shortly after the bad news from Mooltan,
writes :—“ The Sikh Sirdars whom 1 have sent may be
implicitly relied upon, and the influence which they have
with the soldiery they will make the best use of. But
the soldiery themselves are not equally trustworthy ; they
are dispirited ; not satisfied with their Sirdars ; and have,
as may be supposed, no very kindly feeling for us.”*  On
the 22nd of June, he wrote again :— The Strdurs are true,
I believe ; the soldiers are all false I know.”+

On the 13th of July, Major Edwardes reported thus to
the Resident :—- With respect to the Stedurs, T believe
them to be heart and soul on our side, which is the side
of jaghires, titles, employments, and whole throats.  But
their force, with equal confidence, T report to be against
us to a man.”}

The Resident writes to Government to the same effect
on the 17th June, 1848 :— -

“The Sikh troops arc fur worse than uscless ; even in this re-
bellion against then own (rovernment, they are not only not to be
depended on, but they are certain m the event of an opportunity
for suecesstul collision, to take part with the rebel interest. This
is felt aud acknowledged by ceery Sirdar in the country.”

“On the night of the 8th instant, the Churunjeet Regiment of
Cavalry broke into open mutiny : the Sirdars succceded, with
some difficulty, in preventing the Artillery and the Infantry Regi-
ment from joining them.”’§

Many of the Sivdars were by degrees drawn into the
tide, particulmly after the Maharanee’s exile, and the
defection of Chuttur Sing and his sons, but they went
reluctantly and doubtfully, and in some cases were evi-
dently dragged into it by the troops. The Sirdars, in
fact, had something to lose. The Sikh soldiers had lost
nearly everything ; and they saw that if a reformed systemn
were firmly established in the Punjaub, their occupation
was gone.  As the British administration was more com-
pletely introduced, they found their organisation broken
up, their special privileges abolished, theirpaylowered, || and
their num{))ers reduced. Of cowrse they were ripe for revolt.

On the 4th of August, 1848, Major Edwardes, describing

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 137. t 2bid., p. 220,
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to the Resident the abortive mutiny of a Sikh Regiment,
which the officers succeeded in suppressing, says :—

“The whole affair is eminently characteristic of the treacherous,
avaricious, and intriguing Sikh soldier,—another proof, added to
the many afforded by the Mooltan rebellion, of the imperative
necessity of remodelling the Khalsa army, if we wish for security
in the Punjaub, Taeutenant Lumsden is, I believe, engaged in
revising the internal cconomy of that army, but paramount to
this 1s the nccessity of totally altering its constitution, which is
rotten to the core.”*

And the Resident, Sir Frederick Currie, writes as follows
on the 27th September, 1848 1 — The Sikh soldiers of the
old régime can never again be trusted; and I must say
that, to my knowledge, Rujuh Tej Sing suid, two years
ago, and has always adhered to the opiuion, that it was
less dangerous, and wonld prove less embarrassing, to
disband them all, and raise @ new wrmy, than to continue
« man of them in sereice”’t

We did not take Rajah Tej Sing’s advice ; but, on the
contrary, as the Resident said, kept up the old Sikh troops,
as “the disciplined army of the country, and left in their
hands all the artillery and munitions of war.”t

Chronic mutiny had existed in the Sikh army for six
years, sustained by veligious fanaticism, and swelled by
continued suceess to the dimensions of a democratic revo-
lution.  The warlike population of the dominant faith,
connected by inmumerable ties of family and fellowship
with the Sikh soldicry, sympathised heartily with their
representative pretentions. We knew it ; we were warned
of it.  Nothing occmred in 1848 that was not contem-
plated and expressly provided for, when the British
Government undertook, in December, 1846, the office of
Guardian during the minority of Maharajah Dhuleep Sing.
The several extensions of the British protective occupation
were conceded by Lord Hardinge, at the urgent request
of the Durbar, with special reference to “the reorganisa-
tion of the army.”§ “That was recognised on all sides,
throughout the negotiations, as the great requirement and

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 273, t Ibid., p. 377.
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the great peril.  Lord Hardinge, writing to the Resident
on the 7th of December, 1846, declares that he “ cannot
permit_the renewal of a state of anarchy and military
despotism, similar to that which existed last year,” and
that he “cannot, after the experience of the last eight
months, consent to leave a British force beyond the stipu-
lated period, for the purpose of supporting a Government
which, in its present state of weakness, can give no assu-
rance of its power to govern justly as regards its people,
and no guaranty for the performance of its obligations
towards its neighbours.”*  Within ten days of this de-
spateh being written, the Articles of Agrcement were
signed at Lahore, on the 16th Decumber, 1846, embody-
ing the only terms on which the Governor-General would
consent to the continuance of o British force at Lahore,
and by which “unlimited authority in all matters, during
the Mahavajal’s minovity,” were conterred upon the British
Resident.t s object, Lord Hardinge announces, will
be “to counteract the disorder and anarchy which have
disturbed the Punjaub during the last five years, chiefly
owing to a numerous Sikh army, kept up in the vicinity
of the capital, by whose republican system of discipline
the soldiery had usurped all the functions of the State.”

“The immediate effect,” he says, “of depriving a
numerous body of military adventurers of employment,
(there being still many to be disbanded to reduce the
wumbers to the limits of the Treaty of Lahore,) may be
troublesome, and a source of some uneasiness. No policy
can at once get rid of an evil which has been the growth
of years,”} .

“I see around me,” writes the Resident, Sir Henry
Lawrence, in April, 1847, “and hear of, so many men,
who, having been Generals and Colonels in the Sikh army,
arc now struggling for existence ; and, at the same time,
know that so little justice has been done even in recent
reductions, that my great wonder has been the good con-
duct of the Sikh army during the last twelvemonth.”

“I am well aware that neither independent feelmgs,
nor lawless habits, are easily eradicated : and I am quite

* Papers, Articles of Agreement, 1847, p. 42. t 1bid, p. 24.
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satisfied that there is nothing too foolish, nothing too
desperate, for Asiatic zcalots or desperadoes to attempt.
I endeavour therefore to be on the alert.”*

In June, 1847, he writes as follows :— Tt 1s wise to
keep before our eyes the fact that the animus of unrest
and inswrrection slunbers, but is not yet dead, in the
Punjaub. It would be a miracle if it were otherwise ; for
assuredly the habits acquired during six years of unarchy
are not to be laid aside i a month or a year’+

It is clear, then, that ncither Lord Hardinge, nor Sir
Henry Lawrence, the Resident whom he appointed, ex-
pected to be immediately fiee from all danger of military
mutiny or rebellion. It was in anticipation of such possi-
bilities, that the Governor-General assumed, with the
consent of the Lahore Durbar, “unlimited powers,” under
the Articles of Agreement, of December, 1846, and, in
particular, acquirved the right of stationing a British force,
of such strength as he might think fit, in any position,
“any fort or military post i the Lahore territories, for
the protection of the Maharajah, for the sceurity of the
capital, and for maintaining the peace of the country.”f

The following extract is taken from the recently pub-
lished listory of Indie, by Mr. J. C. Marshman.

““The precautionary measures adopted by Lord Hardingo mani-
fested equal foresight and vigour. Ho did not expect that o
country teeming with disbanded soldiers, the bravest and most
haughty in India, who had been nurtured in victory and conquest,
and pampered with seven years of military licence, would be as
free from disturbance as a district in Bengal. To provide for the
prompt suppression of any insurrectionary movements which
might arise, he organised three moveable Brigades, completo in
carriage and equipment, each of which consisted of one European
corps, threo Regiments of Native Infantry and one of Cavalry, with
twelve guns, chiefly of Furopean Horse Artillery. These wero
held in readiness at Lahore, Jullunder and Ferozepore, to take the
field at the shortest notice.”’§

Yet on the very first occasion of the peace of the country
being disturbed, the Resident, Sir Frederick Currie, writes
to Lord Dalliousie :— Dewan Moolraj is an officer of the
Sikh Government ; he is in rebellion, if rebellion at all, to

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, pp. 6, 7. t Ibid.
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the Sikh Durbar, and the orders of that Government.
The coercion must come from the Sikh Government, unaided
by British troops, if possible.  If it should be necessary to
move a British soldicr, the affuir will be « serious one for
the Durbar.”*

1 could not consent, under any circumstances, to send a British
force on such an expedition, whatever may be the result and conse-
quence of the state of things which will follow, to the continuance of
the Sikh Government.t

 After what has happened, I feel that if the questicn were one
merely affecting the maintenanco of the Sikh Government. and
the preserving the tranquillity of their provinces, we should be
scarcely justified in expending more British blood, and British
treasure in such serviee.”’t

And this, although the British troops were there, under
treaty, and were subsidised, for that very service of main-
taining the Sikh Government, and preserving “ the peace
of the country.”§

“The principal Sirdars started this morning, under the impres-
sion that the British column would follow. I have sent for them
back, to explain to them that they must, by their own resources, put
down the rebellion of their own Governor, aided by their own troops
and their officers, and bring the perpetrators to punishment.”||

So soon was the menacing note of annexation sounded
in the cars of the Sikh Sirdars! And this language,
natural and excusable in the first excitement, indignation
and perplexity of a sudden and alarming crisis, pervades,
with some intermittence and inconsistency, all the Resi-
dent’s correspondence, and is at last deliberately adopted
by theGovernor-General in pronouncing his final judgment.

On the 27th April, the Resident continues his narrative.

“The Chiefs returned yesterday morning, and having heard
what I had to say regarding the nccessity of their putting down
tho rebellion, and bringing the offenders to justice, by their own
means, as the only hope of saving their Government, they retired
to consult and concert measures.

“ After much discussion they declared themselves unable, with-
out British aid, to coerce Dewan Moolraj in Mooltan, and bring
the perpetrators of the outrago to justice. They admitted that
their troops were not to be dopended on to act against Moolraj,
ospecially the regular army of the State, and they recommended
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that these corps should be kept in their former positions, to main-
tain the peace, and prevent, as far as possible, the spread of the
rebellion,  This service they thought the Sikh troops might be
depended on to perform, under the arrangements they proposed
for the Chiefs, with their personal followers, going out themselves
into tho Provinces,—more especially if speedy measares weroe
taken by the British Government for the occupation of Mooltan,”*

There can be no question that this advice was the best
possible for the time. It it had been taken, the rebellion
would have been speedily crushed. It was not taken.
This discussion took place on April 26th, 1848, But it
was not until August 18th that the British troops, under
General Whish, arrived before Mooltan.t The siege was
raised on September 14th, in consequence of the defection
of Rajah Shere Sing.} It was not until December 26th,
1848, that the Force under General Whish, having been
strengthened by a Division from Bombay, resumed its old
position before Mooltan, after three months and a half of
maction, during which period the Commander-in-Chicef had
made no military movement to arrest Chuttur Sing’s opera-
tions, or to support the British officers in the more distant
posts.  Mooltan was taken in a week after the renewal ot
the sicge ; the Dewan Moolvaj surrendered himself uncon-
ditionally on January 22nd, 1849.  But, in the meanwhile,
the mischief was done ; these long delays, these retrogres-
sive and suspensive manceuvres, had given double force to
all other provocations and temptations. The Punjaub was
in a blaze. Rajah Shere Sing was now at the head of
30,000 men, with 60 guns. The battle of Chilliunwalla
was fought on January 13th, 1849. On February 21st,
Lord Gough, reinforced by the whole of General Whish’s
army, gained the crowning victory of Goojerat; and on
March 14th, Sirdar Chuttur Sing, Rajah Shere Sing, and
other Chiefy, gave up their swords ; and the remains of the
Sikh army, to the number of 16,000 men, laid down their
arms.  So ended the second Punjaub war,—eleven months
having elapsed since the first outbreak at Mooltan. Not
a British soldier was moved for the first three months.
After the first failure to take Mooltan, there was a total
cessation of active efforts in the field for three months

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 140, + Ibid., p. 291. 1 Ibid., p. 365.
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more, from the middle of September to the middle of De-
cember, 1848.

Every one had foreseen the inevitable effect of these
dilatory measures. Throughout the Blue Book are scat-
tered innumerable expressions of opinion by the Resident
and his Assistants, that any long delay in punishing the
mutinous outrage at Mooltan, would act as an irresistible
encouragement to military wmbition, and an incitement to
Sikh fanaticism. Major Edwardes says :--“It was my
own belief at the time, that had the Mooltan rebellion
been put down at once, the Sikh insurrection would never
have grown out of it ; it was a belief shared, moreover,
(as well as I remember,) by every political officer in the
Punjaub, and T for one still think so now.”*

On June 22nd, 1848, Major Edwardes, having, with the
troops of the Nuwab of Bhawulpoor, a force of 18,000
men and 30 guns under his conmnand, all well-disposed,
and in high spirits at their two recent victories, proposed
to the Resident to commence the siege af Mooltan forth-
with, asking only for a few heavy guns, and an Engineer
ofticer with a detachment of Sappers.t  And two years
later he writes :—

“In June and up to the end of July, I am quite sure that
Licutenant Tinke’s force and my own could have taken the city of
Mooltan with the utmost facility ; for it was surrounded by no-
thing stronger than a vencrable brick wall, and the rebel army
was dispirited by its losses at Kincyree and Suddoosam. On this
point ncither Licutenant Lake nor mysclf, nor General Cortlandt,
(who was an older, and thercfore a steadier soldier than either of
us,) had ever any doubt.”{

Major Napier of the Engineers,§ writing from Mooltan
on September 14th, just as General Whish was compelled
to raise the siege, explains the eftect of the long delay on
the personnel of the rebel army. ¢ Moolraj’s forces are
now very different from what they were when Edwardes
met them. Except a few, thé Irregulars have been ex-
changed for the old Sikh soldiers.”|

* A Year on the Punjaub Frontier, vol. ii, p. 145.
1 DPapers, Punjaud, 1849, p. 223,
1 A Year on the Punjaub Frontier, vol. ii, p. 403,

Now Sir Robert Napier, G.C.B., Commander-in- Chief at Bombay.
| Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 356.
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But the veteran Chief of the Indian army could not
“consent to an insufficient force, such as one Brigade of
any strength, being sent,” and preferred to wait «“ until the
proper season for military operations” (the cold scason)
“should arrive.”*

1f these dilatory measures were adopted in perfect good
faith,—and I have no doubt that they were by the mili-
tary authorities,—I should not hesitate to condemn them
as unstatesmanlike and blundering.

If they were not adopted in perfect good faith, —“if,” as
has often been hinted, “the delay in crushing the rebel-
lion sprang in part from a secret hope of its spreading far
enough to furnish Government with a fair excuse for annex-
ing the whole dominions of Runjeet Sing,”t—such a policy
can only be characterised as unprincipled and unjustifiable.

But whether the dilatory plan was unstatesmanlike or
unprincipled,—whether it was a blunder or a crime,—nay,
even if 1t was the wisest possible, and in every respect
Jjustifiable,—my position is unaftected. [t was emphati-
cally our work. It was a plan deliberately adopted by the
Resident and the Governor-General, contrary to the ad-
vice of the Council of' Regency. It was the plan of Lord
Dalhousie, administering, ¢ with unlimited powers,” under
treaty, the government of the Punjaub. Tt was the plan
of the Guardian, managing the affairs of his Ward.

Lord Dalhousie’s procedure in settling the future rela-
tions of the Punjaub with British India after the cam-
paign of 1849, just amounts to this :—a Guardian, having
undertaken, for a valuable consideration,} a troublesome
and dangerous trust, declares, on the first occurrence of
those troubles and dangers, of which he had full knowledge
and fore-warning, that, as a compensation for his exertions
and a protection for the future, he shall appropriate his
Ward’s estate and personal property to his own purposes.
And this, although the Guardian holds ample security in
his own hands for the repayment of any outlay, and the
satisfaction of any damages he might have incurred, in
executing the conditions of the trust.

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, pp. 238, 239,
t Trotter's History of India from 1844 to 1862, (Allen, 1866,) vol. i, p. 134.
1 Valuable, even if inadequate, which T think it was not.
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Immediately on hearing of the outbreak at Mooltan,
and even before the distressing news had arrived of two
English officers having been murdered by the mutinous
soldiery, the Resident assumed that tone and attitude
towards his colleagues in the Council of Regency, which
seem to have suggested and fomented Lord Dalhousic’s
retrospective demands,  “The Sikh Government” must
act for themselves, “unaided by British troops. If it
should be necessary to move a British soldier, the affair
will be a serious one for the Durbar.”* There was no
“Sikh Government,” apart fromn the Resident, who was at
the head of the Punjaub administration with “unlimited
powers.”  The Durbar could only *“act under the control
and guidance of the Resident.”t " The British troops were
stationed, under treaty, in the Punjunb, and subsidised
from its revenues, expressly to afford that aid in preserv-
ing the peace of the country which the Resident refused
to afford.  He did afford it at lust, but only after a long
delay, and then, as he avowed, from a regard to British
interests,} and with a menace of that penalty of extinction
which was ultimately inflicted, against the protected
dynasty and State.

Both the delay and the menace mainly contributed to
kindle the genceral conflagration.  How fuel was added to
the flame by scveral measures for which the British autho-
rities were solely responsible, we have already scen.§

We have quoted the Resident’s refusal to send a British
force to Mooltan, “whatever may be the consequences of
the state of things which will follow to the continuance
of the Sikh Government.”|| In the same dispatch he writes
to Lord Dalhousie as follows :—

“Your Lordship will, I fear, have to consider how far it is in-
cumbent upon us, how far it is possiblo for us, to maintain an
engagement with a Government, which, in the persons of its Chiefs,
its soldiers, and its people, repays our endeavours for its main-
tonance by perfidy and outrage, and is powerless to afford us
redress.

“Doubtless we have reduced it to its state of weakness, but we
are not responsible for its treachery and violation of trust.”q

* Ante, p. 139. t Ante, pp. 99, 100§ Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p, 141,
§ Ante, pp. 102 to 130. || Ante, p. 139. 9 Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 140.
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At this time no “Chiefs,” except the Dewan Moolraj of
Mooltan, had committed any offence ; no “soldiers,” except,
those at Mooltan, had taken part in any perfidy or outrage;
and “the people” had not moved in the matter at all.

Dewan Moolraj was not a Sikh : he and his father had
governed Mooltan for thirty f/enl's, with almost indepen-
dent sway ; they had fortified the city with the scarcely
disguised object of holding their own against the Sikh
Governmnent, whose power they had repeatedly defied,—
once during the British occupation of Lahore, before the
transfer of authority to the Resident.* In April, 1847,
the Resident, Sir Henry Lawrence, sent one of his As-
sistants to Mooltan, and makes the following remarks on
the subject in a despatch to the Governor-General =—
« Lieutenant Nicholson has returned from Mooltan, and,
on the whole, gives a favourable report of Dewan Moolraj.
He has, evidently, been in the practice of acting as if he
were the Sovereign of the country, and was, in the first
instance, inclined to resent Licutenant Nicholson’s visit.”t

It Moolraj, thercfore, rebelled again, it was nothing to
be surprised at,—mnothing but what ought to have been,
and must have been, contemplated and prepaved for, when
we assumed the administration of the Punjaub.  Yet the
Resident speaks of this occurrence as something prodigious
and unheard of ; and denounces the Sikh Govermnent, —
over which he was presiding, with unlimited powers,—as
guilty of “ perfidy and outrage, in the persons” of the re-
fractory vassal, and turbulent soldiery, whom the Durbar,
by imploring British assistance, had confessed themselves
unable to coerce.

This inability, also, is made a charge against the Dur-
bar by the Resident, and a pretext for no longer ‘main-
taining our engagement with it ; although its inability to
control the Chiefs and the army, was the main cause of
that engagement being made. It is “ powerless,” he com-
plains, “to afford us redress.” He adds:-—Doubtless
we have redud it to its state of weakness” The Go-
vernment of the Punjaub was not powerless ; but all its
power was concentrated in the hands of the British Re-

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 117. + Jbid., p. 5.
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sident. Its power mainly consisted in the British troops,
subsidised from the revenues of the country, which the
Resident hesitated to employ.  Without the sid of the
British troops, to which it was entitled by troaty, it was,
of course, in “a state of weakness,” and to hit, state of
weakness, as the Resident adinits, we had depressed it
The very fact of the British ocenpation and transfer of
power to the Resident, ten wd to destioy the personal
influence of the Sirdars.  Both the physical and moral
force at the disposal of the Duhor aport from the Resi-
dent’s support, was greatly dindinshed

The Scllclllt‘ for the reduction and roorganis ition of the
army seemns to have heen wost judie i s, —though, perhaps,
the more sweeping measure proposed by Rajah Tej Sing
would have been safor anid more efft ctnal,*—and it appears
to have been carvicd out with great consideration, and
with many countervailing advantages for the humbler and
less ambitious soldiers, especially for those who were not
Sikhs,  But it was a most critical and delicate operation,
and it was emphatically owr work.

By the unlimited authority entrusted to the Resident,
the numerical strength of the Sikh army had been lowered,
until every town and village was filled with the disbanded
and discontented brethren of those who were still retained
in the ranks, whose disaffection was at the same time en-
hanced by a stricter discipline, curtailed privileges, and
the downfall of their political and religious preponderance.

It could not be expected,—we have seen that it was not
expected by Lord Hardinge and Sir Henry Lawrence,—
that this transition stage would be passed through in per-
fect tranquillity. Yet the Resident declaims’ against ‘the
perfidy and outrage,”—*“treachery and violation of trust,”
~-~“spoliation an§ crime,”t—committed at Mooltan, as
unprecedented and unimaginable, and imputes it all to
the Sikh Government, “in the persons” of the mutinous
soldiery, who, during six years had domigeered over all
authority, who had murdered three Prim®Ministers and

several Princes, and whose subjection was the special task
we had engaged to perform.

* Ante, p. 136. t Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 141.
L
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We knew what we were about when we assumed the
Guardianship of a Prince whose dominions had suffered
from six years of anarchy. We undertook the obligations
of duppressing military mutiny and civil war,—"of pre-
serving the peace of the country,” with British troops sub-
sidised for the purpose. Furthermore, we obtained by the
Treaty unlimited military powers thronghout the Punjaub,
—the right of holding all the strong places and positions,
the right of disbanding and enlisting troops. It may
have been hoped, but it can never have been expected,
that everything would go on smoothly, that our troops
would never be actively employed,—that none of those
scenes of violence and bloodshed, which had compelled
the Durbar to entreat our aid, would recur during the
British occupation. For the term of our Guardianship,
—the minority of Dhuleep Sing,—we demanded full
powers, we accepted full responsibility.

Lord Dalhousic admits his full responsibility, as the
Guardian of British interests, for the inordinate military
delays which swelled the Mooltan rebellion into a war,
but does not seem to fecl any responsibility at all, as the
trustee and administrator of the Punjaub State, and the
Guardian of its infant Maharajah.  “On the one hand,”
he writes, “it was impossible to doubt that, if there existed
in the minds of the people of the Punjaub any inclinatiog,
to rise against the British power, a delay in visiting the
outrage committed at Mooltan, and the apparent impunity
of the offender, would give strong encouragement to an
outbreak which might spread over the whole Punjaub.
On the other hand, it was equally clear that there would
be serious danger to the health and to the very existence
of European troops,” if they were to carry on “military
operations in the hot and ramy months.”*

It might have occurred to the Governor-General and
the Commander-in-Chief that the loss of life among the
European an(Hative troops of our army, and the general
destruction of Wife and property in the Punjaub, would be
much greater in the event of a general rebellion, than
could possibly be caused by the march of one Brigade of

* Papers, Punjand, 1849, p. 656,
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British troops in the hot and rainy months. And as it
might have been anticipated, so it proved. “Strange to
say,” writes Mr. J. C. Marshman, “it was found that
General Whish’s troops were more healthy during their
progress to Mooltan than they had been in cantonments,
and it was manifest that the unsuitableness of the season,
which was urged as a ground of objection to an early and
prompt movement, was a mere bugbear.”*

These were Sir Henry Lawrence’s reflections on the
military plans of 1848 :—“We cannot afford in India to
shilly-shally and talk of weather and seasons. If we are
not ready to take the field at all seasons, we have no
business here.”

On the whole, however, Lord Dalhousie concludes that
“it can never now be determined whether the immediate
commencement at that time” (the hot scason) “of the siege
of Mooltan would or would not have averted the war.
But this, at least,” he adds, “is certain, that if the short
delay which took place in punishing the murder of two
British officers at Mooltan,”—a short delay of nine months !}
—*“could produce an universal rising against us through-
out all the Punjaub, the very fact itself betokens the ex-
istence of a deep and widespread feeling of hostility against
us, which could not long have been repressed.”§

We shall see that the “rising” was by no means “ uni-
versal,” and that Lord Dalhousie’s denunciations of the
Sirdars and the people of the Punjaub were highly ex-
aggerated.

Lord Dalhousie continues his argument as follows :—
“The worst that can be alleged, therefore, against the
delay is, that it precipitated the crisis ; and opened, some-
what earlier, to the Sikhs that opportunity for renewal of
war, which, sooner or later, so bitter a spirit of hostility
must have created for itself.”

Major Edwardes agrees with Lord Dalhousie on this
point; he, also, thinks the struggle was ineyitable, sooner

* History of India, vol. iii, p. 819,

t Kaye's Indian Officers, (Allen, 1867) vol. ii, pp. 397, 298.

1 Mr. Vans Agnew and Lieutenant Anderson were murdered on the 20th
April, 1848 ; thecitadel of Mooltan was surrendered by the Dewan Moolraj on
January 22nd, 1849, § Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 657.

)
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or later. He expresses his belief, in passages already
quoted, that “had the Mooltan rebellion been put down,
the Sikh insurrection would never have grown out of it,”
and that, with very moderate assistance from Lahore, he
could have taken Mooltan in June.* He indicates as
plainly as is consistent with modesty, and a decent respect
for seniors and official superiors, his opinion that the delay
was, both in a military and political point of view, an
error of judgment. But he says, in his table of Contents
to the volume :——“The Author shows that it was provi-
dential.” In the text he observes :—“So fav as regarding
this as matter for regret, I sec in it only the strongest
example that ever came within my own experience, of
human judgment overruled by Providence for good.”t

The “good,” according to Major Edwardes, was that
“the whole of the Punjaub wus annexed to British India
in March, 1849 ;” whereas, “if the most favourable cir-
cumstances had succeeded, and on the 4th of September,
1854,”) (when the Maharajah obtained his majority) “the
Governor-General, in fulfilment of Treaties permitted to
remain in force,”} had withdrawn the British troops, and
handed over the Punjaub to its youthful Sovereign, “with
a revenue improved by peace, an exchequer replenished
by honesty and economy, and an army improved by dis-
cipline,” no one can believe “that the peace of the frontier
would have lasted for a year, or a second Sikh war have
been avoided.”§

I cannot enter into the designs of Providence, but 1
freely acknowledge that Major Edwardes had many pre-
cedents for his assumption. Every conquest has been
hailed as providential by the conqueror. “Te Deum” is
sung by the victor for every victory.

Nor do I consider myself at all bound to enter upon
the point of inquiry raised by Lovd Dalhousie and Major
Edwardes,—whether the Sikhs in the early part of 1848,
were so determined on having a second struggle with
British power, that our military delays and errors in
dealing with the Mooltan outrage only ¢ precipitated the

* dnte, p. 141. t A Year on the Punjaub Frontier, vol. ii, p. 145,

T A most expressive formula.
§ A Year on the Punjaub Frontier, vol.ii, pp. 145, 146.



THE PUNJAUB. 149

crisis,” which was inevitable and must have arrived “sooner
or later.”

A mere guess or surmise of what might have hap-
pened under different circumstances, cannot prove that
a certain decision was wise, or just. If the annexation
of the Punjaub was an iniquitous proceeding; if its in-
iquity has been made manifest, it is no reply to say either
that it was Providential, or that it must have happened
sooner or later.

This guess, or surmise, of the inveterate and inextin-
suishable hostility of the Sikhs, is by no means warranted
by the history of our previous relations with them, by the
progress of events during the insurrection, or by our ex-
perience of other States and other races in India. No
doubt there was a turbulent spirit abroad in 1848 ; there
were clements of political and religious fanaticism per-
vading large classes in the Punjaub, especially the Sikhs
serving in the army, or connected with the soldiery. We
knew all this when we undertook the Guardianship ; our
protective occupation was invited expressly to meet those
perils.  No doubt this turbulent and fanatical spirit be-
came hostile to the British occupation, and to the party
of Sikh Sirdars who co-operated with the Resident, when
the new administration was carrying into effect the reduc-
tion and restraint of the army. But there would have
been the same hostility against a purely native Govern-
ment, if it had attempted to enforce, without British assist-
ance, the same unpopular measures.

About the time of the bad news from Mooltan, however,
everything indicated that the Punjaub was settling down
into a state of peaceful industry. A general impression
prevailed of the overwhelming and resistless power of the
British Government, and of the moderation and justice of
its policy. On April 6th, 1848, the Resident thus re-
ported to the Governor-General :—

““ Perfect tranquillity prevails, at present, throughout all the
territories under tho Lahore Government ; and T have no reason
to think that the apparent contentment of the peoplo is other
than real. We have now, or have had during the cold months,
British officers in all parts of the country; and the impression
scoms gencral that all classes are satisfied at the present state of
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things. In those villages, chiefly in the Manjha, to which numbers
of the disbanded soldiery have returned, we sometimes hear of
prophetic rumours being circulated, of a day coming when the
Sikhs are again to be brought into collision with the British, and
with a different result from the last; but, beyond this idle and
infrequent talk, there is nothing to indicate that the return of the
Khalsa independenco is either oxpected or desired. The universal
civility and kindness with which all Europeans, of all ranks and
callings, whether officials, or travellers, or sportsmen, are treated,
is very remarkable.”’*

It is impossible to say exactly what permanent effect
would have been produced on the habits and pursuits of
the people, if this tranquillity could have been preserved
during the six years and a half of the Maharajah’s minor-
ity that remained, when the disturbances first broke out,
or even in the five years and a half that remained, accord-
ing to the Treaty—if Lord Dalhousie had not decided in
favour of annexation—when the insurrection was finally
quelled in March 1849. If a judicious system had been
brought into play, five or six years might have accus-
tomed the people to the advantages of peace and order,
and a strong native Government might have been installed
at Lahore.

Great changes for the better had certainly begun to tell
in the first fifteen months of British occupation. A great
advance had been made towards a state of political quiet-
ude, the best evidence of which is to be found in the slow-
ness and reluctance with which the successive steps in the
insurrection were taken.

Notwithstanding the dangerous excitement that un-
doubtedly prevailed throughout the lower ranks of the
Sikh soldiery, both those in the service and those recently
disbanded, there had been no extensive mutiny, or deser-
tion of numerical importance, until Rajah Shere Sing went
over to the enemy in September, from motives which we
have already discusscd. When Sirdar Chuttur Sing and
his son, with the troops under their command, were openly
cooperating with the Dewan Moolraj, who had now defied
the British power for five months with impunity, when
General Whish was obliged, as the result of Rajah Shere
Sing’s defection, to raise the siege of Mooltan, and wait

* Dapers, Punjaub, 1849. p, 127,
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for reinforcements,* a great stimulus was given to the
ambition and fanaticism of the disaffected Sikhs through-
out the Punjaub. And yet up to October 4th, the Resi-
dent writes, no Sirdar had joined Chuttur Sing,t and he
had failed utterly to induce any of the Regular troops, ex-
cept those who had been with him in Hazara, and against
whom Captain Abbott had taken the initiative, to join his
banner. He had marched “ towards the camp of his son,
Rajah Shere Sing and the other insurgents, in despair at
the refusals he had received from the Sikh officers at
Peshawur.”f It was not until October, that the troops
at Bunnoo and Peshawur broke into mutiny,§ when Mool-
raj had held out for six months, and Chuttur Sing was, to
all appearance, unchecked and unopposed.

Thus the main cause of an “ unpremeditated and acci-
dental”| ontbreak, according to Lord Dalhousie, growing
into a formidable inswrrection, was the long delay before
any attempt was made to punish the Dewan Moolraj,—a
delay which, by degrees, raised him from a very low grade
in popular estimation to the rank of the great heroes of
Hindoo lore, and dissipated almost all the advantages of
the brilliant success of Major Edwardes and General Cort-
landt, at the head of the Maharajal’s troops. This delay,
astonishing and inexplicable to the people at large, was
explained by the Resident to the most influential men of
the country in a sense the most alarming and exasperating
possible. They were told that *“ they must put down the
rebellion by their own resources, ws the only hope of saving
their Government.”9) No wonder a ramour soon got abroad
among the Sirdars and soldiery, as Major Edwardes tells
us that  the British meditated declaring the Punjaub for-
feited by thereeenttroubles and misconduct of the troops.”**
The rumour was true.

As if to add more fuel to these inflammatory rumours,
to stir up against us every feeling of loyalty and chivalry
at the most critical moment, the Maharanee, ¢ the mother
of all the Sikhs,” was suddenly deported from the country,
and imprisoned at Benares, under circumnstances which, we

* Punjaub Papers, 1849, p. 355. t Ibid., p 981,
1 Ihid., pp. 300, 391. § Zbid., pp 375. and 397
| Ante, p. 131 (note). 9§ Ante, p. 139, ** dAnte, p. 111,
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may be sure, assumed in the telling an aspect of violence
and indignity.* The effcct upon the Sikh troops of this
most ill-judged measure, was, as we haye seen, immediate. ¥
The Ranee’s influence was almost annihilated,$ when we
made her a martyr, and it revived at once.

The rumour as to the impending annexation, the doubts
as to his daughter’s marriage with the Maharajah, and the
facts as to the Ranee’s persecution, may have already con-
verted old Chuttur Sing into a conspirator, but it was the
Mussulman inswrection of his own Provinee, headed by his
colleague, Captain Abbott, unchecked and unreproved by
the Resident, that compelled him to become a rebel.

Surely it is sufficiently obvious that among a warlike
race and scet like the Sikhs,—so lately dominant through-
out the Punjuub in Church and State,—and after the
stitring events of the previous six years, these successive
temptations and provocations could not but prove irresis-
tible, and that they form an ample explanation of the
phenomena and development of the second Punjaub war,
without resorting to the unwarrantable surmise that “a
renewal of war” was inevitable, and that owr dilatory pro-
ceedings merely “precipitated the erisis.”  There is no-
thing to show that, without these delays and errors of
Jjudgment on our part, there would ever have been a crisis
at all.  Measgres for which the British Resident and the
Gnvcmor-GeIEml were solely responsible, made a hero out
of the timid Dewan Moolraj, a martyr out of the baffled
Maharanee, and a formidable rebel leader out of the infirm
and aged Governor, Sirdar Chuttur Sing.

Lord Dalhousie could not, or would not, see, that his
full responsibility, not-only for the military delays, but for
every exciting and irritating incident, and for every step,
good or bad, that was taken before or after the first ex-
plosion at Mooltan, effectually barred his ingenious method
of separating the Durbar, as “ the Government of Lahore,”
from the Resident, the absolute head of that Government.
During the period prescribed by the Treaty for the Maha-
rajah’s minority, no crisis, no second struggle, could absolve
the British Government from the obligations of Guardian-

* Ante, pp. 106, 107, t Aate, p. 108, 1 Ante, p. 103,
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ship and management, so long as it professed to fulfil those
duties, and was able to do so without interruption.

Even supposing that every administrative measure be-
fore the outbreak at Mooltan, and every step taken by the
Resident after it, had been the wisest possible,—supposing
the rebellion had not been in the slightest degree provoked
or extended by any error, excess, omission, or delay of the
British Government,—-Lord Dalhousic’s case would not
be in the least improved. Supposiug that the surmise
by which he attempted to justify the annexation, were de-
monstrably true, and that the Sikhs were really animated,
from the first day of the oceupation, with so deep and
bitter a hostility, that they only watched their opportunity
for revolt, and would never have been pacified without a
second lesson, then I say that they were entitled to that
second lesson without any extra charge.  The Stateof
Lahore had paid heavily in money, and in territory, for
the first lesson ; and we had undertaken, in consideration
of an annual subsidy, secured on the public revenues
administered by us, to pertorm the ottice of Teacher for a
term of years. If unexpected difficulties had presented
themselves in the performance of this office, we should,
even then, have had no right to complain.  But it was
not so. ' We understood quite well the nature of the evils
we had engaged to encounter and cure, Wi they were
clearly aggravated by owr own malpractice.

In his last instructions to the Resident, before publicl
announcing the annexation of the Punjaub to the Bl’itisz
dominions, Lord Dalhousic wrote as follows :—

““The time has arrived at which it is necessary that the deter-
mination which the Governor-General has formed rogarding the
future administration of the Punjaub, should be communicated to
the Government at Lichore.

“ On meeting the Council of Regency, you will present to them
the Note herewith transmitted, in which the determination of the
Government of India, regarding our future relations with the
Punjaub, is fully set forth.

“If the Government of Lahore should acquiesce in that determi-
nation, you are authorised to grant the Terms which are contained
in tho enclosed paper.”’*

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 648,
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Lord Dalhousie’s object in thus thrusting prominently
forward the Council of Regency, and investing it, in its
last moments, with the character of “the Government of
Lahore,” is transparently obvious. He wished to fasten
uli\on the Regency a sort of national responsibility, in
which the Maharajah might be included. But the Council
of Regency, apart from British control, never was “the
Government of Lahore,” and its maintenance up to the
date of annexation, proves the very contrary of what Lord
Dalhousie wished. The continued existence of this Re-
gency, throughout the rebellion, proves that British re-
sponsibility and guardianship were never shaken off or
shifted for a day. If indeed the British Guardian had
been driven from his position at Lahove ; if he had lost the
custody of the Maharajah’s person ; if he had been forced
to abdicate for a time the functions of government, he
might have been justified in rcentering the country as a
conqueror, and declaring all previous engagements to be at
an end. But no such interruption ever took place. The
Resident’s authority as chief ruler of the Punjaub was
never suspended. During the rcbellion, which in Lord
Dalhousie’s opinion warranted him in dethroning his Wand,
the capital city was never disturbed ; and the Govern-
ment of the Punjaub, exactly as we had chosen to organ-
ise it,—including the Council of Regency,~—was unaltered
to the last. " Six out of the eight Councillors remained
faithful to their engagements, and signed the Terms, under
compulsion.*

These six Sirdars,—Rajah Deena Nath, Bhace Nidham
Sing, (the head of the Sikh religion,) Fakeer Noor-ood-deen,
Shumshere Sing Sindhanwalla, and Uttur Sing Kalee-
walla,—who were perfectly blameless in their public con-
duct,—were told that ““if they refused to accept the Terms
which the Governor-General offered, the Maharajah and
themselves would be entirely at his mercy,” and would
not be “ entitled to receive any allowance whatever.” If
they signed the Terms, and continued ““to give their ad-
vice and assistance, whenever they were called upon to do
s0,” their jagheers (landed estates) would not be confis

* Lapers, Punjaub, 1849, pp. 649, 653, )



THE PUNJAUB. 155

cated, though no promise of hereditary tenure could be
made. But, “if they did notsubscribe to the conditions,”
the Resident “could not promise that any consideration
would be shown them.” *

In the last crisis of the rebellion, on the 18th of Novem-
ber, a Proclamation had been issued, sanctioned and ap-
proved by Lord Dalhousie on the 14th of December, 1848,
which contained the following announcement, :—

“ Tt is not the desire of the British Government that thoso
who are innocent of the above offences, who have taken no part,
secretly or openly, in the disturbances, and who have remained
faithful in their obedience to the Government of Maharajah Dhu-
lecp Sing,—be they Sikh or be they of any other class,—should
suffer with the guilty.,”t

Were the six members of the Council of Regency guilty?
On the contrary, they had done their best for the British
Government during a season of extraordinary trial and
temptation, and had faithfully co-operated with the Resi-
dent in the administration of the Punjaub. Yet they
were told that unless they signed and sealed the deposi-
tion of their Sovereign, and the destruction of the State,
they would be made to suffer with the guilty, that their
estates would be confiscated, and that no consideration
would be shown them.

Was the young Maharajah Dhuleep Sing, \?msc Govern-
ment was professedly upheld in this wonderful Proclama-
tion, guilty ? 'We must suppose that the extraordinary
political casuistry of the Resident was accepted at Head
Quarters, and that the Governor General’s Ward was con-
sidered to be guilty “in the person” of his mother, who
was a prisoner at Benares, or of those “ evil disposed and
insurgent Sirdars,” who, according to this document, had
rebelled against his own Government. For he was made to
suffer with the guilty. He was dethroned, despoiled, and
banished.

Furthermore, this same Proclamation declares to ¢ the
loyal subjects of the Maharajah,” as well as to any “ who,
merely through ignorance, may have been led away by the

se statements of the evil-disposed,” that  the army” of

""pero, DPunjaub, 1849, pp. 649, 650, 1 16id., p. 449,
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the Commander-in-Chief, Lord Gough, “has entered the
Lahort territories, not as an enemy to the constituted Go-
vernmnent, but to restore order and obedience.”* But
where twe recent treaties stood in the way of annexation,
what was a Proclamation more or less ?

And though Lord Dalhousie thus publicly proclaimed
on the 18th of November, 1848, that the large army under
the Commander-in-Chief was not entering the Punjaub
“as an enemy to the constituted Government,” he had
alrcady written secretly to the Resident, on the 3rd of
October, “The Governor-General considers the State of
Lahore to be, to all intents and purposes, directly at war
with the British Government.”t

The State of Lahore at war with the British Govern-
ment, while the Sovereign of the Punjaub was at Lahore,
the Ward and Pupil of the Resident! The State of Lahore
at war with the British Government, while the adminis-
tration of the Punjaub was carried on at Lahore by the
British Resident, in the name of the infant Sovereign, by
virtue of a Treaty with him, and in unaltered accordance
with the arrangements of that Treaty !  Where was that
State of Lahore with which the British Government was
at war, to be found ? In the camp of Rajah Shere Sing,
or in the fortress of Mooltan, which had been summoned
to surrender on the 5th of Septewnber, “after the firing of
a royal salute in honowr of Her Majesty the Queen, and
her Ally, His Highness Maharajah Dhuleep Sing” 't Was
it personitied by the Dewan Moolraj, or Chuttur Sing, or,
Shere Sing, who were all proclaimed as rebels “against
the Government of Maharajah Dhuleep Sing”?§

Straightforward and truthful answers to these questions
will prove that the British Government was not at war
with the State of Lahore.

The State of Lahore in October, 1848, and up to the
day of its destruction, was to be found at Lahore, em-
bodied and represented, in the persons of the Maharajah,
the Resident, who was at the head of the Government,
and his colleagues, the Council of Regency, the conti.nuitx

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p, 449. t Itid, p. 375.
t 1bid., p. 327 ; Yeuron the Punjaub Frontier, vol ii, p. 471,
§ DPapers, Punjand, 1849, pp. 260, 138, 119, and 5H62. '
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of whose functions was never interrupted or disturbed by
war or tumult for a single day.

Lord Dalhousic avoids altogether the question of Guar-
dianship. He makes exaggerated complaints of universal
treachery and perfidy, and founds upon them his iniquitous
claims to treat the Prince, who had never ceased to be
his Ward, as a vanquished enemy ; to repudiate all the
Treaties, which had never ceased to be enforced, as null
and void ; and to appropriate the Punjaub, which he had
never ceased to occupy and adwinister in trust, as a con-
quest.* It was impossible for the British Government to
conquer the territory, which it was oceupying by virtue of
a Treaty of protective alliunce.  Far from war having ever
been declared against the State of Lahore, the war was
carried on, and the submission of the rebels was demanded,
from first to last, in the name of our Ally, the Maharajah
Dhuleep Sing.

On the 3rd of October, 1548, Lord Dalhousie sceretly
and confidentially “intimates” to the Resident, that he
“considers the State of Lahore to be, to all intents and
purposes, directly at war with the British Government.”
On the same day, he expresses his satisfaction, in another
letter to the same official, at hearing that the fortress of
Govindghur, in the city of Umritsur,—up to that time
garrisoned by Sikh troops,—has been handed over to a
British force, “in accordance with the terms of the Treaty
of Bhyrowal.”t

With a view, it may be presumed, to minimise opposi-
tion, to retain the influence of the Durbar, and the services
of the local troops, and to keep the feudatory Princes and
the Sikhs of our own provinces quiet, he will not openly
declare war; but, Wit{l a view to ulterior demands, he
“intimates” war against the Lahore Government, in a
secret letter to his own agent, who is at the head of that
Government !

Having conducted the administration of the Lahore
State, for two years and three months, through the trials
and troubles ofy a rebellion, by means of his own agent and
his own nominees, in the name of his Ward and Ally, the
Maharajah, under a Treaty which he upholds and enforces

* Reers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 661. t 1bid, p. 874.
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to the last,—he turns round, when the rebellion is over,
declares the Treaty to have been violated, and therefore
null and void, and explains that the successful campaign,
ostensibly carried on for the suppression of a rebellion
against the Government of Maharajah Dhuleep Sing,
really constituted a war against the Maharajah and the
State of Lahore, by which the British Government has
“conquered” the Punjaub.*

In his indictment against the State of Lahore, Lord
Dalhousie falls into several exaggerated misstatements.
He says, “the whole body of the nation,—army and people
alike,—have, deliberately and unprovoked, again made war
upon us.”t In a subsequent passage of the same despatch
he betrays his knowledge of the facts that “the Sikh people
form comparatively a small portion of the population of
the Punjaub,” and that “a large proportion of the inhabi-
tants, especially the Mahomedans,” took no part in the
hostilities, and had no sympathy with the rebellion.}

Even if the meaning of the phrase, “the whole body of
the nation,” is restricted to the dominant sect of Sikhs,—
about a sixth of the population,—it is inaccurate. There
is a list of thirty-four Sirdars, or Ieading Chieftains in the
Blue Book, who, with their relutives and dependents, took
no part in the rebellion. Twenty-eight of these are Sikhs,
only two are Mahomedans, and four are Hindoos. Among
the six faithful members of the Council of Regency, was
Bhaee Nidham Sing, ““the head of the Sikh religion.”§

Lord Dalhousie ventures to write as follows :—“It is
a shameful fact that of the Sirdars of the State, properly
so called, who signed the Treaties, the greater portion
have been involved in these hostilities agamst us.”|| That
also is an erroneous accusation. A careful analysis of the
several lists and documents proves that the majority of
those who signed the Treaties were not involved in hosti-
lities against us. Of the sixteen Sirdars who signed the
Treaties and Articles of Agreement of 1846, only five
joined in the rebellion, and one, Runjore Sing Majeetia,
who was in the Council of Regency, was imprisoned at
Lahore, on suspicion of carrying on a treasonable corre-

* Papers, Punjaub, p. 661. t Ibid., p. 660.
t Ibid., p. 664. § 2bid, p. 36. | Zéid., p. 660,



THE PUNJAUB. 159

spondence. In the list of disaffected Sirdars, Runjore
Sing Majeetia is put down as “convicted,”* but his conduct
was not the subject of any judicial investigation ; and in
another part of the Blue Book his guilt is said to have
been “proved” by an attempt to escape after his arrest,
and by his having destroyed or conceuled some of his
papers.t There scems to Lave been nothing like evidence
against him. Of the eight Councillors, then, six were
faithful ; one was suspected ; one only, Rajah Shere Sing,
took the field against the Government of Lahore.

To the list of Sirdars who remained faithful to their
duty, who adhered to the caise of the Government of the
Punjaub, as constitnted under Treaty by the Governor-
General, must certainly be added the name of Sirdar Khan
Sing Man, the Sikb Governor appointed to supersede the
Dewan Moolraj, who accompanied Mr. Vans Agnew and
Tieutenant Anderson to Mooltan. So strong seems to
have been the very natural prejudice against every Sikh
who took part in that ill-fated expedition, that the Re-
sident, in his first report of the treacherous destruction of
the two young English officers, jumped at a hasty conclu-
sion which was very unjust to Khan Sing Man. He wrote
to the Governor-General :— The Sirdur made terms for
himself; and the British officers were left to be cruelly
butchered,”}—an account by no means borne out by the
words of the only statement before him at that time. All
that his informant, Peer Ibrahim Khan, the British Agent
at Bhawulpore, had written on this point, was :— Sirdar
Khan Sing Min, by the permission of Mr. Vans Agnew,
begged for quarter, upon which he was seized, and the
two gentlemen killed.”§

The following description of what had passed was given
by an eye-witness, Kootub Shah, a Mahomedan soldier:—

 Sirdar Khan Sing offered to devote his life ; but Mr. Agnow
objected, saying it was useless for him to sacrifice himself ; that,
alone, he could do nothing ; and that he had better ask for quarter.
The Sirdar’s people went outside the Eedgah, and demanded
quarter. The troops then entered the place, and plundered every-
thing. On their approaching the Sirdar, he said that he had

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 489, t Ibid., p. 501.
1 1bid., p. 139, § Ibud., p. 138,



160 CHAPTER VI

asked for quarter, and that it would be useless to kill him, but
that they might do what they pleased. He requested them to
spare the wounded British officers. They, however, refused to
listen to him, and seized him.

“ During that day the Sirdar was kept in confinoment in tho
Amkhas; the next day he was taken to the fort, where he was put
in wrons with his son.”’*

This deposition was made in June, 1848 ; and is fully
confirmed by the fact, for which Sir Herbert Edwardes
vouches, that “he remained in confinement throughout the
siege, until the rins of the exploded magazine at once
killed and buried him. After the fall of the Fort,” (in
January, 1849) “ his body was dug out, and was found so
heavily troned, that it must have been impossible for him
to walk. s little boy had been apparently sleeping be-
side him on the bed.”  Major Edwardes, like the Resident,
had heard conflicting accounts of Khan Sing’s behaviour,
but, he says, “under these circumstances, I thought it
right to adopt the most charitable construction of the
Sirdar’s conduct, caused him to be buried with all honour,
and sent the gold bangles which were on the arms of his
son, to the surviving members of the family.”+

Sir Herbert Edwardes likewise ascertained that Gool-
deep Sing, the Sikh Commandant of the Infantry Regi-
ment forming part of Mr. Agnew’s escort, “ replied alike
to bribes anf threats, that they might blow him away from
a gun, but should never induce him to take service with
the enemy.” He, also,“ was put in irons by Moolraj, and
in despair at the shame which had been brought on Mr.
Agnew’s escort, threw himself into a well, as he was pass-
ing it under a guard, and was drowned.”}

In the list of ““ openly disaffected Sirdars of the Lahore
State, ascertained to be in rebellion and insurrection,” for-
warded by the Resident on the 25th of December, 1848,
for the information of the Governor-General, we find Golab
Sing Povindea and his son Sirdar Alla Sing included, to
whose names, however, with two others, this note is ap-
pended :—“It is most probable that these Sirdars are

* Papers, Punjanb, 1849, pp. 462, 463.
t A4 Year on the Punjaub fFrontier, vol. ii, p. 162,
I 126id., vol. ii, p. 161,
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under restraint with the Peshawur troops.”* They were
certainly under restraint.

Sirdar Goolab Sing Povindea was the General in com-
mand of the Division of Sikh troops at Peshawur, and also
Governor of the Province, and Major George Lawrence,t
the Resident’s Assistant at that place, repeatedly praises
his constant exertions, and those of his son, Colonel Alla
Sing, to preserve good order in the district, and keep the
troops steady to their allegiance. Indecd all the superior
officers at this station, with one exception, appear to have
been most active and zealous, and to have done their best on
behalf of the Government of Lahore.§ With their assist-
ance, Major Lawrence most gallantly remained at his post
until the middle of October, 1348, when the troops broke
into open mutiny.  Soon after this, an intercepted letter
from the rebel leader, Rajah Shere Sing, contains this pas-
sage :— The Peshawur troops have left that place, with
all the guns.  The Povindea” (Sirdar Golab Sing Povin-
dea) “and Elahee Bukhsh” (the General of Artilleryll)
‘“are in confinement, and the Feringhees have fled to the
Khyber.”§|

Thus Lord Dalhousic’s wholesale impeachment is not
just, even if restricted to ““the army.” Again we find
General Whish, in his final despatch of the 23rd January,
1849, after the fall of Mooltan, expressing his thanks to
General Cortlandt, “who commanded the Regular Regi-
ments and Artillery of the Durbar,”**—i. e. of the Lahore
Government,—and the Governor-General himself sends
his thanks to General Clortlandt for the same services, ‘“as
an officer of the Maharajah of Lahore, through the Resi-
dent.”tt

Notwithstanding the defection of Rajah Shere Sing,
Major® Edwardes had still a considerable force of Durbar
troops under his command, at_the end of the siege of
Mooltan, and was able to detach six guns and a Regular
gegiment, besides Irregular troops, to reinforce Lieutenant
"Taylor at Lukkee.}} That officer and Lieutenant Young,

' Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 490. t Now Sir George Lawrence.
1 Papers, Punjaub, 1849, pp. 291, 315, 339, 397, 398.
§ 1bid., pp. 389, 397. u_lbni., p. 340. q 1tid., p. 414,

** 1hid., p. 55G. 1 Ibid., p. 586. 11 2bid., pp. 551, 570,

M



162 CHAPTER VL

acting under the directions of Major Edwardes, main-
tained themselves in different parts of the Derajat and
Trans-Indus territory, and retook several forts from the
insurgents, without the aid of any British troops.* Lieu-
tenant Taylor appears to have had at one time 5,000 men
with twelve guns under his command.t Some of these
were the old Regular Infantry and Artillery of the Lahore
Government, some were new levies, but all were in the
service of the Native State, and raised from the popula-
tion of the country subject to Maharajah Dhuleep Sing.
One superior officer, at least, who was with Lieutenant
Taylor, was a Sikh,—Futteh Sing, mentioned as “a good
soldier.”t Some troops in the pay of two of the loyal
Sirdars attached to the Lahore Government, Misr Sahib
Dyal and Dewan Jowahir MulL§ did good service to the
end of the campaign.| Dewan Jowahir Mull in person,
with Sheikh Emam-ood-deen, an ofticer of high rank under
the Lahore Government, formerly Governor of Cashnere,
were present “ with their men”at the action of Soorujkoond,
near Mooltan, on the 7th November, 1848, and are said by
Major Edwardes to have ‘“behaved very well.”q[  Soon
after this affair, Sheikh Emam-ood-deen and his force were
detached by Major Edwardes, to drive the rebels out of
the district of Jhung ; and while General Whish was con-
cluding the siege of Mooltan, the Sheikh was occupied in
investing the stronghold of Chuniote, the rebel garrison
of which, 2,000 strong, laid down their arms to General
Whish on the 9th February, 1849, on his march from
Mooltan to join Lord Gough’s army, and were made over
as prisoners to Sheikh Emam-ood-deen. **

Misr Sahib Dyal, whose men did their duty so faithfully
to the last, was selected by the Resident in November,
1848, to accompany the Head-quarters of the Commander-
in-Chief, Lord Gough, “as the chief officer on the part of
the Durbar,”—the Regency, with whom, according to Lord
Dalhousie, we were then, “to all intents and purposes,
directly at war!” He is described as “an able and highly

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, pp. 588, 630. t Ibid., p. 585. 1 Ibid., p. 633.
§. See the Hst, Z6id., p. 547. | 26id., p. 631. 9§ Ibid., p. 422.
*y[ﬁbzd., pp- 457, 58t,— Fdwardes’s Year on the Punjaub Frontier, vol. ii,
p. 556.
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intelligent, person, of considerable experience and know-
ledge of the country, and of approved fidelity to the in-
terests of the young Mahamjall; and the British Govern-
ment.”*

This same Misr Sahib Dyal had, at an earlier period,
brought to a successful conclusion, by means of the troops
under his own command, a most important affair, which
had caused much anxiety to the Resident, and occupied a
large British force for more than a month,—the destruction
and dispersion of a formidable band of insurgents, at one
time 5,000 in number, under a noted fanatic, Bhaee
Maharaj Sing, who, in communication with Dewan Mool-
raj, the rebel Governor of Mooltan, und well provided with
funds, was scouring the country, and summoning the
Sikhs to join in a religious war. The last scene in the
active career of this fanatic is thus described in the Re-
sident’s despatch of the 13th June, 1848.

“ Misr Sahib Dyal was as good as his word ; and he and his
people kept their promise faithfully. On arriving at Jhung, the
Bhaee’s force had diminished to about 1000 or 1200 men’; the
Misr’s party immediately attacked them, and, though really in-
ferior in numbers, they were fresh, while their opponents were
hungry, and tired by a long and harassing retreat. A great
many of the rebels were killed in the encounter, and three or four
of the Misr’s men, and ten or twelve wounded. The whole rebel
force was driven into tho Chenab, a difficult river to cross at all
times, and now formidable from being much swollen by the rains
and the melted snow. It is calculated that from 500 to 600, horse
and foot, perished in the river,—among the rebels, Bhace Maharaj.
Three hundred of the rcbels were taken by the Misr’s soldiers in
boats, and put into confincment in Jhung. Tho Bhaee’s four
officers, Sikhs of some note, were among the prisoners, and are
now on their way to Lahore in irons.”}

Lord Dalhousie writes to the Secret Committee that
“the destruction of the outlaw, Bhaee Maharaj, and the
utter discomfiture of his followers, is an event which has
greatly tended to the support of British authority.”}

The death of Bhaee Maharaj on that occasion became
afterwards a matter of doubt ;§ but his fame and influence
were annihilated ; and Lord Dalhousie, in his final Minute

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 444. t Ibid., p. 213,
t Ibid., p. 187. § lbid., p. 625.
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declaring the annexation of the Punjaub, admits that “the
measures taken against Bhaee Maharaj Sing, who, with
some thousand followers was raising the country in the
Rechna Doab, and the flight and dispersion of his followers,
combined to keep down any manifestations of disaffection
in the neighbourhood of Lahore.”*

Thus even his own words, extracted from the Blue Book,
contradict Lord Dalhousie’s complaint that “the Regency,
during thesc troubles, gave no substantial or cffective
assistance to the British Government.”t

It is true that the Resident at one time speaks of his
Councillors as merely “acquicscing” in the plans he was
pursuing,—as deficient in “zeal, energy, and judgment.”
On the 14th July, 1848, however, he writes :—“ A great
change has come over the spirit of the Durbar : they have
been making the most decided and very successful exer-
tions to procure carriage of every description for the use
of the British troops, and to aid m the conveyance of the
siege train.”§ One member of the Regency, Rajah Deena
Nath, was sent from Lahore on a mission into the Hazara
Province in September, 1848 ; and after his return the
Resident writes to the Governor-General -

“His presenco in that part of the country had the cffect of
assuring the inhabitants, and he certainly appears to have used
his influence, in cevery way, to defeat the machinations of Sirdar
Chuttur Sing. Since his return he appears to havo entered,
zealously and earnestly, into tho measures adopted for punishing
the rebels, by the confiscation of their jaghires, and the attach-
ment of their houses and property, and for counteracting the plots
of the insurgents.” ||

On August 16th, 1848, the Resident writes as follows
to Lord Dalhousie: “ The conduct of the Durbar, collec-
tively and individually, has been entirely satisfactory in
everything connected with this outbreak, and, indced, in
all other respects for the last two months.”q[

Lord Dalhousie, always overlooking the fact that the
control of the finances was in the hands of the British
Resident, places first and foremost among the “ gross vio-
lations” of Treaties of which ““ the Sikhs” had been guilty,
the non-payment of our military subsidy.

* DPapers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 657. + Iéid, p. 660. T I, p. 197.
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 In return for the aid of British troops, they bound themselves
to pay to us a subsidy of 22 lakhs per annum. From the day
when the Treaty was signed, to the present hour, not one rupee
has ever been paid. TLoans advanced by the British Government
to enable them to discharge the arrears of their disbanded troops
have never been repaid.”*

And in the Proclamation declaring the Punjaub to have
become British territory, he says ;—“ Of their annual tri-
bute no portion whatever has at any time been paid ; and
large loans, advanced to them by the Government of India,
have never been repaid.”t

The Blue Book contradicts the assertion that “not one
rupee,” that “ no portion,” had ever been paid.  On Feb-
ruary 23rd, 1848, the Resident reports as follows to the
Governor-General. ** The Durbar have paid into this trea-
sury gold to the value of Rupees 13,56,837. By this pay-
ment they have reduced their debt to the British Govern-
ment from upwards of forty lakhs of rupees to less than
twenty-seven.”§

In this same despatch, written about six weeks before
the outbreak at Mooltan, the Resident recorded his satis-
faction with the financial arrangements and prospects of
the Durbar.

“They have thus, by economy and care, been able to make
good four monthy’ pay of the Irregular Cavalry, to discharge tho
whole of the arrcars of the men who have been pensioned and
disbanded, to meet their current expenses, and have still, at this
moment, full cight lakhs of rupees in the different treasuries to
mccet tho public exigencies.”§

If a financial equilibrium had not been restored, and if
the regular payment of the tribute had not commenced,
when the rebellion of 1848 once more threw everything
into confusion, it was no fault of the Council of Regency.
Not only had the British authorities accepted the trust
with their eyes open to the disordered state of the finances,
but the Resident—opposed by the Council of Regency and
supported by the Governor-General,—had introduced ex-
tensive changes into the fiscal system, leading, as had been
anticipated, to a very serious loss of revenue.

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 659. t Ibid., p. 654,
t Ibid., pp. 110, 111. § 1bid, p. 111,
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In a letter dated July 3rd, 1847, the Resident states as
follows to the Governor-General :—

T propose only to give half salaries, until the State is clear of
its debts, which I now estimate at thirty-five lakhs.

1 found the trcasury empty.

¢ Deficiency of cash, as I said before, and cntire want of public
credit, have tied my hands; indeed, but for tho loan of seven
lakhs of rupees granted by our Government, I do not know what
T could have done.

« Estimating the debt of the Durbar for last year at nine lakhs,
the account will stand, at the end of the present year, leaving a
balance of Rs. 13,95,265, which, I fear, cannot be paid off under
a year and a half, exclusivo of the twenty-two lakhs subsidy
yearly.””*

The financial reforms introduced by the Resident were
certain, as he admitted, to entail an immediate, though
perhaps only a temporary, sacrifice of revenue. These are
his reports to the Governor-General on August 28th, and
December 16th, 1847, and January 12th, 1848.

1. ¢ The finances of the Lahore Durbar are certainly not in a pro-
sperous condition. By the returns lately submitted to the Gover-
nor-General, there is a surplus of twenty-mne lakhs and upwards,
but out of this sum the annual commutation, payable to the British
Government, and tho extra expenses consequent on the new sys-
tem of paying Councillors, Adawluttees, and Nazims must be de-
frayed. A reform of the Customs as well as the land-taw, all abso-
lutely necessary, will probably not involve a sacrifice of less than
Sfrom twelve to fifteen lakhs of rupees.t

2. “ The finances aro stillin a very uunsatisfactory state ; it is the
one great difficulty which now remains. The introduction of the
new system of land-tax ; the reform in the Customs ; the loss at-
tendant on reforming the curvency, and calling in all the depreciated
coinage ; with the sums necessary for paying up the arrears of
the Irregulars, and the civil officials, cannot but amount to a large
sum. Much of this pressure, no doubt, is but temporary ; still
in tho exhausted state of the treasury, it is with the greatest dif-
ficulty that the Durbar can meet its demands.}

8. ““ The revenue settlement is rapidly progressing.

“The difference between the real and nominal revenue will,
probably, be little less than a fourth ; and from the former must
again be deducted the reductions on the summary setilement. The

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, pp. 22, 23,24, + Ibid, pp. 56, 67.
i Ibid, p.93. T »PRE5
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savings from the decreased expenses of management will go far
to meet the last noted deficiency ; but still the income will, I fear,
inevitably fall short of the expenditure.”*

On January 31st, 1848, he reports some further reduc-
tions in the Customs duties.

“In the Customs I have reduced the dutics on dried fruits and
other articles, from five rupees per maund to three rupees; on
silk, from forty to twenty-four rupees ; on English coarse calicoes,
from thirty to twenty rupees; and on sugar from two rupees to
one rupee per maund.”’+

All these measures received the Governor-General’s ap-
proval and confirmation. They were not so favourably
viewed by the Council of Regency. but no opposition was
attempted, or would have been permitted. The Reside
makes the following remarks in a despatch to Lord Da/-
housie of April 6th, 1848.

““The settlement was, of course, most summary, and its defails
have yet to be filled up. Its working must be most carefully
watched. Tho Durbar was averse to its introduction, but yielded,
as they always do; and contented themselves, with the exception
of Rajah Deena Nath, with standing aloof from its execution ;
leaving the whole matter to tho Resident and his Assistants.

“ Rajah Deena Nath sees the financial embarrassment of the
State, and fecls that the more we interfero with details, especially
where the revenue is concerned, the less will be the Durbar’s re-
sponsibility for financial difficulties and deficiencies.”’t

There is no reason to doubt the wisdom of these revenue
settlements; they prove, however, that the temporary
failure of the Punjaub State to meet its pecuniary engage-
ments was not wilful or faithless ; they prove not merely
the full knowledge and participation of the British Govern-
ment, in those fiscal and administrative changes which
made immediate solvency impossible, but its sole responsi-
bility for those changes.

Yet Lord Dalhousie places the regular payment of the
Subsidy among “ the main provisions .of the agreement,”
which “ the Sikhs” had “ either entirely evaded, or grossly
violated.”§ There was neither evasion nor violation. The
only cause of the subsidy having fallen into arrears, was
that the Resident, in the plenitude of his powers, had
thought fit to lessen the receipts of the State, and to di-

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 99. t Ibid., pp. 104, 105,
1 1bdd., p. 128. § Zbid., p. 659.
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vert the expenditure into other channels. These financial
measures were, doubtless, most judicious, but they were
entirely the Resident’s work, approved by the Governor-
General, reluctantly accepted by the Durbar. They were
of temporary effect ; and ample assets remained available,
at the end of the war, for the gradual liquidation of all
possible demands on the part of the British Government.

Lord Dalhousie totally fails to make out any violation
of the Treaty against the Lahore State,—the only specific
instance he adduces, the non-payment of the subsidy, being,
as we have seen, a mere matter of account, a circumstance
by which the case is not in the least modified to the pre-
Jjudice of the State of Lahore.* He contrives to fasten a
plausible stigma of perfidy and violation of treatics upon
the State of Lahore, only by ringing the changes through
several paragraphs, upon the terms, “the Sikh nation,”
“ the Sikhs,” “ the Sikh people,” and “ the Government”
or “ State of Lahore,”t until a thorough confusion is esta-
blished. For these are not convertible terms.

‘What “ the State of Lahore” was, and what « the Go-
vernment of Lahore” was, during the British occupation
and management, under the Treaty of Bhyrowal, we
have just determined.

“The Sikh people,” as we have already remarked,} is
not a phrase synonymous with “ the people of the Punjaub,”
the great majority of whom took no share in the revolt,
and felt no sympathy with it ; while at least 20,000 sub-
jects of the Lahore State, enrolled in its service, fought
on the side of the Government, and assisted in suppressing
the rebellion.

Lord Dalhousie evidently perccived the forensic and
moral difficulty in the way of annexation, created by the
relation of Guardianship under the Treaty of Bhyrowal,
between the two States,—Dbetween the infant Sovereign
of the Punjaub and the Governor-General of British India.
He saw the necessity of mecting that difficulty somehow.
He could not leave i1t entirely unnoticed. But he did not
state it fully or fairly; and the solution offered in the
following passages is quite inadequate.

* Ante, p. 165. t Papers, Punjaub, 1819, pp. 661, 662.
t Ante, p. 158.
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« Tt has becn objected that the present dynasty in the Punjaub
cannot with justice be subverted, since Maharajah Dhuleep Sing,
being yet a minor, can hardly be held responsible for the acts of
the nation. With deference to those by whom these views have
been entertained, I must dissent entirely from the soundness of
this doctrine.””*

No such unsound doctrine lay before him. The 6bjec-
tion was not to the subversion of a minor, but to the sub-
version of a Ward by his Guardian. Nor was it merely
a question of “subverting a dynasty,” but of subverting a
State, protected and administered, under Treaty, by the
British Government. I have already shown that Lord
Dalhousie had no right to speak of the acts of the rebels,
either as “the acts of the mnation,” or of “the State of
Lahore.”t

Lord Dalhousie went on to argue that this imaginary
false doctrine,~—the irresponsibility of a minor Sovereign,
—had “been disregarded heretofore, in practice, and dis-
regarded in the case of the Maharajah Dhuleep Sing him-
self.” He continues thus :—

¢ When, in 1845, the Khalsa army invaded our territories, the
Maharajah was not held to be free from responsibility, nor was
he exempted from the consequences of his people’s acts.  On the
contrary, the Government of India confiscated to itself the richest
provinces of the Maharajah’s kingdom, and was applauded for the
moderation which had exacted no more.

“ Furthermore, the Maharajah having been made to pay the
penalty of the past offences of his people, due warning was given
him that he would be held, m like manner, responsible for their
future acts. Tho Muharajah, in reply, acknowledging this warn-
ing, says, < If in consequence of the recurrence of misrule in my
Government, the peace of the British frontier be disturbed, I
should be held respousible for the same,

“If the Maharajah was not exempted from responsibility on
the plea of his tender years, at the age of'eight, he cannot, on
that plea, be entitled to exemption from a like responsibility, now
that he 1s three years older.”f

It is strange that Lord Dalhousie should have so com-
pletely overlooked the real difference between 1846 and
1849. The question of age was immaterial at both periods.
There was no plea of exemption in 1846 when the warning

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 663. t dnte, p. 159,
1 Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p, 663.
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was given and acknowledged, because the Ma,haraf'ah was
the reigning Prince of an independent State. Although
he was a minor, his mother, his near relatives, and their
chosen advisers, were the actual Rulers of the State. In
1849 the actual Ruler of the State was the British Resident,
under the Governor-General’s instructions.

Of course a minor Prince is the personal representative
of the State, and must stand or fall with its fortunes.
But a minor Prince under the tutelage of a powerful
neighbour, cannot justly be held responsible for the acts
of the nation which his Guardian has undertaken to guide
and control.

In 1846 the Maharajah was a conquered enemy. In
1849 the Muharajuh was a Ward ; the British Govern-
ment was the Guardian. His mother, his natural Guar-
dian and late Regent, was banished from the Punjaub;
several of his relatives and former ministers were in prison
or exile. The Maharajah was now entirely exempt from
responsibility, simply because all responsibility had been
assumed by the British Government.

From the 16th of December, 1846, the date of the
Treaty of Bhyrowal, down to the 29th of March, 1849,
when the Proclamation annexing the Punjaub was issued,
the Government of Lahore was in strict subordination to
the British Government ; and its subordination was never
interrupted, suspended, or relaxed for a single day. If,
indeed, the Government of Lahore could justly have been
made responsible for any of the untoward events of 1848
and 1849, Sir Frederick Currie, the Resident, must have
been the first person indicted, for he was the absolute
head of that Government. This is a fair reductio ad
absurdum of that sophistical and fallacious rhetoric, by
which Lord Dalhousie confounded “the Sikhs,” “the Sikh
nation,” “‘the people of the Punjaub,” “the Lahore Govern-
ment,” and “the State of Luhore,” as if they were syno-
nymous and co-extensive terms, with the object of justify-
ing the violation of Treaties, and the evasion of a sacred -
duty.

L)(’)rd Dalhousie’s motives, as avowed by himself, for
abandoning the office of Guardian, and the noble work of
restoring order and self-government to the Punjaub State,
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when so much progress had already been secured, were
not of the highest order. To me they appear morally low,
politically short-sighted, and altogether unworthy of a
yreat and generous nation, claiming to play the part of
%mperial Instructor and Exemplar to India and the Fast.
He argued that if our Government continued to maintain
“the Sikh nation as an independent State,” and instituted
a reformed administration by “a larger measure of British
control,” “we should have all the labour, all the anxiety,
all the responsibility, which would attach to the territories
if they were actually made our own ; while we should not
reap the corresponding benefits of increase of revenue and
acknowledged possession.”*

That labour, anxiety, and responsibility we had under-
taken; those benefits,—imaginary enough, as we now
know,—we had foregone by the Treaty of Bhyrowal. As
to “a larger measure of British control,” there could be no
larger measure than those “unlimited powers” in ever
department, which we held under that Treaty, and whici
the Resident had never ceased to exercise.

On the other hand, Lord Dalhousie observed, “the re-
venues are very considerable in the aggregate. A large
proportion has, hitherto, been diverted from the public
treasury in jaghires to the Chiefs. A considerable amount
of revenue will now be recovered from the confiscation of
the jaghires of those who have been engaged in hostilities
against us.”f He has “no hesitation in expressing a con-
fident belief that the Punjaub will, at no distant time, be
not only a secure, but a profitable possession.”}

“At no distant time,”—before Lord Dalhousie’s tour of
office expired,—this ““confident belief” was signally con-
tradicted.

In addition to this delusive hope of profit, and the desire
to evade a burdensome obligation, Lord Dalhousie alleges
a regard for “self-defence,” and “the security of our own
territories,” as compelling us “to relinquish the policy which
would maintain the independence of the Sikh nation in
the Punjaub.”§

“There never will be peace in the Punjaub,” he urges,

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, pp. 662, 663, t Idid., p. 664.
t Ibid., p. 665, § Ibid, p. 661
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“so long as its people are allowed to retain the means and
the opportunity of making war. There never can be now
any guaranty for the tranquillity of India, until we shall
have effected the entire subjection of the Sikh people, and
destroyed its power as an independent nation.”*

The same equivocal use of the terms, “the Sikh people”
or “nation,” and “the people of the Punjaub,” is employed
here, as throughout this despatch. The people of the
Punjaub in general were not hostile, as Lord Dalhousie
acknowledged.t The Sikh army and the turbulent por-
tion of the Sikh people, had been effectually subjected,
and deprived of the means of making war. Reduced in
numbers, subdued to orderly discipline, the Sikh army
never could have regained its insolent pre-eminence in the
State, as the embodied representative of the Sikh religion
and Commonwealth,—the Khalsa Punth. And its con-
spicuous humiliation was sure to operate in a very whole-
some manner upon the Sikh population, not only in the
Punjuuﬁ, but throughout Sirhind, the Jullundhur Doab,
and the feudatory States on both sides of the Sutlej.

Deprived of all supremacy and influence over many of
these minor States, whose resources were now transferred
to the British Govermment, and proved of material assist-
ance during the campaign of 1849, weakened by the loss
of Jullundhur and Cashmere, —the former in our posses-
sion, the latter placed on her flank as a jealous vival,—the
Punjaub State, even if freed from the British occupation,
could hardly be considered independent after the Treaties
of 1846. Certainly her independence was not of such a
character as to afford reasonable grounds of apprehension
for “the tranquillity of India,” or for *‘the security of our
own territories.”  Lord Hardinge had taken good carc of
that.

By Articles II, III, and IV, of the Treaty of the 9th
of March, 1846, the Maharajah Dhuleep Sing renounced
for himself, his heirs and successors, “all claim to, or con-
nection with the territories to the south of the Sutlej,”
and between the rivers Sutlej and Beas, (the Jullundhur
Doab,) ceded to the British Government ; and also gave
up Cashmere and the Hill Countries, designed to form a

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p, 662, t Ante, p. 158,
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Principality for Rajah Golab Sing. By Article VII, the
“Regular Army of the Lahore State” was “henceforth
limited to twenty-five Battalions of Infantry, and 12,000
Cavalry,” and this force was never to be increased without
the express permission of the British Government. By
Article IX the control of the rivers Beas, Sutlej, and
Indus, in respect to tolls and ferries, was to rest with the
British Goovernment. By article X, British troops, due
notice being given, were to be allowed to pass through the
Lahore territories. By Article XI, no European or Ame-
rican was to be takeu into the service of thé Punjaub
State without the permission of the British Government.
By Articles XIT and XIIT “the independent Sovereignty”
of Rajah Golab Sing was recoqnise(l, and any dispute or
difference between him and the Lahove State was to be
referred to the British Government, whose decision was
to be final. By Article XTIV no territorial acquisitions
were henceforth to be made “without the concurrence of
the British Government.”*

The “independence” stipulated in this Treaty for Rajah
Golab Sing, tributary and feudatory of the British Govern-
ment, signifies, of course, merely independence of Lahore.
This is an instance of the looseness and want of precision
with which the terms “independent” and “independence”
have been used in our Indian Treaties and State papers,
and by no one more frequently than Lord Dalhousie. But
even if the meaning of the term “independence,” which he
applies to “the Silﬁl nation,” be confined to that freedom
of internal administration which was to be restored to the
Punjaub at the end of the Maharajah’s minority, there cer-
tainly was nothing in the prospect to alarm a British
statesman.

Lord Dalhousie, in fact, could not have constructed his
specious case of “self-defence” against the dangerous ““in-
dependence” of the Punjaub State,—he could not even have
deceived himself on the subject,—if he had not employed
that misleading formula, “the independence of the Sikh
nation.”

The Sikh nation,—if a sect can be called a nation,—

* Papers, the late Hostilities, 1846, pﬁr. 99, 101 ; and Collection of Treaties,
Calcutta (London, Longman & Co.,) vol. ii, pp. 261, 268.
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neither constitutes the population of the Punjaub, nor is
confined to the Punjauﬁ. It was not the Sikh religion,
nor the Sikh nationality within the Punjaub, that rendercd
the establishment of a strong and orderly Government in
that country so difficult, but the large floating population
of recently disbanded soldiers, and their favourite leaders,
belonging to the dominant sect, and accustomed to political
supremacy. The organisation of the Sikh army was not
thoroughly broken up ; the defeated Khalsa had not for-
gotten their old habits, nor lost their old hopes. All that
they wanted was that second lesson, which we had pro-
mised to administer, if necessary.

The pacification of the Punjaub after 1849, is not in the
least explained by its becoming a British Province, but by
the simple fact that the Sikhs had been well beaten, and
that they knew it. Whatever doubt may have been left
on their minds after the campaign of 1846, was now ef-
fectually dispelled. They could not contend against the
British Government. They had been made to lay down
their arms ; they had lost all their guns; their proudest
and most trusted Chieftains were all discomfited ; their
saints and prophets were all discredited ; their union was
dissolved. They had been defeated without disgrace ; a
great deal of fanatical nonsense had probably been knocked
out of them ; and, by all accounts, they bore no particular
grudge against us for the lesson we had taught them.

There i, in fact, no reason to doubt that the Punjaub
would have been as peaceful and friendly under a Native
Prince during the last nineteen years, as the States of
Nepaul and Gwalior have been, the former for fifty years
since its last defeat, the latter for twenty-four years since
its final subjection to the British Government.

The Nepaulese, animated by a long career of conquest,
and with an overweening confidence in their own power
and resources, made war upon usin 1814. Their successes
against our troops in the first campaign, induced them to
protract the contest for nearly two years; but they were
taught the error of trusting in the inaccessibility of their
mountain fastnesses, and their Envoy was compelled to
present on his knees at the British General's Durbar,* the

¢ Prinsep's Marquis of Hastings' Administration, (Allen, 1825), vol. i, p. 205.
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Treaty of peace ratified by the Maharajah, giving up all
the points In dispute, and ceding a large tract of territory.
Since this humiliation in March, 1816, a British Resident
has been constantly at the capital of Nepaul ; that Govern-
ment has maintained the most amicable relations with us;
and in 1857-8 a force of 20,000 Goorkhas, commanded b
the Prime Minister and Commander-in-Chief, Maha,rajaf:
Jung Bahadoor, cooperated with Lord Clyde’s army in
suppressing the rebellion in Oude.

The military operations of 1843 in the territories of
Maharajah Scindia of Gwalior, had for their pretext and
object the coercion of a turbulent and unmanageable army,
unnecessarily large for the purposes of the Native State,
and massed so as to threaten our frontier near the im-
portant city of Agra. Two battles were fought ; the de-
feated army was disbanded, and reorganised on a limited
scale under a new and more stringent Treaty. Since that
time the State of Gwalior has given no ground of complaint;
and in the crisis of 1857, Maharajah Scindia and his minis-
ters, though placed in the vortex of insurrection, sur-
rounded by mutinous and clamorous troops, “raised, paid,
disciplined, and”(recently) “commanded by British officers,”
in the style which, in Lord Dalhousie’s opinion, could alone
make native troops safe;*—contrived to render most valu-
able services to the British Government.

Every historical analogy, every contemporaneous event,
all the probabilities of the case, indicate that the Sikhs,
under the reformed Government of Maharajah Dhuleep
Sing, would have been as proud and as eager to cooperate
with British troops in 1857, as were the Sikhs under the
Sikh Rajahs of Puttiala, Jheend, Nabha, and Kuppoor-
thulla, as were the troops of the Rajah of Cashmere, or the
Nepaulese under Jung Bahadoor. Delhi was the accursed
city of the Mogul, the centre of Mussulman arrogance, the
place of martyrdom of the great Sikh prophets, and de-
voted by their predictions to the vengeance of their dis-
ciples. Animated by these traditional animosities, with
the hope of plunder, and “the old scorn for the Poorbeah
Sepoy,”t the Sikhs rallied to our banner in the newly raised

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 662.
1 Trotter’s Ilistory of India from 1844 to 1862, vol. ii, p. 70.
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Punjaubee Regiments, and pressed towards Delhi with
confidence and good will. But these notorious induce-
ments would have operated with double force under the
rule of their own Rajah. As it is, the extensive re-employ-
ment of the Punjaubees in 1857, their share in the glory
and plunder of Delhi and Lucknow, unquestionably revived
much of their soldietly self-respect, but with it, by all ac-
counts, somewhat of a bitter sense of their inadequate
military rewards, and of their degradation as a race,—
feelings that are by no means conducive to abject and con-
tented submission.

Lord Dalhousie argued, that “warlike in character, and
long accustomed to conquest, the Sikhs must, of necessity,
detest the British as their conquerors.”* But if the ad-
nuinistration of the Punjaub dwing the Rajah’s minority,
had been continued, there would have been no “con-
querots” to detest. Tt was Lord Dalhousie who, by a
violation of the Treaty, converted owr protective occupation
into a so-called conquest. If the Treaty had not been
violated, the defeated insurgents would have been simply
a Vanquished party in the State, and, as I believe, finally
vanquished. No humiliation would have fallen on the
Maharajah, upon the Board of Regency, or upon the Sir-
dars, their followers, and the troops, who had supported
the constituted authoritics. And even for the vanquished
party,—the fanatical lower class of Sikhs,—if the Punjaub
State had been maintained, the participation of its army in
the military exploits of the British Government, would
have taken out all the sting of defeat in the pride of a
common victory.

The fact is that the Government of the Punjaub, so long
as there was a regular Government, never had the least
inclination to go to war with us. The State of Lahore,
throughout the time of its greatest pride and prosperity,
under Runjeet Sing, had remained on the best terms with
the British Government. Even after the great Maharajah’s
death, amidst the excitement of our disasters in Affghan-
istan, and the operations to retrieve them and withdraw
our troops, amicable relations were preserved for several
years, until what Lord Hardinge correctly described as

* DPapers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 662.
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s democratic revolution”;* threw all the power of the
State into the hands of the army. The military Puncha-
yuts used their power in a manner that was most offensive
and alarming to all adherents of Runjeet Sing’s dynasty.
They “issued their orders, under the designation belonging
to the Sikh sect, before Runjeet Sing became a monarch,
viz. :—the Khalsa Punth, (Khalsajee-ka Punth)’—the
Company of the Elect. “They formally assumed the Go-
verninent, and sent letters bearing thelr seal, inscribed
merely with the name of God, to all local officers, militury
leaders, and members of the Durhar, requiring their pre-
sence and obedience.”t The Princes, the ministers, the
nobles, even the superior officers of the army, all who had
anything to lose, werc on the side of peace with us, and
good order within their own fronticr. It was so in 1845,
and equally, or more so, in 1849.

We have seen how long, and how stoutly, Rajah Shere
Sing resisted the growing impulse,—with what reluctance,
under what an imperative summons, amid what confusion
and despair, he at last yielded. And, after all, he alone,
out of the eight leading Sirdars of the Punjaub, selected
to form the Council of Regency, took part in the insurrec-
tion,—and then, not as a voluntary participator in the
common cause, but closely touched by special motives of
personal honour, and the Oriental sense of implicit filial
obedience.

Many of the Sirdars withstood for a long time every
incentive to rebellion, and were at last dragged or forced
into it by the soldiery who surrounded them. The army
was, in fact, the sole obstacle to be overcome before a
reformed and sclf-sustaining Government could be estab-
lished in the Punjaub. Under our protective manage-
ment,—with or without a second struggle,—that obstacle
would have been overcome. The reorganisation of the
army, and pacification of the Sikhs and other warlike
tribes, were merely matters of time. The intervals of the
Rajal’s minority would probably have been sufficiently
long. The negotiators of the Treaty of Bhyrowal certainly
contemplated the possibility of a second struggle. Lord
Hardinge and Sir Henry Lawrence were prepared for it,

* Papers, the Late Hostilities, 1846, p. 6. + Ibid., p. 8.
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though they did not expect it ; and but for a strange suc-
cession of mishaps and errors of judgment, I firmly belicve
the second struggle would have been avoided.  In either
case, whether the second struggle was unavoidable, whether
it was provoked or aggravated by our shortcomings or
faults, we ought to have borne the brunt of it without
complaining.

The spirit, the habits, the traditional pride of the old
Khalsa troops, in the ranks of the local army, and in the
districts chiefly inhabited by the Sikhs, were the unruly
elements we had undertaken to curb and coerce. It was
our duty to conquer those unruly clements; but having
done so, we had no right to say, as Lord Dalbousic did,
that we had “conquercd” the territories under our tutelage.
That was not a conquest,—it was a breach of trust. We
availed ourselves to the utmost, and to the last moment,
of our advantageous position as the civil and military
administrators of the Punjaub; we held its strongholds,
and disposed of all its resources, including 20,000 soldicrs
recruited from its population ; we disasrmed many wavering
and doubtful opponents by appealing to their conservative
interests and loyal sentiments, and disavowing hostility
to their Sovereign and institutions ;—all this we were
authorised and bound to do, with the object of quelling
the insurrection, but not with the object of violating the
Treaties, as soon as the crisis was over, by turning our
occu]'pution into possession.

The rvesults of that ill-advised acquisition up to the
present time, seem to me to have been of a mixed charac-
ter,—absolutely injurious and exhausting to the British
Empire, relatively beneficial in some respects, prejudicial
in others, to the people of the Punjaub,—but I can per-
ceive no advantage, material or moral, that has been
gained by any person or class, that could not have been
more fully and effectually conferred and secured, without
annexation than with it.

Lord Dalhousie objected, that “hesitation on our part
would be attributed, not to forbearance, but to fear; it
would be regarded, not as the result of a magnanimous
policy, but as the evidence of a pusillanimous spirit.”*

* Papers, Punjaub, 1849, p. 664.
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This is a most frivolous and unstatesmanlike objection.
Magnanimity after success never presents the appearance
of fear, and 1s not in the least liable to be mistaken for it.
All India was thoroughly impressed with the complete
subjection of the Sikh army. There were manifold means
available for making that subjection, and the submission
of the entire people, a visible object to the whole Peninsula,
and for turning it tu the honour and credit of the Imperial
Power. According to the Oriental ideas the greatest
Sovereign is he who can make Princes, and who has the
largest number of Princes under his command and protec-
tion. Lord Dalhousie might have gained the hearts of
Princes and people by a plain statement of what had been
done, and what it was intended to do in the Punjaub.
Instead of doing so, he violuted Treatics, abused a sacred
trust, threw away the grandest opportunity ever offered to
the British Government, of planting solid and vital reform
up to the northern limits of India, and by an acquisition
as unjust as it was imprudent, entailed a heavy burden
upon the Empire. That, I believe, will be the verdict of
posterity and history, upon the transactions which have
Just passed under our review.

N2



CHAPTER VII.
ANNEXATION, ITS AUTHORS AND APOLOGISTS.

Boru the Duke of Argyll and Sir Charles Jackson seem
desirous of impressing two somewhat ill-assorted notions
upon their readers,—fivstly, that a deliberate policy of
gradually absorbing all the Native States has always been
the wisest policy for the British Government of India, and
will continue to be so for the future ; secondly, that Lord
Dalhousie did not form any such deliberate policy. They
tell us that “he did not originate the doctrine of ‘lapse;
that he did not extend it;” that some of the annexed
States simply “lapsed by operation of law ;” and that the
Governor-General conld not throw away “a golden oppor-
tunity ;”* while in the most notable instance of all, that of
Oude, he “deprecated annexation,” and “is not responsible”
for it. T
With the alleged scruples and misgivings of the chicf
agent in these tervitorial acquisitions, and their legal and
accidental character,——T have already dealt.y T shall only
add here that it is quite true that Lord Dalhousie did not
“originate the doctrine of lapse;” but by his eager and un-
questioning adhesion to that doctrine with its visionary
array of precedents, which a fair and candid inquiry would
have immediately dispelled, he made it his own, and gave
it practical efficacy. “The doctrine of lapse” was originated
by some Bengal and Bombay Civilians, and first applied
to a Sovereign State with which a Treaty of perpetual
alliance existed, by the Jate Sir J. P. Willoughby, then a
“Member of Council at Bombay, in the matter of the Sat-
tara succession. Some years ago I remarked, “Mr. J. P.
Willoughby was the real parent of Annexation; Lord
Dalhousie was only its nursing father.”§ But that cannot

* A Vindication, pp. 41, 42, t Ante, p. 46.
1 Ante, pp. 50, 51, 72, 74 ; and pp. 10 to 20.
§ The Eimpire in India, chapter on ¢ Sattara.”
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diminish his responsibility in the least. The “doctrine of
lapse” was a cruelly effective process, but without a policy
of annexation accepted by the Supreme Government 1t
would never have been applied.

The Duke of Argyll denies that there ever was “a policy
of annexation” at all ;* and Sir Charles Jackson declares
that, if there ever was such a policy, by the time Lord
Dalhousie left India, no reigning Prince remained who had
any reason to dread it, except the Rajal of Mysore.

“Then it is suggested that all the Princes of India were
alarmed by these annexations, and feared the application of the
doctrine of ‘ Japse’ to their own successions ; but the truth is that
the doctrine was capable of a very hmited application among
Princes.  Lord Dalhousic repeatedly declared that it was appli-
cable to dependent States only.

““I do not belicve that one independent Sovereign was alarmed
by these lapses of territory, but if there was such a Sovereign,
his fear was most unreasonable, and might have been removed
by ten minutes’ conversation with the Resident at his Court, or a
reference to Caleutta. But the range of this supposed dread was
still more limited, for the doctrine, requiring the consent of the
British Government to adoptions by dependent Sovereigns, is in-
applicable to those of the Mahomedan faith, and it was Lord Dal-
housie’s fate to gather in ncarly the whole crop of dependent
Hindoo territories. I believo that Mysore was the only one remain-
ing at the close of his administration.”

I shall take the last two sentences first,—both because,
if they held good, they would, indeed, confine within very
narrow bounds the alarmn and anxiety among native Princes
at the special process of rejecting adopted heirs, and be-
cause they present a strange example of the incompetence,
and want of preparation for the business he has taken in
hand, betrayed by Sir Charles Jackson, as soon as he
wanders from the particular Blue Books, on which he and
the Duke of Argyll would have every one pin their faith.
Yet there are Blue Books in existence,~—not to say school-
books,—that might have saved Sir Charles Jackson from
the error in question. He says that Lord Dalhousie
“gathered in nearly the whole crop of dependent Hindoo
territories,” and believes that “Mlysore was the only one
remaining at the close of his administration.” There are

* India under Dalhousie and Canning, pp. 4, 5, 16.
t A4 Vindication, p. 33.
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literally more than a hundred dependent Hindoo States
left. I exclude from consideration those Princes or Chief-
tains who only possess what is called “second class juris-
diction,”—of whom there are at least another hundred,—
and refer to those who maintain a military force, and have
the power of life and death within their own dominions.

Though I cannot admit that there is any “indepen-
dent” Hindoo Prince within the geographical limits of
India, except the Maharajah of Nepaul, I shall exclude,
for the present, the greater Princes of Rajpootana, the
Rajahs Scindia of Gwalior, Holkar of Indore, and others,
the extent of whose territories, and their internal auto-
nomy, may have led Sir Charles Jackson to suppose that
they did not come under the head of “dependent Sove-
reigns.”

Mr. J. C. Marshman, mentioned several times in Sir
William Sleeman’s letters as the writer of “rabid articles”
in the Friend of India, in favour of the absorption of
native States,* has recently published a History of India,
in which he naturally takes up the defence of Lord Dal-
housie’s administration.  He, likewise, tries to deprecate
censure on the wnjust restrictions of the Hindoo law of
inheritance, by contracting their sphere, but he is less
vague than S Charles Juckson, and deviates into a de-
cided misrepresentation.

It appears to be forgotten that the application of this law of
succession was confined to extremely narrow limits. It did not
affoct any of the Mahomedan Princes of India; and the Court of
Directors and Lord Dalhousie explicitly declared that it was appli-
cable exclusively to those subordinate and dependent Principahties
which had been created by the ¢ spontancous gencrosity’ of tho
British Government, and not to any of the independent Sovereigns.
It was, in fact, restricted to the States of Mysore, Sattara, Nag-
pore, and Jhansi, and possibly to one or two others of minor
account.”t

This statement is utterly inaccurate. Neither the Court
of Directors nor Lord Dalhousie ever made any such de-
claration. The pretended prerogative of rejecting adopted
heirs was extended by Lord Dalhousie, in a passage which
I shall quote at full length a little further on, to the

* Sleeman's Oude, vol. 1i, pp. 390, 395,
t History of India, (Longman and Co.) vol. iii, p. 400.
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“States which recognise formally the supremacy of the
British Government,”* a formula which would include
cvery Native State in India, with the exception of three or
four.

Sir Charles Jackson, who has “been in India,” does “not
believe that one independent Sovereign was alarmed by
these lapses of territory.” Let us hear the opinions of some
persons whom he would himself allow to have had better
opportunities than himself of judging.

General Sir John Low,—the last surviving pupil and
Assistant of Sir Joh:: Malcolm, who passed more than
thirty of the most active years of his life among Native
Princes and their subjects,---tells us that “the contidence
of our native allies was a good deal shaken by the annex-
ation of Sattara,” and that it voused feelings of discontent
and alarm throughout Malwa and Rajpootana, where he
was at that time Agent to the Governor-General.t And
Sir Frederick Currie, Resident and Councillor under Lord
Dallhousie’s Government, and now in the Council of India,
in his Dissent from the despatch of 1864 on the Mysore
guestion, remarks :—“The decision in the Sattara case,
whatever its merits may be, undoubtedly caused surprise
and alarm throughout the length and breadth of India.”}

The Duke of Argyll is strangely unwilling to give Lord
Dalhousie the full credit of the policy which he defends
and upholds.

It is indeed true that the annexation of the Punjaub proved
to be the first§ of a series of annexations. What is not true is
precisely that which is most commonly believed, viz., that this
was the result of a policy preconceived and deliberately pursued.
No policy was, or could be formed, applicable to the very different
circumstances which, in these various cases, terminated in a like
result.” ||

If for “policy,” the Duke of Argyll would substitute the
word, “process,” in the last sentence, his statement would
be quite correct. The policy was the same throughout ;
the process was varied according to the different circum-
stances of each case. We have just seen Sir Charles Jack-

* & 3 5 . 34, p. 48

: l;xl:;«;%e;, Cl' ;ge:s.] i}lgfiap . t Paper, Rajak of Berar, 1854, p. 43.

§ "T'hus is a mistake ; the annexation of Sattara was the first of the series,
|| India under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 4.
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son, after assuming that Lord Dalhousie had cleared off all
the “dependent” Princes, except Mysore, and satisfy ing
himself that no “independent” Sovercign could have Keen
alarmed at the clearance, observing that “the range of the
supposed dread was still more limited, for the doctrine,”
of lapse, “is inapplicable to those of the Mahomedan faith.”
Mr. Marshman makes the same observation, It is quite
true that the custom of adoption, though recognised in
their Jaw, Is not a binding duty upon Maliomedans, does
not form the essence of their inheritance, does not exclude
collaterals, and thus did not oftfer the convenient handle
for Lord Dalhousic’s operations among Mussulman, that it
did among Ilindoo tamilics. But he surcly extended

“the 1ange of the supposed dread” quite sufliciently by
his treatment of the Mussulman King of Oude, the

Nizam, Ameer Ali Morad, and the Nawab of the Carnatie.

He showed that the doctrine of “lapse” was not the only

weapon in his armoury, and that he could vary his process

according to circumstances.  The policy was avowedly the

same in every case; the pretext alone varied.

The policy was “preconceived and deliberately pursued,”
and is clearly enough announced in Lord Dalhousie’s own
words, penned within six months of his wrival in India,
and quoted by the Duke of Argyll.

“It was in the discussion of the Sattara question that Lord
Dalhousie recorded his dissent from the doctrine—apparently im-
plied though not directly asserted by Sir George Clerk—that the
maintenance of native Governments in the mdst of our own do-
minions was in itself politic and advantagcous :—

“There may be conflict of opinion (he says) as to the advan-
tage or propricty of extending our alroady vast possessions beyond
their present limats,  No man can deprecate more than T do any
extension of the frontiers of our termtory which can be avoided,
or which may not becomo indispensably necessary for considera-
tions of our own sufety and of the maimtenance of the tranquillity
of our own Provinces. But I cannot conceive it possible for any
one to dispute the policy of taking advantage of every just op-
portunity which presents itself for consolidating the territories
which already belong to us, by taking possession of States which
may lapse in the midst of them; for thus getting rid of thoso
petty intervening Principalities which may be made a means of
annoyance, but which can never, Tventure to think, be a source of
strength ; for adding to the resources of tho public treasury ; and
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for extending the uniform application of our system of govern-
ment to those whose best interests, we sincerely believe, will be
promoted thereby.”*

«This,” the Duke adds, “is the nearest «pproach in any
of Lord Dalhousie’s writings to the advocucy of *a policy
of annexation.”” In a subsequent part o the Essay he says
that this passage was quoted, “as containing the hroadest
assertion of his principle.”t

The Duke is quite w2 mg in supposing this to e either
“the nearest, approach,” or *the hroud st ussertion,” to be
found in Lord Dalhousics wiitings though it is near
enough and broad enouzh to provi a dcliberate policy of
“getting rid of interveping Prine g alities,” and 1s by no
means limited 1. the manner Mr. Marslinan pretends, to
those of our own creation. e ncarest approach” and
“the broadest assertion” will be found in two short para-
graphs (28 and 30) hmmediately preceding and following
that one (29) which the Duke has extracted. Here they
are -

<28, In like manncr, while I would not seck to lay down any
inflexible rulo with respeet to adoption, Thold that on all occasions
where heirs natural shall fuil, the teveitory shall be made to lapse,t
and adoption should not be permitted, excepting in those cases in
which some strong political reason may render it expedient to de-
part from this general rule.

“30. Such s the general principle, that, in my humble opinion,
ouyht to giide the conduct of the Biitish Government in its disposal
of independent States, where there has been total failure of all
heirs whatsoever, or where permission is asked to continue, bye
adoption, a succession which fails in the natural line.”§

In these two paragraphs Lord Dalhousie advises that
the doctrine of “lapse,” in default of a lincal male descend-
ant, shall be considered as “« general principle,” to be ap-
plied “on all occasions,” “in the disposal of independent
States.”

Sir Charles Jackson thinks it unfortunate, that “in one
of the most important passages” (of this Minute) “the word
‘independent’ appears Instead of ‘dependent,’” and declares

* India under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 27. + Ibid., p. 39.
1 “Made to lapse,”—the quintessence of arbitrary confiscation lics in that
phrase.—E. B,

§ Sattara Papers, 1849, p. 83, As for the meaning in Lord Dalhousie's
mouth of ‘“natural heirs,” ¢ the natural line,” cte,, sce ante p 42
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that “the whole argument of the Minute requires that it
should be ‘dependent.””* The word “independent” ap-
ears in important passages of that paper, not once only,
Eut three times.t In one of these (para. 32) the word could
not be altered into “dependent” without destroying the
argument, such as it is. The Governor-General argues
that “the territories” (of Sattara) “arc interposed between
the two principal military stations in the Presidency of
Bombay ; and are at least calculated, in the hands of an
independent Sovereign, to form an obstacle to safe com-
munication and combined military movement.”} The ar-
gument is worthless, as was immediately pointed out by
Gieneral Sir John Littler, one of the Supreme Councillors,
but if the proper word, “dependent,” had been used, the
absurdity of supposing the little subordinate State of Sat-
tara to be a military “obstacle,” would have been trans-
parently obvious. “Independent” sounded like something
formidable, and, therefore, it suited Lord Dalhousie’s rhe-
torical purpose to employ it. In the other passages of
this Minute, and elsewhere, however, he scems to use the
word as if it were synonymous with “separate.” His
phraseology is frequently vague and equivocal.§

But Sir Charles Jackson, who believes that “the whole
crop” of dependent States, except Mysore, was gathered
in by Lord Dalhousie, does “not believe that one inde-
pend};nt Sovereign was alarmed” at the harvest.  He uses
the terms “dependent” and ““independent,” as loosely and
indeterminately as Lord Dalhousie did ; and I can only
guess that he would designate as “independent,” those
Hindoo Princes who have the largest territories and re-
venues. If so, it will be casy to show, firstly, that Scindia
and Holkar, the two most important Hindoo Princes out
of Rajpootana, were directly threatened by the “doctrine
of lapse;” secondly, that they were intensely alarmed by
its practical results during Lord Dalhousic’s reign.

In his Minute on the Sattara Succession, Mr. (afterwards

[}

* A Vindication, p. 33.

t Paragraphs 1, 30, and 32, Sattara Papers, 1849, pp. 80, 82.

1 Paragraph 32, ©/d., p. 83.

§ 'T'his requires no alteration, but T must admit that T have found numerous
instances scattered through Indian state-papers, in which others, besides Lord
Dalhousie, use the word *“independent” as if it meant * separate.”
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Sir) J. P. Willoughby dwells upon “the social evils re-
sulting from adoptions,” and especially the bad effects of a
long minority,—never giving the least thought to the per-
fect opportunity thereby afforded for the eftectual reform
of a Native State by British agency and influence. The
following ominous passage occurs here :—

A more striking exemplification of the cvils above referred to
is afforded by the dissensions in the famly of Dowlut Rao Scindia.
On the death of this Chief, his widow, her Highness the Baiza
Bacce, adopted a son, and continued to exercise regal powers for
some years, until at last a strugglo for tho supremacy occurred
between them, terminating in 1833 in the adopted son being pro-
claimed Sovercign, us mother being obliged to seck an asylum
in British territory. This Chicf dymg on VFebruary 7th, 1813,
another adoption was «llowed,* and the political evils resulting
therefrom, and a violent collision with the British Government,
terminating in war and bloodshed, are of too recent an occurrence
to require to bo dwelt upon.  These are strong facts in support
of those who are of opinion that the aunnoyance by adoptions of
sovereign and territorial rights, ought in the present state of
India to be discouraged as much as possible, and that all fair
lapses should be annexed to the British Iimpire, when no absolute
right will thereby be violated. The existence of so many Sove-
reigntics and Chiefships, interspersed with our own terntory, is
in many ways inimical to good government, and to the welfare and
prosperity of the peoplo; and af this is admitted, it follows that,
on cevery fair occasion, their number ought to be diminished.”+

I commend this decisive and summary avowal of a
general policy of annexation to the attention of Mr.
Marshman, who has very recently, in reply to strictures
on his History, declared once more that the doctrine of
“lapse” “referred to the ‘subordinate States’ of Mysore,,
created by Lord Wellesley, to Sattara, Nagpore, and
Jhansie, which owed their existence or restoration to Lord
Hastings, and to Sumbulpore ; and to no others,” and that
the late Sir John Willoughby was “the great patron of
Native Princes,” and “one of the most strenuous advocates
of their rights.” T particnlarly commend to his attention
the fact that in Mr. Willoughlhy's Minute the great Prin-
cipality of Gwalior, in the possession of the Scindia family,

* That of the reigning Mnlmmj;’;h, Jyajee Rao Scindia,—E. B,

t Sattara Papers, 1849, pp. 70, 71.
1 Letter in the Homeward Mail, February 6th, 1868.
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is declared to be one of those Hindoo States in which an
adoption must be “allowed” by the British Government,
before it becomes valid for a succession ; and regret is ex-
pressed that an adoption was so “allowed” in 1843. Tt
18 recommended that this “annoyance” should be dis-
couraged for the future, and that “all fair lapses should
be annexed.”

Thus the State of Gwalior, and the dynasty of Scindia,
are menaced with extinetion on the first favourable oppor-
tunity. Mr. Willoughby’s Minute was called by Lord
Dalhousie “a text-book on adoptions,” and Sir Charles
Jackson informs us that “he was in the habit of referring
to it, when similar questions subsequently avose.”*

And other people, there can be no doubt, were in the
habit of referring to it. Hear Lord Canning on that
point.

It must not be supposed that beeause these documents are
published in Blue Books and in Knglish, they are beyond the
knowledge of Native Courts. Thaey are, on the contrary, sought
for and studied by those whose dearest prospeets they so closcly
affect. It is not many months since I was mformed, by the Go-
vernor-General’s Agent in Central Indma, that a Nativo Court had
received from England the Parliamentary Papers on Dhar beforo
they had reached my own hand.”’t

In the Sattara, Jhansi, and Nagpore Blue Books, Scindia,
Holkar, and other Hindoo Princes, would have found
abundance of matter more alarming than anything we have

.Yet quoted.  Mr. Willoughby was less cautious in hiy
anguage than Lord Dalhousie, but the Bengal Civilians
in the Supreme Council were more outspoken than cither
of them. The following extract is from o Minute on the
Sattara question by Mr. F. Millett :—

“"I'he intersection of our territorics by many native States,
interferes with measnres of general improvement. [ believo it
to be for the best interests of the people that our divect adimini-
stration should gradually cxtend itself over the whole country com-
prised within the bownds of British Tndin”}

And this is the opinion of Mr. J. A. Dorin on the occa-
sion of Nagpore being annexed :—

* A Vindication, p. 12.

t Paragraph 7 of the Adoption Desputch of April 30th, 1860.
T Satture Papers, 1849, p. 85.
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“So far as we can foresce the ultimate destiny of this great
Empire, its cntire possession must infallibly be consolidated in
the hands of Great Britain. Thoroughly believing in this dis-
pensation of Providence, I cannot coincide in any view which
shall have for its object the maintenance of native rule against
tho progress of events which throws indisputed power into our
possession,”*

In addition to the testimony of Sir John Low
and Sir Frederick Currie, as to the discontent and alarm
among our allies, “throughout the length and breadth of
India,”—besides the obvious certainty that the successive
“lapses” of Sattara, Jhansi, and Nagpore, the contents of
the Blue Books, and the vunours abont Rajpootana, must
have terrified Scindia, and a@ fortiori his weaker neighbour,
Holkar,—we have the positive evidence of Lord Canning,
the Governor-General, and of Colonel Macpherson, the
Resident at Gwalior in 1857, that Maharajali Scindia, in
common with other Hindoo Princes, was in a state of great
anxiety on the subject of the succession in his family.

[n the well-known Adoption Despatch, of the 30th of
April, 1860, Lord Canning, after alluding to the “haze of
doubt and mistrust in the mind of cach Chief as to the
policy which the Government will apply to his own State
m the event of his leaving no natural heir to the throne,”
sy

Tt is to this alone that 1 can attribute tho extraordinary satis-
faction with which my assurance to Scindia that the Government
would sco with pleasure his adoption of a successor if lincal heir
should fail, and that it was the desire of the Paramount PPower
that his House should be perpetuated and flourish, was accepted
by those attached to his Court, to the extent that at Gwalior the
news was reccived with rojoicings very like that which would have
marked the birth of an heir.

“To the same cause I ascribe the manifest pleasuro of the
Maharajah of Rewah, when a like assurance was given to him.
He said to mo that his family had been in Rewah for eleven hun-
dred years, and that my words had dispclled an ill-wind that had
long been blowing upon him.”

Can any one doubt what that “ill-wind” was? Sir
Frederick Currie,t when a member of Lord Dalhousie’s

* Papers, Rajah of Berar, 1854, p. 38.
+ Now a Member of the Secretary of State’s Council of India.
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Government in 1852, opposed his Lordship’s desire of an-
nexing the little Rajpoot Principality of Kerowlee, by
refusing to recognise an adoption, which the Governor-
General's Agent, a few days before the Rajal’s death, had
been desiced to discountenance,* but which, neverthceless,
took place. The adopted son, as usual, was “a distant
relative of the late Maharaja, and a lineal descendant from
the founder of the Kerowlee Raj.”t Had Lord Dalhousie
been permitted to begin nibbling at the States of Raj-
pootana,~——had the decree of confiscation gone forth,—
feelings of despair and hatred would have been roused,
which might have incalculably enhanced our difficulties in
1857. Fortunately Sir John Low and Sir Henry Lawrence
were successively Agents to the Governor-General in Raj-
pootana during the two years of suspense.  Their powerful
representations gave great weight to Sir Frederick Currie’s
opposition ; and these efforts were supplemented at home
by the India Reform Association, recently established and
actively at, work, under the guidance of Mr. John Dickin-
son, Mr. Henry Seymour, M.P., and the lamented Mr. J.
F. B. Blackett, then M.P. for Newcastle. A threatened
motion in the House of Commons turned the scale,f and
secured a majority of the Court of Directors against the
proposed inroad on the ancient States of Rajpootana.

Mr. Kaye justly remarks that “Sir Frederick Currie’s
Minute on the Kerowlee question is an admirable state-
saper—aceurate in its facts, clear in its logic, and unex-
septionable in its political morality.”§ It is all that, and
much more. If carefully examined, it will be found to go
to the very root of “the doctrine of lapse,” and to mark
an epoch after which Lord Dalhousie can have no longer
remained under any delusion on that subject.

The Kerowlee discussion took place in 1852 : it followed
the annexation of Sattara, but preceded those of Jhansi
and Nagpore. Sir Frederick Currie had left for the time
his seat 1 Council, to act as Resident in the Punjaub,
when the Sattara Raj was annexed, and, therefore, took no
part in that debate. Considering, as we may presume, the

* Kerowlee Papers, 1855, p. 7. + Ibid., p. 11.
1 Quarterly Review, 1858, p. 269.
§ History of the Sepoy War, vol. i, p. 93, (note).
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annexation of Sattara to be a settled case, approved and
confirmed by the Court of Directors, he touches it some-
what cautiously, but in paragraph 10 of his Minute he im-
plicitly attacks the pretended prerogative by which that
measure was justified.

“I will admit that tho general law and custom of India do,
usually, require the recognition of the Paramount Power to tho
adoption of an heir to a dependent or protected Principality ; but
so do the law and custom require the same recognition to the sue-
cession of a natural heir ; and I o not prepared to admit that the
Supreme Power is more compelent to withhold its recognition of the
one than of the other.”*

The “recognition usually requived,” in Sir Frederick
Currie’s opinion, is merely that regulative recognition, “for
the purpose of averting dissensions and bloodshed,”t which
Sir George Clerk admitted in the Sattara question, and
which both of these eminent men declare cannot be with-
held.  Both of them also pronounce “an adopted heir to
stand in exactly the same relation as a natwral heir.”}

No one can doubt that Sir Frederick Currie, having said
so much in his recorded Minute, must have spoken much
more clearly and fully to Lord Dalhousie in verbal con-
sultation. He must have shown the Governor-General the
nonentity of the imaginary “law and custom of India,”
with its pretended list of precedents, upon which the
extinction of the Sattara State was founded. He can-
not have attacked the supposed law and precedents
in any other way than that in which I have atticked®
them, by denying their existence.% Their existence is a
matter of fact, not of opinion. Challenged to produce
those precedents, Lord Dalhousie must have fallen back
upon Mr. Willoughby’s Minute, the “text-book on adop-
tions,” and it must have been brought home to him that
its confident assertions, upon which he had relied,—in
good faith, but with culpable carelessness,—were utterly
unfounded.

And we find that the Governor-General does not base
his proposal to annex Kerowlee on ““the ordinary and in-
variable practice” of the “Sovereign State,” as he had done

* Kerowlee Papers, 1855, p. 11. t Ante, p. 18.
t Sattara Papers, 1849, pp. 63, 64.  § Ante, pp. 9 to 20.
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in the Sattara case.* He no longer ventures, in the face
of Sir Frederick Currie, to cite “the immemorial law and
custom of India.” Even in a second Minute, written in
reply to that of his colleague, he says :—

““ After considering the arguments of Sir Frederick Curric, T
still think that the right is clear of withholding confirmation,
Jounded upon the decision of the Honvurable Court in 1849.°+

The conclusion seems hardly avoidable that after the
31st of August, 1852, the date of Sir Frederick Currie’s
Minute, Lord Dalhousie must have been well aware that
“the doctrine of lapse” did not rest on any ordinary prac-
tice or immemorial law, but solely on that verdict of the
Honourable Court in the Sattara case, which had been
drawn forth by his own hasty misdirection. The Kerowlee
case fixes the time, after which, if Lord Dalhousie enforced
against any Hindoo State the sham prerogative of rejecting
an adopted heir, he sinned against knowledge.  And he
did so.  Sir Frederick Currie’s opposition terminated by
his return to England, and the doctrine of “lapse” was
applied to the friendly and faithful States of Jhansi and
Nagpore in 1854,

“But,” observes Mr. Kaye, veferring to the narrow escape
of Kerowlee, “it is not to he supposed that because no
wrong was done at last, no injury was done by the delay.
Public rumour recognises no Sceret Department. It was
well-known at every native Court, in every native bazar,
that the British Government were discussing the policy
@f annexing or not annexing Kerowlee.”

“The Rajpoot Princes lost their confidence in the good faith of
the British Government. Kerowleo had been spared, they
scarcely knew how ; somo were fain to attribute it to the well-
kuown justico and liberality of Henry Lawrcnce. But the same
moderation might not be displayed again ; there were childless
men among them ; and from that time a restless uneasy feeling
took possession of them, and no man felt sure that his House
would not perish with him. It was not strange indeed that a
year or two afterwards there should have been in circulation all
over the country ominous reports to the effect that the policy of
Lord Dalhousie had cventually triumphed, and that the gradual
absorption of all the Rajpoot States had been sanctioned by the
Home Government.”} .

* Sattara Papers, 1849, p. 82.  t Kerowlee Papers, 1855, p. 13.
t The Sepoy War, vol. i, pp 96, 97.
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Sir Charles Jackson will not believe that there was
any “dependent” Prince, except the Rajah of Mysore,
left in India, to be alarmed at ‘““the doctrine of lapse,” or
that any “independent” Prince could have been so “un-
reasonable” as to be alarmed, either at the doctrine or the
practice, and he casts doubt upon Mr. Kaye’s report of the
general alarm throughout Rajpootana.  He requires “a
Iittle more particularity as to the date and venue of the
rumour;” thinks it “very improbable that a native rumour
would be couched in the exact language used by Mr.
Kaye,” and pronounces that “it was, like most Indian
rumours, totally destitute of truth.”* T am not so sure of
that.  Of the prevalence of such a report in the last year
or two of Lord Dalhousie’s administration, couched in the
exact language nsed by Mr. Kave, there can really be no
question.t It may not have been based on any official
communications, ot upon any plan reduced to writing, and
yet it may,—and I suspect it did,—represent very accu-
rately the “large views,”f at which the Government of
India, and probably the Ministry at home, and perhaps a
majority of the Court of Directors, had arrived, by the
time the Dalhousie “series” was completed in the annexa-
tion of Oude.

‘When the case of Kerowlee came before Lord Dalhousie
and his Council, the series had only just commenced. The
Punjaub being called a conquest, they had only acquired
Sattara by “the doctrine of lapse.” In his Minute, dated
the 30th of August, 1852, the Governor-General himself*
suggests that “the refusal of sanction to adoption in the
case of Kerowlee might create alarm and dissatisfaction in
the elder and more powerful States of Rajpootana, as being
apparently significant of the intentions of the British Go-
vernment towards themselves. Such an alarm,” he con-
tinues, “would be unfounded. For I presume that the
Government of India would not at any time be disposed
to interfere with the customary mode of succession among

* A Vindication, E 50.

t I presume-Sir Charles Jackson does not mean to remind us that rumours
do got circulate among natives in the Anglish language.

1 ‘“He had large views.” /ndia under Dalkousie and Canning, p. 67. “Lord
Dalhousie was a great administrator and statesman, with large views"—.4
Vindication, p. 3.

(V]
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these old Rajpoot States, whose antiquity, whose position
and feclings, would all make it our policy to leave them
in the possession of such independence as they now
enjoy.”*

Still, though he admits that Kerowlee is “a Rajpoot
Principality, and, unlike the existing Mahratta and Ma-
homedan dynasties, has the claims of antiquity in its
favour,”t he cannot allow these scruples and misgivings to
turn him from his general policy. “The arguments appear
to me to preponderate in favour of causing Kerowlee to
lapse.” He argued that “the supremacy of the British
Government” over this little Principality, was “practically
declared,” in the Treaty of 1817, “by the remission of tri-
bute payable to the Peishwa,” and was, morcover, “speci-
fically acknowledged by Kerowlee in the 3rd Article of
the Treaty.” And, he said i~

““In the Minute upon the case of Sattara in 1818, T recorded
my own opinion that the British Government should not neglect
such rightful opportunities as might occur, of extending its rule
over Native States which fell to its disposal, either by total lapse,
or by the succession depending on the recognition of an adoption,
1 did not advise that adoption should universally be refused the
sanction of the Government, but I was of opinfon that it should
not be admitted in States which vecoynised formally the supremacy
of the British Governinent tn Indin, unless strong political reasons
recommend the exception in any particular case or cases.” §

If the supremacy of the British Government over Ke-
rowlee was practically declared by the remission of tribute,
the declaration must have been still more practical where
tribute was actually paid. ALL the States of Rajpootana,
including “the elder and more powerful States” of Oodey-
poor, Jyepoor, and Jodhpoor, &ither pay tribute, or have
tribute remitted, under their Treaties with the British
Government. By these Treaties they all “acknowledge
the supremacy” of the British Government, and promise
to act in ““subordinate cooperation.”]| The elder and more
powerful States enjoy no more independence than Kerow-

* Kerowlee Papers, 1855, p. 9. 1 Ibid.,p. 9. t Itid.,p.9. § Ibid., p.8.

I Collection of Treaties, Caleutta, 1864, (Eondon, Longman and Co.) iv,
pp- 1 to 100. The accidental and merely nominal independence of the Rana
of Dholpoor is scarcely worth mentioning as an exception,—see pp. 121, 122,
of the same volumne of Treaties.
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lee; the terms by which they are bound are quite as
stringent as those which bind the smaller Principalities.

The demise of the Kerowlee Sovereignty, from which the
doubtful succession arose, took place in July, 1852. The
final decision of the Court of Directors is dated the 5th of
July, 1854.* The Blue Book did not appear till 1855.
However alarming may have been the rumours during the
two years of suspeuse, they were amnply justified by the
positive disclosures of the Parliamentary Papers. Here
was perilous stutf enough to poison the drop of consolation
to be derived from the repricve of Kerowlee.  For it was
evidently a mere reprieve. The Rujpoot States, great and
small, having “recognised formally British supremacy,”
were all pronouniced liable to extinction, on the first failure
of a lineal male heir. It was declared advisable to neglect
no opportunity of anncxing native States, “unless strong
political reasons recommend the exception in any particular
case or cascs.” Thus «ll were denicd any right of perma-
nent existence ; «ll were left dependent on the tender
mercies of the British Government, and the political no-
tions which might prevail when “a rightful opportunity”
occurred.  For the time being they were protected only
by certain vague scruples, founded on their “antiquity,
position, and feelings,” which, mentioned by Lord Dal-
housie with the greatest inditference, had been overcome
by him on the first temptation.

Kerowlee, however, Lord Dalhousie admitted, was “iso-
lated,” and “would not consolidate our territories like Sat-
tara.”f The same might be said of the other States of
Rajpootana, though, by the bye, we have a large Province,
Ajmeer, in the very centre of them. But how long would
this isolation continue, if the process of absorption were
carried on among those ““Mahratta and Mahomedan dynas-
ties,” which, according to Lord Dalhousie, had not even
“the claims of antiquity in their favow” ? If at any future
“rightful opportunity,” the dominions of Scindia, of Hol-
kar, of the Powars of Dhar and Dewass, or of the Nawab
of Tonk, scattered in detached portions, up and down
Rgjpootana, were to be “made to lapse,” the more ancient

* Kerowlee Papers, 1855, p. 5. t Ihd, p. 9.
02
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States would immediately be wanted, in order “to con-
solidate our territories.”

In addition to these very obvious considerations, the
TRajpoot Princes and their advisers could not fail to observe
that between 1852, when Lord Dalhousie’s Minute was
written, and 1855, when the Papers were published, a
great advance had been made in the process of consolida-
tion.  Jhansi, one of the few Principalities ruled by a
Brahmin family, had been “caused to lapse,” in spite of
the regular adoption of a kinsman by the Rajah, and
without consulting the Home Government. The great and
important State of Nagpore was annexed, not only without
any reference to the widows and other relatives of the
Rajah, but, as in the case of Jhansi, without any reference
to the Court of Directors, as if their concurrence was con-
sidered as a matter of certainty.* The annexation of the
Kingdom of Oude, and dethronement of the reigning King,
without war, without a quarrel, without a complaint,
without any pretext that was intelligible or credible to
the Hindoo mind, gave the finishing stroke to the new
aspect of affuirs.  No Rajpoot Prince could now believe
that there would ever be two years of suspense again, if
any one of the brotherhood should die without male issue.

During the last two years of Lord Dalhousie’s adminis-
tration, and especially about the time of his departure
from India, that portion of the Calcutta Press which re-
presented the opinions of the Bengal Clivil Service, re-
sounded with exultations at the success of the acquisitive
system, and assurances or predictions of its speedy and
symmetrical completion.

On the 12th of January, 1854, when the fate of Nag-
pore was supposed to be under consideration, the Friend
of India declared that “the decision of the Governor-
Generul” would ““decide whether the country which has
been committed to our charge is ultimately to be fused
into one great and progressive Empire, or to continue split
into Principalities, in which two hundred and eighty
Rajahlings exhaust the energies left them by debauchery
in every species of oppression.” The writer pronounces

* Papers. Rajah of Berar, 1854, p. 37 5 Jhansi Papers, 1855, p. b.
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every Native State to be merely “an exceptional juris-
diction,” as were the Palatinates of Lancaster and Chester.
These Indian Palatinates have the additional disadvantage
of being invariably ruled by a debauched despot, and must
be got rid of as rapidly as possible.  He refers to what he
considers to have been the doubtful and timid action of
our Government before 1848, but “at last,” he says, “a
policy was found,” and is recorded ju Lord Dalhousie’s
Minute on the Sattara succession.  Under the doctrines
there laid down, ©* the whole of India must puss gradually
under our rule”:- —“we shall gain Provinee after Provinee.”
Alluding to the possibility of some oppositien, he concludes
thus :—*“We cannot believe that Lord Dalhousie will yield
one inch to the clamour of an ignorant section of the last
of English political parties, or hesitate to maintain a policy
which is at onee great, righteous, and his own.”

‘When the fate of Nagpore was no longer in suspense,
the Fricnd of India, on the 16th of March, 1834, rejoices
over the decision, because it settles “*three great principles,
-—unity of dominion, equality of taxation, and centralisa-
tion of the executive.” He explains what he means by
unity of dominion.  “The two hundred and fitty Kinglings,
whose names and territories have been recorded by t%)e
Jowrt of Directors, must inevitably disappear, and that
speedily.”

The same writer, on the 18th of May, 1854, remarks
on the annexation of Jhansi, that “to change India from
a congeries of States into an Empire one and indivisible,
it is only necessary to waintain the policy which Lord
Dalhousie has laid down. Tt must, however,” he continues,
“to be just, be invariably adhered to.  The system must
be rigidly enforced, till the Indian Palatinates become
what the English Palatinates now are, evils whose extent
is known only to the antiquary.”

But this able editor rises to the highest degree of satis-
faction on the 13th of December, 1855, when he quotes a
recently published article from the Edinburgh Review, re-
commending the annexation of Oude, then on the eve of
its accomplishment. With such powerful support the good
work cannot stop there. “Oppression,” he says, “will not
be extinet with the monarchy of Oude.” Aud he points
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out, as the Princes whose misrule most urgently demands
the abolition of their Principalities, the Rajah of Travan-
core, the Nizam of the Decean, and the Guicowar of
Baroda. The accession of “the great Whig Review” to
the cause of Imperial consolidation, appears to the Editor,
and justly so, most significant and important. The Whigs
were then in power, and the Edinburgh Review had long
been regarded as their organ. And if that fact, as
is very probable, had never been understood or heard of
before in Rajpootana, and at the Durbars of other native
States, this hint in the Friend of Indiu, everywhere anx-
iously consulted, is sure to have enlightened them, and
never to have been lost sight of.  The idea was by no
means a novel one to Indian politicians, for the Fricnd of
India itself was generally reputed, and flowrished to some
extent on that reputation, to be the organ of the Caleutta
Forcign Office.

A time was to come, when the hint of the Friend of
Indic was to be verified, and the alarm of the native
Princes renewed and redoubled,-—after a brief period of
security,—by an Edinburgh Reviewer, the apologist and
advocate of annexation, stepping forward and announcing
himself to the world as o Whig Cabinet Minister, his Grace
the Lord Privy Seal.

On the 3rd of January, 1856, referring to a Native
State, which was then not badly managed, and is now one
of the best governed Provinces in India, our own not ex-
cepted, the Friend of India said = Annexation is the
only remedy for the great disorders of Travancore.”

On the 24th of July, 1856, the same journal predicts,
that “the knell of the Princes of India” has sounded ; and
that “men now living may see the Emnpire one and indi-
visible.”

Perhaps Sir Charles Jackson may now be disposed to
confess that the Princes of Rajpootana, and other Princes
of India whom he culls “independent,” may have had some
slight grounds for fear, without deserving to be reviled as
“unreasonable.”

The Duke of Argyll will, perhaps, now admit, that there
really was “something which was called ‘Lord Dalhousie’s
policy,” by others besides those “fifth-rate writers,” whose
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injustice and ignorance of Blue Books he denounces. The
previous extracts from the Firiend of Indic prove that
during Lord Dalhousie’s administration, his admirers and
supporters understood that there was a settled policy of
annexation, and that this policy was emphatically Lord
Dalhousie’s—*his own.”

Mur. J. C. Marshman, whose connection with the Friend
of India still contmucs, and who was proprictor and
Tditor of that journal until 1854, coolly writes in 1867 of
“the annexation policy, as it luts been somewhat insidiously
termed,”™ as if it were a novel tern of reproach, which he
could not recognise at all.

The following passage, published in the #riend of Tndic
about three months after Lord Canuing assumed the Go-
vernment, may serve as another specimen of the trivmphant
tone that then prevailed, and may also remind the Duke
of Argyll, Sir Charles Jackson, and Mr. Marshman, that
the phrase, “policy of annexation,” to which they now seem
to object, was invented by its advocates and not by its
adversaries,

“The policy of annexation may be considered secure. One
by one its opponents are convinced, or otherwise confess by their
silence, that they arce logically defunct.  The dreamers who feared
that the Impire would be weakened by extension, and the Orien-
talists who believed native governments better than civilised rule,
are already, for practical politics, extinet.”+

Sir Henry Lawrence, at the time Lord Dalhousie left
Caleutta, was the Governor-General’s Agent in Rajpootana,
where those doubts and fears existed, stigmatised by Siv
Charles Jackson as utterly “unreasonable.” Let us hear
what he thought on the subject :—

““The Serampore weekly paper, the I'riend of India, which was
Lord Dalhousi’s organ, and is conducted with great ability, is a
perfect Filibuster. ~ Almost every number contains a clever article
on the duty of absorbing Native States, resuming jaghires, ete.”’f

Nor is the effect of these citations to be neutralised by
the averment, that, whatever may have been the alarms
excited by rumours of a connection between the Govern-

* [listory of India, vol. iii, p. 399.
t Friend of India, June Gth, 1856,
T Kaye's Lives of Indian Officers, vol. ii, p. 311.
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ment of India and a certain weekly paper, we have no right
to make Lord Dalhousie answerable for its leading articles,
or to assume that he approved of them. Lord Dalhousie
himself took the very unusual step,—-unprecedented, I
believe, except by Sir Robert Peel’s letter to the Editor of
the Zimes in 1835*—of informing the Editor of the
Friend of India, that, to say the lcast, he had found
nothing to disapprove in the doctrines taught by that
jowrnal in the last two years of his Government. The
gentleman who, as he tells us, had conducted that paper,
“single-handed,”during the whole of that period, published
in its columns on the 31st of December, 1857, the following
interesting letter addressed to himself :—

Government ITouse, March 3rd, 1856.

My dear Sir,

Before T quit this Jand I am desirous of offering you
my thanks for the fairness with which you have always set your
judgment of my public acts before tho community, whose opinions
are largely subject to your influence, for the frequent support you
have given to my measures, and for the great and invariable per-
sonal courtesy you have shown to mysclf.

I regret exeeedingly that while at Barrackpore [ was so close a
prisoner as to be unable to receive the guests whom I should have
desived to sce.  On the one occasion on which I mado the attempt
I broke down, and was obliged to forego all further attempts of
the same kind.

L should be glad if I thonght there was any chance of iy
seeing you in Caleutta before the cvening of the 6th, when I
embark for England.

It not, T pray you to accept my parting thanks, and to believe
that, 1t they have scemed tardy, they, nevertheless, aro cordial

and smcere. I beg to remain, my dear Sir,
Very truly yours,
Meredith Townsend, Esq. Darnousig.

The letter does honour both to the writer and to the
recipient,—to Lord Dalhousie, because he deferred this
graceful acknowledgment of his obligations to the Friend
of Indi«, until its support had become almost a matter of
indifference to him, until the moment when his own power
and influence were about to disappear,—to the Editor, be-
cause the contents of the letter prove the disinterested
and public spirited character of his pernicious counsels.

* Carlyle’s Collected Works, vol. i, p. 876.
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Lord Dalhousie would certainly have tendered no such
expressions of respectful thanks and greeting to a man
whose labours on his behalf had already been requited,
directly or indirectly, by the bestowal of favours, in any
of the numerous forms at the Governor-General’s command.
The letter proves that not even the charm of “gilded
saloons,”-supposed to have its influence in some regions
of the globe, and peculiarly attractive in general at Cal-
cutta to one not belonging to the oflicial aristocracy,—can
have fostered the singular community of thought and
feeling between the two men. But the letter, and its
publication, prove the existence of that strong sympathy,
and its full appreciation on both sides, and explain, in
some measure, how that sympatly still shows itself cvery
now and then, by a few words of reminiscent eulogy or
regretful comparison, in the writings currently attributed
in the present day to the former Editor of the I'riend of
India.

So long as the friends and admirers of the late Lord
Dalhouste, confine themselves to such general and passing
panegyrics, it is not easy, nor would it often be useful or
becoming, to challenge their effusions.  But when, like the
authors of the two apologies which have hitherto formed
the chict theme of our remarks, they reiterate and reassert
the worst of their client’s political heresies,—even those
recanted by his successor,—we can no longer remain silent.
Some English politicians-—perhaps the majority,—not
deeply versed or interested in the details of Indian affairs,
have arrived at a general conviction that the deliberate
policy of annexation was a mistake, or was, at any rate,
carried on too far and too hastily ; but they have no clear
notion of the legal merits of any particular case, and be-
lieve the more important territorial extensions to have
been all but unavoidable. It is in order to assist this
large class to form a more decided judgment, that I have
given so much space to the annexations of Oude and the
Punjaub. With the same object in view, I must now
make a few remarks on a more insidious, because less in-
discriminate style of apologetics, much in use with those
who have changed their opinions, but cannot submit to
acknowledge that they ever were wrong, or that their



202 CHAPTER VIL

former opponents ever were right. They have, indeed,
changed their opinions, but not, they flatter themselves,
for the reasons so persistently urged upon them by their
adversaries, Their former policy may have been partially
erroneous, but it was a noble and a generous policy, and
only failed from circumstances which nobody could have
foreseen.

Thus a very acute and vigorous writer in the Spectator
of October Gth, 1866, advises Lord Cranborne, then the
Secretary of State for India, to arrest the annexation
of Mysore, “though for reasons other than those upon
which so much stress has been laid.” e makes light of
“Treaties, promises and Hindoo rules of succession,” but
doubts the prudence of closing every field to native ambi-
tion, and of * sowing distrust over an entire Continent,” by
“ changing owr policy every six years.,” He admits that
the policy of annexation failed, but then Lord Dalhousie’s
projects were magnificent, and he was “ the most states-
manlike Governor-General, except Lord Willimm Bentinck,
who ever reigned in India.”

“Ho intended to make of the Continent one vast military
monarchy, the right arm of England in Asia, ruling a rich and
orderly people, who, slowly disciplined by British sway, slowly
permeated by British education, and slowly, it possible, brought
to perceive the superior clanns of Christianity, might m the end
be ready for sclf-govermment as a thoroughly civilised and pro-
gressive Asiatic people. If that was a small policy, where
there a great one to be found ? It failed, first, because Lord Dal-
housie retired ; secondly, because it lacked one essential datum—
the acquiescence of Northern India; and thirdly, because 1t had
ono radical, and, wo fear incurable defect. It barred up native
careers.”

It may be admitted that this sounds like a great policy,
but as the writer confesses that it was impracticable, un-
acceptable to the people, and crushing to all honourable
aspirations, I cannot understand why it is to be called
statesmanlike. To suggest that it failed, “ because Lord
Dalhousie retired,” is a mere bravado of posthumous adu-
lation. The policy of annexation broke down conspicu-
ously amidst the awful lessons of 1857,—most conspicu-
ously when the bulk of the population of Oude joined
heart and soul in the rebellion.  Lord Dalhousie could
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have done nothing to check or quell the rebellion, that
Lord Canning omitted. But let the writer in the Spec-
tator himself tell us what he conceives to have been the
great lessons of 1857.

“T'he mutiny did teach us that the natives prefer their own
system of government, with its open carcers and occasional in-
justices, light taxation, and frequent robberies, to onr more orderly,
more rigid, but leaden vule ; that it was dungevous to produce so
awful a scene as o Continent occupicd only by officials and
peasants ; that the Native Principalities actcd as breah waters when
a surge of native feeling- ave will say, at the vsk of being mis-
understood, of natioval fecling—threatened to overwhelm  the
forcigners.  Madras was saved by the Nizam.  Bombay was
saved because Gwalior broke the rush of the wave which had the
able coward, Tantia Topee, on its cress.  The Punjaub was saved
because tho old Sikh Princes of the Protected States stood
honestly by our side.”

How could a more severe condemnation be passed upon
the policy of “getting rid of petty intervening Princi-
palities, which may be made a means of annoyance, but
which can never,” Lord Dalhousie ventured to think, « be
a source of strength”?* Yet the Editor of the Spectator
wants us to confess that this was not “a small policy,”
but “great” and “statesmanlike” T cannot agree with
him ; and he evidently cannot agree with himself.

As to the alleged intention of “slowly disciplining” the
people of India “for sclf-government,” the Editor of
the Spectator may have exclusive sources of information
regarding Lord Dalhousie’s esoteric doctrines and ulterior
designs, but assuredly nothing of the sort can be gath-
ered from his published Minutes. There is a great deal
said about “adding to the resources of the public trea-
sury,” about swelling the revenues of the annexed coun-
tries by confiscating the estates of all malcontents, but
nothing about visions of “self-government,” even in the
most distant future. When Sattara was to be annexed,
he said :—¢ The district is fertile, and the revenues pro-
ductive. The population, accustomed for some time to
regular and peacctul government,”—the Rajal’s, be it re-
membered,— are tranquil themselves, and are prepared
for the regular government” (which by his own account

* dnte, p 184,
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they had got already), “our possession of the territory
would give.”* On two occasions, when Nagpore was to be
annexed, and when the Nizam’s richest provinces were to
be sequestrated, the Governor-General boasted, as Sir
Charles Jackson reminds us, of having acquired the best
cotton-growing districts in India; and thus, said Mr. J. B.
Norton, “cotton stuiled the ears of Justice, and made her
deat as well as blind.”f But there was not a word of
“self-government,” or “progressive civilisation,” or * the
superior claims of Christianity.”  Those tine words would
not have made the policy more just or more statesmanlike,
but still they were not there.

This clever writer, unable to reduce his old and his new
opinions to harmony, at once repentant and reprobate,
tries to give up the practice and maintain the principle,—
to exalt the theory and ery down the conclusion,—to
abandon the policy of annexation as inexpedient for the
time, but to leave the question open for the future.  He
seems to make a great point of having no decided policy
for the treatinent of Native States in India at present ; he
considers that since the failure of the great and states-
manlike policy of annexation, we have drifted into a period
of transition and experiment, and he only dreads lest
the experiments should be varied too often.  He objects
to the rejection of the Mysore Rajul’s adopted son, be-
cause the Princes and people of Tndia undetstood trom the
terms of the Royal Proclamation of 1838, that adopted
heirs would always be recognised. And, he asks -— Is it
wise or right, for the sake of one Provinee, to abandon so
suddenly in so apparently crafty a style, a policy meant
for an Empire ?” " Still he anticipates the possibility that
it may be abandoned.

“It may be necessary one day to unscttle it, the new policy
may fail, as the old one failed, a third policy of appointing picked
native rulers for lifo may prove wiser than either, but till we re-
solve, and announce that we rosolve, that the mixed system shall
end, let us at least adhere to it.”

He cannot make up his mind to acknowledge, that the
policy of annexation is either unjust, or absolutely inex-

* Suttara Papers, 1849, p. 83. t A Vindication, p. 40.
1 The Rebellwn in India, p. 98,
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pedient. In discussing whether Mysore shall or shall not be
annexed, he says, that ““ the single point at issue is whether
the existence of subordinate hereditary jurisdictions is bene-
ficial to all India or not. That is a very difticult and, with all
deference to the very able Indians who signed the petition
presented by Mr. Mill* by no means a settled point.”
He still doubts whether autonomy should be allowed to
any Native State, except on condition of its paying what
he calls “a fair tribute.” “ In the case of a State not paying
a fair tribute, autonomy is injustice, for the people of
Bengal are taxed to excmpt the people, say of” Guzerat.”
With blind persistence in the errors of” Lord Dalhousie
and Mr. George Campbell, he still hankers after the re-
venue belonging to Native States, and thinks that with it
the British treasury might be replenished.  Ileis strangely
ignorant, or unmindful, of the actual vesults of that ac-
quisitive policy, which in one breath he acinits to have
failed, and in another declares to have been great and
statesmanlike.  Instead of the resources of the public
treasury being angmented, as Lord Dalhousie promised,
a monstrous tribute is annually extracted from our older
possessions, and poured into the recently-annexed Pro-
vinces. The people of Bengal, Madras and Bombay, are
taxed to supply the financial drain of the Punjaub, Oude
and Nagpore, and not to meet any expenditure created
by Native Statts. “The Bengalees, being our subjects,”
says the Editor of the Spectator, - arve taxed for the ge-
neral defence of the Empire, while the Guzerattees are
not.”+ That is an extraordinary assertion for one who be-
lieves that in our most desperate hour of need “the Nizam
saved Madras,” the Maharajah Scindia saved Bombay ;
that the Punjaub was saved by the old Sikh Princes ; that
“a signal from the Rajah of Mysore would have brought
the descendants of Tippoo’s soldiers down upon Madras,
and he did not give it; and that the despised Nawab of
Moorshedabad could have imperilled our possession of Cal-

* Detition to the Ilouse of Commons, presented by J. S. Mill, Esq., M.I’.
for Westminster, on August 10th, 1866,

1 As a matter of fact, the Guzcrattees pay a good deal of dircet tiibute to
the British Government, but that isan immaterial inaccwacy, for many Native
States do not, and he might, with a little more care, have chosen one of them
for his illustration,



206 CHAPTER VIIL

cutta.”  Were not the “subordinate hereditary jurisdic-
tions beneficial to all India” then? Did they not then
contribute to the “ general defence of the Empive”?  Aye
they not contributing now, so long as they keep them-
selves prepared to render similar scrvices, it ever rebellion,
internal war or foreign invasion, should again, in the
Editor’s words, “threaten to overwhelm the foreigners
with a surge of national feeling ”?

The Editor of the Spectator,—clearly identified with
the former *“ single-handed” Editor of the Iriend of Indiu,
—affords a good example of the truth of the following
words written on the 20th of Decemnber, 1857, by the
venerable Mountstuart Elphinstone to Sir Edward Cole-
brook - [ think the ardour for the consolidation of ter-
ritory, concentration of authority, and uniformity of ad-
ministration, which was lately so powerful, must have
been a good deal damped by recent events.  Where should
we have been now, if Scindia, the Nizam and the Sikh
Chiefs, had been annexed 27 *

His ardour has been damped.  The loudest spokesman
during the annexing mania gives up the policy as a failure,
but he cannot bear to admit that it deserved to be a
failure,—that it was not only a violent injustice, but that
it was mean, petty and short-sighted,

The most seriously objectionable feature in this, as in
other essays by the same hand, is not so much the effort
to make the policy of annexation appear great and states-
manlike, as the persistent assumption that it was just.
The Queen, according to him, is “t]he only true Sovereign”
in India. The Native States are merely “subordinate here-
ditary jurisdictions.”

‘I, therefore, the general welfare of India required that
Mysore should be directly administered by her”—tho Qucen’s,—

““agents, no right whatever could be pleaded in bar of that
supreme necessity, any moroe than the right of the Highland Chicfs
to hereditary jurisdiction could bo pleaded against an Act taking
it away from them.”

What would be “pleaded in bar” of the arbitrary an-
nexation of Mysore, or any other Native State, in time of'
peace, would be “a Treaty of perpetual friendship and al-

* dsiutic Journal, vol. xviii, p. 334.
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.
liance;” and that is considerably “more” than can ever
have been pleaded in favour of any Highland Chieftain’s
heritable jurisdiction. The provosed analogy is absurd.
He goes on :—

“Tho natives have never denied this, never questioned the
right of the Mogul to remove any Mohammedan Ruler or invade
a Hindoo State, 1f considerations of general policy roquired it,—
lay down in fact as a gencral principle that a Sovercign must be
expeeted to increase his diveet dominion Dy all fair means, one of
which, they add, is force.”

If by this he means to say, that the natives of India
have never questioned the right of a Sovereign to carry on
a war of conquest, it is true.  But it he means to say, that
the Mogul ever possessed the unquestioned right of re-
moving any Ruler in India, Mohammedan or Hindoo, ex-
cept his own appointed Deputies, or ever pretended to the
right of restricting the law of inheritance in Hindoo Prin-
cipalities, it is utterly untrue, and without the smallest
foundation. He brings forward “the doctrine of lapse”
once more, as if it were intact.

“ The annexation of Mysore may be, in onr judgment is, per-
fectly legal, but it appears to every Native Prince, and therefore
to cvery native, an unfair, underhanded attempt to cancel the
Golden Bull.  Whether the Rajah of Mysore had a right to adopt
or not, without the consent of the Paramount Power, does not
signify a straw ; we do mnot Dbelieve that he had, but we readily
acknowledge that to prove he had not, Lord Cranborne must
quote Mussalman precedents dirceted against Iindoo Houses.”

That which he “readily acknowledges” is totally incor-
rect. There are no “Mussulman precedents” for the pre-
tended prerogative of rejecting adopted heirs.  There was

brecedent at all, until, as Sir George Clerk said, Lord
Dalhousie’s Government “led off with that flagrant in-
stance of the bare-faced appropriation of Sattara.”*

The other analogy which this writer attempts to draw,
—between the absorption of Mysore, or any other Native
State, in British India, and the extinction of Hanover, as
a separate State, by Prussia,—though not so ridiculously
disproportionate in scale as that of the Highland Chief-
tainships, is totally inadmissible. He says :—

* Ante, pp. 9 to 20
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““The analogy is not perfect, for in India the Quecen possesses
a special and admitted right in every Native State which the King
of Prussia did not possess in (fermany, namely, a right to control
all foreign affairs, and to appoint an Bnvoy whose ¢ advice must
be followed on every occasion,” great and small.  She is, in fact,
the only true Sovereign.”

In many Native States the British Resident has no right
to interfere in internal aflaivs.  This inaccuracy, however,
may he passed over, for substantially the irresistible in-
fluence of owr Government is not much overstated.  But
a very little reflection will convince any one, that the
more stringent is the controlling power over the minor
States, the less excuse, morally, the less reason, practically,
must there be for destroying their separate existence.
The treaties which sceure certain cessions of territory, tri-
bute and supremacy, to the British Government, secure
also certain equivalent services and reserved rights to the
protected Sovereignties,—among which, surely, permanent
existence must be presumed, were it not expressed clearly
enough in the terms “perpetual friendship and alliance.”
And if they can be controlled, they can be reformed.

If a treaty between Prussia and Hanover had secured
to the great German Power the right to control all foreign
affairs,—as in the new treaties of the Northern Confedera-
tion,—and if Hanover had scrupulously remained within
the scope of this engagement, as the Native States of India
have always done, the King of Prussia would have had no
right, according to any doctrine or process hitherto devised
at Berlin, to abolish the separate Sovereignty, We need
not enter upon the merits of the quarrel ; suffice it to say,
that Hanover was undoubtedly conquered in a war with
Prussia.  'Without fighting for it, the King of Prussia
would have had no pretext for annexing Hanover. With-
out popular support in Germany, he would have had no
power to do so.

The last words at once suggest the utter inappropriate-
ness of the comparison. We did not fight for Oude, Nag-
pore, Jhansi, or Sattara. We did not obtain those terri-
tories by conquest, but by prevarication, backed by force.
The abolition of those separate States was called for by no
popular want or complaint, was sanctioned by no popular
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approval. The forty millions of Germans speak one lan-
guage. The hundred and eighty millions of India, diverse
in race and creed, speak upwards of twenty distinet lan-
guages. There was no national movement for unity in
India.  The impulse of the annexation policy came from
the English professional administrators, instigated by the
pride of race, and the lust of patronage and promotion. It
18 true, in a certain sense, that Lord Dalhousie, as Sir
Charles Jackson says, did not “invent,” or “originate” that
policy. He was, unwittingly, the tool of “the Services.”
The Friend of India was their mouthpiece.

To that extent, a very good case might be made out
in Lord Dalhousie’s exculpation, from the purely official
point of view, if once the mislewding :mJ mischievous
attempts to exalt him into a great statesman were
dropped.  But the apologists are not satisticd to argue
that much light has been thrown upon the contro-
versy within the last ten years—that above all the
rebellion of 1857 was a political revelation,—they
are not content to plead that Lord Dalhousie seemed
to have good grounds for his ervoneous doctrines at
the time, that he was supported by the general opinion
and feeling of his advisers and subordinates. They ac-
knowledge no errvor or excess. They do not palliate, they
extol, both the policy and the process, both in the past
and for the future. .

If this were nothing more than a question of historical
glory,—if Lord Dalhousie’s political canonisation were
merely a matter of sentimental interest,—no one would
care to play the part of Devil’s Advocate. But by this
time it has been made sufficiently manifest, that the pre-
tensions and principles we denounce, are by no means ex-
tinet, and are explicitly reaffirmed by the vindicators of
Lord Dalhousie’s reputation. The Duke of Argyll in some
degree represents a powerful class of politicians, and his
name carries great weight. Sir Charles Jackson’s pamphlet
was well calculated to produce a considerable effect on
current, English opinion. The Spectator has deservedly
won an influential position among the more cultivated
Liberals. The study of Indian affairs is very unattractive,
and a feeling of national self-reproach is very unpleasant ;
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so that to be told, firstly, in a Review of recognised
authority, like the Edinburgh; secondly, by his Grace the
Lord Privy Seal in person; thirdly, by a retired Indian
judge so much respected as Sir Charles Jackson, and, oc-
casionally, by a journal of high character, like the Spec-
tator, that we have never been to blame at all ; that if our
policy has failed, it was yet a great and statesmanlike
policy, and deserved to succeed, is eminently soothing and
satistactory to most people.



CHAPTER VIIL
THE TEST OF PREVISION.

Tue Duke of Argyll and Sir Charles Jackson in their
pamphlets, and Nﬁ J. C. Marshman in his History, all
protest against any charge of want of foresight being
brought against Lord Dalhousie, for not having provided
against such a convulsion as the Mutinies of 1857, and
for having allowed the more important posts in Northern
India to be denuded of Kuropean troops.  All thrce go
very far in theiv protestations.

The Duke of Argyll declwes that the native Army
“had never been regarded in connection with even the
possibility of a contest of 1ace against race,” and that “no
such thoughts had ever entered into the minds of Indian
statesmen or of Indian soldicrs.”®  This, as I shall prove,
is a very great mistake.

Mr. Marshman’s views can hardly be reconciled with
those last quoted. He says, that “the repeated acts of
insubordination by the Sepoys convineed Lord Dalhousie
that the native Army was no longer to be depended on.”t
It may be so: the former Editor of “Lord Dalhousie’s
organ,” may have better materials for judging than are
generally available ; but nothing to that effect is to be
scen in any of Lord Dalhousie’s published Minutes or
despatches.

Sir Charles Jackson says that “fiftecen months before the
Mutiny began,” Lord Dalhousie had protested against the
reduction of the European force which took place in his
time, and had recommended “a very considcm{)lc increase
to that force, as well as a large reduction of the native
Army.”f T have no correction to offer to Sir Charles
Jackson’s statement, except one of degree. For “a very
considerable increase” of tllx)e European force, I should sub-

* India under Dulhousie and Canning, p. 51.
t History of India, vol. iii, p. 448. T 4 Vindication, p. 158.
P2
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stitute, “a very moderate increase.” For“a very large
reduction of the native Army,” I should substitute “a very
small reduction.”

From the accounts given by the Duke of Argyll and
Sir Charles Jackson, we find that Lord Dalhousie, about a
month before he left India, proposed to raise the nominal
Indian establishment of European Infantry from thirty-
three to thirty-five battalions, and to disband about 14,000
Sepoys, out of a native army numbering 233,000 men.*

These seem to have been the most remarkable sugges-
tions contained in the “nine Minutes” on military affairs,
produced by Lord Dalhousic on the 28th of February,
1856, the last day he presided in Council.  The contents
of these Minutes, as described by Mr. Marshman and Sir
Charles Jackson, afford proof positive that Lord Dalhousie
was totally blind to the real dangers of the day,—the
results of his own policy.

He brought forward certain plans for modifying the
organisation of the army; he recommended o trifling
addition to the European force, to bring it up to its former
standard, but merely on grounds of general efficiency. He
had not the least notion of the icreased military strain
arising from the newly annexed territories.  So little did
any such anxicty cross his mind, that in the most im-
portant of these nine Minutes, (No. 2) he assigns European
troops to specified places, and assigns none to Oude, though
European troops were actually there at the time, to support
the Resident in carrying out the annexation, then in pro-
cess of execution,  Sir Charles Jackson thinks this Minute
was written some time before its date, and that ““if Lord
Dalhousie had adverted to the approaching annexation of
Oude when he signed the Minute, he would have altered
his suggestion” (ot adding two Furopean battalions to the
Bengal establishment,) “Into a positive demand for a still
greater increase.”f  This is a perfectly gratuitous supposi-
tion, and I see no reason whatever for acceding to it.
The fact of no permanent force of European troops being
allotted to Oude long after the annexation lLad been

* India under Dallousie and Canning, pp. b1 to 63; A Vindication, pp.
158 to 167 ; Marshman's History, vol. i, pp. 448, 450..
1+ A4 Vindication, pp. 164, 165,



TIUEL TEST OF PREVISION. 213

arranged and was in progress, proves that Lord Dalhousie
considered that territorial acquisition to have imposed no
additional military burden upon the Empire. We have
every reason, in fact, to assume that he thought the annex-
ation of Oude, as he had said of the annexation of Nagpore
and Sattara, would “consolidate our military strength,”
and “absorb a separate military Power.”  He really be-
lieved that he could take into our direct administration
thesc new Provinces, covering two hundred thousand
square miles of territory, with twenty-five millions of in-
habitants, without the services of one additional soldier
being required. He was enabled to keep up the temporary
and superficial appearance of not having entailed a heavy
burden on the Iinperial resources, solely by not calling for
a proper angmentation of Kuropean troops to occupy the
new Provinees, and by the whole charge of' the Regular
troops in the Punjuub being laid on the revenues of Bengal.
Had he demanded a reinforcement of 15,000 British soldiers
for the Punjaub, Nagpore, and Oude, had the Punjaub
accounts not been cooked, the expence would have opened
all eyes to the ruinous nature of his policy.

He did not insist upon any reinforcement as a precaution
that was urgently and imperatively required, nor did he
allude to the extended arca of the Empire as having
rendered any augmentation necessary. He really asked
for no angmentation at all, over and above the number of
Ewropean soldiers that were in India before the annex-
ations of Nagpore and Oude. He only asked for the
return of four Battalions that had been sent to the Crimea
and to Persia. The Duke of Argyll tells us that “the
urgent necessities of the Russian war had compelled the
Government at home to diminish sensibly the number of
European Regiments in India,”t so that “the total number
of European troops had suffercd a gradual diminution from
48,709, at which they stood in 1852, to 45,322, at which
they stood when Lord Dalhousie closed his government
in India.”} Thus the four Battalions required to complete
the establishment which Lord Dalhousie considered to be
essential, would merely have brought up the number of

* Sattara Papers, 1849, p. 83 ; Rajak of Berar, Papers, 1854, pp. 35, 36.
1 India under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 61. 1 1bid., p. 63.
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British soldiers to what it was in 1852. Indeed all Lord
Dalhousie’s remonstrancesin his Minute of the 5th February
1856, were directly against “the withdrawal of European
troops from India to Eurepe and Persia.”  The Duke of
Argyll acknowledges this very clearly :——

¢« Tord Dalhousic saw with regret the necessity for a temporary
reduction of the Enropean Force ; but the risk \\fhich was actu-
ally incurred thereby was not the risk against which he had it in
his mind to guard. ~Thero was not, indeed, any danger which he
considered imminent.”*

The apologists are not quite in accordance among them-
selves. The Duke of Argyll says that in remonstrating
against a reduction of the British troops, Lord Dal-
housie was guarding against no “danger which he con-
sidered imminent.”  Mr. Marshman, perhaps from better
sources of information, assures us that “the repeated acts
of insubordination bad convinced him that the native
Army was no longer to be depended on.”+ The Duke not
only denies that Lord Dalhousie felt any anxicty as to the
fidelity and obedience of the Sepoys, but roundly asserts
that no fear on the subject had ever been expressed hy
any one.

“No such thought ever entered into the minds of Indian states-
men, or of Indian soldiers.  fhey knew that without the Native
Army our Empire never could have been acquired, and they knew,
too, that without it that Kmpire could not be maintaned for a
single year, T'o doubt its fidehty would have been to doubt our
own powers of rule.

1t is not surprising, therefore, that we look in vain for any
symptom of a fear which would have gone so decp and would
have implied so much.”{

If the Duke never looked bheyond his infallible Blue
Books for information, he may well have “looked in vain”;
many “thoughts” and “symptoms” may well have escaped
his inquiry. He certainly would “look in vain” among the
self-glorifying despatches and Reports of the aunexing
period, for any “doubt” or “fear” as to the good-will of the
native troops, or the content of the newly acquired Pro-
vinces. But if he had extended his reading a little, he

* India under Dalkousie and Canning, p. 61.  t+ Ilistory, vol. iii, p. 448.
1 India under Dalkousie and Canning, p. 51.



THE TEST OF PREVISION. 215

might have found the “symptoms” of which he was in
search, not only in the writings of the most eminent
Indian soldicrs and statesmen, from Warren Hastings
downwards, but in books and pamphlets, written during
Lord Dalhousic’s Government, and expressly connecting
the danger of military revolt with the policy of annexation
and resunption,

Sir Thomas Munro wrote as follows :-—

¢« Kven if all India could be broaght under the British dominion,
it is very questionable whether such a change, cither as it regards
the natives or oursclves, ought to be desired.  Onc effect of such
a conquest would be, that the Indian army, baving no longer any
warlike neighbours to combat, would gradaally lose its military
habits and discipline, and that the natice trooys would have leisure
to fecl their own strengthy and gor want of other employment, to
turn 1t against their Bnropean masters,

“Wo delude ourselves it wo believe that gratitude for the pro-
tection they have received, or attachment to our mild government,
would induce any considerable body of the people to side with us
i a strugyle with the native arny ™

Here is the opinion pronounced in 1832 by Sir Henry
Russell, for many years Resident at Hyderabad :—

“ A well conducted rebellion of our native subjects, or an cz-
tensive disaffeetion of owr native troops, is the event by which our
power is most likely to be shaken ; and the sphere of this dunger
s necessarily enlarged by every enlargement of owr territory.  The
dnerease of our subjects, aud still more of our native trovps, is an
anerease not of our strength, but of owr weakness.”

Lord Metcalfe, after speaking of “the disaffection dor-
mant, but rooted universally among our subjects,” says :—

““It may be observed that the tried services and devotion of our
native Army furnish a proof to the contrary of the preceding as-
sertion.  Our native Army is certainly a phenomenon, the more so
as there is no heurt-felt attachiment to owr Government on the part of
our native troops.

““We can retain our dominion only by a large military establish-
mont ; and without a considerable force of British troops the fidelity
of our native Army could not be relied on.

“ Our danger does not lie in the military force alone of Native
States, but in the spirit by which they are actuated towards us ; and
still more in the spirit of our subjects, from one end of India to the
other.” +

* Gleiy's Life of Sir T. Munro, vol. ii, p. 33.
t Selections from Lord Metcalfe's Papers, (1355) p. 144,
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The Sepoys were our subjects, and to a great extent
representative men among them, and they were peculiarly
exposed to be personally taunted in places of public resort,
with being accomplices in the destruction of all the his-
torical dignities and ancient institutions, whlc‘h every
native with a spark of honour and national pride, was
bound to admire, to love, and to respect. .Let us hear
what Sir Henry Lawrence said on that subject, after the
annexation of Oude, but before the outbreak of the re-

bellion ;—-

“The Scpoy is not the man of consequenco ho was. He dis-
likes annexations,—among other reasons, because each new pro-
vince added to the Empire widens his sphere of service, and at
the same time decreases our foreign enemies, and thereby the
Sepoy’s importance. The other day an Oude Scpoy of the Bom-
bay Cavalry at Necmuch, being asked af ho liked annexation, ve-
plied: ‘No. I used to be a great man when I went home ; the
best in the village rose as I approached ; now the lowest puff their
pipes in my face.””*

General Briggs, in 1849, when the annexation of Sattara,
the first in Lord Dalhousie’s series, had just taken place,

warned the advocates of consolidation that if they did
away with “the right of adoption, with respect to the
Princes of India, they would tread on delicate ground.”
No one would believe thac they were going to confine the
process to soverecigntics.

“If you arve to do wway with the vight of individuals to adopt,
you will shake the faith of the people of Indin; you will influenco
that opimon which has hitherto mamtained you in your power ;
and that influence will thrill througl your ermy ; and you will find
some day, as Lord Metealfe more than once said, ¢ we shall rise
some mornng, and hear of a conflagration through the whole
Kmpire of India, such as a fow luropeans amongst millions will
not be able to extinguish.”  Your army is derived from tho pea-
santry of the country, who have rights, and if those »iyhts are in-
Sringed wpon, yow will no longer have to depend on the fidelity of
that army. You have s native army of 250,000 men to support
your power, and it is on the fidelity of that army your power rests.
But you may rely on 1t, if you infringe the institutions of the people
of India, that army will sympathise with them, for they are a part
of the population ; and in every infringement you make upon tho
rights of individuals, you infringe upon the rights of men, who

* Kaye's Lives of Indiun Qfcers, vol. i, p. 320,
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are cither themselves in the army, or upon their sons, their fathers,
or their relatives. Let the fidelity of your army be shaken, and
your power is gone.”

When the proposed anncxation of Kerowlee was under
consideration in 1853, Mr. John Sullivan, formerly a
Member of Council at Madras, wrote as follows :—

«« We must remember that in order to keep India at all, we are
obliged to hold it by a strong military grasp ; that our chief mili-
tary instrument is the Scpoy ; and that o very large portion of
the Bengal and Bombay armies are Rajpoots, whoese feelings of
clanship are as strong as those of Highlunders, and who still re-
tain a lively recollection of the ancient grandeur of their race.
If we sap the fowndation of o.r rule by acls of injustice to the Itaj-
poot Prinees, we shall surely aweaken « ympathy for them in the
hearts of the native army ; and the gieatest of Indian authovities
has told us what the consequence will be, whenever our native
army is roused to a sense of its own strength,”*

The following extracts are tuken from Judia, its (fo-
vernment under a Bureaneracy, a pamphlet by Mr. John
Dickinson, published in 1853, before the annexations of
Nagpore and Jhansi, and when the question of confiscating
Kerowlee, which would have been the first encroachment
on Rajpootana, was yet undecided.

““There aro many signs and warnings in India at this moment,
and if the present system is allowed to go on, it will soon expose
our Empire to a greater peril than it hus ever yet encoun-
tered (p. 8.)

“The present system is not only ruining and degrading the
natives of India, but is bringing our lmpire into a more cntical
situation every day. (p. 27.)

“ The natives secem what they know wo expect them to appear ;
we do not sce their real feelings: we know not how hot the stove
may be under its polished surface. For the fire is not out ; we
wre obliged to keep it up by our native army, which may blaze into a
conflagration and burn the kmpire.  There may be some conspiracy,
of which, as at Vellore, we have not even a suspicion, until the
native Regiments open their firc on our barracks : and, as a mer-
chant who is obliged to throw all his trcasure overboard to save
the ship, a storm may arise in India which will cost us more to
maintain our power, than all we have gained, or can ever hope to
gain, by our confiscations. (p. 166.)

““ Would not a violation of religion and the rights of property,

* dre we bound by our Treaties ! A Plea for the Princes of India, (Effing-
ham Wilson, London,) 1853, p. 70.
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which lit a flame of insurrection in Rajpootana, and scnt over
three-fourths of our Bengal Sepoys to the enciny, instantly paralyse
the right arm of England 2~ (p. 177.)

This warning was plain enough. It may, perhaps, be
objected that Lord Dalhousie could not be expected to
listen to every volunteer adviser in England. I shall show,
therefore, that, besides Sir Hemy Lawrence, whose opi-
nions were no sceret, there were others in constant official
cominunication with him in India, who uttered the same
warnings, and wrged the same remonstrances.

General Sir Willimn Sleeman wrote in these terms to
Sir James Weir Hogy,—very fruitlessly, for that gentle-
man was Lord Dalhousie’s strongest supporter in the Court
of Directors,—on the 12th of January, 1853 :—“The Na-
tive States I consider to be breakwaters, and when they
are all swept away, we shall be left to the mercy of our
native wrmy, which may not aheays be sufficiently under
owr control.”*

The following passage is taken from a letter addressed
by Sir Williun Sleeman to Lord Dalhousie Limself, on the
10th of April, 1852 :—

“In September 1818, I togk the liberty to mention to your
Lordship my fears that the system of annexing and absorbing
Native States,—so popular with our Indian service, and so much
advocated by a certain class of writers in public journals,—mniyht
some day rewder us too visibly dependent wpon our native armny ;
that they might see it, and aceldents might occur to wnite them, or
too great a portion of them, in some desperate act.”’+

Some of these expressions of opinion, especially those of
General Briggs,—remarkable for its calm sagacity,—Sir
William Slecman, and Mr. John Dickinson, seem to me to
approach as closely to the character of prophetic warnings,
as has ever oceurred, or can be expected to occur, in the
efforts of human intellect.

‘What becomes now of the Duke of Argyll's very confi-
dent and very extravagant assertions, that “no Indian
statesman or soldier” ever entertained a doubt of the fide-
lity of the native army ; that “no such thought ever en-
tered into their minds;” and that “we may look in vain
for any symptoms of such tear” ?

* Sleeman’s Oude, vol. ii, p. 392, t Ibid., vol. ii, p. 362,



THE TEST OF PREVISION. 219

“ Looking back,” says the Duke of Argyll, ¢ as we now
do, upon the years of Lord Dalhousie’s rule through the
light of subsequent events, we naturally search for any-
thing in the transactions of the time which can have had
any bearing on the condition of the Native Army.” It
cannot be said that during those years any new influence
was brought to bear upon it.”*

If*the Duke will “search” in those same passages in
which I have just shown him the ““symptoms” of that
fear,” for which he had “ looked in vain,” he will also find
what “new influences” were “brought to bear” upon the
native Army during “the years of Lord Dalhousic’s rule.”
There was something ““in the transactions of that time,”
that made the native troops, in the words of Sir Thomas
Munro, “feel their own strength,”—that altered, to use
the words of Lovd Metealfe, ©* the spirvit by which the na-
tive States,” and, thercfore, “our subjects, fromn one end
of India to the other, were actuated towards us.” It was
« Annexation,” which Sir Henry Lawrence tells us, “the
Sepoys disliked,” and which Sir Henry Russell had warned
s, would prove “an increase not of our strength, but of
our weakness.” When the adopted heirs of Hindoo Princes
were repeatedly rejected, « the faith of the people of India,”
as General Briggs predicted, < was shaken,” and  that in-
fluence thrilled through the army,”—when the most sacred
rights of the Native Sovereigns were “ infringed,” we could
“no longer depend upon the fidelity of the army ;”~—when
“the institutions of the people of India” were “infringed,”
to the detriment of the greatest families, “ the Army sym-
pathised with them,” for they too had families, and many
of them had lands. When, in the words of Mr. Dickinson,
“a violation of religion and the rights of property,” had
been systematically carvied on for some years against our
faithful and submissive Allies, the native troops could no
longer trust that the religion and property of our subjects
would be respected ; and on the first occasion of their suspi-
cions being roused, ““ the native Army blazed into a con-
flagration,” and “ three-fourths of the Bengal Sepoys”
becamne our enemies. '

Such was “the new influence” that was “brought to

* India under Dalhousie and Canning, pp. 49, 50.
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bear” upon the native Army dwring “the years of Lord
Dalhousie’s rule,” and were it not for the Duke of Argyll’s
personal responsibility in the worst * transactions of that
time,” he would have learned the lesson without any
assistance.

The Duke talks about “ looking back through the light
of subscquent events,” and about “ every fifth-rate writer
having his say,” during the agony of the Great Didian
Mutiny, “against something which he called € Lord Dal-
housie’s policy’.” Let e remind him, and the other apo-
logists and culogists, who all raise a similar cry, that I
have now not only displayed what was 1eally called ©“ Lord
Dalhousic’s policy of annexation” by his Lovdship’s fiiends
and supporters, but have shown that some, at least, of
“the fifth-rate writers,” whose “ ignorant injustice” is de-
nounced by his Grace, did not wait for *“ the Great Indian
Mutiny” to condemn that policy, and cannot now be ac-
cused of judging it “by the light of subscquent events.”

That light, however, can enable any one now to see,
that there was more statesmanlike foresight and moral dig-
nity, and a higher sense of national honour, in the grave
censures and gloomy forebodings of General Briggs and
Mur. John Dickinson, than in the shallow exultation of the
retiving Governor-General, who boasted that “in eight
years, tour Kingdoms,”—besides “ various Chicfships and
separate tracts,— had been placed under the sceptre of
the Queen of England,” that he had added ** four millions
sterling to the annual income of the Indian Empire,” and
that he should leave it in peace, “ without and within.”*

It is not enough to say that Lord Dalhousic manifested
no statesmanlike foresight.  All his most confident pro-
mises were contradicted and falsified in the most unequi-
vocal and conclusive manner, within fifteen months atter
his departure from India.  His financial anticipations had
already been sufliciently refuted, for those who could form
an impartial judgment, by the evident results of his policy
before his departure.

In opening the serics of annexations in 1848 with that
of Sattara, Lord Dalhousie declared that “by taking pos-

* Minute by the Marquis of Dalkousie, February 28th, 1856, Reviewing his
Admanastration, (pavagraphs 11, 12, 19,) p. 7.
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session of Native States,” under the doctrine of lapse, he
would “add to the resources of the public treasury.”*
When about to relinquish the reins of government, he
boasted of having added *“four millions sterling to the
annual revenue of the Empire.” But what is the true pic-
ture 2 “ We were not prepared,” the Court of Directors
wrote to him in 1852, “to find that the annexation of
Suttara would prove a drain on the general revenues of
India.” 1In the eight years of Lord Dalhousie’s adminis-
tration he added £8,354,000 to the public debt: in the
three last of these years there was a heavy deficit, amount-
ing in 1853-4, though India was at peace, to £2,044,000,
and in 1854-5 to £1,850,000.%  [u his tlourishing finan-
clal summary Lord Dalhousic only gave the gross veceipts
of his territorial acquisitions, and said nothing at all about
the expenditure.  He even included in this alleged addi-
tion to the vevenue of the Empire, £500,000 from the
Assigned Districts of Hyderabad, administered in trust for
the Nizun,} not one penny of which could fall into the
British Treasury.

He declared that “petty intervening Principalities”
might be made “a means of annoyance,” but could * never
be a source of strength,” and that by “getting rid of
them” we should ““acquire continuity of military commu-
nication,” and *“ combine our military strength.”§ The time
of trial soon came, and it was then found that one great
source of strength lay in those * petty intervening Prin-
cipalities,” which not only gave us no “annoyance,” but
attorded the most serviceable aid in men, money, and moral
influence, so that one of Lord Dalhousie’s former thick-
and-thin partisans is now compelled to admit that < Ma-
dras was saved by the Nizam,” “ Bombay by Maharajah
Scindia,” and “ the Punjaub by the old Sikh Princes.”||

On the other hand, instead of our military strength being
combined or consolidated, it was so scattered and dispersed,
as a direct result of Lord Dalhousie’s policy, that the great
strategic and political centres of Delhi, Bureilly and Cawn-

* Ante, p. 184,

t Minute by the Marquis of Dalhousie, 1856, para. 23, p. 8. The Rebellion
in India, by John Bruce Norton, pp. 162, 167.

T Minute by the Marquis of Dalhousie, 1156, para. 19, (note) p. 7.
§ Ante, p. 184, Sattara Papers, 1849, p. 83, | Ante, p. 203,
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pore, fell into the hands of the rebels almost without a
struggle ; the small forces at Lucknow and Agra were
beleaguered ; and Allahabad and Benares were barely saved
in time.

There was not a single British soldier in the Kingdom
of Oude from 1846 to 1856, when it was :mnexe:f, in-
cluding the period of our Sutlej and Punjaub wars, when
every man was wrgently required.  We have now in Oude
one Regiment of Dragoons, seven Batteries of Artillery,
and four Battalions of Foot, at an annual cost of about
£600,000, or nearly half the revenue of the Province,
without counting the native troops. This is the way we
“have consolidated our military strength,” and “added to
the resources of the public treasury.”

During the great rebellion, the nmmediate oftspring of
Lord Dalhousic’s injustice and imprudence, which broke
out with the mutiny of the Bengal Scpoys in 1857, and
was not finally suppressed till 1859, it became necessary
to angment the British forces in India to the enormous
nunber of 122,000 men ; of whom 35,000 disappeared en-
tirely from the muster-rolls in those three years, having
either died or been discharged from wounds or ruined con-
stitutions ; and during the same three years upwards of
forty millions sterling were added to the public debt of
India. Thus did Lord Dalhousic’s policy “consolidate our
military strength,” and ““add to the resources of the public
treasury.”

In 1848 Lord Dalhousie said :— The assumption of the
Raj” (of Sattara) « will cause no ferment or discontent
among other Native Powers.”* In 1854 he was told in
Council by Sir John Low, speaking from his own personal
knowledge and experience, that ““the contidence of our
Native Allies was a good deal shaken by the annexation
of Sattara,” and that 1t had roused feclings of “ dread and
discontent.”t  Sir Frederick Currie, also, has recently
stated,—and he must have said the same thing to Lord
Dalhousie when the Kerowlee case was before the Supreme
Council, that “ The decision in the Sattara case, whatever

* Sattara Papers, 1849, p. 82,
t Papers, Rajah of Berar,1854, pp. 42, 43.
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its merits may be, undoubtedly caused surprise and alarm
throughout the length and breadth of India.”*

Mr. Mansel, the Resident at Nagpore, in his despatch
of the 14th of December, 1853, quoted by Lord Dalhousie
himself, said :— The subject of adoption has been one of
nouch interest and anxiety to the Court people, especially
since the close of the Suttura discussions.”t

The prevalence of discontent and dread among the Na-
tive Princes, contrary to Lord Dalhousie’s expectations, is
thus confirmed by Lord Canning, in his very cautiously
worded Adoption despatch of 1860 (paragraph 2):—
“There appears to be a haze of doubt and mistrust in the
mind of cach Chief as to the policy which the Government
will apply to his own State in the event of his leaving no
natural heir to his throne, and each seemed to feel, not
without reason, that in such case the ultimate fate of his
country is uncertain.” Such was the political effect of
Lord Dalhousie’s policy of annexation.

Ile asserted, in the Farewell Minute reviewing his
own measures, that the extinction of the Nagpore Princi-
pality “was hailed with lively satisfaction by the whole
population of the Province.”f  He grected Lord Canning
on his arrival at Caleutta with the telegraphic message,
“All is well in Oude !”§

And Sir Charles Jackson puts it to us, as an unanswer-
able question, if we suppose the annexations to have caused
general discontent, and to have been “a principal cause of
the rebellion,”—

“How was it that Nagpore and Sattarah remained faithful to
our rule ?  Surely the inhabitants of Sattarah had as much cause
of complaint as those of Jhansi, and Nagpore as Sumbulpore, and
yet during the rebellion neither Nagpore nor Sattarah joined the
insurgents. It was no fear of British troops that caused the dif-
ference, for the Furopean Regiment had long been withdrawn from
Nagpore, and Sattarah never had such a garrison.”||

Before proceeding further, let us first put Sir Charles
Jackson’s facts right a little. It is true that there was no
Regiment of European Infantry at Nagpore,—there is

* Mysore Papers, 1866, p. 46,
t Papers, Rajah of Berar, 1854’,1 pp. 17, and 54.

1 Mvnute by the Marquis of 1 , 1856, ph 27, p. 9.
§ 1fbid., 1856, p. 21. | A Vindication, p. 39.
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one there now,—but there were “British troops” of the
most imposing description, though not of great numerical
strength. There was a splendid Troop of Horse Artillery,
and the Head Quarters and onc Company of a Battalion of
Foot Artillery,—altogether more than 250 men with
twelve guns.  The native Regiments all belonged to the
Madras Presidency.

“Sattara,” he says, “never had such a garrison.” No,—-
never until 1857, when the dangerous conspiracies that
were discovered, and the general agitation and excitement
of the Mahratta Provinces, compelled Lord Elphinstone to
take the earliest opportunity of stationing Kuropean troops
at Sattara.  Detachments of the 14th Dragoons and 3rd
Europeans arrived there on the 19th of June, 1857.

M. Marshinan, formerly of the Friend of India, makes
similar assertions in his History.

“That the annexation by war or lapse did not create the mutiny,
appears evident from the fact that except in the ease of Oude, and
the little Principality of Jhansi, under the instigation of the en-
raged Ranee, none of the annexed Provinces manifested the
slightest disposition to turn against us in the great erisis.  Sattara
and Nagpore were tranquil.”’*

There were sixteen executions for treasonous conspiracy
at Sattara in 1857 and 1858, besides nunerous sentences
of transportation and imprisonment. If this is not indi-
cative of “the slightest disposition to turn against us,”
what does it indicate ?

The following account of a scene that took place at Sat-
tara in June, 1857, appeared in the Bombuy Telegraph .—

““Several arrests have been made; the ringleaders are being
brought in prisoners almost daily. The gallows-tree has hard work
awaiting it. Its services wero put in requisition this morning. Tho
prisoner in a bold fearless manner mounted the drop, and during
the process of adjusting the nooso and pinioning, he, in a loud firm
voice, addressed the crowd in tho following words (my informant
knows Mahrattee aswell as linglish) :—Listen,all! As the English
people hurled the Rajah from his throne, in like manner do you
drive them out of the country. This is murder. This example is
made to frighten you, but be not alarmed. Sons of Brahmins,
Mahrattas and Mussulmen, revolt! Sons of Christians look to”
yourselves !+

* Jlistory of India, vol. iii, p. 450,
1 Quoted in The Rebellion. by John Bruce Norton, pp. 96, 97.
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Sir Charles Jackson says that “Nagpore was faithful to
our rule,”—Mr. Marshman that “Nagpore was tranquil.”
In the Province of Nagpore, without counting those killed
in open rebellion or summarily put to death by military
authority, there were nine executions in 1857 for high
treason, and seventeen officers and soldiers of the Local
Force, formerly the Rajah’s Army, were hanged for mutiny.
The English Sergeant Major of one native corps was killed
by mutineers. An English official of the Electric Tele-
graph Department was murdered by rebels. Two petty
Chieftains, the Zemindars of Arpeillee and Sonakhan,
were cngaged in open rebellion, the latter of whom
was hanged.  As compared with the stirring events, and
brilliant exploits farther North, Mr. Marshman may still
choose to call this “tranquillity,” but even he can scarcely
persist in saying that there was not “the slightest disposi-
tion to turn against us.”

It is very natural that those who did their best, in office
or in the Press, to promote the rapacious schemes which
at once broke down our moral supremacy, and dispersed
our military strength, should shut their eyes to all those
facts which prove a very general disaffection, and should
speak of the great Indian Rebellion as a mere mutiny of -
Bengal Sepoys.  In their anxiety to shake off the painful
feeling of sclf-reproach, they have been led to make some
remarkable declarations. The Duke of Argyll, for instance,
who as a Cabinet Minister might have had access to the
best information, most erroncously asserts that “the in-
fection of the mutiny never reached the Presidencies of
Madras or of Bombay,” and that “the entire armies of
Bombay and of Madras escaped the plague.” When the
Duke penned these lines, he cannot have heard of the
Field Forces that were actively engaged for so man
months in suppressing insurrection, not without much
bloodshed, in the Rewa Kanta, in the Satpoora district,
on the Goa frontier, in Kolapore, Nargoond, Shorapore,
Jumkhundee, Kopal, and other parts of the Mahratta
country ; or of the murder of Mr. Manson, the Collector,

; India wnder Dalhousie and Canning (Longman and Co.) 1865, pp. 118
and 92,
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by the rebel Chieftain of Nargoond, who had been refused

permission in 1851 to adopt a near relation as his heir,
The Duke, when he wrote these sentences, cannot have

heard of the mutiny of the 27th Bombay Native Infantry

at Kolapore, when three of their officers were murdered,
and of the terrible retribution inflicted on the mutineers
by General Le Grand Jacob ;* or of the mutiny of the 21st
Bombay Regiment at Kurrachee, for which seven men
were hanged and three blown from guns; or of the
Golundauze Artillery at Shikarpore and Hydrabad in
Scinde, where a Havildar was blown from a gun;t or of
the 2nd and 3rd Bombay Cavalry at Neemuch and Nus-
seerabad ; or of the disaffection and plots among the 10th
and 11th Infantry in the city of Bombay itsclf, when two
Sepoys were blown from guns and others transported ; or
of the attempted mutiny of the 2nd Grenadiers at Ahme-
dabad, for which upwards of twenty men were executed.
These tritles had escaped his notice, and yet he censures his
opponents for not, as he alleges, studying the Blue Books !

Immediately on the publication of Indicw under Dal-
housie and Canning, the Duke of Argyll was taken to
task, as to the alleged tranquillity of the Bombay Presi-
dency and Army, by General Le Grand Jacob, who had
promptly addressed the Editor of the Kdinburgh Revicw
on the appearance of the original #rticles in 1863, in a letter
which, it appears, the noble contributor had not the ad-
vantage of seeing before his Essays were reprinted. In
the correspondence which ensued, the Duke made a partial
and very inadequate admission of his errors. He expressed
his readiness, if he had the opportunity, “to qualify the
statement made in the Review, and to mention the ap-
pearance and effectual repression of the mutinous spirit in
Bombuy.”f This mention of a “‘mutinous spirit” very in-
sufficicntly recalls transactions for which, as General Jacob
had reminded him, “some hundreds of Sepoys and native
officers, in divers corps, were tried and executed, or trans-
ported, besides those shot or cut down in fight.”§ Al-

* Correspondence as to Mutiny and Rebellion in the Bombay Presidency,
1865, pp. 11, 12, 13. ) t ‘The Sindian, September 21st, 1857,

1 Correspondence between Major General Jacob and the Duke of Argyll,
(Privately printed, 1865,) p. 8. § Idem., p. b. ;



THE TEST OF PREVISION. 227

though the Duke acknowledges ““the mutinous spirit” and
its “repression,” he says nothing of the actual outbreaks of
mutiny and rebellion.

Under the form of a criticisin on Mr. Kaye’s Sepoy War,
an article in the Fdinburgh Review of October, 1866, con-
tinues and reiterates the same justifications of the acquisi-
tive policy, the same assertions that the insurrection of
1857 was “simply” and “merely a military mutiny,” and
by no means “‘a popular rebellion,” the same denunciations
of all dissentients, which pervade the two Essays reprinted
by the Duke of Argyll. Such a barmony and consistency
with the previous articles is kept up throughout, that at
first one would confidently attrilmte all three to the same
author, until certain indications of style negative that sup-
position.  The Duke of Argyll. for mstance, would never
lay claim to local experience and personal observation, as
the writer does who contrasts the strange notions of ““those
who have no practical acquaintance with the people of
India,” with the more enlightened ideas of “those who
know” all about “the fuith of ignorant Hindoos.”t

This Edinburgh Reviewer “regrets” and “laments” that
Mr. Kaye should have “made himself, to a great extent,
the mouthpiece of a party small in numbers and smaller in
ability, Englishmen too,—for the verdict of thoughtful
foreigners has been ver® different,”—that he should have
“lent the credit of his high reputation to abet those party-
writers” who attack the memory of Lord Dalhousie.d Of
course the spirit of party,never enters the pages of the
Edinburgh Review; and an Edinburgh Reviewer, even
though for twenty years he had been successively the
leader and spokesman of the annexation policy in the Court
of Directors, the House of Commons and the Council of
India, cannot be “a party-writer,” and must bring a per-
fectly unbiassed judgment to the defence of that policy,
and the discussion of its results.

Just as the Duke of Argyll denouncesall the assailants
of Lord Dalhousie’s measures as “fifth-rate writers,” the
more recent Reviewer, with equal depth and refinement
of sarcasm, sets them down as “a party small in numbers

* India under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 98; Edinburgh Review, October
1866, p. 300.  t Edinburgh Review, October 1866, p. 304. 1 Iéid., p. 300.
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and smaller in ability.” Like the other vindicators he cave-
fully avoids grappling with any of his opponents,—uve-
strained, no doubt, by “a proud sense of what is due to
himself,”*—and though he quotes one of them, neither
mentions his name nor gives a veference to the book.

The Beviewer taunts us with being “a small party.”
He is right, and if he had added that it was not a very
popwlar party, he would not have been far wrong.  There
canmot be a more ungraceful and thankless position than
that of an accuser and detractor,—one who denounces
national exploits, decries recognised merit, and prophesies
evil things. It would have heen much more pleasant to
lLave joined, many years ago, that much larger and more
popular party which hailed and echoed the confident as-
surances of Lord Dalhousie, his colleagues in Council, Mr.
R. D. Mangles and the Fricad of India, that by destroy-
ing Native States we should add to the resources of the
public treasury, combine our militwry strength, and gain
the cheerful allegiance of the mnfortunate people, “impa-
tient for the rule of the steanger, rather than suffer” any
longer from ““the vod of iron” with which their Native
Princes had “scourged the nationality out of them.”t We
did not believe in cither the highly coloured obloquy cast
upon native rule, the supposed desive of the people to ex-
change it for British administrtion, or the imaginary
benetits that our own Governmment would dervive from its
ill-gotten acquisitions.  Let the Reviewer and the Duke
of Argyll call to mind that thig party, “small in numbers
and smaller”—if they will have if so --*“in ability,” did not
spring up, wise after the event, amid the hwid lights of
the Rebellion of 1857, but had raised the voice of rebuke
and warning during several previous years.  Let them call
to mind that all the confident hopes and promises of the
great party, strong in place and power, to which they be-
long, have been falsified,—that instead of havihg added
to the public resowrces, they have added to the public
debt and expenditure; that instead of combining our
military strength in India, they weakened it, and by their
consequent demand for British soldiers, have, for the time,
paralysed the military strength and political influence of

* Ante, p. 4. t Papers, Rajah of Berar, 1854, p. b2.
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the Empire in Europe, and throughout the world.  On the
other hand, the small party who received the splendid
visions and premature exultation of Lord Dalhousie and
his supporters with cold ineredulity and bitter remon-
strance, have given the best proof of their more sound
political science, by having manifested the power of pre-
vision. And without ascending to the period before 1848,
the political school stigmatised by the fidinburgh Review,
is now scen to be the school of Henry St. George Tucker
and Mountstuart Elphinstone, ot Sleeman, Samuel Mac-
pherson, George Clerh, and Hemy Lawrence.

On one point it must be admitted that the Fdinburgh
Reviewer of 1866 does us more justice than we could well
expect at his lhands.  Instead of brauding us with the
extremely effective epithet of « un-Tinglish,” he admits our
nationality.  The “small party” is described by him as con-
sisting of * Bnglishmen, for the verdict of thoughttul
foreigners has been very different.”  But if our party is so
small, and his own, it is 1o be supposed, comparatively
large, how is it that the Reviewer is veduced to quote
 thoughtful foreigners” in support of his views ? How is
it he cannot cite the opinions of thoughtful and indepen-
dent Englishmen on lus side ¢ How 1s it that every one
who comes forward, even behind the screen of a Review
or a newspaper, to defend Lord Dallousie’s policy, is
always sure to be, like the Edinburgh Reviewers, impli-
cated in the progress of that policy, and interested in de-
nying its disastrous results 2 The Reviewer cites as a
high "anthority Sir John Lawrence. He might as well
have cited Mr. Mangles. In many respects Sir John Law-
rence is undoubtedly o high authority. Ile has been a
successful administrator in peace ; and in time of war,—
in 1849 and 1857,—he showed himself as bold and clear-
sighted in his plans, as he was skilful and provident in
organisation. Few men more able, more honest, more
lofty in character, ever entered the public service in India.
He is a man of whom his country may well be proud.
But in every fibre of his heart he is a functionary. He is
nothing if not a Bengal Civilian. He was trained in the
school of Mr. Thomason. Hc was the favourite Lieu-
tenant of Lord Dalhousic. He cannot be expected to
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pronounce the most active and eventful peviod of his pub-
lic career a mistake. Of course he can draw no lesson
from the Rebellion but that of military precautions, and
can see no cause but the greased cartridge for that tre-
mendous convulsion.

We return, therefore, to the two “thoughtful foreigners,”
M. de Montalembert and M. de Tocqueville, than whom,
the Reviewer assures us, there can be “no higher or more
impartial authorities.” M. de Montalembert’s character
commands universal respect ; he is eminent as a scholar
and as a man of letters; but his public career at home has
not been either so successful or so consistent as to make
him a political oracle for the world. T am not prepared
to bow to his authority in Indian any more than in Italian
politics.

The eloquent brochure from which the Reviewer quotes
was notoriously written as a vehicle for an attack on the
French Government, with no real reference to the aftairs
of India. The hackneyed eulogy of the East India Com-
pany, and assertion that the inswrrection was entively the
work of the Sepoys, adopted from some of the Inglish
journals of the day, carry no greater weight because re-
peated by M. de Montalembert, who had no special means
of knowing the truth, and had made no special inquiry
into the subject.

M. de Tocqueville was, indeed, a master of political
science ; but then his opinion, far from helping the Re-
viewer, is entirely in our favour. M. de Tocqueville, we
quote from the Review, “ has compressed his opinion into
a single sentence, as vigorous as it is profound. ¢ Je crois,
he observes, speaking of the mutiny, ‘que les horribles
éveénements de 'Inde ne sont en aucune facon un souléve-
ment, contre Toppression ; cest une révolte de la barbarie
contre l'orgueil.””*

“ A revolt of barbarism against pride!” The struggle of
despised Asiatics against the arrogance of Western civili-
sation,—that is exactly the concise description of the Re-
bellion of 1857 that we could accept. Does the Reviewer
accept it ? Does he really think that it corresponds, or
can be reconciled, with the assurance of himself and Sir

* Edinburgh Review, Octoher 1866, p. 302.
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John Lawrence, that the Rebellion was caused by “ the
cartridge affair and nothing else.”t Does he suppose that
M. de Tocqueville uses_the term, “orgueil,” pride, in a
sense culogistic of British rule ?

On the other hand, where did the Reviewer find that
the assailants of Lord Dalhousie considered the Rebellion
of 1857 to be “un souldvement contre I'oppression,”—a
rising agamst oppression, or in his own words ““ the con-
sequence and retribution of civil misgovernment,” ¢ the
insurrection of an oppressed people” Not in Mr. Kaye’s
book, the only work upposed to his own views to which he
gives a reference ; certainly not in my book, The Empire
in India, which he quotes without naming, nor in any
book of mine. The Reviewer mizht know from Mr. Kaye,
whom he styles “to a great extent, the mouthpiece of the
party,” that they attribute the outbreak to “manifold
causes” producing a general feeling of suspicion and disaf-
fection, upon which the cartridge aftair acted as the spark
to a mine, none of the causes amounting to what is properly
called “ oppression,” but rather to what M. de Tocqueville
terms < orgueil,”—pride or contempt. This pride of race and
culture,—-disguised, even from the British rulers them-
selves, by benevolent though cheap consideration for the
masses, who never come really into competition or contact
with them, led them to dislike and scorn all rights and
claims which impeded their plans or checked their undi-
vided supremacy. Consequently the natives of the country
were excluded from all share in the Government of the
British Provinces, and from every administrative office of
honour and emolument ; while the tendency of our rule
from the first was to lower the position, and destroy the
public career of great nobles and proprietors. At later
periods, varying in the different Presidencies, in the Pun-
Joub, and in Oude, the native landed aristocracy saw ruin,
immediate or prospective, brought to their doors, by our
revenue settlements, resumption laws, and Inam Commis-
sions,—strenuously supported by Lord Dalhousie, “the
Services,” speaking through the Friend of India, and the
Mangles party in the Court of Directors. But even when
they lost property or income, the natural leaders of the

* Edinburgh Review, October 1866, p. 303.
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people did not lose their influence. The masses found no
canse for gratitude towards the British Government. They
everywhere not only sympathised but suffered with the
despoiled landlords.

With increase of power, the same pride of race and cul-
ture led us to regard divect British possession as the sole
remedy for the defects of Native States, and produced an
impatient contempt for the Treaties by which we had
secuwred every step-of our advance.  They now secmed to
fetter our progress. The Friend of Indie derided them
as “musty old parchments.”

By the extinction of allied and protected Principalities,
and by the resumption of landed estates, for the most part
under the false doctrine of “lapse,” “the rights and insti-
tutions of the people of India,” represented by their Princes
and nobles, were “infringed upon” systematically, and, as
General Briggs had predicted, “the native army, being a
part of the population, sympathised with them.”* A
general suspicion of bad ﬂnitlll in all owr dealings was
spread through the land ; the air was thick with rumowrs,
imprecations, and threats.

When Lord Dalhousie left Calentta, after perpetrating
the annexation of Oude, the moral influence of Great
Britain in India was, for the time, annihilated.  On the
first direct provoeation applied to their own religious pre-
Jjudices, the Sepoys led the way in revolt, expecting the
Princes and the people everywhere to answer to their
signal and to follow their examnple.

The following extracts from the detters of the late
Major Samuel Charters Macepherson, who was Resident at
Scindia’s Court during the erisis of 1857, give at once the
opinions formed by that distingnished and lamented ofticer,
and those of Rajah Dinkur Rao, the able Minister of the
Gwalior Principality :—

‘It was the opinion of the more intelligent Chiefy of the Gwa-
lior State, who were but fow in number, that the Bengal native
army believed our Government to have intended, through the
greased cartridges, to strike at the Hindoo and Mahomedan re-
ligions in favour of Christiamity. But they held that the army
was predisposed to revolt through the disaffoction of the popula-
tion, and that the chief causes of the popular dissatisfaction with

* dunte, p. 216,
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our rule were—the extinction of Native States and our conscquent
measures, the depression of Chiefs and heads of society.

“ Every cause assigned for the revolt has tended to produce it;
but dissatisfaction with our rule, common to the army and the
people, was the preliminary condition sine ¢ud non. 'The wain
cause of that dissatisfaction was actual and apprehended disturb-
ance of rights connected with the soil.

“The mutiny aroso in the villages, not in the cantonments.

“You see that Tord Ellenborough quite understands that
the population are hostile to us—that the rising has been a revolt
of the pcople, not of the army. I alone ventured to say this here
for a long time.”

Mr. W. Edwards, of the Bengal Civil Service, a Judge
of the High Court of Agra, printed in 1859 for private
circulation an interesting account of his Personal Adven-
tures during the Rebellion with reflections on its origin
and cause.  These chapters are embodied in a work pub-
lished by him in 1866, when, as he says, “his subsequent
experience of seven years in India had tended to confirm
him in the views and opinions therein expressed.”*

The following passages will give some idea of the con-
clusions at which he has arrived.  After speaking of cer-
tain recently lost privileges and other new giievances of
which the native troops complained, especially of “the vast
distances they now had to travel in going to their homes
on furlough and rejoining their Regiments,” in consequence
of the Punjuub having become a British possession, the
higher rate of pay they had received while it was foreign
territory being stopped, he says :—

“While our native army was in this state of discontent
and restless suspicion, Oude was to their astonishment and ex-
treme dissatisfaction aunexed. There is not tho slightest doubt
that this act was regarded by the native army as one of rude and
unjustifiable spoliation, and T believe that they would have re-
sented it at first, had they not been under the conviction that the
homo authorities would annul the decision of the Governor-Gene-
ral, and restore Oude to the King.

“As soon as it became known that the mission of the Oude
royal family to England had proved ineffectual, and that no hope
remained of the restoration of the country to the King, I noticed
amarked change in the feelings and demeanour of thoe Mahomedans
of my district, and of the Sepoys in particular.

* Reminiscences of a Bengal Civilian, (Smith, Elder and Co., 1866) Pre-
face, p. viin,
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¢ While the minds of our Sepoys were, from the causes I have
already detailed, full of resentment against the Government, and
suspicious of its good faith, the report was spread among them
by the instigators of the rebellion that the Government intended
to take away their caste, and compel them forcibly to adopt
Christianity, and for this purpose had cartridges (¢ cartouch,” as
they called them,) prepared with pigs’ fat to destroy the caste of
the Mahomedans, and with cows’ fat that of the Hindoos.

“The rural classcs, who afterwards broke out into rebellion,
had other causes (to which I will hercafter allude) which moved
them, but as they themsclves were not affected by the cartridges,
they were indifferent on the subject, although they freely expressed
decp sympathy with the Sepoys, having no alternative between
losing their caste and mutmying.”’*

In explaining ““the condition and feelings of the people
in general, and particularly of the agricultural classes in
the North West Provinces at this time, which predisposed
them to rebellion,”t he enters into detailed criticism of our
revenue, judicial and police system, and of many recent
changes, “beautiful on paper,” which “caused the most
bitter resentment and disaffection among the agricultural
body.”f The most mischievous of these he considers to
have been “the action of our Resumption laws, the aboli-
tion of Zemindary and Talookdarce rights,” and the pro-
cesses of our civil Courts, by the combined action of which,
he says,

“Society in the North-Western Provinces had become in
late years thoroughly disorganised. The ancient proprietary body
remained, it is true, but in the position of tenants ou their heredi-
tary estates, smarting under a sense of degradation, and holding
intact their ancient feudal power over their old retainers, who
were willing and ready to cooperate with them in any attempt to
recover their lost position.”§

The personal observation, inquiry, and experience of two
such men as Major Macpherson and Mr. Edwards, placed
far apart, with perfectly distinct spheres of duty, and
under very different circumnstances, will, I think, carry con-
siderably more weight, than the second-hand repetitions of
M. de Montalembert, even though pressed upon us by
“the high and impartial authority” of an Edinburgh Re-
viewer, who, for all we know, may be personally as much

* Personal Reminiscences, pp. 313, 314, 315, + Ibid., p. 318.
1 16id., p. 321, § Ibid., p. 823,
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responsible for the policy of annexation, and as deeply
concerned to clear it from every stain of blood, as the Duke
of Argyll or even as Mr. R. D. Mangles.

We look upon the policy of anncxation as one great
cause, perhaps the greatest, but by no means the onlfr
cause that accumulated the mine of combustibles to which
the cartridge affair acted as a spark.  We point out not
only the connection between the policy of annexation and
the terrible outbreak of 1857, but that in that outbreak
the policy failed in every sense of the word,-—and in its
failure proved the falsity of all Lord Dalhousic’s promises
and expectations, the futility and inadequacy of all his
preparations.

The enthusiastic partisan of Lovd Dalliousic’s reputation
who writes in the Spectator, assures us, however, that the
first and principal reason why tha‘great” and “statesman-
like” policy of “one vast military monarchy” in India
“failed,” was “because Lord Dalhousie retired.”*  This
means, if it means anything, that Lord Dalhousie pos-
sessed faculties for dealing with mutiny and rebellion far
beyond what can be claimed for his suceessor, Lord Can-
ning.

Now, during the eight years of his administration, it
fell three times to Lord Dalhousie’s lot to deal with
mutiny, once with a petty insurrection, and once to cope
with a succession of mutinies, culminating in a formidable
rebellion; and in every instance he proved himselt un-
equal to the occasion,—incapable of appreciating the dan-
ger, feeble and irresolute in his measures of repression and
retribution, tardy and confused in his control of military
operations.

The first of these occasions arose out of the dangerous
combination of the Bengal Regiments in the Punjaub in
1849 and 1850, when at last the 66th Native Infantry at-
tempted to seize the Fort of Govindghur. The mutinous:
spirit was subdued for the time by the judicious method,
partly of stern correction, partly of just concession, adopted
by Sir Charles Napier, and in a great degree by his com-
manding personal influence. Few will now question the

* .lnte, p. 202,
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happy inspiration which prompted that great soldier to’
disband the mutinous 66th on the spot, and to place their
colours in the hands of an Irregular Battalion of Goorkhas,
admitted to their place in the Line. Few will now join
with Lord Dalhousie in his doubts of the necessity of that
step, or in his expression of regret that the Commander-
in-Chief should have acted on his own responsibility in the
matter. In the conflict which followed as to the summary
suspension, pending « reference to Government, of an ovder
wit{lhulding certain extra allowances from the Sepoys,
there can be little doubt that Napier's action was prac-
tically right, although officially unauthorised.  But mark
how éntemptunusly Lord Dalhousie treated the idea of a
conspiracy among the Native Regiments,and of the Empire
having been in peril. e presumed to charge Sir Charles
Napier, a soldier seventy: years of age, renowned through
Ewrope, and covered with honourable wounds, with having
made use of “extravagant and mischievous exaggerations,”
with having brought “unjust and injurious imputations”
against the Bengal Army.™ He had read “the statements”
of the Commander-in-Chief’ with “incredulity.” Yet the
testimony of all the superior ofticers in the Punjaub, in-
cluding Sir Colin Campbell, afterwards Lord Clyde, was
to the same eftect, that **the mutinous spirit was very for-
midable,” and was only kept down by the presence of a
powerful European force.t *“There is no justification,” con-
tinued his Lordship, *“for the cry that India was in danger.
Free from all threat of hostilities from without, and secure,
through the submission of its new subjects, from inswrrec-
tion within, the safety of India has never for one moment
been imperilled by the partial insubordination in the ranks
of its army.”}

When we add that in his Farewell Minute the sole re-
ference to the Sepoy was to say, that “the position of the
native soldier in India has long been such as to leave
bardly any cireumstance of his condition in need of im-

* Papers (printed by the Fast India Company) Discussions between the Mar-
quis of Dalkousie and Sir Charles Napier, 1854, p 15,

1; 9l)efem of the Indian Government, edited by Sir William Napier, 1853,

. 59,

T .I‘apera, Discussions between Dallousic and Napier, (Minute by Lord Dal-
housie, paragraph 37) p. 15,
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provement "* Sir Charles Jackson may, perhaps, be able

to understand “on what authority Mr. Kaye speaks of
Lord Dalhousles ‘rooted conviction of the fidelity of the
Sepoy.”"t

Can anyone believe that Lord Dalhousie, so blind in
1850, so regardless of W(LI‘IIII]W so confident in “the sub-
mission of our new subjects,” would have been more watch-
ful and more far-sighted than Lord Canning in 1857, when
the first symptmm of mutiny appearcd, and when Oude
was on the eve of insurreetion ?

The second of these occasions was in 1852, when the
38th Bengal Native Infantry refused to proceed on *ei(m
service to Burmah.  Lord Dallionsie yiclded to theM, and
supplied their place Ty a Regiment of Sikhs.} The follow-
ing remarks on this incident are from the TJLurkera, one of
the Caleutta daily papers :—

““ Our readers will not forget that Lord Dalhousie was the first
Governor-General who succumbed to mutineers.  When the 38th
N. L (the corps which raised the cry of mutiny in Delln) vefused
to go to Burmah, Lord Dalhousic gave in; from that instant the
feelmgs of the Sepoys, in all plolmblllty underwent o change to-
wards their masters. That act was suflicient to demoralise an
army : who can say that 1t did not do s0?

<1t has been the fashion in certain civeles to abuse Lord Ellen-
borough.  Whatever may have been lus faults, he never allowed
himself to be conquered by mutincers.  There are many in India
who recollect that when the 4th§ and 6 lth Regiments refused to
go to Scinde, they did not meet with the same mild treatment as
the 38th, when they declined to go to Barmah. The difference
of conduct on the two occasions showed the difference between
the two men.  Liord Ellenborough compelled the Sepoys to carry
out his order; the Sepoys compelled Lord Dalhousic to put up

* Minute by the Marquis of Dulhousie, 1856, (para. 151) p. 39. Even with
regard to the material condition of the mative troops, he was qmte wrong.
Tlhe; sy had many substantial gricvances, among others the increased length and
frequeney of warches, entailing great expenses, particularly upon the Madras
troops, who arc always accompamed by their familics, The pay of the Irregn.
lar Cavalry was at starvation point. Since Lord Dalhousie left Tndia, the
cmoluments of almost every branch and cvery rank of the Native army have
been, augmented, directly or indirectly. Lord Dalhousie most injudiciously
lowered the pay and injured the prospects of the Hyderabad Cavalry, some of
the finest corps in India,

1 A Vindication, p. 169; Ixm/esS{wy War, vol i, p. 324.

1 Marshman’s History ¢y’1n ia, vol. iii, p. 3|

. § 1 think this must be a mlsprmt for the 34th which was disbanded with

Lord E gh in 1844 at l\lt,e\'llt in presence of all the troops
of the station,
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with their resolves. The one saved India, the other brought it to
the verge of ruin.”*

The third of these occasions was in 1855, when the 3rd
Hyderabad Cavalry mutinied at Bolarum, and cut down
Brigadier Colin Mackenzie, the Commandant of the Divi-
sion, and Captain Murray, one of their own officers.
Brigadier Mackenzie was left for dead with no less than
ten wounds.  Let us hear Lord Dalhousie’s own descrip-
tion of what took place after the first outbreak and at-
tempted assassination.

“ It is clear to the Governor-General in Council, from the evi-
dnnc!cfore him, that the greater part of the Regiment in the
Lines%as in a state of open mutiny ; some rushed into the strects,
cuatting and hacking at the passcrs-by, and bratally assailing cven
women in their conrse,

“Their Buropean officers were not allowed {o approach them.
They paraded without orders from their European officers, and
without any of the usual calls to parade, but by the direction of
theiv Rissaldar.  They were armed, and mounted and equipped.
They sent out videttes to watch the approach of other troops
sent for from Sceunderabad, and acted as a mibtary body guided
Dy other orders than those of their regular Foropean superiors.

““ Such proceedings are manitestly destruetive of all discipline,
and tend not less to destroy all contidence in the fidelity of troops
that serve the Government.  They appear to the (rovernor-Gene-
ral in Couneil to call for grave animadversion and for severe
punishment.

“They appear to his Lordship in Council to call the louder for
animadversion and punishment, that this is not the first time
that the Hyderabad Cavalry has been guilty of violence towards
their Buropean ofticers.”t

And then—most lame and impotent conclusion —after
the long-winded “animadversion,” came the decree of
what he called “ severe punishment.”  Six native officers
were dismissed the service, without a Court-martial ; while
three of the ringleaders in the murderous attack on
Brigadier Colin Mackenzie were, in Lord Dalhousie’s
words, “arrested,” and “ with them,” he added, “the law
of the land will deal.” They were eventually sentenced
to fourteen years' transportation,

* Quoted in Norton's Rebellion in India, 1857, p. 176.

t General Order, Fort William, No. 132, January 23rd, 1856 ; Caleutla
Gazette, January 26th, 1856. X am not aware whether this General Order has
been given in any Parliamentary Return.
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The mutiny had broken out on September 21st, 1855.
Lord Dalhousie’s verbose judgment was promulgated on
January 23rd, 1856, after a delay of four months. All
possibility of a striking example had then gone by ; but
the weakness and tameness of the Governor-Generals
grave lecture to these mutineers and assassins on the im-
propricty of their conduct, —“manifestly destructive,”as he
said, “of all discipline !"-~-taken in conjunction with his
slow and inconclusive proceedings, by no means convey
the impression that in a tremendous crisis, like that of
1857, he would have exhibited wmore promptitude, firm-
ness or vigour than Lord Canning. ® °

The petty insurrection was that of the Sonthals,
the wild aboriginal tribe of the Rajmahal Hills, who
possessed scarcely any awrms but pickaxes and bows and
arrows.t  In consequence of most discreditable vacilla-
tion and mismanagement this revolt was kept alive from
July to December 1833, to the great alarm and injury
of the peaceful inhabitants, and was mot suppressed
without the employment of a considerable military
force, at a very great expense, and with much more
bloodshed and more severity towards the misguided in-
surgents than ever ought to have been necessary.  Lord
Dalhousie was at Ootacamund on the Neilgherry Hills,
and probably trusted, for some time, the subordinate
Government of Bengal to put down a disturbance within
its own limits. He cannot, however, be relieved from
responsibility ; and in this instance, also, he clearly
showed no aptitude for planning operations, and no just
appreciation of the damage done to the dignity and autho-
rity of Government by dilatory measures in the face of
rebellion,

The most’ formidable insurrection during Lord Dal-
housie’s vice-royalty was that of the Punjaub. We have
shown how that insurrection was intensified and extended,

* T am not to be told that T have ¢ concealed” anything in this case Tknow
that Brigadier Mackenzie's conduct in personally confronting the men who had
disobeyed his very reasonable orders regarding the route of a procession, was
questioned. T am guitc prepared to go into that point, and fully to justify the
Brigadier’s proceedings. I take the fact of open mutiny, as stated in Lord
Dalhousie's own words, and I show that he paltered with it.

t Marshman’s History of India, vol. iii, p. 376.
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how a petty outbreak grew into a rebellion, and was pro-
tracted till it assumed the proportions of a war, in conse-

uence of a succession of blunders and delays for which
the Governor-General was fully answerable. He hesitated
to support Edwardes until it was too late ; he sent no
succour to Hazara or Peshawur ; he hampered Lord Gough
by misdirections, and held him back by positive orders,
giving time, and opportunity and confidence to the rebels,
and contributing directly to the disasters of Chillianwalla.
So much has already been said in these pages on this sub-
Ject, that it will suftice to add here a few extracts from an
author strongly prepossessed in favowr of Lord Dalhousie,
Mr. J. C. Marshman, formerly Editor of the Friend of
India. The first refers to the period of vacillation and
inactivity immediately following the outrage at Mooltan.

“The emergency for which the foresight of Liord Hardinge had
made provision by his moveable Brigades had now arisen; but
there was no longer Siv Henry Lawrence at the head of affairs in
the Punjaub, or Lord Hardmge at the head of the Government.
The Resident at Lahore was an amiable and intelligent Civilian,
the Governor-General was anable statesman, hut young in years,
and new in authority. Ifc was as yet but partially acquunted
with those who held posts of inportance in the Government, and
was, morcover, without any of that military experience which
cnabled his predecessor to muaintain, without presumption, a
powertul control of our military movements. Had Sir Henry
Lawrence been at Lahore, he would have moved the Brigade
upon Mooltan, with the same promptitude which he had exhibited
in his march to Cashmero at tho beginning of tho winter, to
crush Tmam-ood-deen, and doubtless with the same success.
Had Lord Hardinge boen at the head of the Government, he
would have taken upon himsclf to despatch the large force he had
masscd on the North West frontier and collected at Bukkur, and
invested Mooltan before Moolraj could make any adequate prepa-
rations for resistance. A march through Scinde ard from Lahore
in the month of May would doubtless have occasioned many
casualties, but our Empire in India had been acquired and main-
tained, not by fair-weather campaigns, but by taking the field on
every emergency, and at any season.”’*

After setting forth the original orders given by the Re-
sident, Sir Frederick Currie, for an advance on Mooltan,
the withdrawal of those orders, the reference to the Com-

* History of India, vol. iii, p. 313, 314.
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mander-in-Chief, and Lord Gough’s opinion that military
operations should be postponed to the cold weather, M.
Marshman adds :—

“Lord Dalhousie gave his concurrence to this decision. Sir
Henry Lawrence aptly described this procrastination as “a reso-
lution to have a grand shikar (hunt) in the cold season under s
own lead.”*

'The paltry outbreak of Moolraj, fostered by the folly of delay,
had grown into a portentous war.”’t

In his description of the final Puujaub campaign, which
opened so inauspicionsly with the indecisive affairs of
Ramnuggur and Sadoolapore, Mr. Marshman has the fol-
lowing passage :—

“Throughout the month of December,” 18148, “and the first
half of January,” 1849, ““the British army remained inactive be-
tween the Jhelum and the Chenab. This policy, which has been
the subject of much censuro, was in some measure owing to the
restrictions imposed on the movements of the force by Lord Dal.
housie, who had requested Lord Gough, after the battle of Sadoo-
lapore, € on no consideration to advance beyond the Chenab except
for the purposce of attacking Shere Sing in the position he then
held, without further communication with him.”  He had, in fact,
injudiciously interfered with the military dispositions of the Com-
mander-in-Chief, on whom the responsibility of the campaign
rested.

“ But, however injudicions may have been this act of inter-
ference on the part of the Governor-General, subsequent eveuts
gave reason to regret that it was not prolonged. Indeed, the
whole plan of the campaign has been condemned by the judgment
of the highest military anthorities.””$ .

It may be very possible in each and all of thesc in-
stances to say a great deal in extenuation of Lord Dal-
housie’s shortcomings, and even to trace one or two of
them to persons and circumstances quite beyond his con-
trol. All that I am concerned to urge is that the uni-
formity of these negative results cannot produce in the
mind of any reasonable inquirer a positive impression of
Lord Dalhousie’s great capacity. Whenever an emer-
gency arose, he was manifestly found wanting. From the
enormous means at his dispasal, a successful result was
ultimately attained, where the ohject was merely that of

* Ilistory of India, vol. p. iii, 314. t 1bul., vol ii, p 320.°
t /hid., vol. iii, pp. 381, 332, -
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overcoming material resistance,—as in the great and little
wars against the Sikhs and the Sonthals,—but at a dis-
proportionate cost, and after a long and injurious dela{‘
In the three cases of military mutiny he was manifestly
deficient in firmness and discrimination. On not one of
these five occasions, all presenting some analogy with the
far more serious crisis of 1857, can Lord Dalhousie be
said to have evinced either breadth of vision, promptitude
in action, or fertility of resource.

Nothing can be found in the annals of India, during
or since the administration of Lord Dalhousie, to justify
that invidious reflection, half eulogy and half apology,
that the annexation policy failed, fivstly, because Lord
Dalhousie retired.” That policy never could have suc-
ceeded, if Lord Dalhousic had remained twenty years at
Caleutta. Tt failed at its first trial, not because its au-
thor had retired, but because it was rotten at the core,
materially and morally, It had destroyed our persuasive
influence and ruined our high reputation. It had tainted
every organ, and weakened every function of the Empire.
While it made owr power almost exclusively dependent
on physical force, it had scattered our European soldiers,
and exasperated the native troops. As a financial and
military policy it had so utterly failed before Lord Dal-
housie left India, that, unless he shut his eyes very closely,
he must have begun to suspect it himself.

The writer in the Spectator who considers Lord Dal-
housie’s policy, although it failed, to have been “ great” and
“statesmanlike,” admits that during the mutinies “ the Na-
tive Principalities acted as breakwaters when a surge of
national feeling threatened to overwhelm” the British
rulers. The same writer acknowledges that *“ Bombay
was saved because Gwalior broke the rush of the wave
which had Tantia Topec on its crest.”* But how was it
that Scindia of Gwalior did us such good service? He
was childless : he had no ““natural heir,” according to the
new law of succession cnacted by Lord Dalhousie for Hin-
doo Princes who enjoyed the advantage of our protective
alliance. He had seen during the late Governor-General’s
tour of office the Principality of Sattara aholished, of which

* Ante, p. 203,
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the Rajuh was not only regarded as the head of all the Mah-
ratta tribes, and the living memorial of their glory, but was
known to have been quite irreproachable in his relations
to the Paramount Power, and towards his own subjects.
He had seen the State of Nagpore extinguished,—one
of the substantive Powers of India’”*—of which the Rajah
was, beyond dispute, of higher rank, both by descent and by
the historical origin of his sovercignty, than himself or any
other Mahratta Prince,t and who, also, had given no cause
for complaint, either as a subordinate Ally or as a Ruler.
He had seen, close tohis own door, the Principality of Jhansi,
ever faithful and serviceable to the Britislh Government,
snatched without mercy from a Mahratta Brahmin family
by the rejection of an heir adopted from the founder’s kin.
He had seen the two greatest Mussulman potentates of In-
dia, both of them ﬁ'ien(lly and submissive toourGovernment,
subjected to the cruellest treatment, on grounds quite un-
intelligible and indefensible according to the rude politi-
cal notions of Gwalior,—the Nizam despoiled of his rich-
est provinces, the King of Oudc dethroned, and his
Kingdom confiscated. What reason had Maharajah Jyajee
Rao Scindia to expect a better fate for his own family and
Kingdom? They were actually threatened, and marked
down for extinction in Mr. Willoughby’s Minute, * the
text-book on adoptions.”}

Colonel Macpherson, who was Resident at the Court of
Gwalior in 1857, has explained the reason very clearly in
an interesting Report dated February 10th, 1858. He
attaches the greatest importance to the impressions re-
ceived by the Maharajah, his chief Ministers and advisers,
during their visit to Lord Canning at Calcutta early in
1857, shortly before the outbreak of” the rebellion. “Be-
sides gratification from the courtesies of the Governor-

* Ante, p. 29.

t Both the Sattara and Nagpore families of Bhonslas claim descent
from the Sesodia Ranas of Qodeypoor, the most illustrious Rajpoot line
of India, whose sovercignty can be traced for 1700 years. In Doth cases
there is a blot in the scutcheon, but the descent seems to be acknow-
ledged by the genealogists of Oodeypoor,—see the Hustory of Meywur, by
Captain Biookes (Calcutta, 1859,) pp. 10 and 13 Until the same dis-
tinction was conferred upon the GaeEwar by Lord Canning in 1859, the
head of the Bhonsla famly at Nagpore was the only Mahratta Prince, be-
sides the Rajah of Sattura, who presumed to wear a golden anklet

I Aute, p. 188,
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General, and the great enlargement of their views of our
power and resources,” they obtained the strongest asswr-
ances that it was Lord Canning’s policy to maintain « the
stability of Scindia’s House and rule, in conformity with
Hindoo usages. Had the Maharajah and his people,”
continues Colonel Macpherson, “now apprchended the
extinction of their State by owr disallowing the adoption
of an heir, 1 conceive that it would have been impossible
to induce them to make the efforts in co-operation with us
which the crisis required.”*

Is it possible that, so long as Lord Dalhousie was at
Caleutta, the Maharajah and his people should have ceased
to apprehend the extinction of their State ! Can any one
believe that Lord Dalhiousie, holding that “on all occa-
sions where heirs natural shall fail, the territory should be
made to lapse, and adoption should not be permitted,”t
and looking upon Mr. Willoughby’s Minute as “a text-
book on adoptions,” could have given the Maharajuh the
strong assurances that Lord Canning gave him?  Mr.
Willoughby, in a passage we have already quoted, ex-
pressed the greatest regret that two recent adoptions had
been permitted in the Secindia taumily, especinlly that of
the reigning Prince himself, and trusted that this “annoy-
ance” would be “ discouraged” for the future. The Maha-
rajah and his Ministers, well versed in the Sattara Blue
Book, would never have ventured to visit Calcutta at all,
if Lord Dalhousie had remained there.

Sir Charles Jackson says that if any independent
Hindoo Sovercign” had been so ““unreasonable,” as to be
alarmed at the progress of annexation, “his fear might
have been removed by ten minutes’ conversation with the
Resident at his Court.”t  Mr. Marshman, also, with
singular accordance, maintains that *if any alarm had
arisen in the minds of the independent Princes, a few
words of explanation from the Resident would have been
suflicient to dispel it.”§

Mr. Marshman, I suspect, has had better means of
knowing the works and ways of the Calcutta Foreign

* lteturn to the House of Lords, lonours and Rewards to Native Princes,
1860, p. 94, t Ante, p. 185.
1 Ante, p. 181, § History of India, vol. iii, p 400.
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Oftice, than Sir Charles Jackson. T must really appeal to
his candour to reconsider this very imaginative proposition.
Does he, on further reflection, mean deliberately to affirm
his belict that Lord Dathousie would have permitted the
Resident at the Court of Scindia, Holkar, the Gackwar,
the Rajah of Rewah, Kolapore, Travancore, or any one of
fifty other Princes that might be mentioned, to quiet the
apprehensions of a childless Sovereign by an assurance,
“in ten minutes’ conversation,” that the adoption of an
heir by himself or his widow would be recognised by the
Paramount Power ?  Will he be so good as exert his
imagination a little move, and try Lo picture to himself
the reception Lord Dalhousie would have given in 1856 to
the report by any Resident of *“a few words of explana-
tion” to that effect. 1 must ask Mr. Marshman to tax his
memory a little.  Does he really mean to assert that,
between 1853 and the end of 1836, when he and his
successor in the editorial chair,—whom Lord Dalhousie
thanked for ¢ the fairness with which” he had “set” his
Lordship’s “« public acts before the community,” and for
“the frequent support given to his measures,”*—were
constantly ringing *“ the knell of the Princes of India,”t
and declaring that “the two hundred and fifty Kinglings
must inevitably and speedily disappear,”} Lord Dalhousie
himself would have calmed the fears of those two hundred
and fifty Kinglings, (with the exception of Mysore, and
perhaps “one or two others of minor account,”§) and
would have offered them such reassurances as Lord Canning
offered to Scindia, or would have sanctioned the offer of
such reassurances by the Residents at their Courts 2 No,
—now that I have refreshed his memory, Mr. Marshman
no more believes it than I do.

Scindia would not have gone to Caleutta, nor would
Colonel Macpherson have advised him to take such a step,
if Lord Dalhousie had remained there. If, however, the
Maharajah had summoned up resolution, in spite of all
the discouragement that would have been thrown in his
way, to visit the Governor-General, and had ventured to
%ive full expression, as he did to Lord Canning, to his
ears for “ the stability of his House and rule,” there can

* dnte, p. 200, t Ante, p. 198, 1 dwte, p. 197, § Aunte, p. 182,
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be little doubt as to the treatment he would have expe-
rienced. He would have been treated as the Rajah of
Puttiala was, when he visited Calcutta in 1855, and pre-
sumed to bring forward a grievance, and even to speak
of appealing to London.  The Mahratta Rajah, if not more
easily silenced, would have been told, as the Sikh Rajah
was, that if he did not go home immediately, and mind
his own affairs, his country would be sequestrated, and
managed for him by a British officer.  Probably he would
have been reminded, in that grand and statesmanlike style,
so much admired by some people, that the Governor-
General could ““crush him at his will.”*

Not only have we no reason whatever to believe that if
Lord Dalhousic had not retired when he did, he would
have been more able to meet and quell the rebellion of
1857 than his successor, but we have every reason to
believe that his presence at Caleutta would have aggra-
vated its perils and horrors immeasurably, by inflaming
our enemies, giving strength to adventurous spirits, and
paralysing the conservative interests of the country. It
i highly improbable that the Native Princes in general
would have behaved so well towards our Government, if
the destroyer of so many of them had remained at the
head of affairs.

* As Lord Dalhousie told the Nizam,—see Empire in India, p. 348.



CHAPTER IX.
MERITS AND MOTIVES.

IF then, it may be asked. you refuse credit to the Marquis
of Dalhousie as a constructive and progressive statesman
in time of peace, and even as an energetic and skilful
ruler in time of war, what position do you assign him ?
Do you deny him all merit whatever 7 Do you question
his great abilities? Certainly not. The description given
of him by the Duke of Argyll seems to me to be just and
aceurate, so far as it goes, with the exception of two words.
“Lord Dalhousie,” says his friend, “had lurge views, a
rapid intellect, indefatigable industry, adwnirable habits of
business, great self-reliance.  He was a vigorous writer,
and had the faculty of ready speech.”*  All this muy be
conceded except the “large views.” Lord Dalhousie had
not large views; his views were invariably the nearest
and the narrowest possible.  'Will any one point out some
of Lord Dalhousie’s large views?

Lord Dalhousie was a clever, energetic public function-
ary, with considerably power of expression. Under a con-
stitutional Government, with a watchful, well-informed
public opinion to keep him and his colleagues in the right
path, he might have been an efficient Minister. In a
secondary position he might have been a valuable public
servant. He was quite unfit to be Master anywhere, even
with all the checks and restraints of a free country. In
spite of the Duke of Argyll's suggestions of “the sacri-
fice he made in accepting even that ‘ Imperial appoint-
ment’ which is the greatest ofice England has to give,
except the Government of herself,”t I do not believe
he had either the tact, or the temper, or the earnest-
ness to guide a Cabinet, to hold a party together,

* India under Dulhousie und Canning, p. 67.  t Ibid., p. 67.
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or to manage a popular assembly. His overweening self-
confidence and intolerance of opposition would have soon
struck him out of the list of leaders. But he was deficient
in more solid qualities. e had no originality, and no
fl)l'esigl\t.' He neither penetrated causes, nor caleulated
consequences. He was manifestly incapable of taking a
larger view of any proposed measure than the werely
empirical view of a professional functionary. All his
declared purposes were superticial, all the means he em-
ployed to effect them, were mechanical.

In the state-papers of alimost every Governor-General
since Warren Hastings, we obtain now and then a glimpse
of some great principles of government,—something that
betokens an insight into human character, into the feelings
and interests of the strange people, whose ancient civilisa-
tion and complicated forms of society must be so largely
modified by the extension of British supremacy. Nothing
of the sort can be found in the political Minutes of Lord
Dalhousie.  You may search them in vain for a single
new idea, for a single striking thought, for one word of
generous regret, or genial hope,—for anything but the
peculiar dialectics, at once peremptory and tortuous, by
whieh he made out his case for annexation, and the cold-
hearted, formal arrangements by which his plan was to be
carried out.  He abolished a Kingdom as coolly, and with
as little compunction, as he abolished a Board. This was
much admired at Caleutta during the last three years of
his administration ; but it was simply a proof of those
imperfect sympathies and that total blindness to everything
but some immediate, showy result, which are utterly irrve-
concileable with any pretension to statesmanship,

Of course when Lord Dalhousie had determined on annex-
ing a Native State,— after positively declining to undertake
its reform, because he objected to “the labour and anxiety,”
without “the benefit of incrcased revenue,”*—he dropped
a fow commonplaces as to‘ the real good” of the uncom-
laining inhabitants, ¢ whose best interests, we sincerely
{)elieve, will be promoted by the uniform application of our
system of government ;" T and Sir Charles Jackson reminds
us that in his Nagpore Minute, Lord Dalhousie observed :

* Ante, pp. 69 and 72,
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I place the interests of the people of Nagpore foremost
among tho considerations which induce me to advise that that
State should now pass under British Government ; for I conscien-
tiously declare that unless I belicved that the prosperity and hap-
piness of its inhabitants would be promoted by their heing placed
permanently under British rule, no other advantages which could
arise out of the measure would move me to propose it.”’*

Mere decency required some such declaration as this; be-
sides which there is no reason to doubt the sincerity of the
avowal. It was the conscientious belief-—none the less be-
cause it upheld their personal and class interests and pro-
fessional prejudices—of all those who swrrounded him at
Calcutta.  But no one ean pay much attention to Lord Dal-
housie’s Minutes without perceiving,- -apart from his refu-
sal to reform Native States,-—that administrative improve-
ment was a very sccondary consideration compared with the
acquisition of territory and revenue. Except in the case
of Oude,~—which obviously required very delicate treat-
ment and a careful avoidance of all suggestion of its being
a profitable affuir,—he never dwelt much on “the inesti-
mable blessings” which, in the official cant of the day.
were to be conferred on the new subjects, but always on
the immense material advantages he was about to acquire
for his own Government,— “a secure and profitable pos-
session,” “increase of revenue,”t ¢ additional resources to
the public treasury,” “ consolidation of our military
strength,”f “enlarged commercial resources,” “a steady
and full supply of cotton wool,”§—such were the true
incitements to annexation, some of them utterly frivolous,
all falsified in the result.

Mr. Marshman affords us, in the following anecdote, a
fair opportunity of measuring the height and depth of
Lord Dalhousie’s genius, his lofty aim, the broad range of
his Imperial vision.

““ When Mr. Cobden, soon after the conquest” of Pegu, ¢ pub-
lished a pamphlet to denounce its iniquity, Lord Dalhousie re-
marked to a friend, ¢ the British nation will one day find that Pegu
pays, and the crime of having placed it under British protection
will be condoned.””||

* 4 Vindication, p. 21. *+ Ante, pp. 98, 171,
1 Ante, p. 221, and Papers, Berar, 1854, p. 36.

§ A Vindication, pp. 89 and 41.
| Harshman's History of India, vol.iin, p. 375.
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When we call to mind the historian’s antecedents as
Editor of the Friend of India,we are less surprised at the
innocent unconsciousness with which he strips the gilt off
his hero’s policy, and exposes the common idol of their

olitical faith in all its sordid nudity. It pays! How
Ettle did Lord Dalhousie, the official clique and their
organ at Calcutta, know of the standard of national mo-
rality by which Mr. Cobden, and ultimately the British
people, would judge their proceedings! How little does
the veteran partisan of annexation understand it now !

The anecdote is too characteristic for us to doubt its
authenticity. Whether these words actually escaped Lord
Dalhousie’s lips on this, and on several other occasions,
(as has been suld,) or not,* they strike the key-note of his
acquisitive policy. With whatever variations and accom-
paniments, his Minutes are all set to that tune. It palys !
And the English officials and journalists of India, with a
few noble exceptions, all joined in the chorus. It pays!

But it did not pay. 'With this very low aim, and this
very short range, he missed his mark. Before the Rebellion
came, with its forty millions of debt, augmented expendi-
ture, clumsy experiments in taxation, and financial diffi-
cultics of which we see only the beginning, the balance
sheet, if fairly analysed, had condemned Lord Dalhousie’s
policy. It did not put moncy in our purse; and by
destroying our good name and moral influence throughout
India, it made us poor indeed.

An undignified, ungenerous tone, unworthy of the
kingly place he occupied, characterises all Lord Dalhou-
sie’s dealings with the great families he dispossessed. It
proves much more than a want of magnanimity, it proves,
as Mr. Kaye has well expressed it, that he “ had no ima-
gination,” and thus never came to “ understand the genius
of the people among whom his lot was cast.”

““He could not understand the tenacity of affection with
which they cling to their old traditions. He could not sympa-
thise with the veneration which they felt for their ancient dynas-
ties. He could not appreciate their fidelity to the time-honoured
institutions and the immemorial usages of the land.

* It has never before, to my knowledge, been said by any of his friends.

Without Mr, Marshman’s corroboration, I should never have thought of im-
puting it to him. * Save me from my friends,”
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“ With the characteristic unimaginativeness of his race, he could
not for a moment divest himself of his individuality, or conceive
the growth of ancestral pride and national honour in other breasts
than those of the Campbells and the Ramsays.””*

This was not the man to rule an Empire. Incalculable
heart-burnings and indignation were excited throughout
Northern India, and among all the Mahomedans as far
South as Hyderabad, by his ungenerous treatment of the
King of Delhi.  The abolition of the Royal dignity
at the demise of the reigning King, which he recom-
mended, was disapproved by the Court of Directors,
but still left to his discretion. The plea which he ad-
vanced to strengthen his recommendation, and to en-
force the removal of the next King and his family from
the Palace at Delhi, and the reduction of their privi-
leges, was eminently characteristic of his habitual use of
words of equivocal meaning, or of no meaning, if they
seemed to give a specious legality to some measure of con-
fiscation. He said that the King’s eldest son having sud-
denly died, the heir apparent to the Crown was “not born
in the purple”’+ As if that insignificant term, borrowed
from the phraseology of the Greek Empire, could weaken
the claim of the Prince in question !

No argument in favour of Lord Dalhousie’s proposal
can be drawn from the point made so much of by the
Duke of Argyll and Sir Charles Jackson, that the presence
of the House of Timour at Delhi *“gave to the mutineers
a standard and a name, and the semblance at least of a
political object.”t

Without any necessity for going into the question of
our obligations to the House of Timour, or of their obliga-
tions to us, their existence was a great fact with which
the Viceroy had to deal,—or tolet it alone. There was
the King at Delhi, in possession of certain revenues and
ﬁrivi.leges, surrounded by a tribe of relatives. Lord Dal-

ousie did not propose to annihilate them, but only to
annoy them. I-Ba gid not propose to make them state-
prisoners, or to remove them to some safer locality, but
merely to turn them out of their Palace.

* The Sepoy War, vol. i, pp. 856, 857,
t Minute by the Marguis of Dalhonse, 1856, para. 41, p. 11.
t India under Dalkousie and Canning, p. 97.
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The vast advantage gained by the mutineers in the
unresisted occupation of Dellii and possession of the King’s
person, was thrown into their hands, not by any error that
Lord Dalhousie’s proposal would have counteracted, but
by the strange neglect that left Delhi, the centre of his-
toric glory and political change, unguarded by European
troops.

Sir ITenry Lawrence, ever vigilant both as a soldier and
a statesman, observed in 1844 ;—

“The Treasury at Delhi is in the city, as is the Magazine ; the
latter is in a sort of fort,—a very dofenceless building, outside of
which in tho street, we understand, a party of Sepoys was placed,
when tho news of the Cabul disasters arrived. We might take
a circuit of the country and show how unmindful we have been
that what occurred in the city of Cabul may, some day, occur at
Delhi, Benares, or Bareilly””*

The wretched old King was certainly unprepared for
the actual outbreak ; he was from first to last a mere tool
in the bands of the mutineers. And if the Princes in
general threw in their lot with the rebels, it must not be
forgotten that they were naturally exasperated by Lord
Dalhousie’s recent and impending decree for their removal
and degradation. The rumour of that ill-advised measure
had spread throughout India, and, taken in conjunction
with many similar acts, had donc a great deal to excite
disaffection. .

Sir Charles Jackson observes that Lord Dalhousie ad-
vised the abolition of the Nawabship of the Carnatic, be-
cause “a Court at the Presidency, though destitute of
authority and power, must be inimical, or at all events
discontented, and capable of being made a nucleus for in-
trigue.”  These were the Governor-General’s words, and
his apologist adds :-—“The conduct of the titular Sove-
reign of Delhiin 1857, and the gathering of the disaffected
around that shadow of the Great Moguﬁ', have sutliciently
illustrated the wisdom of these remarks.”+

He f(,g\?ets that Lord Dalhousie did not propose to tie
up the Wallajah family in sacks and throw them into the
sea, to keep them in Maduas Jail, or to dispose of them by

* Lssays. p. 51 t A Vindication, p. 105,
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any safe process that would have prevented them from
forming “a nucleus for intrigue.” He could not get rid
of them; he only turned them out of their Palace, and re-
duced them to comparative beggary.  Lord Dalhousie said
that they “must be inimical, or at all events discontented,”
—a perfectly groundless imputation,—-but Sir Charles
Jackson himself can hardly deny that Lord Dalhousie took
the best means in his power to nutke them  inimical and
discontented.”

If during the crisis of 1857 Prince Azeem Jah, de jure
Nawab of the Carnatic, instead of using all his influence
to suppress the fanatical spirit among the Mussulman popu-
lation of the Carnatic,* had formed “a nucleus of intrigue,”
or had become as openly “inimical” as the Princes of
Delhi were, that would not have “illustrated the wisdom
of Lord Dalhousie¢’s remarks.” It would simﬁ)ly have
proved that bad faith and political ingratitude had pro-
duced their natural results,—had converted friends into
foes, had transformed a centre of conservatism into a nest
of conspiracy.

I am not at all called upon to go into the Carnatic ques-
tion here. Sir Charles Jackson, %V[l‘. Marshman and other
vindicators have adhered to their usual course of quoting
and paraphrasing the official papers, without attempting
to deal with the arguments on the other side.t

I will, however, endeavour, to set those right who have
been persuaded that the Treaty of 1801, made with Azeem-
ood-Dowlah, the father of Prince Azeem Jah, is a personal
Treaty, because it does not contain the words “heirs and
successors.” Anticle IT of that Treaty expressly “confirms
and renews ” the old Treaties which contain ample gnaran-
ties of succession to the Nawab Wallajah's  hewrs and
successors.” Lord Dalhousie, indeed, with that marvellous
audacity of assertion which succeeded so well with his
private conclave of three or four well-disposed Councillors,
wrote as follows :—

* In a despatch of September 1st, 1358, the Conrt of Irectors mentioned
as one reason for increasing the stipend offered to Prince Azeem Jah, ¢ the in-
Mahomedan ponulati

fluence of his name and position over the pop of
Madras, and the 11 duct of that population during our recent duffi-
culties,”

t The Emgn’re in_India, Chapters on The Carnatic, and The Musnud in
Abeyance, and also Chapter xvii, Rights and Tutles.
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In the determination of the future disposal of the Musnud of
the Carnatic, it i3 quite unnccessary to make any reference to the
Treatics of 1785, 1787 and 1792,  Subsequently to the date of
those Treaties, 1t was declared by the British Governmnent that
the detected treachery, and sccret but active hostility of the
Nawabs Mahomed Ali and Omdut-ool-Oomra, had placed them in
the position of public enemies, had rendered their territories justly
hable to forfeibure, and had, therefore, abrogated the Treaties
which hd previously been in force”*

And then he procecds to quote two passages from Lord
Wellesley's Despatches in which there is not one word as
to the Treaties being abrogated. No such declaration in
fact was ever made anywhere before 1856.  We have only
to contrast Lord Dalhousie’s assertion with Article IT of
the Treaty of 1801, and we shall sec at a glance that the
former is quite contrary to the tinth. Lord Dalhousie
states that the old Treaties were “wbrogated,” and that no
reference can now be made to than.  Article IT of the
Treaty of 1801 ““confirms and renews such parts of the
Treaties herctofore concluded between the Kast India Com-
pany and their Highnesses, heretofore Nubobs of the Car-
natic, as arve caleulated to strengthen the alliance, to
cement the fiiendship, and to identify the interests of the
contracting parties.”t This confirmation appears to me to
be the very reverse of abrogation.

By the Preamble of the same Treaty the Nawab Azeem-
ood-Dowlah, father of the present claimant, was “estab-
lished by the East India Company in the rank, property
and possessions of his ancestors, heretofore Nabobs of the
Carnatic” ; and by Article I, “ in the state and rank, with
the dignities dependent thereon, of his ancestors.” The
state and rank of his ancestor, the Nawab Wallyjah, with
whom the first Treaty was made, was that of hereditary
Nawab and Sovereign of the Carnatic. The Proclamation
issued by the Government on the 31st July, 1801, to the
Zemindars and people of the Carnatic, expressly states that
Azeem-ood-Dowlah “ has succeeded to the hereditary rights
of his father, and by full acknowledgment of the Honour-
able Company, to the possession of the said Musnud.”}

* Carnatic Papers, 1860, p. 47.

t Collection of Treat.es, Caleutta (T.ongmans, T.ondon) vol. v, p. 249.
 Carnatic Papers, 1860, p. 105.
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The Nawab Azeem-ood-Dowlah, his eldest son Azumn
Jah,and his grandson, Gholam Mahomed Ghous Khan, were
successively recognised and proclaimed as Sovercigns of the
Carnatic and as Allies of the British Government. When
the late Nawab, then an infant, succeeded his father, who
died on the 12th November 1825, a letter was addressed
by the Court of Directors to Prince Azeem Jah, the present
claimant, on his being appointed Regent during the mino-
rity of his nephew, from which the following extract is
taken :—

“The accession of Ghoolam Mahomed Ghous Khan Bahadoor,
the legitimate son of the late Nabob, to the throne of his ancestors,
we readily confirmed, and we pray (iod that he may long livo to
enjoy the honowrs and perpetnate the Line of ihe ancient and illustri-
ous fumily of which he is the descendant and heir.”

A letter of similar purport was sent to the Prince by
His Majesty King George IV, countersigned by Lord
Ellenborough, as President of the Boeard of Control, in
which the following words oceur :—

““ We cannot but admire the beneficent dispensation of Provi-
dence, which in taking from his Highness his illustrious father,
our friend, has given to him in your Highness a sccond father,
endowed with cqual virtucs, and capable of maintaining in the
splendour and digaity which areits inhevitance, the illustrions House
of the Nabobs of the Curnatic.”

Moreover, during the life-time of his nephew, Prince
Azeem Jah had been officially recognised in public docu-
ments as the heir presumptive of the Musnud. In 1829,
on the occasion of the appointment of Mr. Scott to be
Physician to the Nawab, the Court of Directors wrote as
follows :—

““ We disapprove of the principle of this arrangement, but under
the peculiar circumstances of the case, the Nawab being an infant
and in delicate health, and the Naib-i-Mookhtar (Azeem Jah)
being the net heir, in case of his demise, the appointment of Mr.
Scott admits of justification.”*

And in 1843, when the list of persons claiming exemp-
tion from the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court was
revised, the Governor (the Marquis of Tweeddale) in
Council observed,—

* Carnatic Papers, 1860, p. 15.
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“ His Highness the Prince Azeemn Jah Bahadur (the late Naib«
i-Mokhtar) does not hold that place in list No. 1, to which he is
entitled, in consideration of the position he has lately occupied in
communication with the British (Government, and of that which
he still holds in relation to his Highness the Nawab, and to his
succession (o the Musnnd. 1t is, therefore, resolved, that the name
of Prince Azeem Jah be placed first on the list of such relations
of his Highness.”*

Lord Dalhousie treated these unequivocal acknowledg-
ments of the Nawal’s dignity being hereditary, and of
Prince Azeem Jah being next in succession, in the following
elevated style, a good specimen of the political casuistry
which he found so cruelly effective :—

“To indicate an expectation, or cven an intention, is not to
recognisc or confer a right, The words, therefore, which have
been quoted, conferred no right on Azcem Jah, and conveyed no
pledge or promise of the succession to him; and, although they
indicated a favourable mtention on the part of the Government
towards him, the Government has since had but too much reason
to forego all such intentions in favour of himself, and the members
of his family.”’t

He completely misconceives the effect of these incidental
admissions of hereditary right. Undoubtedly to indicate
an expectation or an intention does not confer a right,
but it constitutes the plainest admission possible of” an
existing right.  Prince Azeem Jah never professed to
found his claim on those incidental admissions.  He based
his right on the Treaties concluded with his ancestors and
his father, and produced these documents simply to prove
vhat was the actual construction put upon those Treaties,

N . years before Lord Dalhousic’s arvival in India,
by those British authorities who now, under Lord Dal-
housie’s instructions, sought to deny their validity.

Lord Dalhousie says that “the words which have been
quoted, indicated a favourable intention of the Govern-
ment towards” Prince Azeem Jah. They indicated nothing
of the sort.  There is not the least suggestion of grace or
favour, of good or bad feeling in either of the documents.
They are perfectly cold and formal. The position of Prince
Azeem J as)l as heir presumptive is mentioned as an ordinary
matter of fact, applicable to the matter in hand, and open

* Carnatic Papers, 1860, p. 9, t 2bid, p. 3b.
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to no doubt or question. Lord Dalhousie gratuitously
suggests that there was “a favourable intention” towards
the Nawab in 1843, in order that he may in some measure
account for the altered views of our Government in 1856,
He says:—“The Government has since had too much
reason to forego all such intentions in favour of himself
and the members of his family.” This imputation was
as unjust, and as ungenerous, as the previous one that
“they must be inimical, or at all events discontented.”
The conduct of Prince Azeem Jah, of his nephew the
late Nawab, and the members of his family, in their
relations with our Government, since 1843, had been
positively faultless. That Lord Harvis and Lord Dal-
housie fancied they could add some strength to their
case by introducing the utterly irrelevant and impertinent
question of the late Nawab’s private morals and manners,
only shows how weak they felt that case to be when con-
fined within its true limits. That the late Nawab, not-
withstanding some redeeming features in his character, was
dissipated in his habits and reckless in his expenditure,
cannot, I believe, be denied.  From his infancy ﬁe was the
Ward of our Government. Their utter and inexcusable
neglect to provide for his proper education, and to surround
him with suitable companions, was the incessant theme of
indignant remark among the enlightened natives of the
Presidency. His alleged loose morals, however, never led
to any public scgndal, never caused the slightest incon-
venience or embarrassment to our Government. The ex-
tension by Lord Dalhousie of these injurious aspersions so
as to include Prince Azeem Jah « and the members of his
family,” can only be adequately described as calumnious.
Prince Azeem Jah's private character has always been irre-
proachable.

What sort of reception would a Radical Member of
Parliament or journalist meet with, who should propose
to annul the hereditary sinecure, or pension, or charge
upon the Post Office or Excise revenues, or to resume the
Crown or Church lands, enjoyed by some noble family, on
the ground of the immoral life of the actual or late pos-
sessor ? And yet what comparison can there be between the
tenure of sucz possessions, held by a Royal grant or mere
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preseription, and of that which rests upon solemn treat‘ies,
——treaties, moreover, upon which alone depends our title
to occupy and govern the Carnatic, guaranteed by the
Treaty of Paris in 1763 to the Wallajah family.

There is not a family in India to which we are so deeply
indebted, to which we arve bound by so many reiterated
promises, recorded in treaties, and confirmed by aseries of
autograph Royal letters, as that of the Nawabs of the
Carnatic. As our power grew more sccure, their support
became less necessary. The demands and encroachments
of the East India Company gradually increased, and are
marked by the successive Treaties. The relative positions
of the contracting partics were very peculiar, and hardly
compatible with the good government of Southern India
in settled times. Still, making cvery allowance for the
difficult situation, we did not treat the Wallajah family
well ; and having at last made an opportunity, in a manner
far from creditable to ourselves, in 1801, we extorted from
them a new Treaty, by which all exceutive and adminis-
trative power was resigned into the hands of the British
Government.

We might have been satisfied now.  No one thought or
disturbing that settlement until Lord Dalhousie arrived
in India. It struck Lim that it did not “pay.” He ob-
served that “a large share of the public revenue” was
“allotted” to the Nawab.*  In another part of the same
Minute he said that ““no grant of anytlng is made by this
Treaty to any one but the Nawab Xzeem-ood-l)nwlnh
himself.”t  Lord Dalhousie was very fond of calling a
Treaty a “grant.”f He misunderstands the Carnatic
Treaty of 1801 altogether.  Nothing was granted by it to
any one but the Hast India Company. The Nawab was
the grantor, the Company was the grantee. Azeem-ood-
Dowlah being established in his ancestral possessions,
granted “the civil and military administration” of them
to the Honourable Company, a certain annual income being
“allotted,” or rather reserved for the Nawab. Twenty
years after the date of that Treaty, during the reign of

* Minute of February 28th, 1856, para. 43, Carnatic Papers, 1860, p. 50.
t Carnatic Papers, 1860, p. 48. 1 Ante, p. 22,
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Azeemn-ood-Dowlah’s son, Sir Thomas Munro, then Gover-
nor of Madras, wrote as follows :—

“By the first Article’” (of the Treaty of 1801) *the Nawaub
Azeem-ul-Dowlah Bahadoor is formally established in the state
and rank, with the dignities dependent thereon, of his ancestors.

“ By the 3rd Article the Nawaub does not relinquish his sove-
reignty ; he merely rencws the Article of former treaties, by
which he engages not to correspond with foreign States without
the consent of the Company.

““By the fifth Article, ono fifth part of the net revenuo of the
Carnatic is allowed for ¢ the maintcnance and support of the said
Nawaub.”

““Tho fifth part is his claim as Sovereign of the whole Car-
natic.

“ By tho tenth Article, the rank of the Nuwaub as a Prince and
as an Ally of the British Government, is declared. No change
in the political situation of tho Nawaub has taken place since 1801.
He is still Prince.of the Carnatic, and he is a party to the Treaty
by which onc-fifth part of the revenue is secured to him.” %

Lord Hastings describes in his Private Journal an inter-
view he had in 1813 with the Nawab Azeem-ood-Dowlah
and his four sons, one of whom was Prince Azeem Jah.
‘When the Nawab, by an expressive Oriental obeisance,
threw himself and his children under the protection of the
Governor-General, Lord Hastings observes that he felt the
most lively emotion, ““from the reflection on the altered
state of that family through its adherence to British inte-
rests,—a family so grievously humiliated by us.” The
Nawab, says Lord Hastings, “having adverted to the
Treaty, and professed his anxiety for an assurance that I
should cause its provisions to be observed,”—* I answered
that a treaty plighted the faith of the nation, so that it
must be my duty to maintain its terms according to their
true spirit, which ought always to be construed most
favourably for the party whose sole dependence was on
the honour of the other.”

Lord Dalhousie’s views as to the construction of Indian
Treaties differed widely from those of his gallant predeces-
sor. Far from agreeing with him,—and, I may add, with
all writers on International Law,—that Treaties should

* Gleig’s Life of Sir Thomas Munro, vol. ii, p. 856.
t Private Journal, (1858) vol. i1, p. 11.
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always be construed most favourably for the weaker party,
he seems to have adopted, perhaps he originated, the Duke
of Argyll's formula, that they “ expressed nothing but the
will of a Superior imposing on his Vassal so much as for
the time it was thought expedient to require.”*

It is an absolute certainty, not to be shaken by any
plausible misrepresentation, that before the death of the
late Nawab in 1855,—when Lord Dalhousie wrote from
the Neilgherry Hills to Lord Harris at Madras that there
was “no dirvect heir to the Musnud,”t—no doubt as to
the hereditary nature of the Nawab’s dignity had ever
been expressed or hinted at by any British anthority. No
word of grace or favour had ever been employed at either
of the two successions that had taken place since the
Treaty of 1801. Neither the phrase nor the idea of “a
personal Treaty,”-—of binding force only during the life
of the present claimant’s father,—can be found in the
transactions of any Governor of Madras or Governor-
General, from Lord Wellesley down to Lord Hardinge.

In a Memorandum drawn up in 1806 by the Duke of
Wellington (then Sir Arthur Wellesley) for the informa-
tion of the Ministry, and as materials for a Parliamentary
defence of his brother, the Marquis Wellesley, it is ex-
pressly stated that the Treaty of 1801 was concluded so
that ““ the civil and military government of the Carnatic
was transferred for ever to the Company ; and the Nabob
Azeem-ood-Dowlah, and his heirs, were to preserve their
title and dignity, and to receive one-fifth part of the net
revenues of the country.”} Prince Azeem Jah is a son of
the Nabob Azeem-ood-Dowlah.

Lord Dalhousie wanted this “large share of the public
revenues."§ Having determined on getting it by a per-
verse interpretation of the Treaty, never contemplated be-
fore, and which never has been, and never will be sanc-

* India wnder Dalhousie and Canning, p. 11,

t Carnatic Papers, 1860, p. 17.

Y Supplementary Despatohes of the Duke of Wellington, vol. iv, pp. 564, 565

§ It may be as well to explain that although termed, for the diplomatic
glelrposea of the time, ‘‘a fifth share of the revenues of the Carnatic,” a
Separate Explanatory Article transformed the Nawab’s share into a fixed in-
come, which at the time of the late Nawab's death was not a fifteenth share.
Ofsiourse Sir Charles Jackson does not understand this.—A Vindication,
P.
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tioned by any jurist,*—having decided on turning the
Wallajah family out of their Palace into the streets, he
raked in all the gutters of Madras for dirt to throw at
them.

And for what? Is it necessary to say another word to
point out the utter imbecility of the notion that by mak-
mg an influential family poor and discontented you can
prevent it from becoming “ a nucleus for intrigue ”?

The deposition of the Wallajah family, viewed simply
as a question of political expediency, was a most short-
sighted and unstatesmanlike proceeding.  Not only did it
bring great dishonour upon our Government, but it de-
prived us of a substantial security. [t has shaken the
allegiance and estranged the feelings of a large section of
the people,— a sober, orderly, and industrious class, whose
historical antccedents and progressive aspirations give them
a more important place in the social equilibrium of India
than might seem warranted by their comparative numbers.
So closely does the reception of all questions of law and
politics among the Mussulman community depend upon
religious considerations,—so accustomed are they, in the
absence of a priesthood, to pay the profoundest deference
in such matters to the decision of the highest established
dignitary of their own faith,—that it was an inestimable
advantage to our Government to have a person of Princely
rank, associated with us by ancient ties, traditionally and
habitually attached to British interests, placed at the head
of the Mahomedans of Southern India, as their Imaum or
religious leader. Residing at one of the great centres of
our power, with so much to lose, and so little to expect

* The following opinion of Mr. Lush, Q C., (}?ow Mr. Justice Lush) refers
to much longer and more claborate Opinions by Sir Travers Twiss, now the
Queen’s Advocate, and the Hlon. J. B. Norton, Advocate-General and Member
of the Legislative Council at Madras. I entirely concur in the opinions ex-
pressed by Dr. T'wiss and Mr. Norton, that the Treaty is an enduring contract,
binding on both sides, so long as there exists any member of the family of the
Nabob Azeem-ul-Dowlah capable of succeeding to the rank. And I come to
this conclusion upon consideration of the terms of the Treaty itself, read with
reference to the circumstances under which it was made, and without regard to
the Letter, Procl ion and Despatch which followed it. These documents,
however, might be called in aid, were the language of the Treaty ambiguous,
a8 a contemporaneous exposition of its meaning. But whether read with or
without them. it does not appear to me to admit of any other construction than

that contended for by His Highness Azeem Jah.”
Temple, December 1st, 1864, (Signed) RoBeRT LusH.
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A}
from any disturbance or change, he could not be other-
wise than conservative in politics and moderate in religion.

The ruin of the Wallajah family has operated to the
detriment of our Tmperial system in various directions,
and these evil effects will be aggravated rather than dimi-
nished by the lapse of years. The Mahomedans in gene-
ral are indignant and disgusted at seeing their spiritual
Chief, the patron and guardian of their religious rites,
impoverished and degraded by the British Government.
How much these feelings are embittered, and to what a
large extent they are shared by the Hindoos of the Car-
natic, in consequence of the question of Sovereignty, set
at rest under the last Treaty, being stirred up again by
our flagrant breach of faith, is well understood by those
who are best able to inquire.

But this is not all. It may be difficult for many of us
to commiserate a man with an income of £15,000 a year,
the increased stipend offered to Prince Azeem Jah.* = For
several years, however, he refused to touch it, and was at
last reduced to draw sums on account, only under pro-
test, and by the sheer starvation of his servants and
small creditors. And it must be remembered that this
stipend was merely a life income for a man nearly seventy
years of age, with four sons, a tribe of near relatives, and
mnumerable hereditary adherents and dependents. The
Nawab’s annual revenue had been about £120,000. When,
therefore, the representative head of this great family
was reduced to penury, the Palace converted into Pubhe
Oftices, the Royal establishments broken up, and all that
“pageantry and buffoonery” abolished which offends the
Duke of Argyll's severer tastes, the occupation of many a
Mussulman of stalwart frame or ready wit, was gone. We
had no place for him ; he had “no claim on the considera-
tion of Government.” Some few may learn to dig ; some,
especially the old, are not ashamed to beg ; but all those
of a higher spirit and of the best qualifications, went off,
sponer or later, to Hyderabad. Doctors of the Law, profes-
sors of Arabic learning and science, men of the sword and
of the pen,—pedants and swash-bucklers, if you will,—
found no refuge nearer than the Nizam’s Dominions. A

* Lord Dalhousie proposed £10,000
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ood riddance ! it may be said. Indeed! They were well
in hand at Madras, employed, tolerably contented, and
under control.  Lord Dalhousie’s policy has thrown them,
a most unwelcome burden, on the Nizam’s resources,—for
many of them brought claims and rccommendations that a
Mussulman Sovereign could not resist,—and it may easily
be conceived what pleasing pictures of British rule they
must have brought with them, and what grateful senti-
ments towards the Paramount Power they are likely to
entertain and to propagate. There were quite enough of
these classes at Hyderabad, without these hungry refu-
gees from Madras to swell the crowd and to heighten dis-
affection.

The Nawab of the Carnatic m our hands was a very
serviceable instrument : the attractions of his Court most
usetully counterbalanced, to some extent, the preponderat-
ing influence exercised by the Nizam over the Mussulman
population of the South.  The British Government, under
Lord Dalhousie’s guidance, has done its best to transform
this preponderating influence into an absolute and undi-
vided supremacy, to suppress old rivalries and jealousies
which were by no means injurious to the cause of order,
and to sct up in their stead new sympathies and common
grievances, to knit more closcly the social and religious
ties between the Deccan and the Carnatic, and to make
Hyderabad the centre of political and religious thought
and authority, to which the eycs of all Southern Maho-
medans are henceforth to be turned.

For results such as these, so honourable and so advan-
tageous to Great Britain and to India, the family of our
oldest Ally was degraded and despoiled. It may serve as
a fair specimen of Lord Dalhousie’s statesmanship. We
shall be told perhaps, that “dt paid.” Well—the Indian
Exchequer has been deriving an apparent profit every
year of rather more than £50,000 by repudiating the
Treaty, and if Lord Dalhousie’s arrangements were main-
tained, the annual gain would increase as the life-pensions
lapsed.

IBut can Lord Dalhousie’s arrangements be maintained ?
Have they been maintained ? Prince Azeem Jah’s stipend
was increased by one-half in 1858, without the effect of
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inducing him to renounce his rights. A large grant of
money has more recently been made for the payment of
his debts, and it is understood that some plan of compro-
mise is now under consideration by which a hereditary
title with a permanent annual income will be settled on
him and his heirs,

Sir Charles Jackson says that “ the Government under-
took to pay the Nawab’s debts.”® The Nawab’s debts
amounted to nearly £400,000, or about three years’ income,
and could, of course, have been easily paid off by good man-
agement, which it was always within the power of our Go-
vernment to enforce. Those debts were contracted on the
credit of the Nawab’s revenue, and when our Government
was pleased to sequestrate that revenue, they were clearly
bound to answer for the debts. But they were not satis-
fied with the revenue; they confiscated everything that
could be turned into cash. All the lands, gardens, buildings
and personal property belonging to the family, every relic
and heirloom, down to the musnud of state and other in-
signia of the Nawab’s dignity, were either appropriated to
the purposes of our Government, or sold for their benefit.
In this way about £350,000, nearly the amount of the
debts, was raised. The principal Palace—where Prince
Azeem Jah was born, and the last three Nawabs, his father,
brother and nephew, died,—is turned into a range of Pub-
lic Offices, while the Prince is compelled to pay a heavy
rent for one of the minor residences, granted for his use by
the late Nawab, and which he has occupied for the last
forty years. Sir Charles Jackson must have been quite
unaware of these facts when he gave our Government
credit for having paid the Nawab’s debts.

Credit and praise for what is represented as unexampled
liberality and generosity, are often demanded for our Go-
vernment, and especially for Lord Dalhousie, on grounds
quite as insufficient as in that of the Carnatic. Thus the
Duke of Argyll, after declaring that in the case of Sattara,
¢ private rights and private property were not called in
question,” adds :—

“Lord Dalhousie not only admitted the adopted boy to be the

* A Vindication, p. 105.
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Rajah’s private heir, but he went out of his way to recommend
that a special allowance should be assigned to him by the Govern-
ment of India.” *

Surely Lord Dalhousie did not go“out of his way” very
far, when he recommended that some provision should be
made for the adopted son and heir, according to the law of
the land, of a friendly Prince, exemplary in all his public
relations towards us and his subjects, whose territories we
had confiscated, and whose Civil List,—almost the onl
source of income to the Royal family, —we had suppressetf.,

Sir Charles Jackson writes as follows :—¢ Lord Dal-
housie never disputed the validity of adoptions as such.
He never denied their alleged spiritual effect,”—this was,
indeed, truly liberal !—* and nothing he said or did could
affect their validity as acts done in the performance of a
religious duty. He recognised them as facts, and was
careful to give effect to them so far as the private pro-
perty of these Princes was concerned.”t

Lord Dalhousie frequently made much more liberal pro-
fessions than he was prepared to carry into practice.
‘Whatever he may have said, it is certain that he was not
“careful to give effect” to the rules for the proper reten-
tion or descent of private property in the several instances
of acquisitions of territory and revenue.

On every occasion, including the Punjaub, there was
more or less spoliation of private property. Of the Car-
natic confiscations we have already spoken. Notwithstand-
ing the confident assertions of the two apologists, it is quite
certain that the whole of the Sattara Rajah’s plate, jewels
and other personal property, was not given to his axiopted
son. Lord Dalhousie himself tells us that the Honourable
Court,—who, we cannot doubt, merely approved and con-
firmed, as usual, the suggestions from India,—¢ while they
declared their desire to provide liberally for the Sattara
family, and their wish that the ladies”—not, be it observed,
the adopted son,—‘should retain jewels, furniture and
other personal property suitable to their rank, still objected
that so much property which was fairly at the disposal
of the Government, was greatly in excess of what was

* India under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 29. + A4 Vindication, p. 8.
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required.”* And he employed this case as a precedent
for the spoliation of the Nagpore Palace.

Sir Charles Jackson devotes a whole Chapter of his
Vindication to the defence of Lord Dalhousie from the
charge of having despoiled the Bhonsla family of Nag-
pore. I have already treated that subject very fully, but
Sir Charles Jackson, though quoting me two or three
times, does not attempt to deal with my arguments.t

I showed that although the sum reahsed by the sale of
the personal property of the Bhonsla family, and the
seizure of their private treasure, only amounted to about
£270,000, Lord Dalhousie had good reason to expect a
much larger sum, and that, according to his plan,

«“The private personal property of the Bhonsla family, computed
by Mr. Mansel at some fifty-five or sixty lakhs of rupees” (£550,000
or £600,000,) “was declared to be the first source from which the
Rances’ life-annuities were to be supplied, and 1t was only in caso
of any deficiency that the annexing Government was to be called
upon to bear any part of the expense.  In short, the private pro-
perty was sequestrated and sold, to provide the public stipends
granted as compensation for the loss of their sovereignty ; their
capital was confiscated, their valuables sold by auction, and life-
annuities were conferred upon them out of the proceeds 17’}

That Lord Dalhousic’s object is correctly interpreted in
this passage appears clearly enough from the following
sentence in the despateh of the Court of Directors on the
subject :—

“From the very considerable personal property of the Rajah
you have decided to allot to the Rances, jewels, furniture and other
articles suitable to their rank ; and, as we understand your inten-
tion, to form the remainder into a fund, from which the pensions
will be defrayed, your Government making up any deficiency.”§

My comments were thus continued :——

““ Setting aside for the moment the utter iniquity of the annexa-
tion, and assuming that there was a genuino lapse for want of an
heir capable of reigning, 1 find it very difficult to trace the pro-
cess of reasoning, by which Lord Dalhousie and the Court of
Directors contrived to persuade themselves that the immediate
family of a friendly Sovercign whose territory we had annexed,
were not entitled to the custody and management of their own

* Further DPapers, Berar, 1856, p. 13,

t A Vindication, p. 81, and sce Zhe Empire in India, * The Bhongla Fund.”
I Empire in India, p. 230. § Zurther Papers, Berar, 1856, p. 1.
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private property, but were entitled only to a life-interest in such
a proportion of it as the annexing Government chose to consider
sufficient for their maintenance. Most peoplo, I think, would on
mature consideration decide, that the intrusive Power was bound
in honour and in justice to provide from its own revenucs, aug-
mented as they wore by the revenue of the new acquisition, an
adequate and becoming income for the representatives of the
cjected dynasty, for these members of the Royal family who had
formerly depended upon the Civil List of the Sovereign. Most
people would come to the conclusion, that even if the representa-
tives of tho friendly dynasty wero, or were assumed to be, mercly
the widows of the last Sovereign, tho obligation to provide for
them would remain cqually strong. And this being granted, it
appears by no means equitable that the whole, or any part, of this
provision should be derived from the confiscated personal property
of tho deceased Sovereign.”*

On all this part of my argument Sir Charles Jackson
has not a word to say.

I then went on to point out that there was a ““singular
inconsistency of statement both in Lord Dalhousie’s original
instructions, and in Mr. Temple’s recent Report on this
financial master-picce.”

“In his very natural desire to overlay this ugly deed with a
little moral gilding, Lord Dalhousie betrayed himself into some
inconsistency of languago, but his practical object is not at all
ambiguous. He intended absolutely to appropriate the private
property of the family, and with the proceeds to supply, or reduce
as much as possible, the annual expense of their maintenance.
Ho does indeed repeatedly declare that the proceeds shall not be
‘alicnated from the Bhonsla family.” But as ho simultaneously
employs in these very Minutes, and in the orders issued at the
samo time to the Commissioner, other terms implying a totally
opposite meaning, these pretty expressions become mere prevari-
cations, and fail entirely to give an air of decency to what was, in
fact, a daring act of spoliation.” +

Sir Charles Jackson “can find nothing in Lord Dal-
housie’s Minutes to justify these remarks,” against which
he indignantly protests. Let me assist him once more.
Lord Dalhousie did indeed say that the money realised
by the sale of “the jewels, furniture and other personal
property,” should be ““constituted a fund for the benefit of
the Bhonsla family.” But his further instructions show

* Ewmpire in India, pp. 230, 231, t Zbid., pp. 240, 241,



268 CHAPTER IX.

that the only “benefit” to be conferred on them was to be
given in the shape of pensions for life ; that the pensions
were to be drawn from the Bhonsla Fund, so far as it
would go, and that if “ the value likely to be realised”
(by the sale of the jewels, etc.) should prove to have
been “ over-estimated, the Government should be prepared
to make up any sums that may be wanting to aftord ade-
quate stipends to the family.”* Thus as our Government
was clearly bound, whether the Rajah had left much or little
personal property, to provide an adequate income for his
widows, the money realised by the sale of the personal pro-
perty would conduce to the benefit of our Government and
not of the Bhonsla family, more especially as the Ranees
could not live for ever, and one of them was more than
seventy years of age.

Sir Charles Jackson, admitting that Lord Dalhousie
was “not sufficiently explicit as to the destination of this
Fund eventually,” that he * did not explain how the Fund
was to be dealt with when the pensions were paid off,”—
1.c. when the pensioned widows were all dead,—still be-
lieves that the Fund was intended “to be an inalienable
deposit,” “an inalienable fund for the benefit of the
Bhonsla family.”+  Mr. Marshman, in the following pas-
sage, seems to entertain the same opinion :—

““Thero can be little doubt that this mode of disposing of tho
Jjewels and gems which had been accumulated by that Royal House
for more than a century, by the hammer of the auctioncer, was
revolting to the feelings of the native community, and open to all
the censure that has been passed upon it; but the proceeds,
amounting to twenty lakhs of rupees, were considered a sacred
deposit for the use of tho family.” f

The Bhonsla family would no doubt be highly gratified
to hear that this Fund is considered to be a sacred and
inalienable deposit for their benefit, by Mr. Marshman and
Sir CharlesJackson,and might be encouraged to renew their
claim to have, to say the least, some voice in its disposal ;
but the a{mlogists have simply been misled by the ambigu-
ity of the language that has been used. Lord Dalhousie cer-

* Further Papers, Berar, p. 10, t 4 Vindication, pp. 78, 79.
1 Marshman’s History of India, vol. iii, p. 395.
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tainly said that the Rajah’s personal property should ““not
be alienated” from the family, but at the same time he said
that the proceeds should be employed for certain public
urposes, which ought to have been, and otherwise must
gave been, defrayed from the public revenue. Mr. Temple,*
when Chief Commissioner of the Nagpore Provinces, in his
Administration Report for 1861-62, terms the Bhonsla
Fund “a deposit in the hands of the British Government
for the benefit of the Bhonsla family.” But in a subse-
quent passage he claims this Fund as “a set-off against
the expense of pensioning the family and its retainers.”
Although, therefore, Lord Dallionsie deprecated ¢ the
petulance and vexatious opposition” of the Rajah’s
widows, and declared that “« Fund for the use of the
Ranees is to be formed out of the value of property
to be sold for their behoof,”t nothing can be more clear
than that he never intended them to have the use of
it. The private moveables of the Bhonsla family,-—
the Ranees’ own personal jewels, the clothes in their
possession, and the furniture of the rooms they occupied,
excepted,—all went to the hammer for the benefit of
the British Government. The money realised was nothing
more than an extraordinary source of revenue, brought to
account, and kept for some years, as “ the Bhonsla Fund.”
The application of that name to the Fund was nothing more
than a financial equivocation. The declaration that it was
“for the use of the Ranees” was intended to smooth
difficulties, to prevent violent opposition and resistance,
and to cover a scandalous and shameless act of plunder with
a temporary veil of propriety and benevolence.
But Sir Charles Jackson has still afew words to say:—

“ While this sheet has been in the press, the Calcutta corre-
spondent of the Times announces, that Sir C. Trevelyan has ‘ab-
sorbed’ this Fund, and ‘capitalised’ it. I suppose this means that
the money has been taken by the Government, and Government
Paper substituted for it.”” t

* Now Sir Richard Temple, K.C.S I., who since a great part of this book
was printed bas accepted the office of Financial Member of Council,—Chan~
cellor of the Exchequer for India.

t Further Papers, Berar, 1856, p. 80.

1 A Vindication, p. 79.
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Not at all,—it means something very different.

On the 1st of April, 1865, Sir Chatles Trevelyan, cx-
plaining the Regular Estimate for the current year in the
Legislative Council of India, observed on an increase of
£117,776 under ¢ Miscellaneous Civil Receipts,” that it
arose from the transfer of the balance of the Shonsle Fund
to Revenue, after deducting £30,849, invested with a view
to disconnect the Government from certain permanent re-
ligious endowments.  The pensions chargeable on this
Fund much exceed the annual proceeds, and the excess
was paid out of Revenue. The whole of the pensions have
now been charged against Revenue, and the Fund has
ceased to exist,”*—that is to say has been openly appro-
priated by the Government of India. The solemn mockery
of ““a deposit” has disappearcd, and the personal property
of the dispossessed Royal family is quictly absorbed as “a
set-off” to the expense of their stipendary maintenance.

The Duke of Argyll is indignant that the assailants of
Lord Dalhousie should profess ¢allegiance to some great
principle of morality which was not evident to a States-
man of as high a honour as ever ruled in India, to the
great majority of his Council, to the Court of Directors, or
to the members of the Queen’s Government at Home.”t

No Governor-General has ever met with substantial
opposition from his Council of functionaries. As to the
Court of Directors, many of whom strove in vain to resist
the tide of annexation, the Duke of Argyll himself shall
relieve them from all responsibility.

““ Whatever errors had been committed in the Government of
India had been the errors of tho Crown—of its responsible Minis-
ters in England or in India. The Company, as a governing body,
had been dead for more than seventy years. It had been dead,
but not buried. Its skin had been preserved, and set up as if it
were still alive.”

‘Whatever blame may attach to the administration of any
Governor-General must rest on his own shoulders, just as
he is fully entitled, on the other hand, to enjoy the credit

* Proceedings of the Council of the Governor-General of India for making
Laws and Regulations, 1865, p. 152.

t India under Dalhousie and Canning, preface, pp. vii, viii.

T Lbid., p. 102.
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of all his successes. So long as he retained the confidence
of the Home Government, a man of Lord Dalhousie’s
ability could always have his own way.

As to the “high honour” of Lord Dalhousie, no one ever
thought of impugning it. It is not his honour, but his
capacity, that is questioned. He was fully equal to the
duties of office ; he was unequal to the higher functions of
government. There can be no doubt that his intentions
were excellent.  His errors arose from his taking a mean
and mechanical view of Imperial supremacy, scarcely rising
above the notion of making it “pay.” And his only idea
of making it “pay” seems to have been that of getting as
much revenue and ready moncy as possible, regardless of’
establishments and expenditure.

The Duke of Argyll wants to know in what “great prin-
ciple of morality” Lord Dalhousie’s policy was deficient.
Its deficiency was not so much in any lofty principle, ap-
preciable only by European saints and philosophers, as m
certain primary doctrines of social and political morality,
which come home to the heart of every peasant in India,
and which no competent Ruler of Oriental nations could
have ever misunderstood or forgotten. The mutual obli-
gations of Sovereign and Vassal, of protector and depend-
ent, of master and servant, have constituted in India, from
time immemorial, the very keystone of society and of the
State. Those relations and the corresponding obligations,
may have become dim and confused in the great Anglo-
Saxon communities of the two Worlds, and some of us may
have begun to look upon them as transitory phenomena.
But wherever they still subsist, and are respected as fun-
damental principles of politics and law, in the manners and
customs of the tribe and the family, as among Asiatic
nations, and eminently in India, they cannot be disregarded
or rudely shaken wit{xout disastrous results.

It was by transactions like those we have just discussed,
~—by deposing friendly families to whom we had promised
perpetual protection, and by adding to the extinction of
their Sovereignty the desecration of their Palaces, and the
spoliation of their wealth,—that Lord Dalhousie outraged
decency as well as justice, and roused disgust and resent-
ment all over India. It was by the contemplation and
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recollection of the painful scenes and humiliating results
arising from some of these transactions, that the present
writer was provoked some years ago into using some strong
language with reference to Lord Dalhousie’s public conduct
as a British Viceroy, against which Sir Charles Jackson,
Mr. Marshman, and the Edinburgh Review of October,
1866, all remonstrate.

Feeling strongly that the most distinctive measures of
Lord Dalhousie’s administration were acts of unexampled
political baseness,—raising many of our most faithful, sub-
missive and unobtrusive feudatories into the conspicuous
position of victims and martyrs, placing ignorant Mahratta
women on a moral elevation far above their despoilers,
debasing the name and lowering the dignity of the great
Sovereign and nation whom he represented, in the eyes
of the people of India,—I said he was “the basest of
rulers.”

Sir Charles Jackson, who twice quotes the passage in
question, protests that “these remarks might llmve been
excusable, if Lord Dalhousie had done his great deeds to
aggrandise his own fortune,” but it should be “ remembered
that all his acts were done in the service of his country.”*
In another place he complains of “the imputations which
have b.'(-een so freely cast upon the memory of a great States-
man.”

The Edinburgh Reviewer of October, 1866, quoting the
same passage without naming the book or the author, says :
—*“Mr. Kaye, it gives us pleasure to record, writes ina very
different spirit. He has given Lord Dalhousie full credit
for the entire singleness and purity of his motives.”}

Those who assailed Lord Dalhousie’s measures, both
while he was in power and since his retirement and death,
assailed him as a public man and on public grounds, and
none of them are, to my knowledge, open to the charge of
making unfair imputations. They attacked his character
as a Ruler, not his private character, his “high honour,” or
“the purity of his motives.” Nor ought they to be de-
terred by such unfair remonstrances, or by appeals,—
doubtful in truth as well as in taste,—to his allegetiJ “sacri-

* A Vindication, pp. 176, 177, and p. 2. t Ibid., p. 42.
I Edinburgh Review, October 1866, p. 301,
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fices,” to his “life prematurely worn out in the service of
his country,”* from applying the most searching criticism,
and, if necessary, the severest reprobation, to a polic
which has had such momentous results, which is still held
up for our admiration and recommended for future com-
pletion.

No one would deny or doubt Lord Dalhousie’s public
spirit in accepting the office of Governor-General, or the
untiring energy with which he gave himself to the work.
But there is a spice of that abject reverence for titular
distinctions which taints the manliness of English life, in
the scarcely disguised assumnption that the official labours
of an Earl of long descent are sanctified by an element of
disinterested heroism, to which no claim can be laid by
men of coarser clay. Almost any one of the educated
classes, who accepts office in India after having commenced
his avocation at home and attained to some degree of sue-
cess in it, may be said to make a sacrifice. The sacrifice
must be very large that is not compensated by the posi-
tion of Viceroy of India, with emoluments of nearly £40,000
a year,t and the prospect, according to numerous prece-
dents, of a large donation or pension at the end of the
usual term.  The greatest prize to be won on the political
field of Great Britain would not have given a compara-
tively poor nobleman a large personal fortunc in eight
years, and Lord Dalhousie would have been more or less
than human if he had been utterly indifferent to such
homely considerations.

No one, to my knowledge, has ever impugned “the
singleness and purity of his motives,” or doubted that he
always had in view what he supposed to be “the service
of his country.” But we object that he took a confined
view of what was good for t{le country,—that “he always
had his eye on forms of administration and not on the
substance of government; that he always preferred, in per-
fect sincerity, the narrow measure of the permanent ofticial
to the broad survey of the statesman. Whatever aggran-

* A Vindication, p. 2.

+ The salary is £24,000 per annum, but great establishments are maintained
at the public expense, and contingent allowances made for purposes of enter-
tainment and representation.
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dised the great official Department of which he was the
Head, must be expedient and just, good for the people of
India, good for the British Empire. In short,—to compare
great things with small,—I look upon Lord Dalhousie’s
motives and conduct in prosecuting his policy of annexa-
tion, very much as the Duke of Argyll, some three years
ago, looked upon the motives and conduct of the Commis-
sioners of Woods and Forests in pursuing their policy of
annexing the Foreshores of Scotland. T think of his
“proceedings,” as his Grace did of theirs, that they were
“not creditable,” and that they were carried on by what
was “not a legitimate method.” Like the Commissioners
of Woods and Forests against whom the Duke appealed,
Lord Dalhousie “stretched and extended” the claims of
the Imperial Government “by a system which aims at secur-
ing the acquiescence of individuals on the caleulation that
they will not resist.”  Like those officials, he constantly
“held the most confident and peremptory langnage,” when
he would, “nevertheless, have shrunk from defending the
claim before a court of law,”* and even from referring it
for the opinion of his own law officers. I think that the
general tendency of the foreign policy of India, instigated
by the Civil Service and prosccuted under Lord Dalhousie’s
guidance, was that of introducing everywhere “an expen-
sive and vexatious management for the sake of extending
business.”t It was—TI still borrow the Duke’s appropriate
phraseology,——“a policy deliberately and actively pursued,
a policy not consistent with fair dealing.”$ It was a
policy “offering many temptations to proceedings of a very
doubtful character,” and which, unless “played with per-
fect fairness and candour towards individuals, must tend
to unjust and oppressive dealing. [t then becomes a policy
not merely for establishing the just claims of the Crown, but
for breaking down and usurping both public and private
rights.”§ I think of Lord Dalhousie, as the Duke did of
a iihly respectable officer of the Woods and Forests, that
“in his eagerness to assert and establish what he conceived
to be the rights of the Crown, he took very little pains to
ascertain the local facts and the rights of others.” ||

* Papers, Foreshores of Scotland, 1866, p. 6. t Ibid., pp. 7 and 10.
t Ihid., p. 15. § Itid., pp. 15, 16, | 16id., p. 82.
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In the words of the Duke of Argyll when called to ac-
count by my Lords of the Treasury for having “imputed
motives” to the Woods and Forests and its officers, *——*“at~
tributed their proceedings to improper motives,”t—I reply
to similar remonstrances that “ I have never expressed any
doubt that all the officers of the Department acted accord-
ing to their own views of public duty.” Like his Grace,
I urge that “it is one thing to point out that a public
officer is placed under a natural and unconscious but
powerful bias in a particular direction, and it is quite
another to accuse hin of consciously recommending im-
proper proceedings for the purpose of procuring gain,” §
or, I may add, of being deficient in “some great principle
of morality.”§ When ciargcd with impugning “the single-
ness and purity” of Lord Dalhousie’s “motives,” I answer,
with the Duke, that “I have never attributed to him any
other motive than zeal to secure what he considered” a
great public object. “But,”still in his Grace’s words, “1
have represented, and do still represent, that he and his
Department pursued that object in a spirit and in a
method injurious to the just rights of individuals and the

ublic.”|

P The Duke of Argyll explains that “the motive” which
he really “attributed to the Department of Woods and
Forests,” was “the desire to establish, upon a series of
successful precedents, certain claims on behalf of the Crown
in respect of Foreshores, which, in Scotland at least, have
only been recently asserted, which it is notorious that the
most eminent writers on the law of Scotland have not
recognised.”q] Referring to “the precedents” brought for-
ward in the official report, he observes that “so far as
quoted by Mr. Howard, they are all of very recent date,”**
and that the Department is gradually “‘founding a general
principle by securing successive cases of individual acqui-
escence.”tt

These objections to the official procedure of a Depart-
ment are singularly analogous to my own strictures on
“the doctrine of lapse,” so “recently asserted” in India,

* Foreshores of Scotland, 1866, p. 15. t Ibid., p. 18, 1 Ibid., p. 18.
§ Ante, p. 270 || Foreshores of Scotland, 1866, p. 31. 9 Jbad., p. 15.
#* bid, p. 19. +1 Ibid., p. 15.
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“which it is notorious that the most eminent writers on
the law” of India, “have not recognised,” which it was
sought to establish as “a general principle,” partly on an
imaginary series of precedents, and partly on precedents
“of very recent date,” obtained by “securing the acquies-
cence of individuals on the caleulation that they could not
resist.”*

I had a two-fold object in bringing forward this
parallel between the principles mvolved in the several
claims of Government,—here to barren strips of coast,
there to broad and fertile Provinces,—and the official
procedure to enforce them, in Scotland and India.
Firstly, I wished to show that when what appears like
official sharp practice is brought near to our own doors in
matters in which we take a personal or neighbourly in-
terest, even so calm and dispassionate a person as the Duke
of Argyll may manifest considerable indignation, use pretty
strong language, be supposed to impute “unworthy and
improper motives;” and yet may not have intended to make
any “personal charge,”} or to accuse an officer or a Depart-
ment of acting with deliberate injustice, and of being de-
ficient in some “great principle ot morality.”

Secondly, the Duke’s complaint against “the spirit and
method” of the Department with which he came in colli-
sion, may aid us to define the nature and extent of the
defective appreciation of right and wrong which I attribute
to Lord Dalhousie and his official advisers. For what is
that “unconscious but powerful bias in a particular direc-
tion,” leading to “a policy not consistent with fair dealing,”
—*“a policy for breaking down and usurping both public
and private rights,”—of" which the Duke and I complain,
although neither he nor I “accuse” any onc of “recom-
mending improper proceedings for the purpose of procuring
gain”? It is the professional spirit,—the tendency of every
organised body of officials, and of every separate Depart-
ment, to magnify its own value and importance, and to
enlarge the sphere of its authority. The Civil Service of
India, from its great emoluments, from the peculiar inde-
pendence and irresponsibility given by its “covenants” and

* Ante, p. 275, and see ante, pp. 10 to 20.
+ Foreshores of Scotland, 1866, pp. 10, 18,
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its statutory privileges, from the frequent intermarriages,
and close family ties with the Directors and great Proprie-
tors of the East India Company, which had made it almost
a caste, was the proudest and most powerful official hier-
archy recorded in history. Though somewhat shorn of its
beams by the disappearance of the Company, and the re-
cruitment of its ranks by competition instead of patronage,
the Indian Civil Service still possesses the virtual control of
every Department in its ordinary workings, and a virtual
monopoly not only of all the judicial, financial and admi-
nistrative offices of any consequence, but of every post
equivalent to that of Minister or Councillor of State in a
European Government.  No other Civil Service in the
world, unless it be the Chinese, approaches so nearly to
the character of a Governing Guild.  The tendency to
self-exaltation that assails the members of such a peculiar
body,—-bad cnough if’ they were subject to all the social
influences of a free national life,—is immeasurably aggra-
vated by their position as highly educated strangers, in the
midst of an inferior civilisation, withdrawn by their habits
and tastes, as much as by language and religion, from all
but official relations with the people around them. Natur-
ally and inevitably they are practically indifferent to any
public opinion but that of their own class.  With cqual
certainty, and almost in proportion to each one’s honest
consciousness of good work performed, comes the feeling
that whatever is “good for the Service,” must be good ser-
vice for the country. Hence arises an extraordinary con-
fusion of official aggrandisement with national advantage,
which has always prompted the Indian Civil Service, like
those officials of whom the Duke of Argyll complains, to
promote the establishment of *‘their expensive and vexa-
tious management” all over India, not merely “for the sake
of extending business,”* but with a thorough conviction
that it was the true panacea for all political disorders,
Imperial and local, that it would fill the British treasury,
and make the country prosperous. Constituted as the
Government of India j}l'aél been since the consolidation of
our supremacy, it has ever stood in need of vigilant super-
vision and restraint by the Executive and Legislative
* Ante, p. 274,
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powers of Great Britain, and of an enlightened statesman
at the helm as Governor-General, to save it from degener-
ating into merc officialism. Imperfect and intermittent as
this restraint has always been, it almost entirely ceased to
act during Lord Dalhousie’s Viceroyalty. He was no
statesman ; all his mental and moral predilections fell in
with those of the professional hiemrc]ll)y which he should
have tempered and controlled. ~Circumstances and events
conspired to throw absolute power into his hands. His
own talents and business energy, his personal and political
connections, aided by the strong Calcutta party in the
Court of Directors, gave full relief to successes, real and
apparent, cast a veil over-failures and lavish expenditure,
and silenced all opponents. There were not many of them.

No man who took a statesmanlike or original view of
Indian afthirs in any Department, was ever admitted to the
confidence of Lord Dalhousie, or ever obtained the slightest
influence over him. He was incapable of understanding
them. He shunned them, or shook them off, with instinc-
tive aversion. He quarrelled with Sir Charles Napier, and
snubbed General John Jacob,—-two soldiers of widely diver-
gent attributes, who, if he had fairly estimated their qua-
lities, and availed himself of them, might have done much
for the Indian Army. He completely ignored and ne-
glected Sir Arthur Cotton, a true man of genius,—the
greatest Engineer that ever entercd the public service in
India,—whose counsels would have saved millions of money
and millions of lives, would have covered India with a net-
work of navigable rivers and canals, pouring fertility over
its plains, conveying its bulky goods to the coast, and
swelling the public income without taxation, at half the
expense of a few lines of Railway, utterly inefficient for
the transport of produce, delusive as a military measure
in time of war or insurrection, a perpetual burden on the
revenues in time of peace. He silently declined consult-
ing with Sir William Sleeman.* He shelved Sir Henry
Lawrence.

The few eminent men in the Indian Services who depre-
cated the policy of annexation before 1857, had all been
removed by their sphere of duty from the petty forms and

* Ante, p. 68,
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details of aregular Collectorate or the routine of an estab-
lished office. In the field of Indian diplomacy, and in the
management of newly acquired and unsettled tracts of
country, they had been made to deal with States instead
of districts, and had been often brought face to face with na-
tives of all classes, who were neither their suitors nor their
subordinates. These were not the men to find favour in
Lord Dalhousie’s eyes. He did not want originality or
liberality. He wanted unquestioning acquiescence. His
sole idea of policy was to ‘“ extend the business” of the
Department, at the head of which he found himself placed.
That was his great motive. The chicf merit which he
recognised in those who served under him was one which
he possessed himself in a marked degree—dexterity in
getting through business. There is not the least trace in
any of his political Minutes that he cver looked upon the
mighty task of Government as anything but that of en-
forcing administrative regularity.

And thus it was that while no man, probably, was ever
less disposed to be led by his Secretaries and Councillors,
his narrow views coincided so exactly with those of the
elder Civilians that they easily managed him, without,
perhaps, either party being quite aware of the process.
Sir John Willoughby, as we have seen, was the author of
“the doctrine of lapse,” and worked out the ruling pre-
cedent of Sattara. Mr. (now Sir John Peter) Grant, as
Secretary to Government, framed a Note on the Jhansi
succession, which, being accepted by the Governor-Gene-
ral as “a very full and clear exposition,”t may be said to
have settled the case. Sir John Grant, when subsequently
admitted to a seat in Council, held his own opinion on
several occasions more strenuously and effectually than
Lord Dalhousie was accustomed to or liked. Some signs
of irritation at Mr. Grant’s argumentative success in the
Oude question can, I think, be traced in the very -in-
consistent sentences, already quoted, in which he de-
clared his “ honourable colleague’s views ” to have seemed
“go erroneous” to him, that, “if it had unfortunately
found favour with the Honourable Court,” he “ must have
declined to take part in any policy founded upon it ;” and

* Jhansi Papers, 1855, p. 19.
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yet immediately afterwards, in the Duke of Argyll's words,
“he agreed to a course which was logically defensible on
no other principle than thatwhich Mr. Craht maintained.”*
He protested that he could never carry out Mr. Grant’s
policy, and, in the same Minute, “ murmuring ‘I can ne'er
consent’, consented.”

The truth is that Mr. Grant, though spoiled for states-
manship by too many years of Indian office-work, was a
man of much greater ability, more extensive experience,
and more solid acquirements than Lord Dalhousie. Grant-
ing the false premisses and false principles from which they
both started, and the illicit assumptions in which they
were both agreed, Mr. Grant’s Oude Minute was far more
logical, more straightforward, altogether stronger, than
the Governor-General's. He very conclusively exposed
the weakness of Lord Dalhousie’s declaration that  the
King’s consent ” was “indispensable,” and that it would
not be “right to extract this consent by means of menace,”t
while the very essence of the plan recommended consisted
in holding over him the terror of his own assassination and
the pillage of his capital. * Certainly,” said Mr. Grant,
“in the supposed case, he would have little reason in the
end to thank us for our scruples in his favour on the ques-
tion of his rights.”}

Finally, waiving the question—too large for discussion
here—ot the comparative and relative advantages of rail-
roads in India,§ it seems necessary to remind some people
that Lord Dalhousie did not invent railways, or the elec-
tric telegraph, or the penny postage.

‘Whatever merit may attach to the vigorous prosecution
of that badly planned and badly constructed work, the
Ganges Canal, belongs to Lord Hardinge.| Sir Macdonald

* Ante, pp.49, 50.  t Oude Papers, 1856, p 187. 1 Ibid., p. 218.

§ No one, I presume, would dispute the positive benefits conferred by the
expenditure of eighty millions of capital, almost entirely drawn from Great
Britain, in India, or by the improved means of locomotion. The only question
is whether they are worth the money, and whether the money might not have
been more advantageously laid out. Meanwhile, the investment of such a vast
sum, supplemented by twenty millions of public money, in an unremunerative
and precarious undertaking, dependent on an annual subsidy to make up its
moderate dividend of 5 per cent., has thrown a serious obstacle in the way of
great works more suitable for the country and the people, certain to give
handsome returns, and hardly exposed at all—as railroads are—to destruction
or damage, involving a cessation of earnings, in the event of war or rebellion.

|| Ser Henry Lawrence's Essays, pp. 330, 331,
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Stephenson and his staff’ had laid the foundations of the
first railroad, gnd the system of guaranteed interest to
shareholders had been conceded by the Court of Directors
at Lord Hardinge’s suggestion, two years before Lord
Dalhousie anrived at Calcutta.® A scheme of cheap
postage, almost exactly on the terms ultimately adopted,
had been framed by Mr. Riddell, the Postmaster-General
of Agra, and submitted to the Court of Directors, with
Lord Hardinge’s strong recommendation in its favour, in
the year 1846.1

The introduction of these improvements during Lord
Dalhousie’s administration was siinply a chronological
accident.  No doubt he pressed themn on with his usual
vigour, and threw the new Departments at once into
working order with his 1are aptitude for organisation
and for the details of public business.

Lord Dalhousie’s oflicial nominations and promotions
were invariably made with great care, with an exclusive
and scrupulous regard to claims and qualifications, accord-
ing to his own conscientious appreciation of them. The
exercise of his patronage was generally judicious.  But it
must be remembered that he did not discover the Law-
rences. Lord Hardinge had placed the three brothers in
the Punjaub. All that Lord Dalhousie did was to transfer
the greatest of the three, Sir Henry, because he would
not carry on the work of confiscation fast enough, to a
place which for him, and in comparison to that which he
left, was almost a sinecure. The removal was eftected
with as much consideration as possible, but Sir Henry
Lawrence, as Mr. Kaye tells us, telt himself to have been
* unfairly and ungratefully treated.”§

* Ilaz'{)/i, pp- 332, 3335 Trotter’s History of India from 1844 to 1860, vol. i,

pp- 93, Sir Henry Lawrence's Essays, p. 339.
1 Sepoy War, vol. i, pp. 62, 63.



CHAPTER X.
REFORM OR DESTROY?

Avter completing his paraphrase of those infallible and
all-sutticient documents, the Blue Books, with reference to
each of Lord Dalhousie’s more important acquisitions of
territory, the Duke of Argyll concludes that part of his
dissertation with the following words :—

““Such were the principal territorial additions by which the
frontiers of British India were carried to the line at which they
still remain, and at which, in all human probability, they will con-
tinue to remain for many years to come.”*

‘Why does the Duke anticipate the sudden discontinu-
ance, ““for many years to come,” of the gradual process by
which Native States are extinguished ¢ If that process,
as planned and practised by Lord Dalhousie, be justifiable
and beneficial, why should it be discontinued for a single
year? It is true that the Queen’s Proclamation of 1858,
and the Adoption Despatches of 1860,~—to neither of which
the Duke was a party, and both of which he distinctly
deprecates,—have raised considerable obstacles to the
future enforcement of the “doctrine of lapse,” but those
obstacles are by no means insurmountable, as we have seen
in the recent narrow escape from extinction of the ancient
Raj of Mysore, at the hands of a Cabinet in which the
Duke of Argyll had a seat. Nor would it be at all diffi-
cult to seize upon many “rightful opportunities,” quite as
specious as any of Lord Dalhousie’s era, for claiming “a
perfect lapse,” and refusing, in his language, to “throw
away territory,”t or for declaring the Government of a
Native State to be “hopelessly bad,” and absorbing it out
of sheer benevolence.

How can we, in justice and humanity, neglect any occa-
sion of annexing one of those badly governet? States, which

* India under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 40.
t Papers, Rajuh of Berar, 1854, p. 36.
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Lord Dalhousie thought were not worth the trouble of
improving,* and the Duke of Argyll considers to be un-
improveable ? If ““the vices” of “native Governments” are
“gystematic, and their virtues casual,”—if ** the dependent
position to which they are reduced by our power in India,
does not contribute to make them better,”t—if annexation
is “the only security for good government,”t—why should
the good work be intermitted “for many years to come ?”

In justice to the Duke’s consistency, it must be admitted,
that in alluding to the “probability” that there will be no
“territorial additions” for “many vears to come,”—a limited
term, after all,—he evinces no personal inclination or in-
tention to interrupt the good work ; he would rather seem
to regret the weakness of the presentgencration,and totrust
that their eyes may be opencd ere long to the great bless-
ings derivable from a pollicy of annexation, which, though
suspended for a time, may be wisely resumed, when “the
violent reaction” now “beginning to subside,”§ has subsided
entirely.

From the commencement to the end of his two Essays,
the Duke of Argyll acknowledges no defect or excess of
principle or of procedure in the territorial acquisitions of
Lord Dalhousie’s Government. He considers it ‘‘more than
doubtful whether it was expedient” to send forth the
Queen’s Proclamation of 1858 to the Princes and People
of India. ‘““As regards the administration of affairs in
India, no change whatever of principle was required.”
“The Government was not a new one, neither were its
principles of administration new.” “It would have been
better to stand on the character which the Government of
India had never forfeited, and which it required no new
Proclamation to define.”|

And his objection to Lord Canning’s Adoption Despatch
of 1860, wherein “the doctrine of lapse” was substantially
recanted, runs in the same direction :—

“One question immediately rises to our lips on reading this
proposal :~—What room is left for the discharge of our obligations
to the people, as distinguished from the Rulers, of Native States ?
‘What is to be done in such a case as Oude? Is disloyalty to our-

* Ante, pp. 69, 72, 73. 1 India wnder Dalhousie and Canning, p. 30.
1 Zbid., p. 86. § 1bid., Preface. || £id., pp. 103, 106.
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selves to be the only crime recognised in our dealings with Native
Governments?  Is incompetence, or cruelty, or corruption—the
ruin of a country, and the misery of its people—are these to be
tolerated, and if tolerated then virtually protected, by the Para-
mount Power in India,”*

In this passage, and in the next one which T shall quote,
the Duke reiterates that confused notion of the reigning
Prince being the embodied State, and of the State being
dependent tor its existence from day to day upon his per-
sonal character and qualifications, that we have already
discussed in our comments on the Oude question.t If we
consider the Ruler to be “corrupt,” or “cruel,” or *“incom-
petent,” we must no longer protect or tolerate the State!
Oune bad Native Prince renders a Native Government im-
possible!  The only improvement of which a Native State
1s susceptible, is that of being improved off the face of the
carth !

Lord Canning having observed that in the case of
“serious abuses in a Native Government,” threatening
“anarchy or disturbance,” the proposed measure will not
debar the Government of India from stepping in to sct
matters right, “nor from assuming temporary charge of a
Native State,” but that, in his opinion, “the penalty of
sequestration or confiseation should be used only when
the misconduct or oppression is such as to be not only
heinous in itself, but of a nature to constitute indisputably
a breach of loyalty or of recorded engagement to the Pava-
mount Power,” the Duke of Argyll objects strongly to any
such reservation :—-

““ "This is the assertion of a principle which is more than doubtful,
and which, in extreme cases, 1t will never be possible to maintain.
There was no breach of loyalty towards the British Government
on the part of the Rulers of Oude. Except, therefore, upon a
higher principle than this, we could not have permanently rescued
the people of that distracted country. But surely the duty of
protecting the peoplo of India from Rulers who are hopelessly
bad, is a duty at least as binding on us as the duty of maintaining
our own dominions”’}

Thus the Duke of Argyll, recently a Cabinet Minister,
not only justifies the annexation of Oude, but holds out
the prospect of an indefinite series of similar cases. Con-

* India under Dalhousie and Canning, p. 121, t Awnte, pp. 77, to 96.
I India under Dalhonsie and Canwing, p. 122,
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sidering the native Rulers to be “hopelessly bad,” he would
annex any minor State whose Prince may prove to be “in-
competent.” His “higher principle” enables him to disre-
gard all the maxims of International Law, and to nullify
solemn engagements, even when there is “no breach of
loyalty ” on the other side.

The Duke’s fundamental error is that of overlooking
what Mr. J. M. Ludlow has aptly termed “the corporate
character of Sovercignties.”  This corporate character is
well asserted in the following passage from Sir Frederick
Currie’s valuable Minute on the Kerowlee succession :-—

¢“ The Kerowlee treaty is not one of a personal character between
the British Government and Mahavajah Hurbuksh Pal, and the
heirs of his body. Tt is a treaty, in my view at least, between
the British Government and the Kerowlee State.

“The engagement is between the British Government on the one
hand, and tho Kerowlee Government on the other, the contracting
party in each caso being the representative for the time being of
the respective Governments.”’+

In order to maintain for every State included within
the Indian Empire the right of individual existence, so
long as it is able and willing to fulfil its engagements, we
need not claim for it an absolute independence, or assert
its international equality with the Imperial Power. A
feeble State is as much entitled to existence as a strong
one.

The Duke of Argyll, in a passage already noticed, re-
minds us that Jhansi was not one of “the old independent
States of India.”} Although his Grace is completely mis-
taken in supposing that “ Jhansi had been erected into a
Principality by ourselves;” although Lord Dalhousie’s
statements, by which the Duke was misled, that Jhansi

 was “held under very recent grant from the British Go-

vernment as Sovereign,” “under a grant such as is issued

by a Sovereign to a subject,”§ were totally unfounded, it
* Thoughts on the Policy of the Crown towards India, p. 141.

+ Kerowlee Iapers, 1855, p. 11,

1 Ante, p 21.

§ Ante, p. 21, Mr. Marshinan, with admirable audacity, says that this case
of Jhansi was settled by ‘ the lew loci of the I’rovince, as expounded by Sur
Charles Metcalfe;” and asserts that Sir Charles Metcalfe mterfered in the dis-

puted succession of 1835. (Hustory, vol, iii, pp. 396, 397.) Both assertions
are incorrect. Ante, pp. 24, 25,
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is true, and has never been denied or doubted, that it was
a dependent Principality, debarred from external action,
except in “subordinate co-operation,” with the Protective
Power. But this fact, instead of-—as the Duke seems to
imagine—rendering the State of Jhansi more, ought to
have rendered it less liable to extinction than any of “the
old Independent States.” Under the rude political maxims
and traditions of India, a faithful feudatory has stronger
securities for its integrity and permanence than an inde-
pendent neighbour. So long, for example, as its obliga-
tions are fulfilled, the alliance by which it is bound to the
Paramount Power is essentially, and not formally, per-
petual. Hostilities cannot be declared against it. It
cannot be swallowed up by conquest.

The little Raj of Jhansi had been conspicuous in its
loyal attachment and useful services to the British Go-
vernment. Its absorption by the Suzerain, under the
shallow pretence of a ““lapse,” was a proceeding not only
most hateful and offensive in the eyes of all Native Princes
and their Ministers, but quite unintelligible to them, ex-
cept on the supposition of bad faith. Unacquainted, as
they are, with English intcrests and prejudices, the mis-
conceptions of Hindoo law and history, the illusive pre-
cedents founded thereon, and the benevolent, though
mistaken, solicitude for the supposed good of the people,
by which the claim to reject adopted heirs was supported,
were always so unreal and unreasonable in their eyes as
to seem quite insincere. They could understand the
conquest of a hostile or alien State—the more independent
the more open to attack—they could understand the con-
fiscation of a delinquent State; but they could never un-
gerstand the unprovoked destruction of a faithful depen-

ency.

If examined in the light of the International Law of
Europe, which fully recognises the “imperfect sovereignty”
of tributary and dependent States, the process of terminat-
ing their separate existence by mutilating the law of suc-
cession in the reigning family will be seen to be equally
illegal and iniquitous.

And if we look at it from the higher point of view of
our national morals, and our national mission in the East,
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the policy of causing *lapses,” in order to gain territory
and revenue for the British Empire, will be found to be
obstructive and retrogressive, as well as unjust.

The victories and trcaties of Lords Wellesley and
Hastings proclaimed the final superiority of British arts
and arms, and gained for the East India Company a regu-
lative supremacy both in external and internal aftairs over
all the Native Principalities. This has been turned to
very little account. Whatever credit we may claim, since
the subjection of our rivals and opponents, for administra-
tive reforms and material progress within the limits of our
own Provinces, we have done very little for the improve-
ment of the allied and tributary States. In this direction
our shortcomings and self-seckings are but too manifest.
So long as peace and quiet are preserved, the Subsidy
paid regularly, or secured by a territorial cession, no great
geandal thrust into view, and no obstacles offered to com-
merce by excessive customs or transit duties, the Native
Ruler has been left very much to his own devices. The
Court of Directors—and up to this day the same notions
prevail generally at Calcutta—could never conceive any
scheme for correcting the abuses of Native States except
that of converting them into Collectorates, and sending
out a batch of Writers. Within the last three or four
years, however, a change for the beilter seems to have
come over the spirit of the Calcutta Foreign Office, more
especially since the final orders ot the Home Government
as to the restoration of Dhar. Something has been done
for the reform of Oodeypoor, though not, it is to be feared,
in a style likely to be acceptable or permanent. The man-
agement of Bhawulpore, during the Nawab’s minority,
seems to be conducted on a judicious plan. It is to be

" hoped that a good use may be made of the opportunity of
managing Tonk, after the recent deposition of its Nawab,
and the substitution of his infant son.

The Government of Bombay has done a good piece of
work in the reform and restoration of the Kolapore State,
and the little Principality of Sawunt Warree. The Go-
vernment of Madras has dealt wisely and justly with the
only two Native States—Travancore an& Cochin—com-
mitted to its charge. The former, in particular, taken in
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hand in 1809 after a period of anarchy and open war, was
extricated from its difficulties by direct British manage-
ment, and has improved and prospered steadily under
careful supervision. Great attention has always been
paid to the education of the Royal le,mily; and, under the
enlightened rule of the present Maharajah, Travancore is
rapidly becoming o model Principality.

The Caleutta Forcign Office has no such peaceful
triumphs to boast of.  Had Mysore, which never was in
such disorder as Travancore or Kolapore, been managed
from Calcutta on the same generous and moderate prin-
ciples that have guided the authorities of Bombay and
Madras, the country would never have been overloaded
with those costly establishiments—the offspring of patro-
nage—which have formed, and still form, the only truc
and substantial obstacle to the restoration in that State
of a purely Native (Government.

Caleutta had for so many years been such a hot-bed of
Jjobbery and place-making, the crop was so rich during the
era of annexation, and the appetite so grew by what it fed
on, that dwring the last two or three years of Lord Dal-
housic’s Government, the notion of nndertaking the reform
of a Native State from disinterested motives would have
been scouted as utterly fantastic and absurd.

Lord Dalhousie, as we have seen, protested against tem-
porary management in every case that came before him.
He objected to having “the labour, the anxiety, and the
responsibility” of such a charge, unless accompanied by an
“increase of revenue and permancnt possession.”* Nor
were plausible and specious phrases wanting to prove that
temporary management was impracticable.

“To supplant the British government of any Province,”
says Sir John Peter Grant, in his Minute on the Oude
question, “by the best native government that ever yet
existed, is in one moment to abolish law, and establish
arbitrary power in its place.”f But what is to prevent us
from gradually supplanting British management by a better
native government than “ever yet existed,”—from revers-
ing the procedure considered inevitable by Sir John Grant,
—from establishing law in a reformed Principality, and

* Ante, pp. 69, 72, 73. 1 Oude Papers, 1856, p. 211.



REFORM OR DESTROY ? 289

abolishing arbitrary power ?  Nothing that I know of, ex-
cept the private interests and professional prejudices of the
covenanted and commissioned Services.

Sir John Grant’s objection, highly characteristic of the
Bengal Civilian, is, in fact, identical with that more re-
cently advanced by Mr. R. D. Mangles, a retired Bengal
Civilian in the Indian Council, against the prospective re-
storation of a Native Government in Mysore under the pre-
sent Rajah’s adopted son.  In that case, he said, the young
Prince “must be permitted to become the actual Ruler of
his country, to appoiut. his own officers, und to administer
fustice and the revenne wccording to his own views and
principles.”*

The fallacy is transparvent encugh ; for why should not
the Prince be so carefully educated, the forms of his Govern-
ment and the plan of his administration so constituted,
that he should be as much habituated as constrained to
govern according to on “views and principles.” The Rajahs
of Travancore and Kolapore,—-no thanks to the Calcutta
Foreign Office,—have learned to do so.

In the same Minute, arguing against any plan for the
temporary management of Oude, Sir John Grant wrote
as follows —

““I confess myself unablo to understand those who are convinced
that, in a particular case, the Native Government is so extremely
bad, and so hopclessly ineorriyible, that it must be supplanted by
a British Government ; but contend that this cannot properly be
done, unless it be made an essential part of the scheme, that at
some future indefinite timo, the British Government shall be sup-
planted in its turn, by the Native Government, now to be sot
aside for its incorrigible worthlessness.”+

The fallacy into which Sir John Grant has fallen in this

* passage is also transparent enough. It is the very ordin-
ary fallacy of employing a phrase in one sense at the be-
ginning, and in a very different sense at the end of a sen-
tence. He first assumes that a certain corrupt Native
Government is “hopelessly incorrigible” by internal effort,
and that British interference is absolutely necessary,—a
case which all his opponents might admit.  In the conclu-
sion the word “¢ncorrigible” has come to mean that a bad

* Mysore Papers, 1866, p. 85. 1 Oude Papers, 1856, p. 210.
U
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Native Government is “incorrigible,” notwithstanding all
the assistance, instruction and guidance of the Protecting
Power. Tis opponents having acknowledged the disorder
to be incorrigible without temporary management, he
quictly assumes them to have acknowledged it to be in-
corrigible by temporary management. He assumes that
it a Native Government is ever to be restored, it must be
the old corrupt Native Government “of arbitrary power.”
We are, in fact, called upon to believe that a Native Go-
vernment must always be dependent on the personal cha-
racter of the Prince ; that the Protecting Power can destroy
and coerce, but cannot teach, cannot take securities for
good administration, or exercise any supervision or con-
trol; that a Native Prince may submit to be dethroned
and exiled, but would never submit to be fettered by a
Civil List, a Code, or a Council of State.  In short, if there
were any validity in his argument,- -if it were not a meve
example of using ambiguous terms and begging the ques-
tion,—we should have to admit, in detiance of experience,
that a reformed Native State is an impossibility.

Mr. J. ¢ Marshian, formerly Editor of the Friend of
India, preaches the old Caleutta doctrine in his newly-
published History. To restore a Native Government
Mysore would be, according to him, “to sacritice to a new
theory the welfare of a whole people,” and “to demolish the
fabric of prosperity we have been building up for half' a
century.” He considers the maintenance of this Native
State “so repugnant to cvery fecling of hwmanity, that
before the period for consummating this policy arrives, it
is to be hoped that some future Sccretary of State will be
found to annul it, as the present Sccretary of State has
annulled the decision of his predecessor.”

Mr. Marshman, it will be secn, writes in very strong
language, --in the habitual style of the Friend of India.
The old leaven of Culeutta cockneyism,—the most insolent
cockneyism in the world, for the narrow conceit of a
mushroom metropolis is aggravated by the arrogance of
race,—pervades every pagc of his observations on the
allied Principalities of India. He can see nothing but a
vision of “the follics, vices and excesses of a Native Court.”

* History, vol. i, p. 418.
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He shrinks from no exaggeration. He speaks of the two
cases of Hyderabad and Nagpore* “where the country
had flourished under British management, and had been
desolated when restored to the Native Princes.”t I am
quite sure that Mr. Marshian would find it as impossible
as I have found it, to trace any accounts of either of these
countries having been “desolated,” in any official or non-
official descriptions of Hyderabad or Nagpore.

The Duke of Argyll makes use of a similar and equally
inexcusable exaggeration.  After obserying that some dis-
tricts of the Nagpore country contained “the best of the
cotton-fields in India,” he says, “it was a matter of Impe-
rial concern to the British Goveinmeut that the fertile
territory of this State should no longer be wasted and
spotled by the wanton perpetuation of abominable mis-
rule.”}

A full refutation of Lord Dalhousie’s clap-trap for home
consumption on the subject of cotton, would be out of
place here.  As a point of political economny it was absurd ;
as a plea for mmexation it was equally absurd and inmino-
ral.  During the Mahratta Government of Nagpore the
production of cotton was immense, and onc of the great
markets for that staple, Hinghenghat, was situated within
its frontiers. The Duke has no pretence whatever for
suggesting that the people of those districts had not “the

eaceful enjoyment of the fruits of industry.”§ The Blue
Books contain plenty of highly coloured strictures, but
none to that cffect. It there were any impediments to
trade from bad roads or transit dutics—not brought for-
ward in the Blue Books—the Rajah’s Government was
entirely subject to our influence for their removal or recti-
, fication. The Rajah could have made good roads q}lite as
effectively, and much more cheaply, than could have been
done by means of that scandalous repository of patronage
and peculation—our Department of Public Works.

Direct, British administration has done nothing, could
do nothing, in Nagpore, to increase the breadth of land
under cotton, that could not, or would not, have been
done by a Native Government. The cultivation was, of

* Ante, p. 69, 70. t History, vol. iii, p. 425.
1 India under Dalkousie and Canning, p. 38. § Ibid.
U2
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course, enormously stimulated by the high prices prevail-
ing during the rebellion in the United States.  When the
dearth of cotton had hrought a heavy pressure from Man-
chester to bear upon owr (lovernment, one measure was,
indecd, devised, which a Mahratta Rajah would not have
thought of, though the Resident might have induced him
to carry it out. Cotton Commissioners were appointed
with handsome salarvies.  This measure, as usual, in the
mode and details of its execution, savoured of fuss and
jobbery, and has produced an inordinate amount of fools-
cap. There is little reason to believe that this enlightened
expedient has ever added one pound to the cotton crop of
Berar and Nagpore, and although, by the collection of
statistios, and the distribution of sced and gins provided
by the Manchester Cotton Supply Association, a consider-
able amount of good has been done, this could have been
done more casily and more effectually by a cheaper native
agency.

The Duke’s charge against the Native Government,
however, goes far beyond the want of a Cotton Commis-
sioner,  He makes use, us we see, of w very forcible ex-
pression.  He says that “thes fertdle territory was wasted
and .\'pnl’/«‘(’.”

The Duke of Argyll and Mr. Marshman have quoted
from the Blue Book the just invectives of Mr. Mansel, the
last Resident at Nagpore, against the most Hagrant abuses
of the Rajal’s administration.  Did the following passage
in that same despatch entirvely escape their notice ¢

““If the state of things in Nagpore is compared with the condi-
tion of Hyderabad or Oude, and if a traveller passing through the
country stops but to look at the luxuriant enltivation in the cotton
soil, the absence of crimes by open violence, the civil, simple
people; or the bustle of the mam street of the capital, he will form
a judgment favourable to the character of the Rajuh, and to the
action, if not the principles of his rule.”*

This is certainly not a picture of a country “desolated,”
“gpoiled,” or “ wasted,” —words unwarranted by anything
in the whole Report. The unfavomrable features of the
Rajah’s administration, upon which he comments most
severely, Mr. Mansel attributes, “above all, to the oscilla-

* Papers, Rajak of Berar, 1854, p. 16.
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tion in the system pursued by the Resident in respect to
advice and control,”*---l.e., the neglect of the British Go-
vernment.

It is satisfactory to be able to adduce the unimpeachable
testimony of Sir Richard Temple—for several years Com-
missioner of Nagpore and the Central Provinces—to con-
tradict the exaggerated calumnies as to the disorder and
oppression prevailing in Nagpore, which were allowed to
weigh in the balance against that State, when the ques-
tion of its further existence was debated in 1854,

In his vecently published letter of the 10th of August
last, written from the Resideney at Hyderabad, in answer
to Sir John Lawrence’s cireular of ingniry as to the com-
parative popularity of Native and British rule, Sir Richard
Temple, & man by no means likely to have a bias in favour
of Orientalism, tells us nothing of those * desolated,”
“spoiled, and wasted ” tracts, which the lively imagina-
tions of the Duke of Avgyll and Mr. Marshman have de-
picted.  He says :- -

“T have on the whole a favourable opinion of the administra-
tion of the Nagpore country by the Mahratta Sovercigns of the
Bhonsla House.  There were many excellent points about their
rule ; but some of these were owing to the care of British officers,
such as Sir Richard Jenkins, Colonel Wilkmson, and others.”’+

That is the true work for the Protecting Power to un-
dertake in the minor States—friendly instruction, not
sweeping destruction.  And Sir Richard Temple, while
observing that «“ the constitution, system, and principles
of the Nizam’s civil government arc really excellent,” says
nothing of any part of the Hyderabad country having
been ¢ desolated,” either in the present day or in the past.
Yet he mentions a recent case in which British manage-
ment has been supplanted by, the re-establishment of
native rule.

““'The Raichore and Dharasco districts, which were assigned by
the Nizan to our Government, after remaining under our manage-
ment for several” (six) ¢ years, were retransferred to His High-
ness’” Government” (by the Treaty of 1860). ““I certainly have
understood, from officers in a position to know, that the people
much regretted the retransfor, and woro full of apprehension.

* Papers, Rajah of Berar,1854, p. 17.
t Papers, British and Native Systems, 1868, p. 69.
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Such I believe was the fact at the time, though they have since not
had any cause to lanent, for the Nizaw’s eleil gocerwment in that
quarter has been well conducted.”

The experiment,so much deprecated by Sir John Grant,*
does not seem to have led to “the abolition of law,” which
he dreaded, nor to that “collapse of order and state of
confusion,” which Sir John Lawrence declared must cer-
tainly ensue if the reigning Sovereign of Mysore were re-
placed at the head of his own reformed administration.t
Sir Richard Temple, in fact, contributes his evidence to
the truth of what 1 lately stated, that if our statesmen
“would turn their attention-—for no research is required
—to the real precedents for reforining Principalities, they
would find that the ‘schemes,” which Mr. Mangles pretends
Lave ended in ‘utter and hopeless shipwreck,’f —the ‘ex-
periments * which the Governor-General declares must be
“futile and pernicious,’§ hare never fuiled.”|

The good results of restoring two reformed districts to
the Nizam'’s Government, in spite of the very small efforts
we have made to improve the general administration of
Hyderabad, prove at once the beneficial effects of our
temporary management, and the possibility of making
those beneficial eftects permanent.

Are we then to pursue and extend our reforming opera-
tions among the Native States of India, or are we to seize *
every opportunity and pretext for converting them into
British Provinces? The Duke of Argyll considers that
our supremacy “does not contribute to make them better;”
that annexation is “the only security for good govern-
ment;” and that this security should be exacted whenever
a Native Goveirnment is ““ corrupt ” or ““ incompetent,” ex-
actly as was done “in such a case as Oude.”q] No mis-
takes were made by Lord Dalhousie in appropriating
Native States ; “no change of principle is required.”**

Mr. Marshman, adhering to the policy of the Friend of
India, under which “the two hundred and fifty King-
lings are to disappear,” and “the whole of India is to
pass gradually under our rule,”t+ looks forward with pro-
* Ante, p. 288. + Mysore Papers, 1866, p.59. 1 Ibid. p.87. § Ibid.p. 59.

Il Aiysore Reversion, 2nd cdition, p. 222, 9 Ante, p. 283, 284.
** dnte, p. 283, tt Ante, p. 197,
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phetic exultation to the time when the British Empire
shall “reach the same point of consolidation as that of
Rome under the Cisars, these independent Principalities
expire from the extinction of every element of vitality,
and the Princes themselves subside into the position of
grandees.”*

I need not dwell on the public importance of any such
declaration of principles by the Duke of Argyll. Until
distinetly disavowed by some eminent member of his
party, it will continue to be regarded with terror in India
as a manifesto of the Whig leaders.

Mr. Marshman, personally, has, of course, less weight.
The persistent defence of the annexation policy in his
History—his advocacy of its end and aim, his repetition
of all its pleas, his incendiary wishes fov its revival and
consummation-—are chiefly significant from the fact that
the Senate of the Caleutta University, a body largely
composed of officials, and completely under official influ-
ence, has lately chosen this work as the standard for their
examinations, a rule which imposes it as a class-book on
all the higher schools of Bengal and Northern India.
‘When this fact is viewed by the light of Mr. Marshman’s
uninterrupted connection with the friend of India, still
characterised by incessant slanders and threats against
Native States—occasionally renewed by the Editor as Cor-
respondent of the 7Tmes—-still popularly reputed to be a
sort of organ of the Indian Foreign Office, it will be seen
to afford some little insight into the latent proclivities of
the Caleutta bureaucracy.

The quiet approval or indifference with which these
vindications and rcassertions of the acquisitive policy are
received in London, and the hearty greetings with which
they are welcomed in official circles at Caleutta, sufficiently
prove that I am not wasting my time in attacking them
—that there is a real danger, however remote, of the
policy of annexation being revived in full force.

This danger is not the less, but the more real, because
at present neither the minds that govern the State, nor
the minds that govern the Press of Great Britain, have
grasped a definite policy for the Imperial rule of India.

* History, vol. m, p. 401,
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The tone of Parliamentary debates, and of articles in the
leading Reviews and journals, whenever the discussion of
Indian aftairs cannot be avoided, proves this beyond a
doubt.  Good faith must be kept; treaties must be re-
spected ; no unfair advantage should be geized ; but still
the existence of so many “petty despotisms,” interspersed
among the more favoured British Provinees, is evidently
regarded as a provisional arrangement.  No aggressive
position is taken up; it is not so much a policy as the
total absence of a policy.  For instance, accordiug to the
clever writer who so often treats of Indian topics in the
Spectator, the policy of annexation, quite legal and justifi-
able in itself, failed because Lord Dalhousie retired, and
because it did not afford a carcer to native talent and am-
bition.* If, therefore, a sccond Lord Dalhousie should
arise, and introduce the plan of “native Chief Cominis-
sioners,” the policy of annexation might be resumed, with-
out risking the opposition of the Spectator,or of those who
hold similar opinions.

As another example, here is o passage from the speech
made by Mr. Samuel Laing, member for the Wick Burghs,
formerly Financial Member of the Viceroy’s Council, and
so far an authority in the House of Commons on Indian
subjects, in the debate of the 24th of May, 1867, when
Sir Stafford Northeote announced the decision of Govern-
ment to maintain the State of Mysore by recognising the
Rajal’s adopted son.

“The question of anncxation was so unpopular that ho did not
wish to be understood as being favourable to it. He was not a
partisan of annexation, and he must say that he thought tho policy
of annoxation had been carried under Lord Dalhousie’s adminis-
tration to an extent which he could scarcely approve. But ho
thought it due to tho memory of that distinguished statesman to
say that in his opinion thoe casc, as regarded anncxation, was not
50 clear as it at first sight appearced to some persons to be. The
existence of Native States in India, except as far as it was based
on treaty and sanctioned by the allowing of hereditary possession,
was a very doubtful policy either for British interests or for the
welfare of the inhabitants of British India. If we looked at the
past condition of the Punjab, Oude, and other districts which had
been recently annexed, and compared it with their present condi-

* Ante, p. 202.
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tion, we should see how much the pcople themselves had bene-
fited by the change of government. Any onc who had read’
Sir William Sleeman’s interesting work would learn how bad had
been the condition of Oude under its Native Princes.”

It has plainly never struck the honourable gentleman
that there can be any method of effecting “a change of
government” in a badly managed Native State, except
that of annexation. It is equally plain that he merely
tolerates Native States, reluctantly, without hope, and
without any fixed intentions for the future,

So long as these indefinite notions prevail, so long as we
are without a distinet, intelligible, and progressive Im-
perial policy, the Native Sovercignties of India cannot be
considered safe.  The anncxationists having a very clear
idea of what they want, and the heneficial effect of their
object upon all partics, if it can be fairly acquired, being
as yet hardly disputed or doubted, they have a great
advantage on their side, when any question of territorial
aggrandisement comes up for immediate decision.  Good
opportunities and pretexts for the pursuit of their very
simple policy are certain to present themselves from time
to time, and there is not likely to be any very violent
dispute as to what may constitute a fair acquisition. Where
all are agreed that the end is desirable, there is little
chance of a quarrel about the means.

What we want, thercfore, is an Imperial policy for
India that shall be more than tolerant of Native States ;
that shall recognise their corporate nature, and no longer
consider their duration to be dependent on the talents and
good behaviour of a Prince, or the vitality of a particular
family. We want a policy that shall be proof against every
provocation and every temptation—not one that will work
smoothly with a Salar Jung or a Dinkur Rao, and break
down with the first incompetent Minister or contumacious
Prince.  We want a policy that shall practically acknow-
ledge the duty of instruction to be inherent in that of
protection.



CHAPTER XI1.
AN IMPERIAL POLICY.

THE evils avising from the systematic neglect of our Impe-
rial duties of instructing and reforming the allied and
protected States of India, had been a frequent topic of
complaint and remonstrance for years before Lord Dal-
housie jumped to the conclusion that destruction was
the only remedy for them. The same considerations were
pressed upon him from time to time during the rapid pro-
gress of his series of annexations.

Mr. Mansel, the last Resident at Nagpore, imputed the
disorders that had crept into the administration of that
State to the want of “ certainty and permancnce™ in the
control of our Government.

“My own opinion is that had the same course of interference
been carried out from 1840 to 1853 in a umform, kind and effective:
manner, much or most, 1f not all, of this trouble would have been
avoided. The argument of the natives with whom [ have fre-
quently conferred on this subject is, that the British Residents at
Nagpore should participate in the blame charged to the Rajah by
myself: for if the smne system of advice and check which was
contemplated by the Jast T'reaty had been carried out from first
to last, the Rajah would never have been tempted into habits of
indolence and avarice.”t

When the objections made by the Court of Directors to
the Oude Treaty of 1837 were under the consideration of’
the Supreme Council, Mr. T. C. Robertson wrote as follows
in a Mmute dated the 28th of January, 1839.

“Our persevering indifference towards the lavish profusion and
other extravagancies of the late Ruler of that State, was, I appre-
hend, regarded by the native community, more especially the
Mahomedan portion, as lowing from any rather than disinterested
motives, and was even imputed by many to a crafty design of
bringing his dominions into a condition to afford a pretext for
adding them to our own.”’}

* Papers, Berar, 1854, p. 17, t Further Papers, Berar, 1856, p. 7.
1 Oude Papers, 1858, p. 52.
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And here are some of Lord Metcalfe’s reflections on the
reforming measures which had been introduced in the
Nizam’s Dominions by his own influence as Resident :—

Tt is remarkable that our interference was then for the first
time exercised with a benevolent view to the protection and hap-
piness of the Nizam’s subjects. Every former act of interference,
however subversivo of the independence of the Hyderabad State,
was dictated solely by a regard for our own interests, without any
care or thought for the welfare of the peoplo whom we had deli-
vered up to a Ruler of our own selection.”’*

The strange alacrity with which these operations were
suspended, at the first suggestion of a young and inexpe-
rienced Prince in 1829, und Lord Dalhousie’s positive
refusal to renew them in 1851, have already fallen under
our observation in these pages + We have also remarked
upon Sir William Sleeman’s appeals to Lord Dalhousie
with regard to the Kingdom of Oude, fruitlessly continued
through five years.

Those who opposed the policy of annexation were actu-
ated by anxiety for the stability of British rule, and the
welfare of the people, and not by the absurd sentiment-
alities now attributed to them by Mr. Marshman, with a
great show of candour and impartiality, in the following
passages of his History ;—

“There has always been a succession of men in the Direction
at home, and in the public service abroad, prepared to advocato
the cause of Native Princes as Princes, without any particular
reference to the merits or demerits of their government.  Among
them may be cnumerated some of the most eminent men con-
nected with the administration,—Tucker, Malcolm, Henry Law-
rence, Clerk, Qutram, Sleeman, Low,—all animated with an honour-
able and chivalrous feeling of respect for the royal families of
Tndia.”§

Contrasting their views with those of the Dalhousie
school, he says: “The feelings of one party incline to the
wishes and susceptibilities of the Princes of India; those
of the other to the interests of the people.”]| As Mr.
Marshman does not tell us from what acts or utterances
of these two parties he has drawn this broad distinction

* Metcalfe's Papers, p. 225. + Ante, p. 69,70, 73. 1 Ante, p. 65, 68.
§ Marshman's History, vol. iii, p. 400, || Z&id., vol. i1, p. 401.
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between their feelings, let us hear one or two of those
whom he has mentioned speak for themselves. In several
passages, previously quoted at greater length, Sir Henry
Lawrence objects to our behaviour towards Oude, that we
have “interfered in trifles, and stood aloof when import-
ant questions were at issue”; and that “this interference
has been more in favour of men than of measures.”* “We
have not been guiltless”; he sald, “in repenting of the
past, let us look honestly to the future.  For once let us
remember the people, and not legislate merely for the
King.”t

Sir Williwm Sleeman, writing in 1853, with special refer-
ence to an article in the Friend of Indic by this same
Mr. J. C. Marshman, warns his correspondent of the harm
that may be done if that gentleman should succeed in
spreading the doctrines ot “ the annexation school” in
England, declaring them “to be prejudicial to the stabi-
lity of our rule in India, and to the welfare of the people,
which depends on it.”} -

No men have ever contended and laboured more ear-
nestly for the welfare of the people of India, and for the
reform of the Governments under which they are placed,
than those whom Mr. Marshman bedaubs with the epi-
thets of ““ eminent”, “honourable” and “ chivalrous”, while
he brands them with the imbecility of respecting and advo-
cating ““the wishes and susceptibilities of royal families”,
“without any reference to the merits or demerits of their
government.”  No one ever insisted more strongly on the
maintenance of British supremacy, and on the nccessity of
its being exercised for the good of all classes, than Henry
Lawrence, Sleeman, and Sir George Clerk—who is happily
still with us to answer for himself,—but they believed
that British supremacy would be weakened by bad faith.
They would have promptly employed that supremacy to
reform the institutions of allied and friendly States ; while
Lord Dalhousie held aloof, refusing to interfere, becanse
no material profit could be reaped, but watching for some
trumpery pretext to destroy and despoil.§

In its policy towards badly administered States, which

* Ante, p. 81. t Ante, p. 84.
1 Sleeman’s Oude, vol. ii, p. 390. § Ante, p. 65, 72 to 77.
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required a little assistance to set them right, our Govern-
ment has sometimes erved in the opposite direction to that
of neglect. We have overwhelmed owr patient with nurses
at his expense,—until he has almost lost the use of his
limbs. When General Cubbon entered upon the duties of
sole Commissioner of Mysore in the year 1834, he had
five English Assistants, raised in two or three years to
seven in number, their united salaries being about £13,000
a year. There are now in round numbers 90 English offi-
cers employed under the Mysore Government, and their
united salavies are nearly, if not quite, £90,000 a year, or
one-tenth of the revenuess of the Principality.

When the question of the annexation of Mysore at the
death of the present reigning Rajah, was under discus-
sion in the Council of Tndia, one of the most respected
and most liberal minded Members of the Council, Sir
Erskine Perry, wrote as follows :—

“1 cannot help thinking that however popular in the public eye
the determination not to annex Mysore may be, however politic
the views of Lord Cranborne as to the employment of natives in
high places, undoubtedly are, if the opimons of Council had been
fully taken on this subject, 1t would have fully appeared that the
interests of the people of India would have been best promoted,
and the special claims of natives of rank and education to a share
in the government of their country would have been much sooner
realised, by the continuance of British Government in that Pro-
vince,”*

‘Sooner’” and ‘later’ are comparative terms, very indefi-
nite in their acceptance and application.  But British
management has lasted long enough in Mysore to afford a
fair criterion of its tendency, when untempered by native
influence, to foster the honourable ambition of native pub-
lic servants. When after thirty-four years of British
management the number of English officials has risen from
seven to ninety, while that of superior native officers has
dwindled to sixteen, and only one Hindoo has yet been
%romoted to the charge of a district, the tendency to realise

ative aspirations, which Sir Erskine Perry perceives in
British management, cannot be said to have operated very
“soon” or to be doing its work very rapidly.

* Mysore Papers, 1867, No. 271, p. 12.
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The same process that has attained to such a pitch in
Mysore has been steadily carried on in the Assigned Dis-
tricts of Berar, still posscssed in sovereignty by the Nizam,
but managed in trust for him by a British Commission,
under the Resident at Hyderabad. Appointments are in-
cessantly multiplied and salaries augmented for European
officers of the civil and military services, so that although
the two districts of Nuldroog and the Raichore Doab were
restored to the Nizam in 1860, there is now a larger and
much more costly establishment of English officers for the
two Berars than there was for the four Provinces before
1860. And while this utterly unnccessary addition is
made to the munbers and cmoluments of the European
agency, the native officials are overworked, underpaid, de-
graded and disheartened.

Let us now turn to one of our own minor Governments,
the Central Provinces, the greater part of which was an-
nexed in 1854, on the death of the late Rajah of Nagpore
without male issuc,—not, as we know, without an heir,—-
and let us sce whether Siv Erskine Perry’s vision of the
advancement of ““ the interests and special claims of natives
of rank and edneation to a share in the Government,” has
heen realised there or not.  There is the usual number of
English officers in every Department.  Not only has no
Native been as yet placed in charge of a district, but not
one has been admitted to that list of Assistants who are
eligible for further promotion.  Yet that list contains the
names of seven Uncovenanted Kuropeans. There are alto-
gether 25 Natives holding respectable fifth-rate appoint-
ments in the Central Provinces, with no prospects, accord-
ing to routine and custom, of ever rising to any charge
such as that of a district. On the other hand, besides
seven Assistants and twelve Extra Assistants whom we
know by their names to be Uncovenanted Europeans or
East Indians, there are 4 officials of the same class in the
Customs, 3 in the Revenue Settlement, 3 in the Conser-
vation of Forests, 12 in the Police, and 22 in the Public
‘Works Department,—in all 63 Uncovenanted Europeans.

One might naturally suppose that within the bounds of
a State like Nagpore which, to say the least, was tolerably
well governed, there might have been found by this time
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one or two native officials fit for the charge ot a district,
after a probation of fourteen years. If not, surely there
must have been some deserving persons in other Provinces,
who might have been brought in.  The Saugor and Ner-
budda Territories, forming a large part of the Central
Provinces, were conquered from the Nagpore Rajah in 1818.
Nagpore was annexed in 1854,—the native Sovercignty
abolished, and all the Rajal’s great officials pensioned or
turned adrift. Eight or ten of the second-rate officers
were employed as Kxtra Assistants.

And now in 1868 how is the official hierarchy of these
reunited Provinces constituted ? Tifty years have elapsed
since the conquest of one portion ; fomrteen years since the
so-called “lapse” of the other.  All the best offices, nearly
a hundred in number, utterly unattainable by natives, are
held by Civilians and military officers, in addition to whom
no less than sixty-three Uncovenanted Europeans and
Fast Indians have been introduced into the country.
Twenty-five fifth-rate appointments are enjoyed by
natives.

The constant multiplication of offices in favour of
English gentlemen, entirely defeats what ought to be the
chief object of managing the whole or part of an allied and
protected State.  That object ought to be that of forming
a school of public servants for the Native State, who might
be capable of carrying on and perpetuating the reformed
institutions which are ntroduced by the Paramount Power.
The system that has hitherto been pursued in many such
cases renders the vital engraftment ot reformed institutions
impracticable in itsclf, and unpalatable to those whom it
ought to be our aim to convert to our views. By all the
higher appointments being reserved for English officers,
the native officials have no opportunity of practising or
proving their abilities to uphold and work the new insti-
tutions. The working of the machine is made to depend
so entirely upon English correspondence and forms, that if
the English officers were suddenly withdrawn, the whole
fabric would fall into confusion and ruin. At the same
time British administration presenting to the Prince and
his Ministers, and even to the native officials who have
taken part in it, a scene of proscription and contempt for
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their own race, none of them feel any great wish to pre-
serve so much of it as they have been able to understand.

This was the very mistake in our administration of the
Punjaub, detected by the experienced eye of Sir William
Sleemarn, and subsequently admitted by Sir Henry Law-
rence, which, in the words of the former, “created doubts
as to the ultimate intention of our Government with re-
gard to the restoration of the country to the Native Ruler,
when he came of age. The native aristocracy,” he con-
tinued, “seem to have satistied themselves that our object
has been to retain the country, and that this could be pre-
vented only by timely resistance.”*

He wrote as follows to a friecnd In a letter dated the
18th of May, 1848 :—

“Things are not going on so well as could be wished in the
Punjaub ; and 1t appears to me that wo have been there commit-
ting an crror of the samo kind that we committed in Afghanistan,
—that is taking upon oursclves the most odious part of the ox-
ecutivo administration.

“ Our duty would havo been to guide, control and check ; and
the head of all might have been, like the Sovercign of England,
known only by his acts of grace.

““ By keeping in this dignified position we should not only have
retained the good feclings of the people, but we should have been
teaching the Sikh officers their administrative duties till the time
comes for making over the country; and the Chief and Court
would have found the task, made over to them under such a sys-
tem, more casy to sustain.

““All the newspapers, Jinglish and native, make the adminis-
tration appear to be altogether English,—it is Captain This,
Mr. That, who do, or are expected to do, everything ; and all over
tho country the Native Chicfs will think, that the leaving the
country to the management of the Sirdars was a mere mockery
and delusion.”’+

That Sir William Slecman would not have recommended,
and did not contemplate, the annexation of the Punjaub,
is sufliciently clear in this extract from another letter.

“ Of course, the outrage at Mooltan must be avenged, and our
authority established ; but, when this is done, Currie should be
advised to avoid the rock upon which our friend Macnaghten was
wrecked. Wo are too impatient to jump down the throats of
those who venture to look us in the face, and to force upon them

* Sleeman's Owde, vol. i, p. xliii, 1 2bid., vol. i, p. xxxv.
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our modes of doing the work of the country, and to superintend
the doing it ourselves in all its details, or having it done by
creatures of our own, commonly ten times more odious to the
people than we are ourselves.”*

The same blot had been hit many years before by Sir
Thomas Munro, who besides being a fine soldier and a
practical administrator, had much of the statesman in his
composition.

It is too much regulation that ruins everything. BEnglishmen
are as great fanatics in politics as Mahomedans in religion. They
suppose that no country can be saved without English institu-
tions. The natives of this country have enough of their own to
answer every useful object of mternal administration, and if we
maintain and protect them our work will be ecasy.”’+

Sir Henry Lawrence never approved the extinction of
the Punjaub State. He doubted the justice of the mea-
sure ; he was convinced of its imprudence. A friend and
brother officer of his tells us that “with a refinement of
the justice and moderation which were such conspicuous
features of Sir Henry’s character, he dissented from the
policy of annexation. He thought that another cffort
might have been made to save the Sikh Empire from
destruction.”t  Soon after that step was decided on, he
wrote as follows to Mr. Kaye:—

“I am sorry you have taken up the annexation cry. It may
now, after all that bas happened, be in strictness just ; but it cer-
tainly is not expedient, and it is ouly lately that I have been able
to bring myself to sce its justice.”§

It was Chillianwalla that turned many minds in favour
of annexation, and this consideration had evidently been
{)ressed upon Sir Henry Lawrence. “ After all that has
happened,”—after witnessing actions in which the carnage
and the trophies were almost equally divided, when the
din of battle had scarcely ceased, and under the close per-
sonal influence of Lord Dalhousie, he can only “bring
himself” to say that “it may be, in strictness, just.” He
has no doubt that it is inexpedient.

On the question of our administration, though he had

* Sleeman’s Oude, vol. i, p. xxxvi.
t Glewg's Lufe of Sir T. Munro, vol. iii, p. 252, 253.

t Kaye's Sepoy War, vol. i, p. 50, 51.
§ Kaye's Indvan Officers, vol. ii, p. 308.
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taken a great part in it, and, as Mr. Marshman observes,
“his name was one of auspicious omen in the Punjaub,
where, in popular opinion, the rebellion arose on his de-
parture and was quelled on his return,”* his views were
substantially the same as those of Sir William Sleeman.

¢ Looking back on our Regency carcer, my chief regrets are
that we did so much.

“ Whatever errors have been committed have been, I think,
from attempting too much—from too soon putting down the
native system, before we were prepared for a better.”+

Our statesmen, of all parties, have from time to time
declared that the aim of British supremacy in India ought
to be, as desired by Sleeman and Henry Lawrence, that
of preparing the people for self-government. Few and
far between have been the steps taken in that direction.
Whenever, either by direct management, or by judicious
and authoritative counsel, we have introduced reformed
institutions into a Native State, we have made a step for-
ward. Whenever, in time of peace and without some
stern political necessity, we have taken direct and perma-
nent possession of territory, which might otherwise have
remained a coherent Native State, we have taken a step
backward.

There cannot be a more incorrect assumption than that
which is so frequently made, that British rule alone is pro-
gressive, and that Native rule is either retrogressive or
stationary. Such vainglorious notions are contradicted by
historical facts no less than by all that we know of the
laws of human development. At the critical period when
our power first began to be felt in India, the Hindoo
nations were passing through a great political and social
revival, of pure home growth, which destroyed Mussul-
man ascendancy throughout the Continent. Our inter-
vention, and that of the French, checked and diverted, to
some extent, the course of Mahratta revolution, but its
Fopular and progressive tendencies are evident enough.

n the Mahratta camps, where Hindoos and Mahomedans
of every tribe combined on equal terms against the parti-
sans of the old order of things, and against foreign in-

* Ilistory, vol. iii, p. 352.
t Kaye's Indian Ufficers, vol. ii, p. 297 and 306.
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vaders from Persia and Afghanistan, the germs of national
feeling were laid, and religious toleration was established.
Under what circumstances of unity or diversity, of Fede-
ration or autocracy, the States of Hindostan would have
settled down,—into what prevailing form their institu-
tions would have been moulded, after the complete disin-
tegration of the Mogul Empire, if they had been undis-
turbed by Western influcnces, it would be useless to
atltempt to speculate. Anarchy ncver lasts long ; and war
cannot go on for ever. Sooner or later an equilibrium
must have been restored. As it was, sixty-two years of
almost incessant warfare, in one quarter or another, elapsed,
between 1757 and 1819, before British supremacy was
firmly sccured. We cannot, therefore claim to have effected
the pacification of India within a period much shorter than
would in all probability have sufticed to bring about a
similar result by natural and internal action.

Since the Treaties of 1819, negotiated by Lord Hastings
at the end of his great campaign, progress in India has
depended almost entirely on the administrative achieve-
ments and example of the British Government. Consti-
tuted as the Native States are at present, restricted by
their Treaties with a Power of overwhelming strength and
inscrutable purposes, they have become incapable of spon-
taneous expansion. Ambition and emulation are repressed
in all classes, from the Sovereign to the clerk and private
soldier; the force of public opinion, the sense of public
responsibility, are weakened till they almost disappear.
Relieved by us from all fear of rivals or rebels, the Prince,
feeling his greatest danger to lie in the misconstruction of
his conduct by our representative at his Court, finds his
ease and safety most fully secured by keeping things as
they are. Left entirely to themselves, the Native States
would work out their own destinies, slowly and painfully,
not, perhaps, without dynastic or personal changes. De-
barred from external action and reciprocal intercourse, not
so much enlightened as overshadowed by British domina-
tion, they cannot advance without our initiative, and will
not take a step without our instructions.

Lord Dalhousie refused, on principle, to give any in-
structions, and in the indiscriminate rapacity of his policy

X2
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threw down all distinction between friends and foes, re-
moved every incentive to regular and orderly government,
annulled all belief in British good faith, and gave to every
piece of admonition from Calcutta the appearance of a
menace or a trap. He was right both logically and prac-
tically, from his point of view, in refusing to undertake
the reform of Native States. If the vices of thesc States
arc incurable, it would be a waste of time to attempt to
cure them. If the sort of principle on which Lord Dal-
housie acted be true and just, it is not worth our while to
interferc, unless we can obtain full possession and com-
mand of their revenues ;* for partial inprovements would
but postpone that salutary  crash”,t which we—with, of
course, “a serupulous regard to the claims of justice and
equity”,~- should rather seck to precipitate.

Again, looking at the question practically, it would be
impossible to combine two policies so radically incompa-
tible. The reforming process could not be carried on in
the more important States, nor could its effects be expected
to prove permanent in any, without some efforts of’ per-
suasion on our part, without some faith in our good inten-
tions on theirs.  What persuasive inducements could be
brought forward by us, what act of faith could be extorted
from them, when the published Minutes of the Governor-
Gieneral disclosed his plan that “on all occasions”, where
there was no lineal male descendant in “States which re-
cognised formally the supremacy of the British Govern-
ment”, “the territory should be made to lapse”t Any
acknowledgment of British supremacy, or submission to
British authority, that could be, by any contrivance,
evaded or postponed, would obviously be political suicide
in a Prince, and treason in a Minister. Every tendency
in the Native States to profit by such lessons as we could
give was swept away by the policy of annexation. British
Guardianship in the Punjaub had, to say the least, a dis-
astrous result for our Ward. British management, as ex-
emplified in Mysore, appeared to native politicians to be
a process very similar to that by which the boa constrictor
lubricates his victims before swallowing them. There
could be no doubt or question as to Lord Dalhousie’s views

* Ante, p. 72, 73, t Ante, p. 76. 1 dnle, p. 185, 194,



AN IMPERIAL POLICY. 309

with regard to this Principality;* and until the 22nd
February, 1867, when Lord Cranborne made his memor-
able declaration in the ITouse of Commons that the Maha-
rajah’s adopted son would be recognised, nothing had
occurred to relieve any one’s mind on the subject. Sir Ers-
kine Perry very fairly describes the general opinion that
prevailed :—“ T have been twice in Mysore, and saw a good
deal of its administration under Sir Mark Cubbon, and I
firmly believe that, at the time Lord Canning’s Proclama-
tion appeared, not o statesman in India ever contemplated
the restoration of Mysore to a Native dynasty.”t

There is little in the Mysore question, even as it stands
at present, to reassure Native Princes and Ministers, or to
reconcile them to the process of reform. It tells them
that if—to allow free course to the new system,—the per-
sonal authority of a Sovereign is once suspended, there is
great danger of its never being restored.  They see that
although succession is promised to an infant heir, the
reigning Prince is virtually deposed, and the whole frame-
work of a Native State broken up, for the benefit of an
ever increasing number of English officials.

Besides Mysore, there is another instance of British
trusteeship, which has naturally formed a frequent subject
of painful and anxious consideration in many parts of
India. In particular, the Government of Hyderabad has
never ceased to watch with interest our treatment of their
former dependent, the Nawab of the Carnatic. The pre-
sent Nizam’s father in 1853, when pressed to cede terri-
tory for the pay of the Hyderabad Contingent, made these
singular observations to the Resident, General Low :—

“““I have heard that ono gentleman of your tribe considered that
I ought to be quite contented and happy-if I were put upon the
same footing as Mahomed Ghous Khan’ (meaning the present
Nawab of Arcot), ‘to have a pension paid to me like an old
servant, and have nothing to do but to eat, and sleep, and say
my prayers.” Here His Highness made use of an exclamation in
Arabic, which expresses both surprise and anger, and with a
manner and a tone of voice which seemed to me to indicate anger
in no ordinary degree.”’}

* The Mysore Reversion (2nd edition), p. 41,

t Mysore Papers, 1867, p. 10.
1 Papers, the Nizam, 1854, p. 120, The expression was * Astaghfir-ullah,”—

God forgive me !—signifying tment and ironical repentance,
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Since that interview took place, even the “pension paid
to him like an old servant” has been denied to Mahomed
Ghous Khan’s heir: the Palace, gardens, country resi-
dences, furniture, and other personal property of the familﬁ
have been sold by auction for the benefit of the Britis
Government,—a very complete justification of the Nizam’s
suspicions and resentment at the proposal made to him, a
renewed warning to the ITyderabad family, its advisers
and adherents, to beware of British counsels. The fanatic
and ultra-conservative parties at the Nizam’s Court,—
opponents of the sagacious Minister, Salar Jung,—are able
to point to the Punjaub, Mysore and the Carnatic as in-
stances of the natural results of trusting to British pro-
fessions, and submitting to British management. If the
prospect of a long minority, or the fact of” dissensions and
disorders, in Hyderabad or any other of the more impor-
tant Principalities, should appear to present a task beyond
the capacity of those at the head of affairs, it would be
much more difficult now to obtain the acquiescence and
concurrence of the most influential persons in the State to
the complete control and guidance of British officers, than
it would have been before our GGovernment had forfeited
its character for fair dealing and disinterested purposes.

In order to regain that character, and to recover the
moral influence we have lost, nothing more is necessary
than to settle on equitable and generous terms some of
those outstanding questions which have been for many
years a reproach to the British Crown, and a cause of dis-
trugg to all Indian Rulers. The restoration of Mysore to
the appearance and condition of a protected State, ad-
ministered by Natives under the guidance of a British
Resident, would be the most striking inauguration possible
of the new era. It would be far better In every respect
if this could be done, by a prompt and decided process,
during the present Rajah’s life-time; but if not, the
gradual transmutation should be so timed that the young
Prince, on attaining his majority, should find no cumbrous
establishments overloaded with English incumbents to im-

ede his installation, and perhaps to form a pretext for
iis indefinite exclusion from power.

The latest intelligence from Madras informs us that the
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Government of India has failed to discover the means of
expending the sum of fifteen lakhs of rupees (£150,000)
allotted to secure—in the words of the despateh from
home,—“the comfort and independence” of Prince Azeem
Jah, so as to advance that object ; and that there has been
no visible result except the appointment of an English
gentleman from the Civil Service as Special Commissioner
with a salary of £5,000 a-year. Three successive Secre-
taries of State, from both sides of the House, having agreed
to make concessions which amount to an acknowledgment
that gross injustice has been done te the Wallajah family,
by far the most dignified, the most graceful and the most
advantageous step for our Government to take, at the pre-
sent juncture, would be {o vestore Prince Azeem Jah to
the musnud of his ancestors with such modifications of the
existing Treaty as may bring it within the scope of altered
times and circumstances.

Two such acts of justice and magnanimity as these,
royally announced and royally executed, would give us
immense leverage for inducing the commencement of those
effective reforms in the larger States, especially in the
Nizam’s Dominions, by which alone our resources can be
strengthened and relieved, and the regeneration of India
be placed beyond the reach of danger.

Long experience in Parliament and in office, and some
difference of opinion in the Cabinet, may have deterred
Lord Halifax from reversing the recent decision of a pre-
decessor belonging to his own party;* but there are many
signs and symptoms in the conduct and records of both
the Carnatic and Mysore cases, as they were left By Sir
Charles Wood, to lead us to suppose that he was very
averse to the course recommended by the majority of his
Council, seconded by one or two more weighty voices, and
that Lord Halifax i Opposition would not be grievously
distressed if' the Rajah of Mysore and the Nawab of the
Carnatic were to be admitted at last to their proper places
through the doors which he would not close.

Whether the restoration of Mysore to the political scene

* Tt fell to the sad lot of Mr. Vernon Smith, now Lord Lyveden, to confirm,

a8 President of the Board of Control, all the worst acts of Lord Dalhousie’s
administration,



312 CHAPTER XI.

as a separate though subordinate Native Government be
completed during the present Rajah’s reign or at the end
of his son’s minority, great care should be taken to avoid
all appearance of violating the Partition and Subsidiary
Treatics of 1799. Let us beware how we loosen the
sanctions of our Indian treaties. We cannot justly or
safely attempt to tamper with a treaty of fifty years’
standing, on the plca that it was a bad bargfain. It wasa
bargain, and must be adhered to. Our only title to the
greater part of our possessions in India is a title by treaty.
We do not hold many Provinces directly by conquest.
Our only title to possession, our only moral claim to the
allegiance and subordination of the Princes of India, and,
as I believe, all our future power of permanent influence
for the education and civilisation of India, depend on the
preservation and development of our existing system of
treaties.

Lord Cranborne deserves the highest credit for states-
manlike judgment and foresight in having decided, so soon
after his advent to oflice, on overruling the majority of his
Council and the proceedings of the Government of India,
by the recognition of the Mysore Rajah’s adopted heir,
thus saving the State from extinction. Sir Stafford
Northcote, iowever, with the great advantage of starting
on his journey from that advanced point which had been
won by his immediate predecessor, has improved his own
position and lost no ground of any value, by ‘“not having
thought it necessary to repeat the argument of Lord Cran-
borng,”—uttered in debate only, and not embodied in a

. desplitch,—“that the Maharajah’s right under the Treaties
of 1799, was merely a personal one.”*

The notion that the Treaties of 1799 are binding upon
us only for the life of the Prince with whom they were
contracted, because they do not contain the words “heirs
and successors,” is one that can derive no support from the
recognised standards of International Law, and which will
never—it may be confidently predicted,—be supported by
e,n{ opinion from the law advisers of the Crown.

Chere is a broad distinction between a real and a per-
sonal treaty. A real treaty is made for public objects, and
* Mysore Papers (No. 271), 1867, p. 5.
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is to last as long as those public objects last. A personal
treaty is made for the private objects and interests of a
Prince or family, and is to last only as long as the person
or the family lasts. Thus a treaty made between two
Princes for a family alliance or compact—whether relating
to a marriage, or a campaign, or joint resistance to revolu-
tion, instances of each of these being found in modern his-
tory—is a personal treaty. It bas no direct reference to
the interests of the State or people, but only to those of
the King or dynasty, and expires with them. A treaty
also, such as we have made at different times in India,
granting a pension for life or lives, as reward or compen-
sation, to a Prince or family, is a personal treaty. Under
treatics of this sort we secured certain annual payments
for their lives to Dowlut Rao Scindia and some ladies of
his family.* The Treaty made by the Duke of Wellington
with Amrut Rao, and the terms of capitulation between
Sir John Malcolm and Bajee Ruo, the last Peishwa,t are
also instances of personal treaties,

The base of all the attacks on the Mysore and Carnatic
Treaties lies in this error, that a treaty is “personal” be-
cause it does not contain the words “heirs and successors.”
These words are not essential, though after the fatal ad-
vantage that has been taken of their absence, I cannot say
they are superfluous. Even an undoubted personal treaty
would not necessarily expire, for want of these words, at
the death of the individual named in it, if its evident
object was to secure certain advantages to his family. A
reigning Prince when named in a treaty is the representa-
tive of a State, which is permanent, and of soverei Fnty,
which is always hereditary. Grotius lays down the rule:—

““If a treaty is made with a King by name, without any men-
tion of heirs and successors, it is not therefore presently to be
reputed personal, for as it is well observed by Pedius and Ulpian,
the person is often inserted in the contract, not that the contract
is personal, but to show with whom the contract was made.

“If it be added to the treaty that it shall stand for ever, or that
it is made for the good of the Kingdom, it will from hence fully
appear that the treaty is real.”’{

* Collection of Treaties, Calcutta, vol, iv, p. 245.
t Lbid, vol. iii, p. 90 and 188. 1 Grotius, 1ib, ii., cap. 15 (16).
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No words can be stronger than those used in the Mysore
Treaties of 1799 : they are ““perpetual;” they are to last “as
long as the sun and moon endure.” What words can be more
conclusive ?  Of their public objects there can be no doubt.
The Partition Treaty is said to be made “to establish per-
manent security and general tranquillity.” The Subsidiary
Treaty declares itsclf to be made “to carry the stipulations
of the Partition Treaty into effect—for the protection and
defence of the tervitovies of the contracting parties or either
of them—for the happiness of the people and the mutual
welfure of both States.”

According to Wheaton, the greatest of modern autho-
rities,

“Treaties are divided into personal and real. Tho former relato
exclusively to the persons of the contracting parties, such as
family alliances, and treatics guarantecing the throne to a parti-
cular Sovereign and his family. They expire, of course, on the
death of the King, or the cetinction of his fumily.

“The obligation of treatics, by whatever denomination they
may be called, is founded not merely upon the contract itself, but
upon those mutual relations between the two States which may
have induced them to enter mto certain arrangements.  Whether
the treaty be termed real or personal, it will continue so long as
these velations ewist?’*

In this instance of Mysore the family exists, and the
“mutual relations between the States” exist ; and there-
fore, whether they be termed real or personal, the Treaties
of 1799 hold good.

Lord Wellesley did some very grasping and arbitrary
things, but he never had the sly and underhand intentions
that have been imputed, both with reference to the My-
sore and the Carnatic Treaties. TLord Wellesley’s aim in
constructing the Treaties of 1799 was undoubtedly that
of gaining the tightest hold possible over Mysore and its.
resources ; and he no doubt thought he could gain a
tighter hold by omitting the words “heirs and successors”,
thus leaving the succession open for decision by the pro-
tecting Power. With an infant on the throne, incapable
for many years of begetting or adopting a son,—his claim
to the throne being §isputed, as we know, by other mem-

* Elements of International Law, Boston, 1855, p. 39 and (1.
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bers of the family,—this seemed a more important point
at the time than it does now. But there is literally no-
thing to show that Lord Wellesle{y ever thought of appro-
priating Mysore at the Rajal’s death, or of ﬁeclm-ing the
Sovereignty of Mysorc not to be hereditary. Everything
recorded in his despatches tells against such a notion. He
speaks of restoring “« fumily’, “a dynasty’; of cstablish-
ing “« Kingdom” and “a State.”  The lead-pencil correc-
tions and erasures in the original draft of the Treaty, dis-
covered by Lord William Hay at the British Museum, and
described by him in a speech at the House of Commons
on the 24th of May, 1867, do not evince the intention attri-
buted to them by the noble lord; and, if they did, would
be quite unavailable, and could not strengthen Lord Dal-
housie’s doctrine. Not a trace, not a hint of a personal
Treaty is to be found in the Marquis Wellesley’s papers,
or in any official document before 1856, when Lord Dal-
housie, in the full career of annexation, sounded the first
note of menace against Mysore.*

Sir Stafford Northcote himself, in his despatch to the
Governor-General of the 16th April, 1867, distinctly ac-
knowledges the Treatics of 1799 to have been dynastic and
not personal. He says :—

““ Without entering upon any minute examination of the terms
of the Treaties of 1799, Her Majesty’s Government recognise in
the policy which dictated that settlement a desire to provide for
the maintenance of an Indian dynasty on the throne of Mysore,
upon terms which should at once afford a gunarantee for the good
government of the people, and for the security of British rights
and interests. Hor Majesty is animated by the same desire, and
shares the views to which T have referred.”’+

In announcing Her Majesty’s desire ““to maintain that
family upon the throne, in the person of his Highness’s
adopted son, upon terms corvesponding with those made in
1799, so far as the altered circumstances of the present
time will allow,” it is to be hoped the Secretary of State
does not propose to change the terms of the Treaty of 1799
for our advantage, on account of the relative strength of
the Nizam, the Rajah of Mysore and ourselves having

* Mysore Reversion (2nd edition), p. 41,
t Mysore Papers (No. 239), 1867, p. 9.
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altered in the interval. That would be to revert in another
form to the plan denounced by Sir Henry Lawrence, the
most illustrious victim of Lord Dalhousie’s policy :—

“We have no right, as the Friend of India constantly now
desires, to break our treaties. Some of them were not wise ; but
most were, at the time they were mnade, thought very advantageous
to us. [t would be outrageous, now that wo are stronger, to break
thom,”*

After giving instructions for the infant heir’s education,
the Sceretary of State proceeds thus : —

“If, at the demise of his Highness, the young Prince should
not have attained the age which you, upon consideration, may fix
for his majority, the territory shall continue to be governed in his
name upon the same principles, and under the same regulations,
as at the present time. Upon his reaching that age, or at an
earlier period, if you should think it desirable, it will be the duty
of the British Government, before confiding to him the adminis-
tration of the whole, or any portion, of the State, to enter into an
arrangement with him for the purpose of adequately providing
for tho maintenance of a system of Government well adapted to
the wants and interests of the people.”’t

For ensuring a reformed and regular system, and even
for the readjustment of the subsidy, as suggested in the
last paragraph of this despatch, in consideration of the
increased expense of supporting troops, our Government
might fairly demand some revision of the existing Treaty;
but great moderation ought to be observed in imposing
any additional burden on Mysore. The chief authorities
on International Law tell us that the provisions of a
treaty must always be interpreted in the sense most
favourable to the weaker party,—not, be it observed, from
motives of magnanimity or compassion, but on the sound
legal principle, that we can only consider the intentions
of the parties at the time of the transaction; and that if
the stronger party had intended to impose heavier condi-
tions than are literally stated on the face of the Treaty,
he, being able to dictate his own terms, would have taken
care to ia.ve them plainly expressed. The dynastic nature
of the Treaty, and therefore its validity after the death of

* Kaye's Indian Officers, vol. ii, p. 310.
1 Mysore Papers (No. 239), 1867, p. 9.
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the reigning Rajah, has already been proved, and is, as just
pointegl out, recognised by Her Majesty’s Government.
That recognition is implied once more in the paragraph
last quote%nfrom the despatch, in which the Secretary of
State directs that “on the demise of his Highness, the
territory shall continue to be governed in his”—the young
Prince’s—‘name”. He is to be at once proclaimed as the
Sovereign of Mysore and successor to his futher; the ex-
isting Treaty is to hold good, und no new arrangement is
to be made until the Prince attaing his majority. Whether
deferred to that peiiod, or whether, as would be far more
effective and becoming, the new arrangement should be
made at once with the reigning Prince, admitted to a con-
sultative sharc in the governent of his country, it must
never be forgotten that the Maharajah, old or young, can
only negotiate as the representative of the Mysore State,
and that no curtailment of territory or augmentation of
tribute ought to be imposed on that State without some
just claim or a fair equivalent. No increase of the sub-
sidy could be honestly demanded on any other ground
than that of the enhanced cost of maintaining the British
troops, or as a commutation for the reduced number of
Auxiliary Cavalry kept up by the Mysore Government.
No cession of territory could be reasonably required except
by way of convenient transfer and rectification of frontiers,
as was done by the Supplementary Treaty of 1803,* and
as might be done now by the exchange of Seringapatam
and some enclaves on the bordersin our possession for the
great military station of Bangalore and the Hill districts
where coffee can be grown, and where some eighteen or
twenty English planters are to be found.t Anything be-
yond this would be an arbitrary extortion, whether the
opportunity should arise from our own wrong in the hasty
and unwarrantably protracted supersession of the old
Rajah,} or from our sacred duty of Guardianship during
the minority of his son. In the latter case it would be
the same political crime that we committed in the Punjaub,
only without the palliation of war. It would be a prac-

* Collection of Treaties (Calcutta, 1864), vol. v, p. 165,
+ Vide Note at the end of this Chapter.
1 Mysore Reversion, 2ud cdition, p 21 to 25 and 191,
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tical application of the Duke of Argyll's theory that our
Treaties with the Native Princes of India “expressed
nothing but the will of a Superior imposing on his Vassal
so much as for the time it was thought expedient to
require. ™*

If we desire to obtain the highest degree of influence in
the Native States, with a view to their administrative re-
form, we must forget all such formulas as these ; we must
give up the use of inverted commas in writing of “Trea-
ties” with Nawabs and Rajahs; we must use the same
standard of weight and measure in dealing with Hindoo
communities and individuals that we use in dealing with
Europeans. All tendencies in the opposite direction savour
merely of contempt, and approach to the introduction of
the Dred Scott doctrine into the region of International
Law. “The negro race,” said Chief Justice Taney, “have
no rights which the white man is bound to respect.” And
we know where that memorable judgment led to.

Many of the replies sent to SirJohn Lawrence’s circular
of July 1st, 1867,—especially those of Mr. R. H. Davies,
Chief Commissioner of Oude, Sir Richard Temple, Resi-
dent at Hyderabad, Coloncl Clerk of Mysore, and Mur.
A. A. Roberts, Judicial Commissioner of the Punjaub,—
show that a keen sense of the main defects of our system
is by no means rare among the ablest and most distin-
guished of our public servants in India. The Governor-
General, having begun by declaring his “opinion that the
masses of the people are incontestably more prosperous
and (swa st bona nérint) far more happy in British territory
than they are under Native Rulers,” “considers that the
present would be a good opportunity for proving this belief
by a concentration of” what he is pleased to call “statistics
from different parts of India.”t He invokes his minor pro-
phets to bless the work of his and their hands; and al-
though most of them, as might have heen expected, have
responded to his wishes, and none of them )ﬁave cursed
him altogether, the best of them have fully justified the
doubts expressed by Lord Cranborne which led to this
inquiry.

* India under Dalhousie and Canning, p 11.
t Papers, British and Native Systems, 1868, p. 4.
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In reading the strictures on Native Government which
abound in the replies to Sir John Lawrence’s circular, it
must be remembered that, even when they are just and
reasonable, they relate only to unreformed States. As Sir
Donald Macleod, the Lieutenant-Governor of the Punjaub,
observes :—

““If the comparison were mado with really well governed Native
States, and such I believe are to be found, the comparison might
not, in the estimation of the people, be altogether in favour of the
British Governmment, save in so far as the continuance of just rule
in a Native State wlere there arc no constitutional guaranties
must over be dependent on the character of the Chief, and there-
fore wanting the stabihity of British rulo.”*

Let it be the object of our Imperial policy to obtain
those *“constitutional guarauties,” to establish them in
every Native State on a sure foundation, and to see that
they are not disturbed.

Mr. C. A. Elliott, of Futtehgurh, also appears to have
got the true bearings of the discussion.

““That the British Administration has sccured to its subjects a
vast increase in security, prosperity and material comfort, com-
pared with those it succeeded to, is gross, open and palpable.
The question admits of no discussion. But the comparison Sir
John Lawrence wishes to make is not with the Native States,
which preceded us, but with those which are our contemporaries
and which exist in districts alongside of our districts. Can we
provo that our people aro more prosperous and happier than thoso
who live in the neighbouring Native States ?

“ My impression is, that the better a Native State is, the more
it approaches our system. In Bhopal, which is probably the best
Nativo government in India, I really know of no difference that
exists in theory ; practically the government is laxer, less rigid,
and more in sympathy with the governed.”+

The most remarkable paper that the occasion has brought
forth is, perhaps, the Memorandum voluntarily offered by
Sir Robert Montgomery, late Licutenant-Governor of the
Punjaub, dated “Athengum, March 1868,” and published
in the ZTimes of the 30th March,—when the greater part of
this book was in type,—from which I cannot refrain from
making a few extracts confirmatory of much that the party
of “fifth-rate writers,” “small in numbers and smaller in

* Papers, British and Native Systems, 1868, p. 114, t Ibid., p. 105,
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ability,” have been feebly attempting to teach during the
last fifteen years.

“If the balance bo fairly struck, it will undoubtedly be found
in favour of our rule as regards the material prospority of the
country and the progress of civilisation. But the point still re-
mains, do the Natives feel themselves happier under our rule than
under that of a Native Government? Would those now living
under a Native Government prefor it to being anncxed to tho
British territory ?

1 unhesitatingly affirm that they would not elect to chango
their condition, and to forfeit their nationality.

It is well, I think, that this reflection of popular sentiments
should be held up against the temptation of annexation for the
supposed good of the pcople ; although it is but fair and due to
ourselves that we should justify the continuance of our dominion
by the many material advantages it has conveyed.

““The common error lies in our insular proneness to contract
and generalise—to embody in one class all the many separate
nationalities and distinct races which havo been successively added
to the rule of England. In an Kmpire made up of such differing
languages and distinct customs,it must be popular, as it is politic,
to encourage to a great extent a local admimstration and a local
adaptation of laws.

““The people should be more largely employed in all social and
municipal affairs, which they are most competent to manage. Till
quite recently this was neglected, and even now it is very partially
done. 'The appointment of Honorary Magistrates, Municipal Com-
mittees, etc., only three or four years ago, met with opposition
from many officers.”

That “local administration” and “local adaptation of
laws,” which Sir Robert Montgomery sees is so urgently
required, can be more effectually promoted by the main-
tenance, restoration, and enlargement of Native Princi-
palities, than by any system of Provincial Councils or
Municipal Committees in the Provinces under direct
British rule.

Sir Robert Montgomery, in the sentences just quoted
from his Memorandum, observes that “the appointment of
Honorary Magistrates met with opposition from many
officers.” Some remarks by Sir Bartle Frere on Sir Stafford
Northeote’s desYatch of the 8th February, 1868, recently
printed as a Parliamentary Return, recommending the em-
ployment of Natives in the higher grades of the public
service, corroborate what I have said on this subject.
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““As regards the past, I think any Native of India must feel
that, even under the present law, much more might be done to
employ competent Natives in high office, if those who have tho
distribution and control of patronage were really in earnest in
their professions of anxiety to seec Native agency more cxtensively
used.

““T cannot think that the spirit in which the subject is handled
in many of the papers forwarded to us by the Government of
India, indicates any scnse of the only means whereby the great
gulf between Furopean and Native enployés of Government can
ever be bridged over.”

Colonel Hopkinson, Agent to the Governor-Gfeneral on
the North-cast Frontier, observes in his reply to the cir-
cular, that “if endeavours are cver made to develope the
moral nature of the Natives after the tashion of the Anglo-
Saxon race, it will be found that for the most part they
oviginate either in England or with Englishmen out of the
official pale in India.”*

The prevailing tendencies of home legislation, of the
Secretary of State’s controlling influence, and of English
public opinion, so far as they have become operative or
demonstrative since the Mutinies were suppressed, have
been decidedly liberal and conciliatory towards the people
of India. Natives have been admitted, under the Acts of
1862, to the Legislative Councils of the three Presidencies
and to the Bench of the High Courts of Bengal and Bom-
bay. IHad these very limited measures been proposed for
the tonsideration, had they depended on the decision of
the Provincial Governments, they would never have been
carried out.

There are, and always have been, marked and brilliant
exceptions to the professional narrowness of view generally
prevailing in the Indian Civil Service, which has rendered

' 1t, as a body, averse both to the maintenance of Native
States, and to the advancement of our own Native sub-
jects in the higher grades of public employment. Liberal
tendencies are evidently spreading among Indian officials,
and will become more common and more confirmed, as
English public opinion, both in and out of Parliament,
becomes more definite and move clearly pronounced.

Mr. C. A. Elliott, of Futtehgurh, seems to perceive the

* Papers, British and Native Systems, 1868, p, 16.
v
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vicious circle in which we are entangled, without seeing
the way out of it,—seems to observe the goal towards
which we should aim, without seeing the road towards it.
In his answer to Sir John Lawrence’s circular, from which
we have already quoted a sentence, he writes as follows :

““ Wo assume, and history and the consent of the civilised world
Jjustify us in assmning, that we aro placed by Providence in India
for the good and the improvement of the people, to educate and
stimulate them up to such a point that they may at last be able
to govern themselves,””*

But he adds: “As long ag this work remains to do, we
cannot be really popular.” Over one third of India in area,
and one fourth in population, the work is ready. The
people in the allied and protected States can be allowed
to govern themselves, without our cutting them adrift, or
neglecting our share in the work. And we can make the
Imperial Power « popular” by judiciously increasing the
area and population of those Principalities that prove
themselves worthy of such an augmentation.

The nearest approach to self-government that the people
of India can make in their present phase of civilisation,
must be made by means of reformed Native States, own-
ing allegiance and subordination to the Imperial Power.
By the mediun of such Stutes we can excert a far stronger
influence over the native mind, and gain a far more sccure
hold over the resources of India, than we can by means of
our direct possessions.

India is a Continent, not a country; and there is no
part of the world where provineial self-government is more
mnperatively required, where uniformity and centralisation
may become a greater curse.

If the Imperial Power holds the sea; if she alone con-
ducts the external relations of the Empire, and the poli-
tical intercourse between the States; if her troops visit
and occupy, at pleasure, any and every place and post
throughout the land; if no customs or transit-duties can
be levied without her concurrence; if by her treaty-right
of authoritative counsel, and by her moral influence, she
can modify and control the institutions of every State,

* DPapers, British and Native Systems, 1868, p. 105.
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there will be full scope for British statesmanship, an inex-
haustible field for British energy and enterprise. In this
way only can we rule India without demoralising and de-
grading her people. If the Paramount Power is not con-
tent to be the Head, but will also insist upon playing the
part of hands and feet, and lungs and digestive organs,—
if every centre of municipal and social life is to be sacked
or starved to nourish an official metropolis at Calcutta
and another in London,-—there may, for a time, be a de-
ceptive appearance of plethora, but the constitution of the
Empire will not be permanently strengthened. There
will be constant danger of convulsive fits, if not of a fatal
apoplexy.

The clever writer in the Spectator, to whom we have
several times referred, so fully believes in the necessity of
training India for self-government, that, with imaginative
devotion to his political idol, be makes it the end and aim
of Lord Dalhousic’s policy.* 1In the free atmosphere of
Great Britain, with the lessons of the last ten years, both
he and—in a less degree—his colleague, Mr. Marshman,
have lost some of the prejudices and antipathies of Cal-
cutta, but there is a solution of continuity between their
old and their new opinions which no amount of vague libe-
rality can now render consistent.

Mr. Marshman admits it “has been the opprobrium of
our administration ever since the days of Lord Cornwallis,”
that “with the progress of our Empire a blight comes
over the prospects of the higher and more influential classes
of native society,” that  there is no room for their aspir-
ations in our system of Government : they sink down to
one dead level of depression in their own land.” He thinks
that ““ the remedy for this error is to be found, not in per-
petuating the power soconstantly abused,of Native Princes,
simply on the ground of finding employment for native
intelligence and ambition, but to incorporate these qualities
in our own administration, with all necessary safequards
against the defects of the Oriental character.”t

Mr. Marshman cannot resist the Pharisaic sneer with
which he qualifies his recommendation, and which, recur-

* Ante, p. 202, 208. t History, vol. iii, p. 402.
Y2
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ring frequently in his volumes, must render them peculi-
arly acceptable to the rising generation of educated Hin-
doos upon whom they are forced by the Educational
Department. He traces the origin of this « opprobrium of
our adwministration” to the days of Lord Cornwallis.  The
Editor of the Spectator seems to admit that it was inten-
sified by the *“ great” and “ statesmanlike” policy of Lord
Dalhousie, which “had one radical and incurable defect;-—
it barred up native carcers.”*

Since the greater part of these pages have been in type
I have learned that this fault in our system had struck
even Lord Dalhousie himself, as appears in the following
extract from one of his state-papers :—

Tt is a causo of constant regret that there do not exist in the
public service some offices of large emolument and high position,
to which Native gentlemen of ability and character might rise, so
that the office and the pay of Principal Suddur Ameen should no
longer be the boundary of a Native gentleman’s ambition in tho
British Service.”+

It is not, perhaps, very strange that the Governor-
General, in the full swing of that career which seemed to
be what the Duke of Argyll and Sir Charles Jackson want
to persuade us it really was,—“a long and splendid admi-
nistration”, “one brilliant and uninterrupted success”,§—
should not have perceived that he was aggravating, even
to hopelessness, the very grievance he professed to vegret.
The Editor of the Spectator does perceive it, but trics
very hard to escape from contrition and full recantation by
suggesting an impossible compromise. He, as we have
seen, clings to the policy of annexation as a theory, while
admitting it to have failed in practice.| He speaks of the
present state of affairs as “a mixed system”; thinks “the
new policy may fail, as the old one failed”,and it may then
“ be necessary to unsettle it.” So that although he thinks
we should “adhere” to “the mixed system”, “until we
resolve, and announce that we resolve, that it shall end”,

* Ante, p. 202.

t I quote from a Memorial to Sir Stafford Northcote, Seerctary of State for
India, recently sent by the 3%(3{nbay Native Association. I do not know in what

Minute or d h Lord D d these views,

1 India under Dalhousie and Cannirny, p. 67.
§ A Vindication, p. 179. I| Ante, p. 202,
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he looks forward to a series of experiments, and even pro-
poses one himself, as “a third policy”, that of *picked
Native Rulers”, or Chief Commissioners, « for life.”*

We shall never arrive at an Imperial policy, until we
entirely abandon these crude notions of attempting politi-
cal experiments, even upon such a corpus vile as India.
But have we a corpus vile there, upon which we may play
tricks and try experiments with impunity ¢ The people
of India may be an inferior race, backward in civilisation,
degraded by superstition, and incapable of attaining to
the intellectnal grandeur and social purity of European
nations, thongh these assertions ave open to many qualifi-
cations.  Before absolutely relegating them to a much
lower grade in the scale of humanity, we might reflect a
little upon the superstition and corruption that are so rife
in Italy, Spain, Greece, and Russia, and ask why the moral
and political progress of Hindoo communities is to be con-
sidered more hopeless than that of Furopean nations.
Whatever we may consider @ priori ought to be the case,
neither the eriminal statistics nor the social phenomena of
India, as compared with owr own, entitle us to place our-
selves at an immeasurable height above the Indian races.
And surely their mere numbers entitle them to some little
respect. The Asiatic population under British supremacy,
including the Native States of India, nemly trebles that
of the whole Russian Empire. The Queen has more Ma-
homedan subjects than the Sultan of Turkey. Surely
it would not be unjust, unreasonable, or imprudent to pay
some little attention, to give some kindly consideration,
to the wishes and opinions, and even to the prejudices
and ambitions, of nearly two hundred millions of human
beings.  What can be ultimately expected from a policy
of contempt, except that judgment which is pronounced
against him who shall call his brother ‘ Thou fool’ ?

Now two things are sufficiently obvious to those who
have learned to see a little below the surface of things in
India,—firstly, that the wishes, opinions, prejudices and
ambitions of the reflective and sensitive classes do not
tuwrn in the direction of “ picked Native Rulers” or “ Chief
Commissioners”;—secondly, that no such class of function~

* Ante, p. 204,
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aries, European or Native, could obtain one tithe of the
influence over the people of all classes, for preserving order
or for aiding progress, that can be exercised by Native
Sovereigns well disposed towards the Paramount Power.
Native Rulers for life, “picked” by the British Govern-
ment,—which, by the bye, possesses no special faculty for
picking them,—would have to be supported by British
troops just as much as English Governors and Chief Com-
missioners. A Native Prince can stand by himself. At
critical moments the mass of the people will obey no one
else. They would think it wrong, dangerous, unlucky, to
disobey or oppose a Rajah; they would feel themselves
legally, morally and socially safe in obeying him. There
is no such feeling with regard to a British official, whose
influence rests entirely on visible or accredited physical
force.* The people will plunge into the dark with their
own Prince; they will only go as far as they can see with
a Collector. In no part of the world is the “ divinity that
doth hedge a King” more respected than in India.

Sir Richard Temple, in his letter to the Governor-
General of the 10th of August, 1867, recognises this fact
with reference to a Mussulman Sovereign who has been
the chief butt of the annexationists for many ycars, whose
person and Government have been the subject of their
unbounded scorn and slander :-—

“ With some classes of tho peoplo, the fecling of personal loy-
alty to the Sovereign is intense. I could recall many instances
of this. Before me now, at Hyderabad in the Deccan, there is ono
of tho strongest cases in point. T'he veneration felt for the per-
son and oftico of the Nizam scems boundless. Though no Native
Sovercigns in India can be more secluded, uninformed, and even
bigoted, than the successivo Nizams have been, yet even theso
Princes must have about them some kingly qualities, some tinc-
ture of statocraft, in order to inspire awe and maintain personal
prestige as they have done.”+

When we consider that the British Government can
wield this immense moral power at its will, it does seem

* 'This assertion is not in the least modificd by the vast personal influence
exercised by such men as Outram, Nicholson, Abbott, Sir Ilerbert Edwardes
and others, for the most part over wild tribes, and for military purposes. ~Be-
sides, the Services are not made up of such men as these. And of course I do

not mean that a Prince is always obeyed.
t Papers, British and Indian Systems, 1868, p. 74.
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extraordinary that any one who pretends 1o higher motives
than the interests of the Service, who has some knowledge
of history, some insight into human chavacter, and some
idea of political science, can propose either to destroy it,
or to twin it against us, can still hanker after the subver-
sion of thesc hereditary jurisdictions, and think of replac-
ing them either by British Commissioners or by “ picked
Native Rulers for life”. With our fearful responsibilities,
with our enormous stake in the peace and prosperity of
India, we cannot afford such a waste of power. We want
the Native Princes much more than they want us. We
want them for the discipline and the education of two
hundred millions of Asiatics. We can instruct and manage
the two hundred Princes, their families and followers ; we
cannot sway the millions without the good will of their
natural leaders.

In the actual phase of Indian civilisation Monarchy is
the only form of government that is suitable or acceptable
to the people, that possesses the two essential qualities of
stability and impulsive force. No ““picked Native Ruler”
or British Commissioner, however highly educated,—
though strained and sifted by a dozen successive competi-
tions,—could ever maintain order or propagate reform as
could be done by a Native Prince, however ignorant, whom
we have rendered amenable to our purpose. And there
is no necessity that Native Princes should be ignorant. Tf
most of them are so, it is only another proof of our neg-
lect.

In this, as in other affairs, we had better be content
with the tools we find ready made to our hands, and make
use of the old reyal families, without picking or choosing
when it can be avoided. We can educate Sovercigns, but
we cannot, improvise them. Nations can do it, by a pro-
cess of natural selection, in the stormiest scenes of their
struggle for existence; but neither a Sivajee nor a Hyder
Ali would serve our turn. Such Princes have not con-
servative propensities, and would not be easily led into
constitutional government.

The capabilities of India can never be fully developed
by a process of perpetual dry-nursing. Our pupils, with-
out being released from tyition, or allowed to run riot out
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of bounds, must be allowed to grow, to use their limbs
and faculties, and to exercise the arts and accomplishments
that we may be proud of having taught them. And as
they prove themselves able and willing to carry on the
good werk which we have planned and initiated, we may,
with great relief and advantage to our own over-strained
establishments, enlarge their bounds, and place more con-
fidence in them. For instance, if the administration of
Mysore be judiciously organised during the young Prince’s
minority, instead of abusing our trust by carving out a
small Principality for him, it would be far more advan-
tageous, both for the Imperial Power and for the people
of Southern Indin, if we were to extend the frontiers of
the State, perhaps even to the full dimensions of Tippoo
Sultan’s Kingdom, except the sea-board Provinces. Sir
John Maleolm, one of the most far-seeing of our few Indian
statesmen, long ago anticipated these views. He said of
Mysore :

“It may, in the course of cvents, be a cousideration of policy
to increase, instead of diminishing, the wealth and limits of a
State which, while it affords us resources fully equal to the same
extent of our own dominions, is exempt from somo of the objec-
tions to which those are subject.”*

By the marked and acknowledged administrative im-
provements introduced during the reign of the present
Nizam throughout his Dominions, that Prince has tairly
carned the boon upon which he is known to have set his
heart, the restoration of the two Provinces of Berar, held
in trust for him by our Government, to his own occupa-
tion and management. Those districts were taken from
his father, by means of menace and compalsion, as & mate-
rial guaranty for the regular payment of a Contingent
Force,—a burden which we had, most unfairly and insi-
diously, “rendered permanent, contrary to the principle
of the Treaty, and altered so as to be useful for our own
purposes.” ¢ Its commands and staff-appointments”, con-
tinnes Major Moore, one of the Court, of Directors,  have
atforded rewards for meritorious officers who had distin-
guished themselves in our own armies; and it has been
altogether a fertile source of patronage.” On the other

* Malcolm's Political Higory, 1811, p. 375.



"AN IMPERIAL POLICY. 329

hand, while we imposed this “incubus on the Nizam’s
finances”, we turned these troops to our own pecuniary
benefit in another way. Relying upon the Contingent for
preserving peace and good order in the Nizam’s domi-
nions, we “disregarded our own engagements”, and “ for
thirty years the number of our troops”, the Subsidiary
Force, ““ kept up within the Hyderabad country was more
than one fourth less than the number for which we had
contracted” under the Treaty of 1800, in retwrn for valu-
able cessions of territory.*

The Nizam’s Ministers were reduced to the greatest
extremities in order “to meet our inevitable demand for
the monthly pay of the Coutingent”, controlled by our
Resident, and commanded by our ofticers, whose emolu-
ments, costing our Government nothing, were swelled to
a scale of preposterons extravagance.t

“Overwhehned with financial difficulties, the Nizam was
at length unable to pay the Contingent, and we kindly
lent Lim -t nioney from ottr own treasury, first at 12 per
cent., and latterly at 6 per cent. interest; and thus our
staunch Ally incurred a debt to us of about 50 lakhs of
rupees” (£500,000), “the consequences ot which were the
present Revised Treaty.”$

The opinions thus expressed by Major Moore were sup-
ported in Protests by Sir Henry Willock and Colonel
Sykes, who quoted the testimony “ of successive Residents
at Hyderabad, officers of high character and standing, viz.,
Sir Charles Metealfe, Colonel Stewart, General Fraser and
Colonel Low”, who “severally declared that we were not
justified by treaty in making such large calls on the
Nizam’s treasury.”§ Colonel Sykes doubted whether “a,
legal, equitable or moral responsibility could be fixed upon
the Nizam for the repayment of the total advances made
by the British Government.”|] Colonel Davidson, Resi-
dent at Hyderabad in 1860, and who had been Assistant
Resident in 1853, when the Revised Treaty was extorted
from the Nizam, as he says, *“ by objurgations and threats”,
declares, that “had the pecuniary demands of the two
Governments been impartially dealt with, we had no just

* Papers, Nizam’s Debt, 1859, p. 4, 5. t Ibud., p. 16, 17,
1 Ibid., p 5. § Ibid., p. 9. | Ibide, p. 1.
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claim against the Nizam”,—“in 1853 we had little or no
real pecuniary claim against the Nizam.”*

Such being the origin of the sequestration, and the
account being but little modified in our favour by the ter-
ritorial restoration and exchanges, and the relinquishment
of a large balance of alleged debt under the Treaty of
1860, which still left the Nizam’s large counter-claims of
long-standing untouched,t every dictate of equity and
policy should prompt our Government to replace these
Provinces, with their reformed institutions and improved
revenue, in the direct possession of their Sovereign.

In a despatch dated the 5th of September, 1860, our
Government reasserted the Sovereignty of the Nizam in
the Provinces, and desired to “explain to his Highness
distinetly that the object of the Government of India in
retaining in its hands a part even of the Assigned Dis-
tricts, is simply that it may hold a material guaranty for
the performance of the conditions of Art. VI of the Treaty
of 1853, and that the Government of India desires to hold
this territory, as it has hitherto held the whole of the
Assigned Districts, not in Sovereignty, but in trust for his
Higlness, so long as the Contingent is kept up, and no
longer.” Tt fully acknowledged “the fact that the aliena-
tion of this portion of the dominions of his Highness is
temporary only, and for a special purpose conducive chiefly
to the sceurity of the Hyderabad State, and to the pre-
servation of tranquillity throughout its limits.”f

Assuming the justice and advisability of keeping up the
Contingent, on its reduced scale, it may have been neces-
sary, from the disordered state of the Nizam’s finances, and
the loose mode of administration in 1853, to take such a
material guaranty for the regular payment of our demands.
Since that time, however, and especially since 1860, partly
from the relief afforded by the revenue of the districts
restored under the Treaty of that year, partly from the
careful economy and judicious measures of the Minister
Salar Jung, the finances have arrived at a much more
satisfactory condition. Unquestionable security could now
be given for the punctual payment of the Contingent ;

* Papers, the Deccan, 1867, p. 27. t Ibid., p. 4, 5 and 27.
1 Ibud., p. 20.
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and it might be found expedient still further to reduce
the expenses of that Force, to withdraw gradually some of
the European officers, and to transfer the corps, with their
own consent, to the direct service of the Nizam, as soon
as efficient Native Commandants could be trained and
appointed. This process might be carried on step by step
with the conversion of the irregular and ineffective troops
now forming the Nizam’s army, and who as fast as they
were disbanded, would furnish a certain proportion of good
recruits for the disciplined Regiments. This plan, roughly
sketched here, and intended to occupy several years in
exeention, might be made a measure of econoiny at once
for the Nizan’s Government and for ours. Half the neces-
sity both for the Subsidiary Force and the Contingent
would disappear with the reconstruction of the Nizam’s
Army, and tLe breaking up of those numerous, disorderly
levies which now infest the country. The Nawab Salar
Jung has recently taken a most effectual step towards
preserving peace and tranquillity, by forbidding the open
display of arms, especially in the city of Hyderabad.

[f we wish to strengthen the hands of the brave and
wise Minister who has done so much to reform the Hydera-
bad State during the last fifteen years, we ought to re-
turn to his charge the two Provinces of Berar. The
honour and credit of restoring the integrity of the Nizam’s
Dominions would redouble his influence with all classes,
from the Sovercign downwards, and arm him with irre-
sistible authority to pursue and extend the work of or-
ganisation. Besides, the introduction of all the-essentials
of good government into every Province, and into every
department, of the administration, might be made the con-
dition of relinquishing the Berars. The results of the
partial restitution under the Treaty of 1860, have been
most encouraging, both by the continued good manage-
ment of the retransferred Provinces, and in the stimulus
and examples thereby given to the general progress of the
country. Complete restitution might be made the means
and occasion of regenerating the Nizam’s Government.
We can gain nothing, while the cause of civilisation loses,
so long as this great act of redress and instruction is de-
nied or delayed. .



CHAPTER XI.

The Edinburgh Reviewer of October 1866, whose Essay
has already fallen under our notice,* has learned nothing
from the Rebellion of 1857, except to take precautions
against another military mutiny. He has nothing to sug-
gest except that we should reduce our Native troops to
the lowest possible degree; arm owr Ewropean Infantry
with breech-loaders, and provide our Artillery with guns
and projectiles “ of the latest and most approved inven-
tion,” to be employed, if necessary, ¢ against Asiatics who
could not possibly possess themselves of similar weapons.”
“TIt would be rash,” he adds, “to place these improved
arms in the hands of Natives, by whom they might be
turmned against owselves.” Having then, he says, “re-
duced our own force, we might well demand that the Na-
tive Princes should disband a corresponding number of
their own troops.”  Then he trusts, “in a generation or
two, unless we wilfully keep it alive, the military spirit of
the people will, for the most part, have died out.”t

A noble policy and hopeful prospects! 1le sees that
“ the reduction by one-third of the amount of European
force now maintained in India would be a very sensible
relief to England,” but he cannot, of course, admit that
the vast area and multiplied posts to be occupied in con-
sequence of Lord Dalhousic’s annexations, have anything
to do with the burdensome demand for Kuropean soldiers.
He does not see that the Rebellion of 1857 rvevealed, but
did not create, the want of British troops. While he feels
the inconvenience of being compelled to supply so much
physical force from England, he can think of no remedy
but that of diminishing the armed force recrnited in India,
whether in our own service or in that of our Allies. In
short, the policy of anncxation, which the Reviewer is
bound to uphold, having begun in bluster and contempt,
now sinks down into mistrust and the muzzle.

Clearly the Edinburgh Reviewer, and those who think
with him, would declaim vehemently against my sugges-
tion for converting the Nizam’s Army into a small but ef-
ficient force. My opinion, on the contrary, is that if we
make the Native Princes trust us, we can always trust
them. Their troops, properly equipped and disciplined,

* Aute, p. 227 to 235, t Eduinburgh Review, October, 1866, p. 338, 339.
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occasionally brigaded in camps of exercise with the move-
able columns which should take the place of our sub-
sidiary divisions and garrisons, ought to be a source of
military strength, and, still more, a visible display of moral
strength in our favour, to the great relief of our finances
and our muster-roll.

With these convictions on my mind, I cannot but de-
precate as most ill-advised that effort of superior power,
Ly which Sir John Lawrence, about a year ago, compelled
the Maharajah Scindia to break up the miniature army,
complete in every branch, which he had carefully organised
and trained, and which, in unsuspecting complacency, he
had invited the British Resident to rveview at Gwalior.
That act, much lauded at Calentta for its vigilance and
vigour, appears to me to have been extremely petty, un-
dignified and impolitic.  What harm could that little
force have done to us ¢ One of our Divisions could have
walked over it any day. A Regiment of Dragoons and a
Troop of 1lorse Artillery, well handled, could probably
have dispersed it after a morning’s march. On the
other hand, in case of real necessity, the cooperation of
that small body with the Maharajah at their head, would
batfle thousands of insurgents and intriguers, would de-
termine the good conduct of many feudatories and millions
of subjects.

By such an open and stinging rebuff to our faithful
Ally, he is lowered in the eyes of his own adherents and
people. His influence—though of inestimable value to
us—was still insuflicient in the crisis of 1858 to restrain
the bulk of his troops and followers from joining in the
Rebellion.  The result of the struggle, proving his wis-
dom and foresight, must have added immensely to the
Prince’s authority, until our Government was pleased to
shake it once more by displaying their want of confi-
dence, and by wounding him in a matter known to be
his special pride.

The Imperial Power of India will not grow stronger
or more secure by the weakness and humiliation of the
feudatory Princes. Nor will the general belief in our
strength and security be fortified in the least by the mani-
festation of mistrust.
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Apart from all other objections, that mistrust was al-
together misdirected. We need have no fear of the
visible armies of all the Native Sovereigns of India. In
the words of Lord Canning’s last letter to General Sir
Mark Cubbon :—“We have nothing to fear from them
individually, if we treat them rightly ; while they have
individually an influence which is invaluable to us as Su-
preme Rulers in India, if we will but turn it to account.”*
Not one of them has the slightest wish to measure his
strength against ours. They are neither willing ror able
to combine against us. So long as we can see their little
armies, we know where to have them, in case of any un-
avoidable collision or unexpected contumacy. And not
being able to concur in the Edinburgh Reviewer’s expec-
tation that ¢ the military spirit” in India ““will have died
out in a generation or two,” I prefer to see the warlike
elements of the population organised and disciplined under
responsible leaders, to having them compressed or driven
out of sight into predatory courses or hidden conspiracy.

The Edinburgh Reviewer of 1866 does not fear «in-
surrections of the people.” “How,” he inquires, “ are the
supposed insurgents to obtain weapons wherewith to face
Armstrong guns and breech-loading rifles of the newest
construction 2"t

There are plenty of arms in India, and they will always
be attainable. Three thousand miles of coast can never
be blockaded. The Reviewer, and the party he represents,
do not, we may suppose, seriously think that by any pre-
cautions of diplomacy, police or legislation, they can destroy
or neutralise the physical force of two hundred millions of
men,—that their hostility, without breech-loaders, or even
their disaffection, without any arms at all, would not be
formidable ? .

If cver, from errors or adverse circumstances that it
would be useless to anticipate, there should be anything
like a hostile unanimity against us in India, the country
might be made too hot to hold us almost without a shot
being fired. The insurgents, if there were any, would not
be required “to face Armstrong guns”. At no time shall

* Note B at the end of this volume.
t Edinburgh Review, October, 1866, p. 338.
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we have any military dangers, properly so called, to fear
from within. A British army of 25,000 men could march
from one end of India to the other, overcoming all possible
opposition, and providing for its own subsistence. But
we do not want to conquer, we want to govern India.
Our supremacy would be utterly untenable for a day with-
out Native cooperation on an enormous scale; and if that
were withdrawn, or no longer to be trusted, all semblance
of a Government would soon be at an end. We should
become, in every sense of the word, a foreign body in the
system, and should be starved in the midst of plenty.
Great Britain is now, uufortunately, dependent upon the
revenues and railway carnings of India for large annual
remittances,—of which the amount has largely increased
within the lust ten years. To sceure the regular payment
of these vast sums, the Government of India must main-
tain peace, good order and general content.

Our highest, efforts should be directed to the reform of
Native States as the only solid foundation of an Imperial
system, the only effectual means of permanent civilisation.
Ounly so far as our institutions are accepted and esta-
blished in the allied Principalities, can they be considered
secure even in our own Provinces. To carry out the worlg
of reform, particularly in the larger and more important
States, with full effect, and with the good will and cheer-
ful aid of those most deeply concerned, we shall require
to make use of the much neglected and almost forgotten
agency of Native diplomatists.

We have done a great work for India: we have made
rough places smooth; we have improved the soil; we
have cut down and torn up by the roots many noxious
weeds; we have planted many trees of stately growth and
useful quality ; but we shall lose the,fruit of our labour if
we refuse to permit the people to carry on the cultivation
themselves, when we have sli)mown them how to do it.
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(4)

COFFEE-PLANTERS IN MYSORE AND ENGLISIT
GENTLEMEN 1IN INDIA.

(Payr 317.)

IN Remarks on the Mysore Blue Book, pp. 59 to 65, (embodied as
Chapter X m the 2nd Edition of the Mysore Reversion, pp. 238
to 2:44,) [ fully refuted the plausible argument advanced both
the despatches from Caleutta and in a Minute by Mr, R. D. Man-
gles, agamst the restoration of a Native Government m Mysore,
on acconnt of the number of Tnghsh coffec-planters 1 that Pro-
vince. | showed that there could not be more than from 25 to
30 persons of that deseription among a population of about four
millions, and that mstead of Mysore being, as Mr. Mangles as-
serted, “ full of Kuropean settlers,” these two dozen or so of
Panters—not, propeily speaking ““seftlers” at all,—were located
only in two small lully districts on the outskirts, beyond which
coffee cultivation could never be extendod.

Not satisfied with this exposure, Mr. Mangles returns to the
chargeina Dissent dated Apml 2 kth, 1867, objecting to S Staf-
ford Northcote’s despatch recognising the Rajah’s heir,  He re-
peats his former erroncous statement, thongh m terms slightly more
vague and guarded. e says, that “ Enghshmen (n considerable
mmbers have been permitted, if not encouraged, to settle in that
ternitory as coffee-planters.”*  From very recent and anthentie
information I am now cnabled to state that the number of English
coffee-planters m Mysore does not exceed sietcen m number, or in-
cluding their assistants some of whom are not Europeans but of
mixed extraction, about thirty,~—not, one might suppose, a very
formadable or important body.

But this handful of Tnghshmen do not, as T pointed out in my
origmal remarks on this topic, constitute a large proportion of
the coffec-planting interest im Mysore. We learn from the Ad-
ministration Report of Mysore for tho official year 1865-6, that
the collections under the head of “ Coffec” amount altogether to

* Mysore Papers, (No, 271), 1867, p. 13.
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102,781 Rupees, (£10,278) of which 88,470 Rupees (£8847) were
pud by Natives, and 14,311 Rupees (£1431) by European
planters. Sixteen planters, paying the splendid rovenue of £1400
per annum into the public treasury, arc magnified by Mr. Mangles
into ¢ a considerable number” of British settlers, whose intercsts
should be paramount among four millions of Hindoos paying an
annual revenue of a million sterling.

But in justice to Mr. Mangles we must admit that in his second
Minute he does not, as he did in his first, dwell exclusively on tho
jeopardised interests of the English planters. Ho is concerned
for the Rajah and the Principality of Mysore, who, in his opinion,
if not protected by anuexation, may be crushod by “ the suporior
intolligence and energics’” of the terrible sixteon. The whole

deserves attention.

“T desire to auld, that it appears t) me that the impolicy of reesta-
blishing a Native Governmeut m Mysore is much aggravated by the
ciccnmstance that, of late years, Englishmen in considerable numbers
have been permitted, if not enconraged, to settle in that territory as
coffec-planters It may be regarded as a certainty that, during the
long mnority of the adopted son, this class will be materially increased.
No Native Government, such as India has ever yet scen, would be able
to deal cquably and consistently with such a body of men. The
Englishmen would take their stand, with characteristic strength of
will, upon their rights, as recognised or assumed under the British pro-
tectorate. Their treatment by the Muharajah, or rather by his ministers
or servants, would oscillate, according to the caprice of the hour, be-
tween unduo favour, involving wrong to the native population, ang
high-handed justice.* On any occasion of extreme excitement, such
as that engendered by the diffe between the indigo planters and
the ryots in Bengal, the Government would bo utterly unablo to con-
trol the English planters, otherwise than by acts of despotic violence,
which would as certainly provoke equally violent resistance. And itis
hardly too much to say, that if, in the course of a fow ycars, any large
addition should be made, as is highly probable, to tho number of such
seltlers in Mysore, nothing but the constantly recurring interposition
of the British Government would prevent them from making them-
sclves practically masters of the country, either with the consent of the
Rajah, through the instrumentality of loans of monoy, or 1n superses-

" sion of his authority, by the abuse of their superior intelligence and
cnergics. Tho same qualities which have won for our nation the Em-
pire of India, would make our countrymen, if let alone, the virtual
masters of Mysore. And incessant interference on the part of tho
British Government, to obviate such a result, would reduce the Rajah
to the condition of the merest cypher, the sport of opposing forees.”t

Still persisting, in spite of the information within his reach, in
talking about *“ Euglishmen in considerablo numbers settled as
* s not this a slip of the pen, or 2 misprimt, for * mjustice™

t Mysore Papers (No. 271), 1867, p. 12, 13.
z
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coffee-planters,” he considers 1t “as a certainty that, during the
long minonty of the adopted son, this class will be materially in-
creased.” Nothing can be more mulikely. The very small class
of English planters has decreased, is decreasing, and will probably
have all but disappeared before twenty years have elapsed.  They
cannot exist without those exceptionally high profits which are no
longer to bo obtained m the face of native competition. The
native planters will buy them all out by degrees.  From all that
wo can hear, most of them are m the market already, but as the
Tditor of the 1" iend of India and correspondent of the Tiimes has
recently informed us, “their property has so deteriorated i valuo
as to be unsaleablo at its proper price.” Thero may be diftevences
of opinion as to what “a proper price” 1s, and also as to the cause
and time of the deterioration, which we will consider shortly, but
thero can bo httlo doubt as to the falling prospects of the Kuro-
pean coffee-planters in Mysore.

Their prospects, however, may revive ; there may be a good
time coming for them; but even then the argument of Mr.
Mangles would not be mmproved. He ignoves the fact, pointed
out 1 my previous correction, that the fearful task of controlhng
the English planters would not bo thrown entirely upon the Rajah
and lis mmisters ; that under special capitulations, of wlieh ono
was concluded with the Nizam e 1861,% the British Resudent 1s
always constituted the judge m erimes and disputes arising amnong
Europeans and descendants of Fluropeans within Native States.

The picture that is drawn by Mr. Mangles of these sixteen
Jeoffee-planters, paying the immense sum of £1 00 per annum on
their holdings, complaimng of tlis tax as “a heavy burden,”t
trying in vamn to scll ther property, and yet “making themselves
practically masters of the country, through the instrumentality of
loans of money” to the Rajah, may bo pronounced brilhant but so
hughly coloured as to be quite out of keeping. Mr. Mangles says
that ““ by the abuse of ther superior ntelligence and encrgies,
our countrymen, if let alone, would become the virtual masters of
Mysore.” Well,—but they .would not be ““let alone.” If cvery
one of the sixtecen English planters wore & sort of cross between
Talleyrand and Shylock, with endless talents for intrigue and
boundless funds wherewith to furmsh loans to the Rajah, they °
would not be “let alono” to extort a bond and exact their pound
of flesh from the Bmtish tributary. His fears, however, may be
moderated. The coffee-planters are neither so wealthy nor so
amhitious, nor are British Residents so carcless or so powerless as
he supposes. And we may remind Mr. Mangles that the corrupt

* Collection of Treaties, Caleutta, 1864 (Longman & Co., London), vol. v,
p. 117 "This concession was, I beleve, made by the Nizam chiefly on account *
of the Railway passing through lus dommions.

t Remarks on the Mysore Blue Book, p. 62; Mysore Reversion (2nd Edition),
P 241,
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Tnglishmen,~—the Paul Benficlds and others, of whom he is cvi-
dently thinking,—who formed the class of ‘Nabobs’ towards the
closo of the last century, and whose vast fortunes were wrung from
the Nawabs of the Carnatie, Bengal, and Oude, and the Rajah of
"T'angore, by the imposition of loans, chiefly fictitious, wore not
coffee-planters, but Covenanted Civilians of the Company’s Ser-
vice. 'They acquired and excreised their evil influenco over theso
unfortunato Princes, not by means of any “superior intelligence
and energies,” but by the ]yowcst and most infamous practices of
fraud and mtimidation. They possessed, or were believed to
possess, tho power of gaimng political advantages for the Native
Princes, or of saving them from injury and oppression, Hven
supposmg that times and cicumstances were m any respect
sumlar, what political power or mfluenco could a coflee-planter be
supposed to possess ?

The Caleutta Correspondent of the Times, for several years, both
1 that capacity and i his othor character of Editor of the Iviead
of Judia, has kept up an mcessant fire of slander and msult upon
Nutive Prmces and their admmstration, and has strven hard to
ensure the annexation of Mysore. In a lotter to the Times, dated
the 10th of March, 1866, thus public mstructor introduced the
following veracious picture mto o general inveetive against Native
States.

“The Chief, if he is active, squeezes his tenantry and kills their trade
by grievous monopohes,—if ho is debauched, as s more generally the
case, they have half-a-dozen tyrants, m the shapo of his courtiers, in-
stead ot ome. Mublution, the ravishinyg of women, torture, suttee, an;
sl or buryiy alive, e the rule, and the present policy 1s not to
interfere untal these evils reach a height which would endanger the
peace of our own subjects

As to the maintenanco of the Mysorc State,

“ Whatever be the justice of the old Chicf’s claim, England ought
to know that Mysore caniot be restored after bemg 40 years under
Englsh rule.”

“What could we do with the hundreds of Ewropean planters who,
daring the last third of a centuvy, have been attracted by our ad-
ministration to settle therc and clothe the slopes of its hills with the
coffee plant >

Baffled for the time, but not vanquished by Sir Stafford North-
cote’s decision, ho still continues s cfforts, 1 the hope, hke his
London Correspondent, Mr, Marshman, ““that before the period
for consummating this policy arrives, some fature Secretary of
State will be found to annul 1t, as the present Secretary of Stato
has annulled the decision of his predecessor.””* 1n a letter dated
tho 24th of February, which appeared in the Times of the 23rd of

* Ante, p. 200.
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March 1868, he dresses up the old coffee-planting bugbear with
“a nice derangement” of epithets and figures far surpassing the
first and second style of Mr. Mangles in treating the same
subject.

“The coffee planters have taken the alarm in Mysore, where, by the
last census, there wero no less than 14,302 Europeans and East Indians
out of a total population of 3,900,735.”

‘Who would not on a hasty perusal suppose that these 14,302
persons were all coftee-planters ?

“They,”’—the coffee-planters, whom the ordinary reader now sup-
poses to be 14,302 in number instead of 16 !—“say that a breach of
faith has been committed by the Sceretary of State, that the legaliy
of their titles 18 now questioned, and that their property has so dete-
riorated in value as to be unsaleable at its proper price. The correspon-
dence on native rule shows that this fecling prevails among the major-
ity of the matives also. These native officials are at once to be em-
ployed wherever practicable, even before the boy-Rajah comes of age. 1
report these things as likely to be the source of no httle future trouble.”

Tho statement as to the number of Europeans and Bast Indians
residing in Mysore may bo hterally correct, yet 1t is caleulated to
produce a very crroneous mpression.  The Times Correspondent
does not say whether nearly 2,000 British soldiers stationed in
the Province are included among the 14,302 persons, but certanly
nineteen-twentieths of that number are petty shopkeepers and
camp-followers of mixed extraction, and of both sexes, with themr
children, in the great military cantonment of Bangalore; not ono

@ five hundred being a coftee-planter or a producer of any de-
seription.  As to the sixteen actual coffee-planters—not the
shadowy “ considerable numbers” of Mr. Mangles, nor the 14,302
insinuations of the Times Correspondent— they”” may complam
that “a breach of faith has been commtted,” “that the legulity
of their titles is questioned,” and that ¢ their property 1s deterio-
rated in value,” but they would find it very difficult to trace any
connection between the last and only tangible ground of complaint
and the recognition of the Maharajah’s heir, or to found upon 1t
any claim for compensation. The British Government will, of
course, tuke good care that their titles are not disturbed, and that
they have every facility for carrying on their business, or for dis-
posing of their property, as they may feel inchned. Thero is no
reason to fear any “future trouble.”

This same letter in the Times of the 23rd of March contains
another very flagrant example of the untrustworthy nature of ¢ our
Calcutta Correspondent’s” information, of the utter trash that is
forced upon the public mind with all the weight of the powerful
organ upon which the Kditor of the Friend of Indiu has unfor-
tunately contrived to fasten himself. Speaking of the proposcd
new Government for Bengal, ho says -— |
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«Tf a Council is given to Bengal then a demand will be made by
the largo non-official community of Calcutta and Bengal to be repre-
sented by at least one highly paid outsider ; and the Bengalees, too,
will probably make a similar request. It is difficult to sec how either
can bo refused. It will not be difficult to find an Englishman of high
character and ability, and a Native might be appointed so soon as one
in every way quahfied could bo found. The custom of appomting
merchants only to honomrg positions in the Legislative Councils can-
not be said to be useful either to Government or to the public. ~ Such
men are overworked in their own business, which they cannot afford
to leave. No non-missionary remains in India an hour longer than he
can help. But pay and honour a man of this class like an ordinary
Civilian, and very ,0od members will be sccured. There are no less
than 150,000 pure Enghshmen in India.  Of these, 58,000 are soldiers
and officers, and 3,500 covenanted officials of different orders, civil,
ceelesiastical, and medical.  This lewves 89,000 English gentlemen, who
are settlers and merchants of different kinds, and the great majority
of these are m Calcutta and Bengal.  Are these 89,000 to be in no
way represented anywhere, cither in India or England ? This question
will be put very loudly, T doubt not, 1f a New Executive Council is to
be created.”

Lct us examine his figures a littlo.  His sum total of 150,000
linglishmen in India is considerably overstated, as I shall show, but
we will aceept it provisionally.  After deducting the soldiers and
officials, e says there remain 89,000 English gentlemen.” Verily,
the colour-blmdness of a West Indian Creolo among Negroes 1s
clear vision compared with that of a Calcutta Cocknoy among
Hindoos. Observe tho quiet assumption, that overy “ pure Egyg-
hshman’” in India must be a ““ gentleman”. It never even struck
him that there might bo a few “ ladies” to keep the “ gentlomen™
company. If he had thought of that, he might have written—
with much more verbal and a little more numerical accuracy—
““persons”; for among those counted as Europeans in 1861, there
were nearly 20,000 women, a large deduction from his “ gentle-
men” to begin with. It might also have struck him, if he had
not been in such a hurry, that there would be a fow “young
gentlemen”, sometimes profanely called “boys”, among them.

Even with these modifications, his estimato would be far above
the truth; for where did tho Calcutta Correspondent get tho round
number of 150,000 with which he started? The last census of
the Europeans in India was taken, I believe, in 1861. The sum
total then was 125,945, There were probably moro Englishmen
in India then, for the simplo reason that there were more soldiers.
In 1861 there were altogether 84,083, officers and men of all
branches of the Army, and if we deduct these from the total, there
remain 41,862 ; from which we must again subtract 19,306 women,
which leaves a remainder of 22,556. ~ From these again we must~
tako the Covenanted civil, ecclesiastical and medical servants at



-

342 APPENDIX.

the Correspondent’s own figure of 3,500, and there remain 19,056.
But from these again we must deduct the Uncovenanted servants
of Government, who cannot be reckoned at much less than 1,500
more, which will reduce tho number of independent Europeans to
about 17,500 ; from which a further deduction of children under
age, and of foreigners, would have to be made before we arnved
at the true net result of Englishmen in India not n the service of
Government. These may be finally st down at about 12,000 of
all classcs, instead of the absurdly exaggerated estimate of «“ 89,000
Enghsh gentlemen”, proposed by the Calcutta Correspondent of
The Tines.

These 89,000 English gentlemen”, he says, “are settlers and
amerchants of different kinds.” Reduce the number to 12,000, and
even then none of them are ““ settlers”, and not one-tenth of them
are cither ““ gentlemen” or “merchants”. It is obvious that
among the non-offial Enghishmen in India, a very small propor-
tion can belong to the class, who, by virtuo of their education,
manners, and profession, aro usually called “ gentlemen”. The
great bulk of them are shopkccpers, artisans, small clerks and
commercial assistants, railway engineers and drivers, smlors, pen-
sioners from the army, and others of even humbler grades, with
not a fow of vagabond character.

By the Correspondent’s own description there are no  settlers”
among them, for he says: “ No non-missionary remnams in India
an hour longer than he can help”,—a sufticient answer to the pre-
posterous demand of representation in the Government of Bengal
put forward on behalf of these irresponsible visitors to India, tho
best of whom have no permanent stake in the country, and no
object but that of making money and taking 1t away us soon as
possible.

(B.)

EXTRACT FROM EARL CANNING’S LAST PRIVATE
LETTER TO GENERAL SIR MARK CUBBON, K.C.B.,
COMMISSIONER OF MYSORE, DATED Nov. 241H, 1860.

(Page 334.)

“1 have no doubt that the polcy of disruption and separation was
the right one fifty years ago, when the Rohillas and Mahrattas pos-
scssed armies and artillery which they could increase at pleasure with-
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out our consent, and, indeed, without our knowledge. But now it is
quite different. These Chiefs can scarcely cast a gun,—they certainly
could not equip it unknown to us. They feel thew dependence on us,
sineo 1857 more than ever. We have nothing to fear from them indi--
vidually, 1f we treat them rightly ; whilst they have individually an
influence which is invaluable to us as Supreme Raulers in India, if we
will but turn it to account. To do this we must put them into a posi-
tion to become useful nstruments of civil government, and to take a
pride in it. [t is not a hopeless task, as somo pretend. If it were,
Sindia would not, in May last, when T was returning to Calcutta, have
taken his place in the mail-cart, to meet me in the Trunk Road, for no
other purpose than to show me the results of Tus own revision of his
revenue-assessments, made in compliance with exhortations given to
lum six months before at Agra.  Unluckily he missed me. Nor would
Maharajah Maun Sing, the Oude malcontent, and all but rebel, who
wisely becamo loyal just i time, have told me last week with pride,
that since he had heen a Magistrate he had judged upwards of six hun-
dred cases, in only two of which his judgment had, on appeal, been
reversed ; speaking, too, with warmth of the kindness and trouble
bestowed upon him by the Chiet Commussioner, who had taken him
into his camp for a fortnight to teach him the forms and spirit of our
magisterial administration,

“In one way or another—in every way, in short—we must teach
these men unmistakably, that, whether they be Chiefs of States or sub-
jeets,no change 1 the Supreme Power in India will be a gamn to them,
cither as regards property, religion, social position, or national preju-
dices; and that the largest possible shave of consideration and autho-
nity which they ean have under any Paramount Power, they shall have
under ours. If, as is very probable, the day of a European war is not
distant, the need to us of such a conviction in their minds will soon
make itself felt. To hold our Indian Empive in its present dimensions,
through a war with France and Russia, we must hold it by some other
means than the few Eanghsh Regiments which, in such a case, would
be spared to us.

“It is tho same with our own old dominions in India as with the
Native States. We have governed the North-Western Provinces in
such a fashion that the Lieutenant-Governor is with difficulty able to
find Native gentlemen of such position as to make them useful and
influential Magistrates; and in ten or fifteen years more it would be
pretty nearly the same with tho Punjaub, The influence of the land-
holders, instead of being conciliated and enlisted on our side, has been
broken up and diluted till it has all but disappeared in the North-
West ; and we present the extraordinary spectacle of a Government
which has no root in its soil, governing a country mainly agricultural,
and one in which the value of landed possessions, and the respect for
hereditary tenures, ave as strongly felt as in any country in the world,
by ignoring the landlord. We have kept a smooth surface upon this
unsound state of things longer than could have been expected ; and
fortunately, when the break-up came, three years ago, we had no
enemies in the field but such as did not know how to profit by our dis- !
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advantage, and we were able to dispose of them before they learnt th

way.
“It may not be so in a long European war, with foreign crniser

threatening our Indian ports, foreign emissaries busy in the interioi
and English recruits hard to come by.”

This oxtract has already boen printed in the Homeward Mail.

THE END.

LONDON *
T. RICHARDS 37, GREAT QUEEN STREE™, W.0,
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